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IFRS
RBC
10 31

@ 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
86,991 40,771 28,145 34,883 41,333
@ 61,862 18,054 8,143 14,048 21,584
@ 25,129 22,717 20,002 20,835 19,749
@ 31,000 26,268 29,691 26,346 26,253
56,129 48,985 49,693 47,181 46,002
18,466 20,109 20,631 14,389 15,914
14,866 15,807 16,050 11,437 12,871
2,004,992 1,917,219 1,706,323 1,624,548 1,428,935
117,661 108,064 98,667 86,664 83,523
1,391,020 1,403,654 1,424,343 1,423,915 1,434,779
$10.51 $11.08 $11.08 $ 7.84 $8.78
$5.34 $ 4.96 $ 4.32 $ 4.29 $ 4.07
©) 4.3% 3.7% 3.8% 4.7% 4.1%
rRoE @ 14.2% 16.4% 18.6% 14.2% 16.8%
CET ® 86,611 76,945 75,583 68,082 62,184
Tier ®) 93,904 84,242 82,246 74,005 67,861
®) 104,952 93,850 92,026 84,928 77,888
CET ® 14.5% 12.6% 13.7% 12.5% 12.1%
Tier ®) 15.7% 13.8% 14.9% 13.5% 13.2%
® 17.6% 15.4% 16.7% 15.5% 15.2%
91,398 91,427 85,301 83,842 82,801
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T4 7 EEREOROBELOERORE, BFOMEIHEC VMRS LUSRERED LA, &
BHRGIBEEUES T U T OLAN, TELF—SEUTOROBETHRORE. B, 475
4 Fr=2OEBOHBATE, Bl 2 LENOBRESEIZRAS S I =10 W EiET 7 LOF
g EESOBREMEELRE, 00, AL LERREBEEFRERMT 002 MITIZEY fThhd
HHOEECEMIE. ATN—TCEEERIET. SF0L—TOMERME. EHNOEW ( (LATEy
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PRIZ7AFAOETESA, NEOHLELIUERRZOBNIZISEMEIEThASHE, SRBEREOS
FROMSELHUASIZNE, EEBEHHALT I SMEOIEE R R R HRT S
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. ADRESIUVBROBLEGTE] . TORHOTHHIEET DMLY 6HY . Jhbt
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BREEORER. CERROEDELIUVEEERICERETERIEL. WAFAMREE (LTVEE) 8L
Lif. EGicEAARERAEELTRE S,
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2023 2022
2023 2022
$ 56,129 $ 48,985 $ 7,144 14.6%
PCL 2,468 484 1,984 n.m.
PBCAE 4,022 1,783 2,239 n.m.
31,173 26,609 4,564 17.2%
18,466 20,109 (1,643) (8.2)%
$ 14,86 $ 15,807 $  (941) (6.0)%
® 16,083 15,998 85 0.5%
$ 8,66 $ 8370 $  (104) (L.2)%
@ 2,427 3,210 (783) (24.4)%
803 857 (54) (6.3)%
@ 4,139 3,368 771 22.9%
(769) 2 770 n.m.
$ 14,86 $ 15,807 $  (941) (6.0)%
EPS $ 1051 $  11.08 $  (0.57) G.1)%
10.50 11.06 (0.56) (G.1)%
EPS @ 11.39 11.21 0.18 1.6%
™ 11.38 11.19 0.19 1.7%
roE W 14.2% 16.4% n.m. (220)bps
ROE o 15. 4% 16.6% n.m. (120)bps
® $ 102,800 $ 94,700 $ 8,100 8.6%
NIM) ® 1.50% 1.48% n.m. 2bps
PCL 0.29% 0.06% n.m. 23bps
PCL 0.08% (0.04)% n.m. 12bps
PCL 0.21% 0.10% n.m. 11bps
GIL 0.42% 0.26% n.m. 16bps
Ler WO 131% 125% n.m. 600bps
nsFR - (D) 113% 112% n.m. 100bps
TLAC “)(®)
Tier CET 14 5% 12.6% n.m. 190bps
Tier 15.7% 13.8% n.m. 190bps
17.6% 15.4% n.m. 220bps
4.3% 4.4% n.m. (10)bps
TLAC 31.0% 26.4% n.m. 460bps
TLAC 8.5% 8.5% n.m. -bps
1%
$ 2,004,992 $ 1,917,219 § 87,773 4.6%
409,730 318,223 91,507 28.8%
852,773 819,965 32,808 4.0
142,450 154,439 (11,989) (7.8)%
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1,231,687 1,208,814 22,873 1.9%
110,347 100,746 9,601 9.5%
ria WO 596,223 609,879 (13,656) @.2)%
@ 1,067,500 999,700 67,800 6.8%
A OO 4,338,000 5,653,600  (1,315,600) (23.3)%
1,391,020 1,403,654 (12,634) (0.9)%
1,392,529 1,406,034 (13,505) (L.0)%
1,400,511 1,382,911 17,600 1.3%
$ 5.34 $ 4.96 $  0.38 7.7%
® 4.3% 3.7% n.m. 60bps
® 51% 45% n.m. 600bps
TSX
ry (O $ 110.76 $ 126.05 $ (15.29) (12.1)%
Tsx (19 155,121 174,316 (19,195) (11.0)%
FTE 91,398 91,427 (29) (0.0)%
1,247 1,271 (24) (L.9)%
ATM 4,341 4,368 @n (0.6)%
1.00
an $  0.741 $  0.774 $ (0.033) (4.3)%
1.00 $ 0721 $ 073 $ (0.013) (1.8)%
o) GAAP GAAP
GAAP
@
(©) ROE
GAAP
0 2023
() LCR NSFR OSFI LAR LCR
) RWA  OSFI CAR
LR TLAC TLAC OSFI  TLAC
2023 10 31 0SFI
2023 CAR LR
@)
(8) AUA 130 70 2022 150
(©)]
(10)TSX
an
n.m.

39/634

oOoOooodn

OSFI

60



EDINETOOOO
OO000O0000O0O00oOdno(Ees99s)
oOoOooodn

HNW
2023
2023 11 29
GDP
U.K.
GDP
GDP 2023 2024
GDP 2023 2024
Fed

BoC
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2023

GDP
50bps

2023
2024

2023

GDP
2024
GDP

G

GDP

GDP

Fed

DP

0.7

2022

2022

2023

10

2023

BoC

2024

1.9

3.4

2024

3.9

2.4

2022
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ooooooo

2023 GDP 2022 3.4 0.4

GDP 2023 0.1 2023 0.1
GDP
ECB 2023
25bps 2024 2023
GDP 2022 4.3 0.4 2021 12
BOE 515bps 2023
GDP BOE 2024
5.25
2023
2023
2022

®

®
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HSBC
2022 11 29 135 HSBC HSBC
100 HSBC
HSBC
HSBC
HSBC 2022 30 RBC
HSBC
2023
30
2024
RBC
2023 CACEIS
RBC ®
RBC
69 77

RBC RBC
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TSR
TSR
TSR
TSR
TSR
) @ @
EPS 10% 5%
ROE 16 16..4% 16..0%
cer @ 13.6% 13.1%
0 50 45% 47%
(€H)
10) CAGR ROE CET
@) CET OSEl CAR CET
2024

TSR
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TSR
TsR® TR
10% 7%
RBC 14% 5%
) TSR 2020 10 31 2023 10 31 2018 10 31 2023 10
31 TSX
10 31 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
TSX RY $ 110.76 $ 126.05 $ 128.82 $ 93.16 $ 106.24
5.34 4.96 4.32 4.26 4.00
(2.0% .2 38.3%  (12.3)% 10.8%
(8.3)% 1.6% 43.8%  (8.4)% 15.20%
2023 2022
941 14,866
EPS  0.56 10.50 ROE  220bps 14.2 CET
190bps 14.5
85 16,083 EPS 0.19
11.38 ROE 120bps 15.4
CRD
PCL

CET
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HSBC
GAAP
GAAP
2023
$ 936
PCL 29
607
9
201
EPS
$  0.21
0.21
1.00 @ 2023 2022

0.741 0.774

0.599 0.618

0.689 0.727

@
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2023 2022
$ 86,991 $ 40,771
61,862 18,054
$ 25,129 $ 22,717
NIM 1.50% 1.48%
$ 5,675 $ 3,510
2,392 926
8,344 7,610
4,063 4,289
1,463 1,481
2,099 1,976
2,005 2,058
1,292 1,038
1,240 1,203
1,489 1,512
193 43
(219) 110
964 512
$ 31,000 $ 26,268
$ 56,129 $ 48,985

2023 2022
7,144 15
936
2,412 11
NIM bps
2,165 62
PBCAE
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734 10 RBC
1,466
254 24
226
329
452 88

2023 2022
@ $ 1,510 $ 2,024
2,392 926
$ 3,902 $ 2,950
$ 2,528 $ 1,147
604 951
770 852
$ 3,902 $ 2,950

o FVTPL

2023 2022

952 32 3,902

48/634



EDINETOOOO
OO000O0000O0O00oOdno(Ees99s)

OOooOoOoOoo
@
2023 10 31 2022 10 31
$ 370 $  (281)
@ 153 20
@ 137 (20)
@ } )
PCL 660 (281)
$ 1,225 $ 755
@ 175 13
@ 436 9
- 1
pcL® 1,836 778
PCL 2,49 497
PCL “ (28) (13)
PCL $ 2,468 $ 484
PCL
$ 295 $  (3L)
365 (250)
PCL 660 (281)
1,051 648
785 130
PCL 1,836 778
PCL $ 2,496 $ 497
PCL 0.29% 0.06%
PCL 0.21% 0.10%
(@)
)
(©)] PCL
(4) PCL FVOCI
2023 2022
PCL 1,984
PCL 23bps
PCL (281) 660
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Ogoooood
PCL 1,058
PBCAE
2023 2022
PBCAE 2,239 4,022
10
2023 2022
$ 8,597 $ 7,251
7,607 7,127
2,139 2,015
628 135
18,971 16,528
2,381 2,099
1,634 1,554
1,271 1,082
2,223 1,511
1,487 1,369
3,206 2,466
$ 31,173 $ 26,609
(€)) 55.5% 54.3%
@) 58.2% 55.8%
@
(@) GAAP GAAP
(3) 2023 GAAP
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2023 2022
4,564 17 RBC
HSBC
55.5 120bps 58.2 55.8 240bps
GAAP GAAP
11
2023 2022

$ 3,600 $ 4,302

597 508

990 871

55 90

144 129

35 31

82 72

1,903 1,701

$ 5,503 $ 6,003

$ 18,466 $ 20,109

19.5% 21.4%

@ 27.0% 27 .50

(@)

$ 3,346 $ 4,367

19,429 20,365

17.2% 21.4%

(€))

@ GAAP GAAP
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2023 2022
702 16
CRD
1.5
1,021 23
190bps 19.5
CRD
1.5 420bps
17.2
202 12
GAAP
AUA
AUA
AUA 2023 10 31
AUA 92 AUA 57
AUA
2023 2022

AUA 13,160 23 RBC
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AUA
AUA 12
2023 2022
W
$ 34,900 $ 43,200
705,800 735,800
770,500 734,000
1,045,800 1,006,300
2,557,000 2,519,300
w
31,600 40,700
131,600 116,000
271,600 246,300
326,500 304,300
761,300 707,300
W
19,100 38,200
@ 130,000 255,200
404,100 636,600
@ 466,500 1,497,000
@ 1,019,700 2,427,000
AA @ $ 4,338,000 $ 5,653,600
@
)
AUM
AUM
AUM 2023 10 31
AUM 99  AUM
2023 2022
AUM 680
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2023 10 31 AUM
AUM 13
2023 2022
AUM $ 37,800 $ 197,800 $ 129,900 $ 634,200 $ 999,700 $1,008,700
160,200 52,500 7,000 19,400 239,100 175,600
(159,400)  (42,300)  (10,000)  (14,300)  (226,000)  (180,000)
800 2,600 (2,100) 9,100 10,400 21,400
1,600 12,800 (5,100) 14,200 23,500 17,000
800 3,200 4,600 19,300 27,900 (117,400)
- - - - - 58,500
400 3,500 800 11,700 16,400 32,900
1,200 6,700 5,400 31,000 44,300 (26,000)
AUM $ 40,600 $ 217,300 $ 130,200 $ 679,400 $1,067,500 $ 999,700
14
2023 2022
(€Y (€Y
$ 16,074 $ 4,495 $ - $ 3,379 § 1,181 $ 25,129 $ 22,717
6,046 13,049 5,675 7,672 (1,442) 31,000 26,268
22,120 17,544 5,675 11,051 (261) 56,129 48,985
PCL 1,579 328 - 561 - 2,468 484
PBCAE - - 4,022 - - 4,022 1,783
9,215 14,128 653 6,509 668 31,173 26,609
11,326 3,088 1,000 3,981 (929) 18,466 20,109
3,060 661 197 (158) (160) 3,600 4,302
$ 8,266 $ 2,427 $ 803 $ 4,139 $  (769) $ 14,866 $ 15,807
RoE® 27.8% 9.9% 37.3% 14.6% n.m. 14.2% 16.4%
$ 616,600 $ 193,100 $ 23,500 $1,107,100  $ 62,600 $2,002,900 $1,886,900
(€H)
teb teb
(@) GAAP
n.m.
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PCL

us

teb teb

teb

teb GAAP

teb
Us

GAAP

ROE
ROE
GAAP

ROE ROE
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0000000
ROE
ROE
ROE
ROE

ROE 15

2023 2022

$ 8,192 $ 2,372 $ 798 $ 4,077 $  (816)  $ 14,623  $ 15,547
@

@ 29,500 24,050 2,150 27,850 19,250 102,800 94,700
RoE® 27.8% 9.9% 37.3% 14.6% n.m. 14.2% 16.4%
(€H)

)
(3) ROE
n.m.
GAAP
GAAP GAAP
2023 10 31 GAAP GAAP
GAAP
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2023
12
2023

CRD CRD 2022 2023
2022 1.5

HSBC

GAAP

GAAP PBCAE GAAP

PBCAE
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GAAP GAAP
16
2023 202 @
$ 56,129 $ 48,985
PCL 2,468 484
31,173 26,609
18,466 20,109
3,600 4,302
$ 14,866 $ 15,807
$ 14,623 $ 15,547
1,391,020 1,403,654
$ 10.51 $ 11.08
1,392,529 1,406,034
$ 10.50 $ 11.06
RoE® 14.2% 16.4%
19.5% 21.4%
$ 963 $ 256
HSBC ® 380 -
® 242 -
® 341 256
$ (254) $ 65
CRD ®® (1,050) -
® 578 .
0 - )
HSBC ® 78 i}
® 75 65
©)
19,429 20,365
3,346 4,367
$ 16,083 $ 15,998
$ 15,840 $ 15,738
1,391,020 1,403,654
$ 11.39 $ 11.21
1,392,529 1,406,034
$ 11.38 $ 11.19
ROE 15.4% 16.6%
17.2% 21.4%
®)
$ 56,129 $ 48,985
PBCAE 4,022 1,783
® 242 -
$ 52,349 $ 47,202
$ 31,173 $ 26,609
HSBC ® 380 i}
® 341 256
$ 30,452 $ 26,353
55.5% 54.3%
58.2% 55.8%
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(1) 2022 10 31
(2) ROE

(©)]
(4) 2023
®)
(6) CRD
(7) 2023 HSBC
GAAP GAAP
(8) 2023 GAAP
GAAP
GAAP GAAP
17
2023 D
@
$ 17,544 $ 242 $ 17,786
PCL 328 - 328
14,128 - 14,128
3,088 242 3,330
$ 2,427 $ 177 $ 2,604
2,372 177 2,549
24,050 24,050
Us
$ 7,969 $ 242 $ 8,211
Us
5,908 175 6,083
ROE® 9.9% 10.6%
© 17.6% 18.7%
(D 2022 10 31
)
@)
©)
(5) ROE
(6)
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Avion Rewards
2023

2023 Avion Rewards

METRO Inc.

moi RBCO® Visa'

Moii
Avion Rewards
2023
FHSA
RBC
RBC InvestEase® RBC

Al

HousefulTM 0JO
0JOHome Canada Ltd.

RBC PayEdge'"
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RBC
NOMI®
NOMI® 2023
CX

Al

J.D. 2023

Conquest Planning Inc.

Al

55,000

ownr

Insight Edge

SME

SME

PayEdgeTM
Swift Go
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RBC

RBC My Money MattersT

RBC

2020

Lucid

EV

EV

100

M

VinFast

EV
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Make It Yours

™

BIPOC

COVID-19
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0.7 2023 GDP
BoC 50bps

Fed BoC
Fed 2024 BoC
2024

2023 GDP 2024

2023 2024
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18
2023 2022
$ 16,074 $ 14,019
6,046 6,124
22,120 20,143
PCL 371 (283)
PCL 1,208 746
PCL 1,579 463
9,215 8,437
11,326 11,243
$ 8,266 $ 8,370
$ 21,050 $ 19,282
15,018 13,957
6,032 5,325
1,070 861
ROE 27.8% 30.9%
NIN 2.74% 2.55%
™ 41.7% 41.9%
™ 0.6% 4.0%
$ 616,600 $ 575,900
585,900 548,900
593,000 553,300
597,500 552,100
AAP O $ 336,800 $ 340,300
AUAD 350,800 356,300
AN 5,900 5,600
FTE 38,027 38,450
PCL
0.21% 0. 14%
$ 7,022 $ 8,024
NIN 2.69% 2.54%
40.4% 40.5%
0.2% 3.8
w 2023
(2) AUA 2023 10 31 130
70 2022 10 31 150 60
@)
(O]
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2023 2022
104 PCL
1,977 10
NIM  19bps
PCL 1,116
COVID-19
PCL bps
778
400
450
GIC

1,143 4,003 ATM

71/634



EDINETOOOO
OO000O0000O0O00oOdno(Ees99s)
oOoOooodn

1,061
14
14
19
2023 2022
$ 15,018 $ 13,957
358,400 338,400
76,300 75,700
333,800 293,500
20,800 18,200
174,200 162,200
@ 174,700 178,600
183,100 194,400
AUA ™ 128,700 127,600
10 31
1,143 1,162
ATM 4,003 4,028
(€H)

FEER0—LFY), HEEFHLEEIUFHHER®E

(HifT : HEAHF S KL

2023 2022

mEEERO0—2 BREORORBEEELT B HERS
FRETI20 (HED
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707 13
14

14

20
2023 2022
$ 6,032 $ 5,325
125,800 110,800
241,800 237,900

HHESEUFREIZTOTFEYE NI FEHHAERS

(Nl SRh+S EIL)

l

2023 ]
B RHSd k UER IR (D | Hik RS

253

REFBREF
~S888888888
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ATM
50
209 24
15
21
) 2023 2022
$ 1,070 $ 861
NI 4.08% 2.90%
11,700 10,200
21,900 20,800
AAD @ 10,800 10,400
AUA® 10,500 10,200
A 5,500 5,300
10 31
38 38
ATM 271 269
(@)
)

HHERESE X URESHHASEEE MY : §5h+4 K

P~ BRFISE
~EBEEEEEEE

d

023 2022
EREESEUFEREDS S RS
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ALAS B - AN B
r 4
W 4% MR TR B 500 {EAHI%E
m 359 @EAHE B Za—=FaFl:27PF
1% Za=—FaFlZ7reF 25% mnMER®
(1) 2023
us
GAM
HNW UHNW AUA
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HNW UHNW

RBC®

HNW  UHNW

us
us
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RBC

RBC
AUM

RBC

RBC®iShares
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22
2023 2022 D
$ 4,495 $ 3,886
13,049 12,357
17,544 16,243
PCL 153 20
PCL 175 13
PCL 328 33
14,128 12,015
3,088 4,195
$ 2,427 $ 3,210
$ 4,443 $ 4,308
US 7,969 7,448
Us
5,908 5,757
2,626 2,667
1,273 426
@ 1,233 1,394
ROE 9.9% 15.8%
NIM 2.66% 2.47%
e 17.6% 25.8%
$ 193,100 $ 177,400
169,300 157,100
113,800 102,400
@ 163,800 198,000
AUAP DG $ 3,981,500 $ 5,294,800
Us ® 752,700 700,100
Us
® 542,800 513,700
™ 2,488,600 3,906,900
A 1,058,900 991,500
AUA® 4,987,200 5,710,700
AUM 1,058,000 966,300
PCL 0.15% 0.01%
FTE 25,196 26,150
® 6,169 6,158
%)
$ 17,786 $ 16,243
3,330 4,195
2,604 3,210
Us
8,211 7,448
Us
6,083 5,757
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2023 2022 ®
™
ROE 10.6% 15.8%
18.7% 25..8%
2023
2022
$ an1
PCL 10
369
50
1.00 (4%
1.00 @)%
1.00 )%
(€H)
) 2023 RBC RBC
RBC
@A)
O]
®) us
GAW 6,200 2022
6,400 AUA
©)
%) GAAP GAAP 2023 10 31
177 242
GAAP
—AUA 23
2023 2022
AUA ™ $ 1,387,900 $ 1,322,300
414,600 380,600
(396,400) (325,100)
™ 18,200 55,500
44,400 (153,000)
- 79,800
42,400 83,300
™ 86,800 10,100
AUA @ 1,492,900 1,387,900
@ 2,488,600 3,906,900
AUA $ 3,981,500 $ 5,204,800
o) AUA Us
GAM
(2) RBC
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AUA 24
2023 2022
W@
$ 21,600 $ 26,200
46,100 30,500
86,700 81,800
388,800 369,500
543,200 508,000
W@
31,600 40,700
131,600 116,000
271,600 246,300
318,000 297,100
752,800 700,100
W@
18,800 16,600
11,300 8,900
49,300 47,000
117,500 107,300
196,900 179,800
AUA @ 1,492,900 1,387,900
® 2,488,600 3,906,900
AUA $ 3,981,500 $ 5,294,800
(@)
@ AUA us
GAM
(3) RBC
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oooooog
—AUM 25
2023 2022
AUM $ 37,800 $ 195,600 $ 129,400 $ 628,700 $ 991,500 $1,000,600
160,200 52,500 7,000 19,500 239,200 175,600
(159,400) (42,300) (10,000) (14,300) (226,000) (180,000)
800 2,600 (2,100) 9,000 10,300 21,000
1,600 12,800 (5,100) 14,200 23,500 16,600
800 2,900 4,600 19,200 27,500 (116,700)
- - - - - 58,500
400 3,500 800 11,700 16,400 32,500
1,200 6,400 5,400 30,900 43,900 (25,700)
AUM $ 40,600 $ 214,800 $ 129,700 $ 673,800 $ 1,058,900 $ 991,500
2023 2022
783 24
PCL
606 19
1,301 RBC
1,543
PCL us 295
PCL 14bps
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2,113 18 RBC

AUA 13,130 25

RBC

AUA
AUM 670
GAAP
2,000 HNW UHNW
120

115
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135
26
2023 2022
$ 4,443 $ 4,308
5,200 5,600
20,900 28,600
AuAD 548,600 511,300
A 184,300 171,700
AUA 536,100 519,600
AUM 182,200 171,800
@
EHAUAE £ UESAUN M §F A+ FiL)
500, 000
500, 000
400, 000
300, 000
200, 000
100, 000 II II
0 - |
2023 2022
WAUA m AL
Us
us PCG C&c PCG 2,100
C&C
HNW UHNW
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521 151
326
NIM 15bps
GAAP
27
2023 2022

$ 7,969 $ 7,448
5,908 5,757
NI 2.53% 2.38%
103,500 98,100
75,900 68,800
83,200 90,600
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@ 326 (1,363)
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1,000 1,139
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@ $ 5,929 $ 5,498
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11,966 11,511
@ 1) (1,888)
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@ $ 3,379 $ 4,944
@ 7,672 5,005
@ 11,051 9,949
PCL 125 (32)
PCL 436 19
PCL 561 (13)
6,509 5,816
3,981 4,146
$ 4,139 $ 3,368
$ 5,375 $ 4,765
6,013 5,619
(337) (435)
ROE 14.6% 12.1%
$ 1,107,100 $ 1,056,100
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374
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@
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769 CRD 1,050
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578
GAAP
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4,131 249 EPS 0.16
2.90 ROE 40bps 15.2 CET 190bps 14.5
459 RBC
PCL 720 339 89
PCL 34bps 16bps

PBCAE 24 21

110/634



HSBC

2023

934

RBC

1,039

2023
259

13

RBC

21.6

4,131

1.5)

EDINETOOOO
OO000O0000O0O00oOdno(Ees99s)
oOoOooodn

111/634



EDINETOOOO

OO000O0000O0O00oOdno(Ees99s)

€)) 38
2023 2022
$ 5,718 $ 5,563 $ 5,298 $ 5,541 $ 5,419 $ 5,182 $ 4,739 $ 4,803
@ 4,188 4,402 4,394 4,560 4,287 3,097 3,973 3,986
580 1,848 1,347 1,891 644 1,233 234 1,399
@
® 2,564 2,679 2,662 3,146 2,505 1,889 2,531 3,024
® (33) (3)  (18)  (44)  (288)  (169) (257)  (146)
13,026 14,489 13,520 15,094 12,567 12,132 11,220 13,066
PCL 720 616 600 532 381 340 (342) 105
PBCAE 92 1,379 1,006 1,545 116 850  (180) 997
8,143 7,861 7,494 7,675 7,209 6,386 6,434 6,580
4.071 4,633 4,420 5,342 4,861 4,556 5,308 5,384
(60) 761 71 2,128 979 979 1,055 1,289
$ 4,131 $ 3,872 % 3,649 % 3,214 $ 3,882 $ 3,577 $ 4,253 $ 4,095
EPS $ 2.90% 2.74% 258% 229 $ 2.75% 2528 2.97% 2.8
2.00 2.73  2.58  2.29 2.74 2551  2.95  2.84
(L5)%  16.4%  17.4%  39.8%  20.1%  21.5%  19.9%  23.9%
1.00

$ 0.732 % 0.750 $ 0.737 $ 0.745 $ 0.739 $ 0.783 $ 0.789 $ 0.787

(€H)
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39
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$ 61,989 $ 72,397
71,086 108,011
™ 409,730 318,223
340,191 317,845
569,951 549,751
287,826 273,967
(5,004) (3,753)
142,450 154,439
@ 126,773 126,339
$ 2,004,992 $ 1,917,219
$ 1,231,687 $ 1,208,814
142,629 153,491
@ 501,530 436,714
11,386 10,025
1,887,232 1,809,044
117,661 108,064
99 111
117,760 108,175
$ 2,004,992 $ 1,917,219
(@)
)
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@ (&) (€Y} (&)
$ 54,713 $ 51,469 $ 51,460 $ 48,235 $ 45,261 $ 45,261
® 3,244 3,244 3,244 2,974 2,974 2,974
$ 57,957 $ 54,713 $ 54,713 $ 51,200 $ 48,235 $ 48,235
(€H)
)
2022 10 31 25
®) 18 2022 10 31 14
2023 10 31 60
13
270
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$ 11,197 $ 3,874 $ 19,402 $ 10,553 $ 3,967 $ 18,351
4,170 - 5,783 3,198 - 4,359
4,226 510 6,371 4,032 719 7,441
1,075 592 2,083 1,012 580 1,960
2,086 965 3,858 2,291 243 3,365
1,835 190 2,735 785 213 1,283
@ 542 530 1,282 143 428 624
- 1,785 1,785 - 1,785 1,785
2,312 141 3,348 2,013 139 2,882
2,954 - 4,097 2,306 - 3,144
2,752 153 3,969 2,119 153 3,041
$ 33,149 $ 8,740 $ 54,713 $ 29,352 $ 8,227 $ 48,235
$ 45,973 $ 8,740 $ 54,713 $ 40,007 $ 8,227 $ 48,235
(€H)
60 13 A
t sapt ¥
t
DBRS DBRS
&P
2023 10 31 ABCP 40
12 370
ABCP 100 2022 10 31 100
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OoOoOoOoOodno
BRR BRR
PD BRR
BRR
BRR PD 2006
PD
22 22
S&P
* 42
PD
BRR S&P
0.0000% - 0.0500% 0.0000% - 0.0150% 1+ AAA Aaa
0.0000% - 0.0500% 0.0151% - 0.0250% 1H AA+ Aal
0.0000% - 0.0500% 0.0251% - 0.0350% M AA Aa2
0.0000% - 0.0500% 0.0351% - 0.0450% 1L AA- Aa3
0.0000% - 0.0550% 0.0451% - 0.0550% 2+H A+ Al
0.0551% - 0.0650% 2+M A A2
0.0651% - 0.0750% 2+L A- A3
0.0751% - 0.0850% 2H BBB+ Baal
0.0851% - 0.1030% 2M BBB Baa2
10 0.1031% - 0.1775% 2L BBB- Baa3
11 0.1776% - 0.3470% 2-H BB+ Bal
12 0.3471% - 0.6460% 2-M BB Ba2
13 0.6461% - 1.0620% 2-L BB- Ba3
14 1.0621% - 1.5520% 3+H B+ B1
15 1.5521% - 2.2165% 3+M B B2
16 2.2166% - 4.5070% 3+L B- B3
17 4.5071% - 7.1660% 3H CCC+ Caal
18 7.1661% - 13.1760% 3M CCC Caa2
19 13.1761% - 24.9670% 3L CCC- Caa3
20 24.9671% - 99.9990% 4 cc Ca
21 100% 5 D C
22 100% 6 D c
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43

PD

0.050% - 3.965%

3.966% - 7.428%

7.429% - 99.99%%

100%

*
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OOooOoOoOoo
44
2023 10 31 @
@O ®)
*
)
™ $ 451,610 $ 114,612 $ -3 -3 - $ 566,222
® 36,001 110,473 . - - 146,564
48,162 20,804 136 - - 69,102
$ 535,863 $ 245,889 $ 136 $ - 3 ~$ 781,888
$ 11,316 $ 2,792 $ 46 $ - s 17 $ 14,271
11,568 8,586 680 - 1,148 21,982
82,319 3,060 2,267 101,736 41,300 230,682
18,348 9,132 650 - 1,030 29,160
8,680 6,996 546 . 2,070 18,292
6,498 8,373 1,614 - 3,134 19,619
48,580 24,140 4,818 83,692 22,611 183,850
3,988 1,265 1,447 472 1,079 8,251
1,485 1,004 313 - 67 2,869
270,382 6,960 1,482 10,736 5,692 295,252
11,251 9,898 623 - 811 22,583
5,252 6,942 357 118 704 13,373
25,921 4,608 701 - 383 31,613
2,144 3,548 1,044 - 391 7,127
2,613 1,534 529 - 156 4,832
102,235 20,406 1,592 - 850 125,083
30,617 14,203 2,598 - 741 48,159
8,597 6,529 132 - 2,794 18,052
8,461 5,025 1,009 - 2,408 17,803
14,495 20,389 6,367 - 4,638 45,889
8,698 2,773 1,193 88 20,084 32,836
$ 683,457 $ 169,063 $ 30,008 $ 196,842 $ 112,208 $ 1,191,578
@ $ 1,219,320 $ 414,952 $ 30,144 $ 196,842 $ 112,208 $ 1,973,466
©
$ 729,131 $ 306,474 $ 10,676 $ 80,664 $ 42,123 $ 1,169,068
358,605 79,256 13,459 62,966 24,878 539,164
58,496 21,987 3,467 27,637 31,749 143,336
73,088 7,235 2,542 25,575 13,458 121,898
@ $ 1,219,320 $ 414,952 $ 30,144 $ 196,842 $ 112,208 $ 1,973,466
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OOooOoOoOoo
2022 10 31
@®) ®)
*
)
™ $ 393,346 $ 107,604 $ -3 -3 _ $ 500,950
® 32,474 94,949 . - - 127,423
98,070 19,993 136 - - 118,199
$ 523,800 $ 222,546 $ 136 $ - $ ~$ 746,572
$ 10,417 $ 2,089 $ 3% $ - $ 161 $ 12,703
8,919 9,184 317 - 1,606 20,026
73,335 5,487 1,036 111,559 38,830 230,247
19,666 9,297 569 - 949 30,481
7,103 6,750 346 - 1,923 16,122
6,086 11,272 1,923 - 5,959 25,240
45,394 25,017 3,530 69,790 24,546 168,277
5,762 2,352 163 237 780 9,294
1,143 1,033 230 - 78 2,484
279,401 5,678 1,563 18,745 6,290 311,677
10,755 9,319 601 - 1,216 21,891
5,201 7,144 298 55 1,908 14,696
23,764 3,946 669 157 458 28,994
2,377 4,259 945 - 467 8,048
2,614 2,417 497 - 144 5,672
89,926 18,295 1,872 - 818 110,911
27,839 13,425 2,848 33 852 44,997
7,301 8,298 79 - 2,751 18,429
6,394 6,386 930 . 2,069 15,779
12,318 20,651 5,275 - 5,081 43,325
4,113 1,700 71 73 20,126 26,083
$ 649,918 $ 173,999 $ 23,798 $ 200,649 $ 117,012 $ 1,165,376
@ $ 1,173,808 $ 396,545 $ 23,934 $ 200,649 $ 117,012 $ 1,911,948
©
$ 697,015 $ 284,705 $ 9,444 $ 79,795 $ 41,923 $ 1,112,882
334,821 79,829 10,145 59,866 24,161 508,822
79,343 25,485 2,603 39,244 36,107 182,782
62,629 6,526 1,742 21,744 14,821 107,462
@ $ 1,173,808 $ 396,545 $ 23,934 $ 200,649 $ 117,012 $ 1,911,948
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©) IRB

®) EAD IRB
EAD ACL

0 EAD

®)
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620
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ooooOoog
€]¢)) 45
2022
10 31
2023 10 31
®
$ 15,112 $ 19,204 $ 1,772 $ 2,271  $ 15,202 $ 5,518 $ 17,639 $ 38,359 $ 57,753
7,144 23,919 534 3,131 9,318 17,791 7,619 34,728 39,949
8,331 11,029 381 186 7,267 4,190 8,470 19,927 19,688
6,746 36,150 1,695 1,083 15,004 25,344 5,326 45,674 35,338
*) 357 1,876 332 20 427 1,693 465 2,585 3,043
®E  $37,600 $ 92,178 $ 4,714 $ 6,691  $ 47,218 $ 54,536 $ 39,519 $141,273 $155,771
@
0) 3,260 2022 10 31
3,570 150 2022 10 31 140
®) 130 2022 10 31 130 410 2022 10
31 560 380 2022 10 31 350
*
®) 4,790 2022 10 31 5,213
() 2,533 2022 10 31 2,233
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oOoOooodn
@
46

2023 10 31

®
O]
O]

$ 8,474 44% $ 10,765 56% $ 19,239 $ 1,630
11,831 27 31,741 73 43,572 3,111
30,359 15 168,264 85 198,623 16,558
18,840 45 22,596 55 41,436 4,403
8,546 42 11,803 58 20,349 1,749
11,911 16 62,475 84 74,386 7,048
® 89,961 23 307,644 77 397,605 34,499
- - 33,683 100 33,683 2,090
- - 3,213 100 3,213 1,538
- - 36,896 100 36,896 3,628
$ 89,961 21% $ 344,540  79% $ 434,501 $ 38,127

2022 10 31
®

@
*®

$ 8,460 46% @ $ 10,052 544% $ 18,512 $ 1,659
12,444 29 30,623 71 43,067 3,300
31,409 17 156,700 83 188,109 17,009
19,663 47 22,154 53 41,817 4,923
8,847 43 11,808 57 20,655 1,940
12,290 17 59,347 83 71,637 7,386
® 93,113 24 290,684 76 383,797 36,217
- - 31,956 100 31,956 1,776
- - 3,043 100 3,043 1,621
- - 34,999 100 34,999 3,397
$ 93,113 22% $ 325,683 78% $ 418,796 $ 39,614
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OoOoOoOoOodno
() 0SFI B-20
)
®3) 38,108 2022 10 31 39,591
19 2022 10 31
O]
) 3,980 2022 10 31 3,840
120 2022 10 31 90 2022 10 31
90 180 2022 10 31 170
180 2022 10 31 170
2022 10 31
(€H)
47
2023 10 31 2022 10 31
@)
25 57% 26% 55% 57% 250 54%
25 30 20 74 24 16 75 21
30 35 1 - 1 2 - 2
35 22 - 20 25 - 23
100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%
() OSFI B-20
(@) 30 30
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OOooOoOoOoo
LTV @
RBC ®
LTV
LTV
LTV 48
2023 10 31 2022 10 31
RBC RBC
(@) 0 ?) @ ® (€)
(O]
71% 71% 72% 73%
70 70 72 72
70 64 70 66
72 71 73 73
73 73 73 75
68 63 68 66
74 n.m. 75 n.m.
69 n.m. 72 n.m.
®® 70% 66% 71% 68%
™ 55% 47% 52 46%
o) 0SFI B-20
10 RBC ®
(3) REC ®
(O]
®) RBC ® LTV
®) RBC ® LTV RBC
®
©)
n.m.
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GIL 49
2023 10 31 2022 10 31
$ 1,905 $ 1,362
514 278
1,285 559
GIL $ 3,704 $ 2,199
$ 2,199 $ 2,308
€)) 3,959 1,711
@) (622) (450)
(1,572) (1,149)
@) (260) (221)
$ 3,704 $ 2,199
GIL
GIL 0.42% 0.26%
0.31% 0.23%
0.26% 0.18%
3.45% 3.93%
® 0.44% 0.24%
® 0.89% 0.39%
@
GIL
GIL
@
©))
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2023 2022
GIL 1,505 68 3,704 GIL 16bps 42bps
GIL 543 40
GIL 236 85 us
GIL 726
50
2023 10 31 2022 10 31
$ 3,718 $ 3,200
™ 618 383
@ 1,012 508
ACL 5,348 4,181
AcL® 18 33
ACL $ 5,366 $ 4,214
ACL
$ 2,591 $ 2,285
1,609 1,227
ACL $ 4,200 $ 3,512
ACL 1,148 669
(€D)

@ ACL FVOCI
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1,152

ACL 1,167

ACL
ACL

ACL

479

27 5,366

688

ACL

72
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20 4,200

1,148
ACL

a)FVTPL
b)

CET

a)

b) ocl
c)

d)

CET

a)

b)
C)RWA

a)
b)

FVOCI
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OOooOoOoOoo
FVTPL
FVTPL
* 51
2023 10 31 2022 10 31 @
$ 10% 11 $ 26 $ 6 % 20 $ 18 $ 30 $ 10
4 3 25 2 3 4 7 1
5 5 8 4 6 5 6
@ 38 32 49 20 31 29 65 13
@ 7 5 8 4 5 7 9 4
® (35) G n.m. n.m. (34) (33)  n.nm. n.m.
VaR $ 20 $ 25 $ 36 $ 16 $ 31 $ 30 $ 5 $ 19
var® $ 121 $ 51 $ 127 $ 27 $ 59 $ 53 $ 87 $ 34
(€H) VaR
(@) VaR
@A)
0 VaR VaR
() 2023 10 31 VaR 14 2022 10 31
11
n.m.
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2023 2022
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VaR 51 2023 10 31 VaR

VaR
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40

20
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2023 2022 2023
2022
56 17
022FE10RANBIZETLAEERIZS TS FL—F 1 240 (teb)
50
80
0
g &0
B 50
40
)|
20
10 }
GEEE‘&"%#Eﬁﬁﬁﬁ‘?““ﬁf%ﬁﬁﬁ%#%ﬁ%
B b L—F o g (i §RhFF E
m2023 W 202
() LEDFL—F4 L FME (tob) OEHIZ. BRIBZ o FAY FBEUEREAEEROBEER (.
RBC ®
FVTPL
PBCAE 2023 10 31 120 2022
10 31 120
IRRBB @
IRRBB
IRRBB
IRRBB GRM
IRRBB ALCO GRM  IRRBB
IRRBB GRM ALCO GRC
@ |pres FVoCI
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OOooOoOoOoo
IRRBB * 52
2023 10 31 2022 10 31
EVE NI @
) EVE NI ™
100bps $(1,445) $ (107) $(1,552) $ 381 $ 270 $ 651 $(1,000) $ 781
100bps 1,430 a7 1,353 (409)  (342)  (751) 1,709 (839)
16N 12 NI
2023 10 31 -100bps NIT 751
839
+100bps EVE 1,552
1,900 NI
EVE 2023 NI

EVE
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0CI

ooooooo
2023 10 31 FvoClI 1,280 930
FVOCI

2023 10 31 FvoClI

bp 0ClI

28
bp IRRBB
FvoClI 2023 10 31 1,250 FvoClI
2023 10 31 10 10
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OOooOoOoOoo
53
2023 10 31
@ @
$ 61,989 $ - $ 61,98
71,086 1 71,085
190,151 171,483 18,668
219,579 . 219,579
340,191 304,672 35,519
569,951 . 569,951
287,826 3,134 284,692
(5,004) - (5,004)
2,760 . 2,760
142,450 139,011 3,439
108,178 8,699 99,479
® 15,835
$ 2,004,992 $ 627,000 $1,362,157
$ 1,231,687 $ 51,025 $1,180,662
2,760 - 2,760
33,651 33,555 96
335,238 312,551 22,687
142,629 130,094 12,535
109,533 12,491 97,042
11,386 . 11,386
® 20,348
$ 1,887,232 $ 539,716 $1,327,168
117,760
$ 2,004,992
o) FVTPL
VaR
10) IRRBB
RBC ® IRRBB
@)
(©)

164/634



2022 10 31 W
@ ®
$ 72,397 $ - $ 72,397
108,011 2 108,009
148,205 131,071 17,134
170,018 - 170,018
317,845 287,454 30,391
549,751 2 549,725
273,967 5,021 268,046
(3,753) - (3,753)
2,638 - 2,638
154,439 151,244 3,195
109,629 8,826 100,803
® 14,072
$ 1,917,219 $ 584,544 $1,318,603
$ 1,208,814 $ 39,000 $1,169,814
2,638 - 2,638
35,511 35,482 29
273,947 264,025 9,922
153,491 139,406 14,085
102,881 10,594 92,287
10,025 - 10,025
® 21,737
$ 1,809,044 $ 488,507 $1,298,800
108,175
$ 1,917,219
o) 0SEl CAR
10 FVTPL
(©)] IRRBB
RBC ®
(O]
®)

165/634
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54
2023 10 31
@ $ 135,353 $ - $ 135,353 $ 3,320 $ 132,024
@ 325,002 363,377 688,379 425,109 263,270
130,209 118,651 248,860 153,700 95,160
® 31,706 - 31,706 28,953 2,753
$ 622,270 $ 482,028 $ 1,104,208 $ 611,001 $ 493,207
2022 10 31
$ 180,408 $ ~$ 180,408 $ 3,60l $ 176,807
@ 246,916 326,089 573,005 373,893 199,112
110,057 119,129 229,186 135,349 93,837
® 42,090 - 42,090 40,318 1,772

$ 579,471 $ 445,218 $ 1,024,689 $ 553,161 $ 471,528

170/634



2023 2022
10 31 10 31
$ 210,191 $ 186,855
79,947 90,910
203,069 193,763
$ 493,207 $ 471,528
o
@
(©)] 0TC
2023 2022
220
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0000000
2023 10 31 24
2022 10 31 24
55
2023 10 31 2022 10 31
) @ ® ) @ ®
® $ - $3,329 $132,024 $ - $ 135,353 $ - $3,601 $176,807 $ - $ 180,408
99,990 - 100,517 2,252 202,759 62,941 - 91,738 3,308 157,982
7,752 - 211,827 - 219,579 7,99 - 162,022 - 170,018
® 495233 27,343 6,876 1,862 531,314 456,202 21,709 9,192 3,409 490,602
26,365 - 28,079 - 54,444 28,208 - 27,263 - 55,471
69,802 - 37,313 272,942 380,057 62,905 - 26,696 273,724 363,325
6,775 - - 128,675 135,450 6,066 - - 124,889 130,955
- - 10,056 278,052 288,108 - - 9,119 264,848 273,967
- - - (5,008  (5,004) - - - 3,753 (3,753)
- - - 2,760 2,760 - - - 2,638 2,638
- - - 142,450 142,450 - - - 154,439 154,439
® 28,953 - 2,753 89,747 121,453 40,318 - 1,772 81,611 123,701
$734,870  $30,672 $520,445 $9013,736 $2,208,723 $664,726 $25,310 $504,609 $905,108 $2,099,753
(€}
(2) NHA MBS FHLB
FRBNY
@)
©)
®)
270 2022 10 31
220
(6) oTC

172/634
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2023 2022
250
FHLB

2023 10 31
8,440 52 2022 10 31 8,190 54
2018 23 400

CDIC
2023 10 31
1,060 2022 10 31 850
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OOoooo0
*(D) 56
2023 10 31 2022 10 31
$ 139,882 $ 119,241
74,720 68,953
12,038 10,639
$ 226,640 $ 198,833
*
()]
57
250 500 750
750

FHARY - RITARMIOREIEOMAR

FRAKD - BRINOTEEDMAL

aA=—0

KL 0%
59 \\

— Ml
1196

HFFEIL

ff
24%

(1) SO FROBERE LY
EEARNEA GGV HERBERHNESL,

1ill P ATl R R

24%
B H— FOlEsik
g
%W MIBE LM
5%
._'_._,..-"
MIBEHEARS
62%

(1) HIMOBMMMAMNA 1 ERORERE LU
HERHFERHARSECUICHERERENESL.
) E—Y-VEEHSELULFY - =7V 0A%
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@ 58
2023 10 31
12
@ $ 4,606 $ 460 $ 319 $ 355 $ 5740 $ - s - $ 5,740
10,130 7,000 11,858 27,029 56,037 69 - 56,106
® 4,533 3,829 6,354 2,155 16,871 - - 16,871
@ 43 6,311 133 18,828 25,315 22,790 54,070 102,175
® 1,343 1,898 2,081 3,343 8,665 5,495 15,744 29,904
. 530 375 1,484 2,389 2,225 9,607 14,221
® - 3,236 - 1,685 4,921 10,844 44,733 60,498
. - - 1,500 1,500 2,748 7,791 12,039
O 8,918 5,008 2,293 2,462 18,771 14,058 90 32,919

$ 29,573 $ 28,382 $ 23,413 $ 58,841 $ 140,209 $ 58,229 $ 132,035 $ 330,473

$ 10,861 $ 10,124 $ 7,483 $ 5,324 $ 33,792 $ 13,069 $ 54,340 $ 101,201
18,712 18,258 15,930 53,517 106,417 45,160 77,695 229,272
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@ $ 5,758 $ 34 $ 311 $ 1,766 $ 7,869 $ -3 - $ 7,869
9,482 16,575 23,676 39,674 89,407 - - 89,407
(©) 3,488 2,373 6,646 722 13,229 - 323 13,552
0 375 5,968 2,846 13,189 22,378 19,108 48,556 90,042
® 404 721 2,136 4,001 7,352 2,363 9,898 19,613
- 1,238 421 2,614 4,273 2,402 9,697 16,372
® - 1,016 1,960 2,838 5,814 4,575 42,194 52,583
60 - - 110 170 1,483 8,986 10,639
O 7,241 2,934 8,673 4,387 23,235 10,219 409 33,863
$ 26,808 $ 30,859 $ 46,669 $ 69,391 §$ 173,727 $ 40,150 $ 120,063 $ 333,940
$ 9,030 $ 6,641 $ 15,367 $ 7,536 $ 38,574 $ 6,977 $ 52,605 $ 98,156
17,778 24,218 31,302 61,855 135,153 33,173 67,458 235,784
(€H)
@)
®)
O]
)
(6)
(@©) 5,104 2022 10 31 6,038
4,529 2022 10 31 3,478 1,675 2022 10 31
2,145 16,896 2022 10 31 12,411
FHLB 4,507 2022 10 31 9,609 208
2022 10 31 182
(€Y 59
2023 11 29
@ (©)
® P-1 Aal AL
® A-1+ AA- A
® F1+ AA AA-
%) i
DBRS R-1( ) M ) AA
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@
(2) 2018 23 2018 23
) 2018 23
4) 2023 11
) 2023 25 S&P
(6) 2023 20
(7) 2023 12 DBRS
60
2023 10 31 2022 10 31
$ 217 $ 138 $ 199 $ 236 $ 146 $ 304
@ 41 57 42 38 21 25
(€] GIC
LCR
LCR 30
HOLA BCBS OSF1 LCR
100
OSF1 LCR
LCR
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2023 10 31
2
@ )

HQLA $ 384,290
$ 360,167 $ 34,667
® 121,924 3,658
238,243 31,009
407,280 198,854
® 150,032 35,505
221,760 127,861
35,488 35,488
39,561
349,440 79,711
70,080 20,190
10,736 10,736
268,624 48,785
® 26,747 26,747
® 760,747 12,569
$ 392,109
$ 312,357 $ 53,502
16,102 9,851
35,338 35,338
$ 98,781
HOLA $ 384,290
203,328
131%

2023 31

)

HOLA $ 382,789
285,527

134%
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2023 10 31 LCR 62 LCR
@ 30
30
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*

®)

(O] LCR

LCR
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LCR HQLA OSFI  LAR
BCBS LCR HQLA 88

LCR 30

HQLA
LCR
LCR 100
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2023 10 31
@

ASF
$ 117,650 $ - % - $ 11,047 $ 128,697
117,650 - - 11,047 128,697
301,314 104,626 46,055 55,553 470,509
® 97,270 44,770 24,000 26,429 184,167
204,044 59,856 22,055 29,124 286,342
285,377 510,037 64,530 148,095 358,921
® 163,133 - - - 81,567
122,244 510,037 64,539 148,995 277,354
® 68 1,800 2,964 20,378 -
45,718 235,759 14,112

NSFR 24,683

45,718 196,349 1,230 13,497 14,112
ASF $ 972,239

RSF
NSFR HQLA $ 44,012
- 664 - - 332
211,825 312,964 115,838 536,388 706,996

HOLA

- 110,421 20,430 275 16,133

HOLA
4,886 118,014 26,780 29,873 60,715
PSE 135,078 59,852 32,108 170,886 305,884

35
- 744 710 2,666 2,460
36,953 21,769 34,707 315,334 275,215
35
36,953 21,751 34,680 314,368 274,376
HOLA 34,908 2,908 1,813 20,020 49,049
® 68 1,800 2,964 20,378 -
2,662 311,650 82,617
2,662 2,262
ccp

18,788 15,970
NSFR 25,787 1,103
NSFR 54,824 2,741
- 154,335 19 57,897 60,541
791,176 29,674
RSF $ 863,631

113%
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31

ASF

$ 938,870

RSF

834,782

112%

(1) NSFR

@

(3) BCBS

*

®)

OSFI

NSFR

LAR

NSFR
OSF1

NHA MBS
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63
2023 10 31
12
$ 130,121 $ 8 $ - % - s - 8 -8 - - § 2,046 $ 133,075
W 117,373 56 103 2 4 9% 127 8,997 63,324 190,151
5,090 6,436 3,890 5,547 8,678 41,734 66,047 81,337 820 219,579
@ 146,722 71,346 60,468 20,475 16,889 3,754 - - 20,537 340,191
30,889 23,026 31,442 37,978 41,285 201,479 320,082 77,460 89,132 852,773
16,493 5,247 - - - - 5 - (50) 21,695
10,074 13,655 9,292 6,955 6,173 18,905 33,260 44,136 - 142,450
41,116 2,836 3,205 212 587 191 279 2,600 3,170 54,196
497,878 122,610 108,400 71,103 73,658 266,162 419,800 214,530 179,879 1,954,110
5,657 1,793 1,765 191 2,501 1,976 2,422 5,776 28,711 50,882

$ 503,535 $ 124,403 $ 110,165 $ 71,384 $ 76,249 $ 268,138 $ 422,222 $ 220,306 $ 208,590  $2,004,992

®
$ 100,666 $ 50,128 §$ 62,531 $ 76,957 $ 66,846 $ 59,845 $ 77,782 $ 27,314 $ 588,165 $1,128,234
4,992 6,044 7,337 4,100 1,489 6,965 13,616 8,706 - 53,249
. 2,543 - - 1,687 9,422 31,847 4,705 - 50,204
16,493 5,247 - - . - 5 - - 21,745
33,651 - - - . - - - - 33,651
@ 254,955 37,121 19,509 ®) o)) 279 - . 23,381 335,238
9,716 16,359 9,311 6,346 5,974 19,290 32,400 43,233 - 142,629
44,207 5,295 3,028 1,382 1,692 959 2,253 14,402 3,045 77,163
. - - - - . 1,937 9,449 - 11,386
473,680 131,737 101,716 88,779 77,687 96,760 159,840 107,800 615,491 1,853,499
929 6,613 221 216 150 1,102 2,009 12,928 9,565 33,733
. : . . . . : . 117,760 117,760
$ 474,609 $ 138,350 $ 101,937 §$ 88,995 §$ 77,837 $ 97,862 $ 161,840 $ 120,737 $ 742,816  $2,004,992
$ 544 $ 2,013 $ 3,528 $ 3,600 $ 4,716 §$ 784 $ 7314 $ 701 $ 23 $ 23,314
7,086 8,338 14,774 14,447 18,361 58,978 205,504 23,181 5,524 356,193
14,799 1,173 1,563 1,858 1,659 160 435 49 95,009 116,804
a1 10 15 15 15 55 128 178 985 1,492
$ 22,50 $ 11,534 § 19,880 §$ 20,011 §$ 24,751 §$ 50,986 $ 213,381 $ 24,100 $ 101,631 $ 497,803
(1) FVTPL
@
©)
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2022 10 31
12
$ 177,946 $ 2 8 - 3 - $ - 3 - 8 - $ - $ 2,460 $ 180,408
@ 86,491 592 71 8 - 104 170 8,710 52,059 148,205
3,250 7,490 7,390 3,537 4,873 12,303 50,979 79,387 809 170,018
@ 122,836 76,590 58,750 19,246 17,212 1,131 - - 22,080 317,845
31,203 21,795 29,253 39,919 34,658 150,826 348,411 75,091 88,809 819,965
11,632 6,235 5 - - - - - (45) 17,827
13,100 19,753 10,184 7,004 6,009 20,709 36,081 41,571 28 154,439
48,485 1,964 1,666 199 457 246 231 2,364 3,025 58,637
494,943 134,421 107,319 69,913 63,209 185,319 435,872 207,123 169,225 1,867,344
6,744 1,609 196 (357) 2,647 1,691 2,510 5,192 29,643 49,875

$ 501,687 $ 136,030 $ 107,515 $ 69,556 $ 65,856 $ 187,010 $ 438,382 $ 212,315 $ 198,868 $1,917,219

®
$ 91,062 $ 56,920 $ 52,671 $ 64,685 $ 83,220 $ 39,327 $ 60,161 $ 18,500 $ 645,105 $1,111,731
4,343 6,271 7,365 2,007 4,626 6,059 15,400 7,824 - 53,805
. 1,016 1,960 1,993 . 3,830 28,602 5,688 . 43,188
11,632 6,235 5 . . . . . . 17,872
35,511 . . . . . . . . 35,511
@ 211,929 35,600 7,743 1,055 313 946 - - 16,361 273,947
13,096 22,073 10,994 7,007 5,244 20,135 34,226 40,626 - 153,491
57,152 1,390 1,353 656 958 802 2,378 11,411 1,117 77,307
- - - 110 - - 1,881 8,034 - 10,025
424,715 129,505 82,001 77,603 94,361 71,198 142,738 92,083 662,673 1,776,967
1,021 6,585 208 156 178 1,046 1,073 12,357 9,363 32,077
. - - - - . - - 108,175 108,175
$ 425,736 $ 136,000 $ 82,389 $ 77,750 §$ 94,530 $ 72,244 $ 143,811 $ 104,440 $ 780,211 $1,917,219
$ 545 $ 2,211 $ 3,745 $ 3,274 $ 3,46 $ 1,415 $ 4,550 $ 1,088 $ 7§ 20,201
7,016 6,879 14,184 21,004 17,133 49,135 193,990 19,269 4,516 333,216
1,034 1,135 1,674 1,448 1,469 541 520 85 90,821 99,627
2 1 16 16 16 60 136 187 849 1,315
$ 9,510 $ 10,236 $ 19,619 $ 25,832 §$ 22,064 $ 51,151 $ 109,196 $ 20,609 $ 96,223 $ 454,449
(1) FVTPL
@
©)

186/634
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64
2023 10 31

™ $ 510,868 $ 482,738 $ 74,465 $ 124,906 $ 42,920 $1,235,897
. 21,740 i 5 i 21,745
. 33,741 - - - 33,741
23,381 311,154 279 . - 334,814
608 54,844 284 657 12,463 68,856
- 653 621 1,519 1,971 4,764
. i i 1,939 9,457 11,396

534,857 904,870 75,649 129,026 66,811 1,711,213

@ $ 23,308 $ 2 % 43 _ 3 - $ 23,314
® - 61 55 128 178 422

@ 5,617 114,495 48,848 178,048 9,185 356,193

28,925 114,558 48,907 178,176 9,363 379,929

$ 563,782 $1,019,428 $ 124,556 $ 307,202 $ 76,174 $2,091,142
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2022 10 31
@ $ 562,288 $ 463,711 $ 50,169 $ 106,568 $ 37,260 $1,219,996
- 17,872 - - - 17,872
- 35,305 . . . 35,395
16,367 256,756 948 . - om,0n
508 61,420 220 709 9,191 72,048
- 654 630 1,609 2,217 5,110
- 110 - 1,884 8,042 10,036

579,163 835,918 51,967 110,770 56,710 1,634,528

@ $ 20,280 $ 2 $ - $ - $ - $ 20,201
® - 73 60 136 187 456

@ 284,606 48,573 1 36 - 333,216

304,805 48,648 61 172 187 353,963

$ 884,058 $ 884,566 $ 52,028 $ 110,942 $ 56,897 $1,988,491

@

@

®
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2022 10
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2023

198/634

IMF

3.0 2023
2024 2.9



IFRS S2

2023
FRFI

2022

2023

IFRS S1

26

ESRS

21

OFSI

SEC

2023

31

B-15

180

CSRD

199/634

1SSB
IFRS S2

EDINETOOOO
OO000O0000O0O00oOdno(Ees99s)
oOoOooodn

FRF1
2024
OFSI

IFRS S1
1SSB

ESRS

CSRD



EDINETOOOO
OO000O0000O0O00oOdno(Ees99s)

oOoOooodn
2023
2023 28 2023 2023
2023 12 31
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2023 24 OSFI B-10 FRFI
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LIBOR 2023
30 2023 10 31 LIBOR
2023 27 2023 11
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TLAC OSFI LR
TLAC TLAC D-SIB
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RWA DSB CET OSF1
12 DSB
2022 12 OSFI 2023 DSB RWA 2.5 DSB
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oooooog
OSFI
OSFI TLAC
OSFI 65
0SFI 2023 2023
2023 10 31 n
10 31
RBC
D-SIB/ D.sIB/G.Sip | D-S1B/6-SIB
D-SIB/  G-SIB
6-SIB
TLAC ™ W@ [ 1 ® “®
Tier 4.5% 2.6% 7.1% 1.0% 8.1% 14.5% 3.0% 11.1% 11.6%
Tier 6.0% 2.6% 8.6% 1.0% 9.6% 15.7% 3.0% 12.6% 13.1%
8.0% 2.6% 10.6% 1.0% 11.6% 17.6% 3.0% 14.6% 15.1%
3.5% n.a. 3.5% n.a. 3.5% 4.3% n.a. 3.5% 3.5%
TLAC 21.6% n.a. 21.6% n.a. 21.6% 31.0% 3.0% 24.6% 25.1%
TLAC 7.25% n.a. 7.25% n.a. 7.25% 8.5% n.a. 7.25% 7.25%
@ D-SIB BCBS G-SIB
®) OSFI 2.5
CCyB 2023 10 31 OSFI CAR CCyB 0.06 2022 10 31
0.01
(3) DSB RWA 2023 10 31 OSF1
(4) 2023 11 DSB 50bps 2023 10 31 CCyB
n.a.
TLAC RWA TLAC
CET Tier Tier TLAC
CET CAR
Tier CET
LRCN Tier Tier
Tier Tier
2013 LRCN
NVCC NVCC
TLAC TLAC TLAC
400 365
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MoTier 2MBHEY » DENAES~DER

{4 fi ~DEETY wl
 RERME 1 -1 R TS : URETE
o EHSE a1 b L 58 ~D " £UTLMER

UFnEERs
LRI LOR

| MOEMAROET I BESLY

o
B ERTeH~0RELIR
G = E-Y--¥-Eirin
E = —HiEREIRESSNE
@ |
FUHOEBLASR LU EOELERAR

() 20205 HF 22N LR EAL0SFIORUABICEY, SY—TON2IFEORAICE, 0REHFESVTHEWNES REREOHR LY
DlEAT=U 1 ELUAT=02008E CMEYSREEENEERS, CONS A, W2IRHFENTIIZEMAEE Sh,

(2) S—0h . BT Ao e (F<~ToEiiEr oBREHERM o0 EHA-EHBIR, ThThET 1 BRLVEREh S, BZER - Wt
OW—EEEVERIAT, S ORMARHCET 1 ADISNERA - IMBORHIL., HRsVERIL, BRHRSITYATERSLS,

3) METRLMEHRIE. SRTRESHERETS. NECCRRROHNRETHS.
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TLAC RWA TLAC
TLAC
OSFI
TLAC RWA TLAC 66
2023 2022
10 31 10 31
)
CET 86,611 76,945
Tier 93,904 84,242
104,952 93,850
ra @
475,842 496,898
40,498 35,342
79,883 77,639
RWA 596,223 609,879
W
CET 14.5% 12.6%
Tier 15.7% 13.8%
17.6% 15..4%
4.3% 4.4
2,180 1,898
TLAC Tac @
TLAC 184,916 160,961
TLAC 31.0% 26..4%
TLAC 8.5% 8.5%
o RWA OSFI CAR 0SFI LR
CAR LR 2023
10 31 0SF1 2023
CAR LR
(2) TLAC TLAC OSFI  TLAC TLAC
TLAC TLAC RWA
TLAC
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TLAC 67
2023 2022
10 31 10 31
CET
$ 19,365 $ 17,162
84,130 77,859
6,852 5,725
CET - -
CET 11 11
CET (23,747) (23,812)
Tier CET $ 86,611 $ 76,945
Tier :
Tier $ 7,291 % 7,294
Tier - -
Tier AT
2 3
Tier - -
Tier AT $ 7,293 % 7,297
Tier T =CET +AT $ 93,904 $ 84,242
Tier :
Tier $ 9,683 $ 8,587
Tier - -
Tier Tier 3 3
1,362 1,018
Tier - -
Tier T $ 11,048 $ 9,608
T +T $ 104,952 $ 93,850
TLAC:
TLAC $ 78,952 $ 66,528
T 1,248 818
TLAC (236) (235)
TLAC + TLAC $ 184,916 $ 160,961
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2023 2022

CET 1 ¥ tE Mg (/A—F L 1IT)
258bps (126) bps 33bps (39) bps
Lons E— {200bes Gbps  14.5%

12, 6%
02%F  wppm BE? SA—+€A0 RIPY  RROMN  GRISEU Fom® 202345
WAMNE  (Frmmic AF (FXERC.) EO8D 108318
REY prrnzmwg BEMED B

=& HEEE mMEI—ES

ﬁ { .:I {ri e 1] E'm

(1) BESEALHEBETES.

(2) 80(8 FAE1-[XI3psOBMEHE (HH) SHEL. RTCHWTRLSMBHE WEORESEURCS Y RAF— $—ERADOE
TO—BEM-EZETER ) 5. FEARAS LUEESTRYL LU TORRRESRESITRIRLETATAELIIL
LOTHEENE.

@) CELUEOROBEMEOMBECLIET-HEINIORE. WEORERSME, 55— 712k HHECH+ ¥ OB WI=R
FTEMINEEUHERM, HoUCRISHORSHT SRARZCEIRTER,

) BUBSRME (DRP) OMEICSLTE, TR (6 1 HBEES) CREOIRHENE-HT32R0E8B0 L,

(5) CROELUEOROBEMEOMECLAES-EARTOREOEE 8L,

6 HEORERSNSIZHEIBRTONEIZL SRS, S5 L— 712k SHECH+ X ORI EIZAET 303 5 L U A KWL & UIZR
BEROWH-HT HMAREI L DEFINZ ., RBA Vi RS —  $—FRAOBRO—BRDIZ L IREEST,

CET 190bps 14.5
DRIP RWA

FX CRD
Tier 190bps 15.7 CET

220bps 17.6 Tier

10bps 4.3 HQLA

CRD
DRIP RBC
2,820
RBC
TLAC 460bps 31.0
TLAC
TLAC 8.5
TLAC

TLAC
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68

2022
2023 10 31
10 31

(€))

@ ® A-IRB F-IRB

$ 566,257 8% $ 3,817 $ 41,047 $ - 3 $ 44,864 $ 41,662

215,682 29% 5,369 56,345 - 61,714 65,506

493,178 48% 70,130 93,208 75,227 238,565 238,823
348,790 4% 2,767 11,251 - 14,018 15,910
35,751 40% 5,713 - 8,626 - 14,339 5,483

$1,659,658 23% $ 87,796 $201,851 $ 83,853 $ $ 373,500 $ 367,384

$1,153,730 % $ 107 $ 222 $ 7,367 $ % $ 7,792 $ 8,668
CVA
129,288 26% 568 3,040 15,730 13,657 32,995 40,138

$1,283,018 3% $ 675 $ 3,262 $ 23,097 $13,753 $ 40,787 $ 48,806

$2,942,676 14% $ 88,471 $205,113 $106,950 $13,753 $ 414,287 $ 416,190

4,896  206% 10,074 - - - 10,074 5,682
69,736 17% 5,332 6,178 - - 11,510 12,543
n.a. n.a. n.a. - - n.a. - 18,267
32,681  122% n.a. n.a. n.a. 39,971 39,971 44,216

$3,049,989 16% $103,877 $211,291 $106,950 $53,724 $ 475,842 $ 496,898

$ 3,575 $12,831 $ - $ - $ 16,406 $ 13,256

2,534 1,125 - - 3,659 4,001

2,641 1,024 - - 3,665 3,735

1,055 102 - - 1,157 1,750

8,276 1,583 - - 9,859 8,411

- 5,752 - - 5,752 4,189

$ 18,081 $ 22,417 $ - $ - $ 40,498 $ 35,342

$ 79,883 $ -3 - 8 - $ 79,883 $ 77,639

$3,049,989 $201,841 $233,708 $106,950 $53,724 $ 596,223 $ 609,879
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2023 2022
RWA 140

CET RWA
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69

2023 10 31

Tier

DRIP
Tier

2033

@

@

H®» 2023

740
16,042

31

2,012

$ 1,500

@

(2 2023 10 31

®
Q)

2023 31
5.01
2.12
2023 10 31
2023 11
1,000
40

2023

31 2023 30

NVCC

NVCC
2033

615
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2023 51 70
€H) 70
2023 2022
1,402,373  $ 19,398 $ 5.3 1,385,501  $ 17,318 $ 4.9
2
@ (1,862) (231) (2,680) (334)
1,400,511  $ 19,167 1,382,911  $ 16,984
7,793 7,535
3,830 3,502
3,693 4,696
JASAS 20,000  $ 500 $  0.93 20,000  $ 500 $  0.93
g™ 20,000 500 0.91 20,000 500 0.91
sp®@® 24,000 600 0.80 24,000 600 0.80
BrO® 12,000 300 0.75 12,000 300 0.75
BH® 6,000 150 1.23 6,000 150 1.23
B1® 6,000 150 1.23 6,000 150 1.23
8o 14,000 350 1.20 14,000 350 1.20
grP @G 750 750 4.20% 750 750 4.20%
c-2® 15 23 US$ 67.50 15 23 US$ 67.50
3)(4) () (8
QIOIQIO) 1,750 1,750 4.50% 1,750 1,750 4.50%
3)(4) () (8
G®HOE 1,250 1,250 4.00% 1,250 1,250 4.00%
3)(4)(7)(8
G®HOE 1,000 1,000 3.65% 1,000 1,000 3.65%
106,765  $ 7,323 106,765  $ 7,323
@ © ©) (12) ®)
106,756 ~ $ 7,314 106,753  $ 7,318
$ 7,443 $ 6,946
© 236 247
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@ 20

@
(©)
(4) NvCC

®)
®) Cc-2 615,400 c-2 40
2023 11 c-2 15 1,000
c-2 c-2 40
615
@ LRCN

(8) 2020 28 LRCN 1,750 BQ
BQ 2020 11 LRCN 1,250
BR BR 2021 LRCN 1,000
BS BS BQ BR BS
1,000 LRCN
20

©))

2023 11 24 2,008,939 1,406,516,221
7,776,117
NVCC OSFI1

2023 10 31 NVCC AZ BB BD BF BH
Bl BO BT LRCN LRCN LRCN 2026 27 2029 25
2029 12 23 2030 30 2033 28 2031 11 2032 2033
NVCC 5.00
10
5.00
NVCC 5,013
2023 10 31 78.16
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OSFI  CAR
ABCP 1AA
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1AA S&P ECAI
ABCP

SA ECAI
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GRM GRM
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220/634



EDINETOOOO
OO000O0000O0O00oOdno(Ees99s)
oOoOooodn

2022 31 OSFI BCBS
OSFI1 BCBS 2023
IRB RWA
10 SA
SA
70 65 2026 SA RWA
72.5 2024
2025 2026 67.5 70 72.5
D-SIB 50bps
2023
2023
2023 11 14 OSFI CAR CVA
BCBS CVA
CAR 2023 11
CAR

2023 10 20 OSFI1
CAR
2023 11
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12
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ACL
ACL
ACL
ACL
CGU
CGU
CGU CGU
CGU
CGU
CGU

11
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15
22
IFRS 17 IFRS 17
2017 1ASB
IFRS 17 IFRS IFRS
2020 1ASB IFRS 17
2023 11 2022 11

IFRS 17
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VFA
PAA
GMM
GMM VFA
CSM
CSM
CSM PAA
IFRS 17 IFRS
CSM
IFRS
2023 18 OSFI CET CSM
CSM

IFRS

IFRS 17

IFRS 17

IFRS 17
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IFRS 17
IFRS 17

GMM

CSM

IFRS 17

PAA

VFA

2024

GMM

2022 11
IFRS 17

2022 11
VFA
2022 11

IFRS 17 2022 11
CSM
2022 11
18 CET
2024

IFRS 17
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24

2023 11
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2023 10 31
SEC
2023 10 31
IFRS
2023 10 31
12 26

230/634



EDINETOOOO
OO000O0000O0O00oOdno(Ees99s)
oOoOooodn
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RBC
2023 10 31
()

141 $ 1,261 $ 1,169 $ 836 $ 2,845 $ 120 $ 5,748 $ 299 $ 12,419
- - 32 12 29 511 385 80 1,049
- 19 246 62 187 (514) - - -
- (3)  (216) (96) (78) 0) (331) (1)  (807)
1 6 22 9 32 1 103 - 174
0) 18 30 12 (8) ) 12) (31) @

140 $ 1,251 $ 1,283 $ 835 $ 3,007 $ 108 $ 5,893 $ 317 $ 12,834
-$ 627 $ 640 $ 525 $ 1,656 $ - $ 1,643 $ 114 $ 5,205
- 51 247 91 235 - 559 92 1,275
- (50)  (216) (88) (70) - (112) (Bl (567)
- 3 16 6 16 - 31 - 72
- 15 36 16 26 - 28 1) 100
- $ 646 $ 723 $ 550 $ 1,863 $ - $ 2,149 $ 154 $ 6,085

140 $ 605 $ 560 $ 285 $ 1,144 $ 108 $ 3,744 $ 163 $ 6,749
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2022 10 31
€
145 ¢ 1,308 $ 1,126 $ 773 $ 2,754 $ 170 $ 5,394 $ 308 $ 11,978
- - 24 3 28 397 270 138 860
- - 4 1 6 1 55 - 67
- 15 195 49 206 (465) - - -
(10) (83)  (195) G)  (205) @ (153)  (146)  (798)
7 24 17 15 67 6 58 @ 193
@ ®) ©) - (11) 12 124 - 119
141 $ 1,261 $ 1,169 $ 836 $ 2,845 $ 120 $ 5,748 $ 299 $ 12,419
- $ 664 $ 584 $ 427 $ 1,589 $ - $ 1,133 $ 157 $ 4,554
- 48 234 94 233 - 569 87 1,265
- (80)  (192) @  (208) - (106)  (146)  (732)
- 11 12 6 38 - 2 @ 68
- (16) 2 2 - - 45 17 50
- $ 627 $ 640 $ 525 $ 1,656 $ - $ 1,643 $ 114 $ 5,205
141 $ 634 $ 529 $ 311 $ 1,189 $ 120 $ 4,105 $ 185 $ 7,214
(1) 2023 10 31 120 2022 10 31 185
2023 10 31 RBC
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2023 10 31

()

1,505,138

@

™

LRCN

300

LRCN

50
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(€Y}
2023 10 31
(©)
1,402,373
102,765
0
1,505,138
@
LRCN LRCN
™
( )
( )
( )
( ) 2023 10 31 TSX c-2
BT LRCN 2023 10 31
c-2 C-2 40 NYSE
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2023 10 31
2O 20,000
ale) 20,000
YR 24,000
eYe) 12,000
BH(Z) 6,000
e 6,000
ale) 14,000
TP @ 750
c-2® 15
@@ 1,750
®)
AIO) 1 250
)
O] 1000
)
106,765
1,402,373
C)]
(1,862)
7,793
3,830
3,693
(€]
(2) NvCe
3) C-2 615,400 C-2 40
2023 11 C-2 15 1,000
C-2 C-2 40
615
(4) LRCN
(5) 2020 28 LRCN 1,750
BQ NVCC BQ 2020 11 LRCN
1,250 BR NVCC BR
2021 LRCN 1,000
BS NVCC BS BQ BR BS
1,000 LRCN
20

236/634



el alea)

EDINETOOOO
OO000O0000O0O00oOdno(Ees99s)

ooooOoog
2023 11 24 2,008,939 1,406,516,221
7,776,117
@
(©)
10 31
2018 (13,869) Y 1,439,029 (95) 17,635
2019 8,351)® 1,430,678 10 17,645
2020 6,817 1,423,861 an 17,628
2021 1,326 1,425,187 100 17,728
2022 (39,596) > 1,385,591 (410) 17,318
2023 16,782® 1,402,373 2,080 19,398
10 31
2018 82" 251,020 (107) 6,306
2019 (24,000)® 227,020 (600) 5,706
2020 (60,005) 167,015 (1,508) 4,198
2021 (59,000) 1% 108,015 (1,475) 2,723
2022 (5,250) 102,765 600 3,323
2023 - 102,765 - 3,323
10 31
2020 1,750 1,750 1,750 1,750
(12) 2021 2,250 4,000 2,250 4,000
2022 - 4,000 - 4,000
2023 - 4,000 - 4,000
) 2018 15,335 1,466
) 2019 10,251 1,900
) 2020 7,860 1,043
) 2021 1,326
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( ) 2022 40,866 1,270
( ) 2023 740
( ) 2017 11 13 C-1 82,050 1,000
25
( ) 2018 11 24 AD 10 25
2019 24 AK 2.4
A 13.6
AL 12 25 2018 11
BO 14 350
( ) 2020 10 W 12
AA 12 AC
AE 10 AF
AG 10 25
(  10) 2021 24 BK 29
25 2021 24 BM
30 25
(  11) 2021 11 BT 750
1,000 2022 24 BJ
25.75
( 12 LRCN 2020 28 1,750 BQ LRCN
2020 11 1,250 BR LRCN 2021
1,000 BS BQ BR BS
1,000 LRCN
)
2023 10 31
2 1,379,512,180 98.37
40,016 22,860,392 1.63
40,018 1,402,372,572 100.00
o
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2023 10 31
106,765,385 100.00
- 0.00
106,765,385 100.00
®)
10
C )() 2023 10 31
2023 10 31
M5H 1S3
CDS 300
100 1,085,568,731 77.41
10274
CEDE 20 293,943,449 20.96
1,379,512,180 98.37
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OSFI

2023 10 31
100

2023 10 31
100

CEO
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rbc. com/governance

RBC
RBC
RBC
RBC
RBC
CEO
CEO
CEO
ESG E&S
E&S
E&S
RBC
ESG E&S
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RBC

RBC RBC
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RBC

RBC
RBC

RBC
RBC
rbc.com/governance sedarplus.com

2023

RBC

rbc.com/governance
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RBC

RBC ESG
1891 RBC

ESG
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2019 2025 1,000 ™
RBC
2020 RBC
RBC
2021 2050
2025 5,000
2022 2025
RBC
2030
2025 RBC RBC RBC ™ 100
@
2023 @ ®
RBC
RBC
) ESG
(2) 2019
(3) 2023 12
@)

rbc.com/climate
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2023 ©
RBC
2023
48
2023 RBC RBC RBC
21 2022 72
150
2023 11 RBC
2023
RBC
RBC InvestEase® RBC
My Money Matters™
Al @
RBC NOMI®
RBC 2023
35,000
RBC
(©)
RBC RBC
RBC RBC RBC 250
11
2004
44,000 130
RBC ® RBC RBC 2023 65.1
2017 RBC
900 6.9
393
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*
RBC 2023
RBC
® 43 25 50
30 2023 10
31 43 24
©® RBC 2025
™ 2025 50
30
2023 12 2020 RBC
™
2023 12 RBC
RBC
RBC 172
800,000
®
RBC
RBC
2023 880
2,800 1.3
13,000
(1) 2023 12 31
) 2023 Digital Banker Digital CX Awards 2023
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( ) 219,579 24,019,747 170,018 18,598,269
409,730 44,820,365 318,223 34,810,414
340,191 37,213,493 317,845 34,769,065
( )
569,951 62,346,940 549,751 60,137,262
287,826 31,485,286 273,967 29,969,250
857,777 93,832,226 823,718 90,106,512
( ) (5,004)  (547,388) (3.753)  (410,541)
852,773 93,284,838 819,965 89,695,971
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335,238 36,671,685 273,947 29,967,062
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641,399 70,162,637 587,567 64,273,954
( 19) 11,386 1,245,515 10,025 1,096,635
1,887,232 206,444,308 1,809,044 197,891,323
( 20) 7,314 800,078 7,318 800,516
( 20) 19,167 2,096,678 16,984 1,857,880
84,328 9,224,640 78,037 8,536,467
6,852 749,540 5,725 626,258
117,661 12,870,937 108,064 11,821,121
99 10,830 111 12,142
117,760 12,881,766 108,175 11,833,263
$ 2,004,992 \219,326,075 $ 1,917,219 \209,724,586
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2,392 261,661 926 101,295
8,344 912,750 7,610 832,458
4,063 444,452 4,289 469,174
1,463 160,038 1,481 162,007
2,099 229,610 1,976 216,155
2,005 219,327 2,058 225,125
1,292 141,332 1,038 113,547
1,240 135,644 1,203 131,596
1,489 162,882 1,512 165,398
193 21,112 43 4,704
(12 ¢ (219) (23,956) 110 12,033
964 105,452 512 56,008
31,000 3,391,090 26,268 2,873,457
56,129 6,139,951 48,985 5,358,469
™ ® 134
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( 17 21) 18,971 2,075,238 16,528 1,807,998
2,381 260,458 2,099 229,610
1,634 178,743 1,554 169,992
1,271 139,035 1,082 118,360
2,223 243,174 1,511 165,288
( 11 1,487 162,663 1,369 149,755
3,206 350,704 2,466 269,756
31,173 3,410,014 26,609 2,910,759
18,466 2,019,996 20,100 2,199,724
( 22 3,600 393,804 4,302 470,596
14,866 \ 1,626,192 15,807 \ 1,729,128
14,859 \ 1,625,426 15,794 \ 1,727,706
7 766 13 1,422
14,866 \ 1,626,192 15,807 \ 1,729,128
2 /) 10.51 \ 1,150 11.08 \ 1,212
23) /) 10.50 1,149 11.06 1,210
/) 5.34 584 4.96 543

™ ®
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$ 14,866 \ 1,626,192 $ 15,807 \ 1,729,128
C ) « 22
C )
( (19 (1,531) (2,241)  (245,143)
)
(14) (1,531) (16) (1,750)
« ) (131)  (14,330) (12) (1,313)
(159 (17,393) (2,269 (248,206)
« ) 2,148 234,970 5,001 556,904
« ) (1,208)  (132,143) (1,449)  (158,506)
« ) (160)  (17,502) (18) (1,969)
¢ ) 146 15,971 17 1,860
926 101,295 3,641 398,289
- 216 23,628 1,634 178,743
- 146 15,971 194 21,222
362 39,599 1,828 199,965
¢ ¢ HD (344)  (37.,630) 821 89,809
(576)  (63,009) 1,747 191,104
C )
« ) 44 4,813 50 5,470
(876) __ (95,826) 2.618 286,383
C 253 27,676 5,818 636,431
C D $ 15,110 \ 1,653,867 § 21,625 \ 2,365,559
$ 15,110 \ 1,652,883 $ 21,604 \ 2,363,262
9 985 21 2,297
$ 15,119 \ 1,653,867 $ 21,625 \ 2,365,559
(€D (@)
* ) 134
109.39
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$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $
7,323 17,318 (5) (334) 78,037 (2,357) 5,688 2,394 5,725 108,064 111 108,175
- 2,080 - - 1 - - - - 2,081 - 2,081
- - 515 3,659 - - - - - 4,174 - 4,174
- - (519) (3,556) - - - - - (4,075) - (4,075)
- - - - 4 - - - - 4 - 4
- - - - (7,443) - - - - (7.,443) - (7,443)
- - - - (236) - - - - (236) 1) 257)
- - - - @18) - - - - 18) - (18)
- - - - 14,859 - - - - 14,859 7 14,866
- - - - (876)  (159) 924 362 1,127 251 2 253
$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $
7,323 19,398 (9)  (231) 84,328 (2,516) 6,612 2,756 6,852 117,661 99 117,760
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$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $
6,723 17,728 (39) (73) 71,795 (88) 2,055 566 2,533 98,667 95 98,762
750 929 - - ) - - - - 848 - 848
- (509) - - @4,917) - - - - (5,426) - (5,426)
(150) - - - (5) - - - - (155) - (155)
- - 552 4,922 - - - - - 5,474 - 5,474
- - (518) (5,183) - - - - - (5,701) - (5,701)
- - - - 2 - - - - 2 - 2
- - - - (6,946) - - - - (6,946) - (6,946)
- - - - (247) - - - - 247) ) (252)
- - - - (56) - - - - (56) - (56)
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()
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38 338 466 842 36 395 397 828
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$9.88 $107.13 § 87.66
$ - 1.8%  9.96%  5.93%
1,859 11.70%  15.60%  13.00%
$ 2
149 7.73%  10.38%  8.60%
EV/EBITDA 4.16X  14.90X  6.93X
2,732 P/E 6.60X  22.60X  8.60X
- EV/Rev 1.00X  5.00X  3.00X
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397 - 70 1 (@) - - 466 n.a.
576 - 79 2 (13) - - 644 n.a.
1,692 (95) 33 1,443 (868) 30 (376) 1,859 (44)
®)
(859) (63) 5 (48) 235 42 26 (662) (43)
(132) 10 10 14 44 - 33 (49) 8
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15 - 1 - 5) - - 11 -
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406,045 - 198,265 792 199,057 605,102
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®) 1,207 2,219 6,681 3,656 8,709 - 22,472
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2,479 1,247 1,726 640 517 - 6,609
2,479 1,242 1,707 515 316 - 6,259
4 4.5% 3.2% 2.6% 1.2% 3.4% - 3.4%
469 8 1,159 52 1,708 - 3,396
469 8 1,158 52 1,061 - 2,748
0 4.9% 3.7% 2.8% 4.5% 4.4% - 3.8%
846 8,595 33,044 16,355 16,486 - 75,326
856 8,572 33,050 16,193 14,624 - 73,295
® 7.4% 2.1% 2.7% 4.0% 3.6% - 3.2%
0ECD
160 1,009 5,030 1 - - 6,200
160 1,009 5,022 1 - - 6,192
* 6.3% 4.0% 3.0% 4.6% - - 3.3%
- - 32 28 2,702 - 2,762
- - 31 25 2,645 - 2,701
*» - - 7.5% 6.7% 6.8% - 6.8%
- - 16 7,542 1,194 - 8,752
- - 17 7,503 1,186 - 8,706
4 - - 6.4% 6.9% 7.0% - 6.9%
4,928 1,759 18,798 2,248 0 - 27,774
4,928 1,755 18,761 2,243 36 - 27,723
® 3.9% 4.2% 3.9% 5.4% 4.7% - 4.1%
493 493
®) 842 842
8,882 12,618 59,805 26,866 22,648 493 131,312
8,892 12,586 59,746 26,532 19,868 842 128,466
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- - - - 2 - 2
779 49 67 207 208 - 1,310
252 3 - - - - 255
®) 3,055 1,837 4,813 3,037 8,172 - 20,914
52,059 52,059
14,835 26,410 19,436 10,698 24,767 52,059 148,205
@
780 1,010 1,024 745 522 - 4,081
778 1,009 1,012 635 347 - 3,781
) 2.3% 2.3% 2.8% 1.6% 3.1% - 2.4%
237 215 616 56 1,561 - 2,685
237 216 616 56 999 - 2,124
) 2.0% 2.7% 2.0% 3.8% 4.1% - 3.0
802 2,613 13,586 9,104 19,929 - 46,034
802 2,615 13,554 9,061 18,326 - 44,358
) 4.9% 0.4% 1.9% 3.4% 3.0% - 2.6%
OECD
1,105 642 3,406 1 - - 5,154
1,105 642 3,396 1 - - 5,144
0 2.4% 1.2% 1.7% 4.4% - - 1.8%
- - - il 2,944 - 2,985
- - - 37 2,851 - 2,888
@) - - - 4.5% 4.7% - 4.7%
- - 46 6,331 1,011 - 8,288
- - 46 6,172 1,830 - 8,048
) - - 4.6% 5.3% 5.4% - 5.3%
5,922 4,793 12,420 2,666 51 - 25,852
5,919 4,792 12,307 2,656 46 - 25,720
) 3.2% 2.8% 2.6% 3.1% 5.1% - 2.8%
551 551
(5) 828 828
8,846 9,273 31,098 18,944 26,918 551 95,630
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2023 10 31
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ACL
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OO000O0000O0O00oOdno(Ees99s)

IFRS
)
2023 10 31 2022 10 31
) & @
$ 349,001 1,630 - $ 350,631 $ 340,716 2,573 % - $ 343,289
19,126 1,610 - 20,736 15,035 1,932 - 16,967
1,582 4,927 - 6,509 1,188 3,125 - 4,313
) 54,247 1,220 - 55,467 51,915 1,304 - 53,219
- - 682 682 - - 560 560
423,956 9,387 682 434,025 408,854 8,934 560 418,348
(©) 476 448
$ 434,501 $ 418,796
$ 75,572 1,676 - $ 77,248 73,339 2,575 % - $ 75,914
5,587 2,915 - 8,502 5,482 3,780 - 9,262
477 2,088 - 2,565 836 1,660 - 2,496
o) 9,982 157 - 10,139 9,733 104 - 9,837
- - 280 280 - - 200 200
$ 91,618 6,836 280 $ 98,734 89,390 8,119 $ 200 $ 97,709
$ 16,331 135 - $ 16,466 15,088 83 % - $ 15,171
1,771 2,132 - 3,903 1,418 1,911 - 3,329
41 1,734 - 1,775 39 1,255 - 1,294
0) 856 35 - 891 751 32 - 783
$ 18,999 4,036 - $ 23,035 17,296 3,281 $ - $ 20,577
$ 8,641 920 - $ 9,561 8,571 838 $ - $ 9,409
2,238 936 - 3,174 1,512 1,130 - 2,642
99 592 - 691 102 375 - a77
@ 11 - - 11 3 - - 3
- - 244 244 - - 138 138
$ 10,989 2,448 244 $ 13,681 10,188 2,343 % 138 $ 12,669
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2023 10 31 2022 10 31

) ) )
$ 266,209 $ 610 $ - $ 266,819 $ 247,620 $ 1,041 $ - $ 248,661
10,759 298 - 11,057 9,021 246 - 9,267
956 434 - 1,390 876 367 - 1,243
@) 6,686 138 - 6,824 5,668 118 - 5,786
$ 284,610 $ 1,480 $ - $ 286,090 $ 263,185 $ 1,772 $ - $ 264,957
$ 89,037 $ 416 $ - $ 89,453 $ 88,513 $ 202 $ - $ 88,715
156,211 19,210 - 175,421 145,908 15,758 - 161,666
@) 10,968 238 - 11,206 11,789 360 - 12,149
- - 2,498 2,498 - - 1,301 1,301
(©) 9,248 10,136
$ 287,826 $ 273,967

$ 312,178  $ 186 $ - $312,364 $ 284,481 $ 179 $ - $ 284,660
130,994 13,947 - 144,941 126,225 10,657 - 136,882
@) 4,176 - - 4,176 3,692 1 - 3,693
$ 447,348 $ 14,133 $ - $ 461,481 $ 414,398 $ 10,837 $ - $ 425,235
(1) 2023 10 31 88 (2022 10 31 88 )
)
@
®) FVTPL
@1.®
2023 10 31 2022 10 31
30 30
) 89 90 89 90
$ 1,840 $ 208 $ 2,048 $ 1,328 $ 168 $ 1,496
1,823 49 1,872 1,279 2 1,281
$ 3,663 $ 257 $ 3,920 $ 2,607 $ 170 $ 2,777
@ 30

)
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HSBC
2022 11 29 HSBC ( HSBC ) 100
135 HSBC
HSBC
HSBC (2023 30
21 )
2022 30 HSBC
RBC 2023 30
(HSBC
)
2024
2022 27 RBC ( )
( RBC
) 100 RBC
RBC
1,591 (2,341 ) 1,564 (2,302
) (purchase price allocation) 3,279
938 1,292 913
Ceu

CGU
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) 69
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ooooood
NHA MBS
MBS MBS
2023 10 31 2022 10 31
L, L,
) @ (©) (©) @ (©) (©)
$ 28,312 $ 313,558  $ 21,680 $ 363,550 $ 32,812 $ 258,615  $ 15,332 $ 306,759
28,007 313,558 21,680 363,245 32,177 258,615 15,332 306,124
$ 26,472 $ 313,558  $ 21,680 $ 361,710  $ 31,174 §$ 258,615  $ 15,332 $ 305,121
26,780 313,558 21,680 362,018 30,900 258,615 15,332 304,847
$ (308) $ S - $ (308 $ 214 $ -3 - $ 274
o
(2) CvB
©)
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OooooOodd
RBC
(
)
2023 10 31
400 (2022 10 31 524 )
331 (2022 10 31 363 )
( )
2023 10 31
RBC
( ) o

$ 4 % - $ 2,411 % - 3 743 $ 3,158
- 5,790 - 8,451 2,403 16,644
2 - 26 - 91 119
- - - - 365 365
$ 6 $ 5,790 $ 2,437 $ 8,451 $ 3,602 $ 20,286
$ - $ - 3 - 3% - 3 166 $ 166
245 - 1 - - 246
- - - - 7 7
3 245 % - 3 1 3 - 3 173 $ 419

) $ 54,715 $ 10,580 $ 3,068 ¢ 14,863 $ 5,595 % 88,821
$ 53,641 $ 31,037 $ 440,924 $ 81,028 $ 461,919 $1,068,549
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ooooooo
2022 10 31
RBC
) ®
$ 255§ - $ 3,08 § - $ 595 $ 3,939
- 5,334 - 8,494 2,487 16,315
25 - - - 100 125
- 6 - - 568 574
$ 280 $ 5,340 $ 3,089 $ 8,494 $ 3,750 $ 20,953
$ - 8 - % - 8 - $ -$ -
171 - - - - 171
$ 171 $ - $ - 8 - $ -$ 171
(2) $48,260 $ 8,658 $ 3,758 $ 14,339 $ 5,523 $ 80,538
$ 47,289 $ 26,543 $ 548,320 $ 64,361 $ 554,573 $1,241,086
®
2023
10 31 370 (2022 10 31 320 )
@
24
ABCP
ABCP
ABCP

ABCP
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OO000O0000O0O00oOdno(Ees99s)

ooooOoog
( I¢Y)
2023 10 31
)
$ 1,008,978 $ 691,397 $ 358 $ 1,700,733  $ 1,700,733 $ -
4,220,675 6,651,849 4,418,165 15,290,689 14,169,938 1,120,751
162,845 420,341 166,275 749,461 749,257 204
144,138 412,239 179,532 735,909 735,562 347
2,336,565 106,069 4,082 2,446,716 2,363,796 82,920
30,098 88,625 74,538 193,261 189,100 4,161
972,658 2,055,058 1,141,295 4,169,011 4,107,125 61,886
244,721 73,407 2,663 320,791 320,791 -
254,534 71,039 2,305 327,878 327,878 -
@) 11,709 108,637 114,463 234,809 234,066 743
®) 261,528 140,225 13,088 414,841 401,373 13,468
103,195 24,283 1 127,479 126,879 600
99,792 54,817 1 154,610 154,445 165
12,801 3 - 12,804 12,804 -
11,206 1,468 - 12,674 12,674 -
124 - - 124 124 -
571,970 154,677 4,586 731,233 731,233 .

$10,447,537 $11,054,134 $ 6,121,352 $27,623,023  $26,337,778 $ 1,285,245
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OO000O0000O0O00oOdno(Ees99s)

OooooOodd
2022 10 31
)
$ 763,398 $ 44,188 $ 353 $ 807,939 $ 806,576 $ 1,363
4,994,006 6,934,996 4,781,148 16,710,150 16,001,414 708,736
100,504 577,780 151,084 829,368 829,368 -
108,770 556,652 182,841 848,263 848,263 -
2,187,124 86,136 2,648 2,275,908 2,230,901 45,007
87,942 67,345 82,659 237,946 233,617 4,329
518,244 1,572,490 879,541 2,970,275 2,918,063 52,212
58,075 18,061 3,199 79,335 79,335 -
62,266 16,623 3,274 82,163 82,163 -
©) 1,143 35,621 6,751 43,515 42,785 730
®) 228,709 93,431 19,392 341,532 327,860 13,672
148,032 50,869 - 198,901 197,251 1,650
233,941 98,763 65 332,769 332,320 449
56,353 12,173 - 68,526 68,526 -
16,394 6,168 - 22,562 22,562 -
164 - - 164 164 -
539,103 89,147 2,094 630,344 630,344 -
$10,104,168 $10,260,443 $ 6,115,049 $26,479,660  $25,651,512 $ 828,148
@ ( CAR )
( SA-CCR )
©) 10 (2022 10 31 10 )
1,190 (2022 10 31 260 ) 1,150
(2022 10 31 170 )
3) 20 (2022 10 31 60 ) CAR

402/634
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OooooOodd
@
2023 10 31 2022 10 31
)

$ 76 $ 24 $ 77 $ 25
26,320 22,965 25,690 21,608
11,230 - 12,056 -
- 11,776 - 12,201
37,626 34,765 37,823 33,834
22,972 22,655 37,734 37,631
7,370 5,815 8,680 9,087
55,268 46,550 49,758 38,230
2,623 - 2,623 -
- 1,790 - 2,571
88,233 76,810 98,795 87,519
175 176 388 125
16,319 20,865 18,474 21,084
142,353 132,616 155,480 142,562
1,907 7,436 2,244 6,880
1,907 7,436 2,244 6,880
860 509 268 237
- - - 22
555 4,484 374 6,677
1,415 4,993 642 6,936
49 - - -
71 109 313 273
3,442 12,538 3,199 14,089
145,795 145,154 158,679 156,651
(1,801) (981) (2,055) (975)
(1,544) (1,544) (2,185) (2,185)
$ 142,450 $ 142,629 $ 154,439 $ 153,491

€Y
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oOoOooodn

@
2023 10 31 2022 10 31
)
$ 46,148 52,165 44,137 $ 142,450 $ 56,050 56,792 41,597 $ 154,439
47,707 51,690 43,232 142,629 58,504 54,361 40,626 153,491
(€H)
€H)
/
IBOR
ABR
IBOR
2023 10 31 2022 10 31
) / /
USD LIBOR $ - $ 40,208
CDOR 115,048 114,159
CDOR 736 801
USD LIBOR - 237
$ 115,784 $ 155,405
(1) EURO ( BBSW
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OO000O0000O0O00oOdno(Ees99s)

OOooOoOoOoo
)
2023 10 31 2022 10 31
) @ @
$ 58 $ 94 $ 6 $ 46 $ 76 $ 5
9,613 24,448 3,721 9,699 21,698 5,187
610 1,547 353 108 426 119
123 564 152 15 543 164
5,655 27,862 5,611 8,772 29,565 5,940
4,261 21,483 4,274 6,072 22,188 4,556
841 1,742 383 536 1,111 340
95 441 109 28 313 86
356 1,834 219 299 766 114
1,933 16,002 4,929 5,196 20,457 7,520
7,186 16,191 324 11,098 19,870 397

$ 30,731 $ 112,208 $ 20,081 $ 41,869 $ 117,013 $ 24,428

(1) CAR
) CAR CVA 130 (2022 10 31 160 )

406/634
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2023 10 31
@ @
OECD
AAA, AA A BBB BB
$ 36,224 $ 70,010 $ 28,956 $ 10,605 $145,795 $ 69,841 $ 20,268 $ 55,686 $145,795
24,025 60,556 22,765 7,718 115,064 68,151 20,237 26,676 115,064
( ) $ 12,199 $ 9,454 $ 6,191 $ 2,887 $ 30,731 $ 1,690 $ 31 $ 29,010 $ 30,731
2022 10 31
@ @
OECD
AAA, AA A BBB BB
$ 39,001 $ 72,983 $ 29,690 $ 17,005 $158,679 $ 73,616 $ 22,727 $ 62,336 $158,679
21,552 62,614 21,818 10,826 116,810 71,582 22,597 22,631 116,810
( ) $ 17,449 $ 10,369 $ 7,872 $ 6,179 $ 41,869 $ 2,034 $ 130 $ 39,705 $ 41,869
@ )
AMA AA A BBB BB
0 CAR
ocCl
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OO000O0000O0O00oOdno(Ees99s)
oOoOooodn

€Y

2023 10 31 2022 10 31

$ 156 $ 19 $ 13 $142,262 $ 247 $ 57 $ 36 $154,099

50 100 409 142,070 27 - 126 153,338
- - 25,427 n.a. - - 25,798 n.a.

¢))
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OO000O0000O0O00oOdno(Ees99s)

oOoOooodn

2023 10 31
)
$ 8,853 $ 62,948 $ 21,702 $ 93,503 $ 156 $ -
23,592 75,130 10,236 108,958 - 50
4.3 3.6 3.2 3.6
2.1 2.4 2.6 2.3
2022 10 31
)
$ 9,083 $ 32,173 $ 15,516 $ 56,772 $ 247 $ 3
13,231 69,419 10,094 92,744 - 24
1.1 2.5 2.8 2.3
1.9 1.8 2.0 1.9

€Y
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OO000O0000O0O00oOdno(Ees99s)

oOoOooodn

2023 10 31
$ 63,927 $ 68,470 $ 1,097 $133,494 - -
16,696 63,527 32,802 113,025 - -
4.5 3.4 3.7 4.0
4.9 3.8 2.8 3.7
$ 63 $ 916 $ - $ 979 19 14
1.48 1.44 n.a. 1.45
n.a. 1.34 n.a. 1.34
2022 10 31
$ 50,436 $ 74,726 $ 1,023 $126,185 - -
6,221 42,830 24,024 73,075 - -
3.3 2.8 2.5 3.0
2.0 1.5 2.0 1.7
$ - $ 314 $ - $ 314 32 -
n.a. 1.44 n.a. 1.44
n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a.

€y
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EDINETOOOO

OO000O0000O0O00oOdno(Ees99s)

2023 10 31
/

$ 6,061 $ 14,653 $ 6,413 $ 27,127 n.a. $ 25,427
1.28 1.29 1.33 1.30
n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a.
- 1.71 - 1.71

$ 18,920 $ - $ - $ 18,920 13 $ 409
1.36 n.a. n.a. 1.36
1.45 n.a. n.a. 1.45
1.68 n.a. n.a. 1.68

2022 10 31
/

$ 5,462 $ 20,851 $ 1,025 $ 27,338 n.a. $ 25,798
1.31 1.28 1.28 1.29
- 1.51 1.48 1.51
- 1.71 - 1.71

$ 6,089 $ - $ - $ 6,089 % % 126
1.34 n.a. n.a. 1.34
1.36 n.a. n.a. 1.36
1.55 n.a. n.a. 1.55

413/634
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OO000O0000O0O00oOdno(Ees99s)
oOoOooodn

2023 10 31
)
@
);
$86,734 $ - $ (3,911 % - ' $ (1,445)
W :
- 102,535 - (6,340) ' 276
2022 10 31
)
@
);
$52,216 $ ~$(3,285) % - ' $ (3,695)
W :
- 86,738 - (5,924) ' 5,742
(1) 2023 10 31
539 259
(2022 10 31 486 25
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OO000O0000O0O00oOdno(Ees99s)

oOoOooodn

2023 10 31
/
( )
: $ 2,248 $(2,115) $ (3,126)
: (2,558) 3,535 5,607
(
) 50 . .
n.a. 1,513 (7,297) (382)
2022 10 31
/
( )
: $ 4,720 $ (1,777) $ (2,668)
: (6,895) 5,471 2,231
(
) an 7 -
n.a. 1,927 (5,936) (421)

415/634
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OO000O0000O0O00oOdno(Ees99s)

ooooodo
2023 10 31
0Cl1
) @

$ 1,385 $ (60) n.a. n.a.
(205) 71 n.a. n.a.
(2,232) 7 $ (3,930) $ (3,121)
2,416 11 4,498 3,045
(50) - 44) @37
(684) - (684) -
(828) - (828) (191)

2022 10 31

oCl

) ()]
$ 3,650 $ (45) n.a. n.a.
(5,713) 29 n.a. n.a.
(4,698) (36) $ (4,432) $ (185
6,713 37 6,673 (118)
17 - 23 17
(1,771) ®3) (1,768) -
(159) - (159) (23)
[ (2022 10 31

19 )

416/634
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2023 10 31 2022 10 31
$ 2,39 $ 5,688 $ 566 $ 2,055
568 2,241
(44) 23
(119) @
@377) 27)
37 an
93 (23)
453 530
(684) (1,768)
(828) (159)
2,164 5,085
(160) (18)
191 23
(249) 241 (698) 470
$ 2,756 $ 6,612 $ 2,39 $ 5,688

417/634
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EDINETOOOO

OO000O0000O0O00oOdno(Ees99s)

oOoOooodn

2023 10 31

@

141 $ 1,261 $ 1,169 $

836 $ 2,845 $

120 $ 5,748 $

299  $12,419

- - 32 12 29 511 385 80 1,049
- 19 246 62 187 (514) - - -
- (53)  (216) (96) (78) @  (331) (31 (807)
1 6 22 9 32 1 103 - 174
) 18 30 12 ) ®) (12) (31) @
140 $ 1,251 $1,283 $ 835 $3,007 $ 108 $5,893 $ 317 $12,834
- $ 627 $ 640 $ 525 $1,656 $ - $1,643 $ 114 $ 5,205
- 51 247 91 235 - 559 92 1,275
- (50)  (216) (88) (70) - (112) (Bl (567)
- 3 16 6 16 - 31 - 72
- 15 36 16 26 - 28 1) 100
- $ 646 $ 723 $ 550 $1,863 $ - $2,149 $ 154 $ 6,085
140 $ 605 $ 560 $ 285 $ 1,144 $ 108 $3,744 $ 163 $ 6,749

2022 10 31

@

145 $ 1,308 $ 1,126 $

- - 24
- - 4
- 15 195
(10) (83)  (195)
7 24 17

@ ® O]

773 $ 2,754 $

3 28
1 6
49 206
G @05
15 67
- avn

170 $ 5,394 $

397 270
1 55
(465) -
@ (153)
6 58
12 124

308 $11,978
138 860

- 67

(146)  (798)
@ 193
- 119

141 $1,261 $1,169 $

836 $ 2,845 $

120 $ 5,748 §

299  $12,419

- $ 664 $ 584 $ 427 $1,589 $ - $1,133 $ 157 $ 4,554
- 48 234 94 233 - 569 87 1,265
- (80)  (192) @  (204) - (106)  (146)  (732)
- 11 12 6 38 - 2 @ 68
- (16) 2 2 - - 45 17 50
- $ 627 $ 640 $ 525 $ 1,656 $ - $1,643 $ 114 $ 5,205
141 $ 634 $ 52 $ 311 $1,189 $ 120 $4,105 $ 185 $ 7,214
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(1) 2023 10 31 120 (2022 10 31 185
)
2023 10 31 1,326 655 49 ) 671
G1 ) 2022 10 31 1,213
578 48 ) 635 G2 )
2023 10 31 647 (2022
10 31 571 )
11
2023 10 31
us
(
( ) )
$2,574 $1,759 $ 589 $1,928 $3,027 $1,042 $ 59 $ 112 $1,187 $12,277
70 - - - - - - - - 70
- - - - - - (30) - - (30)
- 32 4 88 53 82 - - 18 217
$2,644 $1,791 $ 593 $2,06 $3,080 $1,024 $ 29 $ 112 $1,205 $12,504
2022 10 31
us
(
m ¢D)
( ) )
$2,557 $1,600 $ 577 $1,964 $2,768 $ 115 $ 60 $ 112 $ 1,101 $10,854
17 - - 33 - 880 - - - 930
- - - - (19) - - - - (19)
- 159 12 (69) 278 47 @ - 86 512
$2,574 $1,759 $ 589 $1,928 $3,027 $1,042 $ 59 $ 112 $1,187 $12,277
@

27
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) ( )
VIU
2023
ceU VIU
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2023 2022
) ¢))
11.7 3.0 11.0 3.0
12.9 3.5 12.6 3.5
12.5 3.0 11.8 3.0
12.5 3.0 11.8 3.0
us ( ) 12.5 3.0 12.8 3.0
(@) 12.5 3.0 n.m n.m
12.4 3.0 11.8 3.0
12.4 3.0 11.6 3.0
12.7 3.0 12.4 3.0
@
(&) CGU 2022
n.m.
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2023 cou FVLCD 109
(2022 109 )
FVLCD
12.9 (2022
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FVLCD
50 235
209 50 278
10 485
el

CGU
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2023 10 31

$ 5,076 $ 908 $ 1,630 $ 2,472 $ 1,535 $ 11,621

81 179 - - 1,134 1,394
- 31 - - - 31
1,067 78 - - (1,145) -
(509) (145) - (160) 8 (806)
73 - - ® ®) @n
68 17 28 144 38 295
(115) 29 - 9 (33) (110)

$ 5,595 $ 1,097 $ 1,658 $ 2,456 $ 1,532 $ 12,338

$(3,031) $ (612) $(1,146) $ (749) 3 - $ (5,538)
(1,009) (146) (160) 172) - (1,487)
506 157 - 114 - 777

19 - - - - 19

@37 (13) (24) (33) - 107)

) (44) - (6) - (57)
$(3,597) $ (658) $(1,330) $ (846) % - $ (6,431)

$ 1,998 $ 439 $ 328 $ 1,610 $ 1,532 $ 5,907

2022 10 31

$ 4,886 $ 894 $ 1,474 $ 1,414 $ 1,236 $ 9,904

25 16 - - 1,256 1,297
- 14 - 1,292 148 1,454
1,121 76 - - (1,197) -
(960) 111) - (329) ) (1,405)
(16) - - - 11) @n
71 48 149 113 30 411
(51) (29) 7 (18) 78 13)

$ 5,076 $ 908 $ 1,630 $ 2,472 $ 1,535 $ 11,621

$(2,9799 $ (572) $ (885) $ (997) $ - $ (5,433)
(976) (137) (153) (103) - (1,369)

959 109 - 315 - 1,383

9 - - - - 9

(36) 31) (98) 13 - (152)

(8) 19 (10) 23 - 24

$(3,031) $ (612) S (1,146) (749) % - $ (5,538)

©»

$ 2,045 $ 296 $ 484 $ 1,723 $ 1,535 $ 6,083

423/634
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$ 215 $ 248 $ 286 $ 463
[€)) $ 18 $ 103 $ 5 $ 7
@ 2023 10 31
242
« ) (2022 10 31
)
13
) 2023 10 31 2022 10 31
$ 4,373 $ 4,250
7,775 4,703
20,104 25,634
5,979 7,054
2,446 1,472
2,826 3,331
2,562 1
528 524
87 85
1,127 1,084
13 12
501 711
8,849 14,684
2,753 1,772
2,834 3,299
8,908 6,933
5,403 4,741
$ 77,068 $ 80,300
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2023 10 31 2022 10 31
) o @  ® o @  ®
$ 186,530 $ 57,614 $ 197,802 $ 441,946 $ 203,645 $ 64,743 $ 136,544 $ 404,932
316,200 19,056 409,819 745,075 348,004 17,855 394,011 759,870
7,996 769 35,001 44,666 10,458 490 33,064 44,012
$ 510,726 $ 77,439 $ 643,522 $1,231,687 $ 562,107 $ 83,088 $ 563,619 $1,208,814
C))
$ 132,994 $ 6,107 $ 168 $ 139,269 $ 149,737 $ 7,797 $ 466 $ 158,000
40,646 - - 40,646 52,702 - - 52,702
Q) 17 - - 17 620 - - 620
7,265 - - 7,265 7,840 - - 7,840
(C))
302,746 14,641 493,347 810,734 305,779 17,982 409,586 733,347
16,210 55,895 78,837 150,942 11,410 57,055 85,111 153,576
G) 5,353 726 51,812 57,801 28,276 254 52,144 80,674
5,495 70 19,358 24,923 5,743 - 16,312 22,055
$ 510,726 $ 77,439 $ 643,522 $1,231,687 $ 562,107 $ 83,088 $ 563,619 $1,208,814
(€))
@
(©)
@ 2023 10 31
4,450 340 490 320
(2022 10 31 4,650 350 500 300 )
®)
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) 2023 10 31 2022 10 31
$ 182,373 $ 159,602
69,868 61,996
12 151,079 156,531
76,232 49,225
49,965 42,809
36,774 27,609
36,506 33,835
40,725 32,012
$ 643,522 $ 563,619
100,000 $ 586,000 $ 521,000
2023 10 31 2022 10 31
)
$ 913,669 3.02 $ 847,052 1.02
196,490 2.74 207,436 0.50
70,426 4.22 81,824 1.03
31,035 2.26 28,613 0.72
$ 1,211,620 3.03 $ 1,164,925 0.92
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( )
) 2023 10 31 2022 10 31
$ 5,428 $ 4,913
(297) (260)
$ 5,131 $ 4,653
€Y $ 3,960 $ 1,741
(261) 273)
$ 3,699 $ 1,468
(€Y
OSFI
2023 10 31
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@ 0.11 0.11
0 1.79 1.81
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@
@
(©)
® ( )
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$ 11,934 $ 968 $ 10,966 $ 11,481 $ 902 $ 10,579
€Y 38 - 38 41 - 41
$ 11,972 $ 968 $ 11,004 $ 11,522 $ 902 $ 10,620
(€D $ 9% -3 9 3 79 -3 7
32 1 31 30 1 29
$ 41 $ 1% 40 $ 37 $ 13 36
$ 12,013 $ 969 $ 11,044 $ 11,559 $ 903 $ 10,656
(€H)
2023 10 31 2022 10 31
$ 11,522 $ 902 $ 10,620 $ 12,817 $ 861 $ 11,956
@ 552 30 522 (1,288)  (130) (1,158)
(99) 36 (135) (6) 171 Q77)
(©) - (€) @ - (€))
$ 11,972 $ 968 $ 11,004 $ 11,522 $ 902 $ 10,620
(€))
135
170

14
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) 2023 10 31 2022 10 31
€Y) 1 $ 1 $ (10)
(€H) 1 7 5
(@) 10 2 6
@ 10 ® (10)
©) 5 (32) (33)
(©))
2 177) (166)
2 (54) (59)
5 177) (181)
10 (192) (199)
@
100
@
(©))
16
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$ 40 $ 39
2,719 2,598
1 1
$ 2,760 $ 2,638
2023 10 31 2022 10 31
$ 2,638 $ 2,666
734 859
52 (301)
76 56
(668) (573)
72) (69)
$ 2,760 $ 2,638
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346 80 (2022 10 31 427 79 )
2024 408

86
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2023 10 31 2022 10 31
$ 13,704 $ - $ 14,310 $ -
11,142 1,348 11,271 1,387
$ 2,562 $ (1,348) $ 3,039 $ (1,387)
$ 664 $ - $ 716 $ -
585 69 622 75
$ 79 $  (69) $ %4 $  (75)
$ 14,368 $ - $ 15,026 $ -
11,727 1,417 11,893 1,462
$ 2,641 $ (1,417) $ 3,133 $ (1,462)
® - ® -
$ 2,632 $ (1,417) $ 3,125 $ (1,462)
$ 2,826 $ - $ 3,331 $ -
(194) (1,417) (206) (1,462)
$ 2,632 $ (1,417) $ 3,125 $ (1,462)
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2023 10 31 2022 10 31
) (€)) (€))
$ 15,026 $ - $ 17,703 $ -
786 - 580 -
( ) (895) - (2,931) -
55 - (62) -
23 80 177 79
44 22 45 20
(645) (102) (610) (99)
- - 3 -
/ an - 135 -
® - (14) -
$ 14,368 $ - $ 15,026 $ -
$ 11,893 $ 1,462 $ 15,315 $ 1,780
195 33 308 42
- @ @ 2
- - ®3) -
624 77 496 63
) @ @) @ @
() (480) (46) (3,797) (341)
) 70 @ 83 ()
45 1 @7 6
44 22 45 20
(645) (102) (610) (99)
- - 3 -
/ an ®) 103 @
$ 11,727 $ 1,417 $ 11,893 $ 1,462
$ 18 $ 1,417 $ 23 $ 1,462
11,709 - 11,870 -
$ 11,727 $ 1,417 $ 11,893 $ 1,462
@ 2023 10 31 300 106
(2022 10 31 323 117 )
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$ 195 $ 308 $ 33 $ 42
- @ @ 2
- ®3) - -
« ) (162) (84) 77 63
- - @ (26)
9 14 - i
$ 42 $ 234 $ 107 $ 81
323 250 - -
$ 365 $ 484 $ 107 $ 81
2023 10 31 193 (2022 10 31 305 )
(2022 10 31 ) 2023 10 31
« ) (157) (2022 10 31  (83) )
) (2022 10 31 (D) )
ocCl
) 2023 10 31 2022 10 31 2023 10 31 2022 10 31
(
$ @ $ @ $ @D $
(480) (3,797) 45) (319)
70 83 2 )
( ) 895 2,931 - -
( 1 2 - -
$ 484 $ (783) $  (70) $ (325)
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2023 10 31 ocl 440 (2022 10 31
798 ) 44 (2022 10 31 15 )
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2023 10 31
( )
M.
2023 10 31 2022 10 31
(
) (©) (©))
$ 723 5 100 $ 1,469 10 100
1,726 12 100 2,799 19 100
@) 4,343 30 - 3,489 23 -
128 1 - 114 1 -
3,296 23 - 3,171 21 -
4,152 29 6 3,984 26 8
$ 14,368 100 19 $ 15,026 100 30
(€H)
@
®) 22 (2022 10
31 34 )
®
2023 10 31 0.3 (2022 10 31 0.7 )(
37 (2022 10 31 89 )) 62 (2022 10 31 48 )
2023 10 31
(2022 10 31 )
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2023 10 31
)
65,890 5,963 71,853
2023 « ) $ 604 $ 41 $ 645
2024 « ) 670 44 714
2025 « ) 694 40 734
2026 « ) 717 42 759
2027 « ) 738 42 780
2028 « ) 757 42 799
2029 2033 « ) 4,013 226 4,239
12.2 15.1 12.3
AA
AA AA
A AA AA
AA
30 30
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2023 10 31 2022 10 31 2023 10 31 2022 10 31
5.7 5.4 5.8 5.5
3.0 3.0 n.a. n.a.
@
n.a. n.a. 3.4 3.5
n.a. n.a. 3.1 3.1
@
n.a.
2023 10 31 2022 10 31
65 65
65 45 65 45
)
23.9 24.3 24.8 25.2 23.9 24.2 24.8 25.1
23.5 25.4 24.7 26.8 23.4 25.4 24.7 26.8
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()
)
100 $ (1,228) $ (149
100 1,536 184
50 23 -
50 (25) -
289 18
100 n.a. 50
100 n.a. 42)
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18

2023 10 31 2022 10 31
$ 1,599 $ 1,292
10,936 5,019
23,365 26,143
11,716 10,038
3,830 3,660
426 439
1,975 1,856
1,611 1,668
2,560 -
342 324
4,764 5,110
1,684 1,715
8,065 10,974
9,088 8,991
775 557
644 627
4,507 9,609
2,959 2,136
5,324 5,077
$ 96,170 $ 95,235
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19
)
2023 2022
( ) 10 31 10 31
2023 [6)) 9.30 $ - $ 110
2026 27 (@ 4.65 US$1,500 1,939 1,884
2027 11 3) 2022 11 4.75 TT$300 - 60
2029 25 (2) 2024 25 2.74 (4) 1,459 1,415
2029 12 23 (2 2024 12 23 2.88 (5) 1,442 1,412
2033 ) 2028 5.01 (6) 1,418 -
2030 30 (@ 2025 30 2.09 (1) 1,249 1,250
2031 11 [©) 2026 11 2.14 (8) 1,637 1,637
2032 [©) 2027 2.94 (9) 919 932
2033 28 (2) 2028 28 1.67 (10) 868 875
2083 10 (1D 224 224
2085 29 (12) US$174 241 237
$ 11,396 $ 10,036
(10) (11)
$ 11,386 $ 10,025
(1) 2023 9.30 110
) NVCC( )
Tier NvCC
OSFI
1.5 () 5.00
)
( )
(3) 2022 11 2027 11 4.75 300
100 ( )
(05 CDOR 0.98
5) CDOR 0.89
6) CORRA 2.12
@) CDOR 1.31
®) CDOR 0.61
©)) CDOR 0.76
(10) CDOR 0.55
11 30 0.40
(12) (LIMEAN) 0.25

442/634
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$ -
1,939
10 8,992
465
$ 11,396

20
300

50
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2023 10 31 2022 10 31
( (
) ) )
1,385,501 $ 17,318 1,425,187 $ 17,728
@ 740 68 1,270 99
16,042 2,012 - -
@ - - (40,866) (509)
1,402,373 $ 19,398 $5.34 1,385,501 $ 17,318 $4.96
®) (2,680) $ (334) 662) $ @3)
(30,195) (3,556) (48,437) (5,183)
31,013 3,659 46,419 4,922
3) (1,862) $ (231) (2,680) $  (334)
1,400,511 $ 19,167 1,382,911 $ 16,984
()
BH 6,000 $ 150 $1.23 6,000 $ 150 $1.23
BI 6,000 150 1.23 6,000 150 1.23
AZ 20,000 500 0.93 20,000 500 0.93
BB 20,000 500 0.91 20,000 500 0.91
BD 24,000 600 0.80 24,000 600 0.80
BF 12,000 300 0.75 12,000 300 0.75
BO 14,000 350 1.20 14,000 350 1.20
BT 750 750 4.20 750 750 4.20
/
c-2(5) 15 23 US$67.50 15 23 US$67.50
( LRCN )(6)
1(7) 1,750 1,750 4.50 1,750 1,750 4.50
2(7) 1,250 1,250 4.00 1,250 1,250 4.00
3(7) 1,000 1,000 3.65 1,000 1,000 3.65
106,765 $ 7,323 106,765 $ 7,323
®) 12) $ ) 164) 8 (39)
(1,924) (519) (2,811) (518)
1,927 515 2,963 552
3) () $ ©) (12) s ®)
106,756 $ 7,314 106,753 $ 7,318
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50
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25

1,000
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(2022 10 31

9

25

1,000

) 1,250

1,000

BS(
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2022 10 31
12.47 ) 5,426
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25 )
/ c-2
1,000
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0oooooo
BH(4) 4.90 $  .306250 150224 2015 $  26.00
2020 2015
BI(4) 4.90 306250 2020, > 26.00
®)
2019 2014
AZ(4) 3.70 2.21 231250 o % 25.00
BB(4) 3.65 2.26 20125 201 2014 25.00
2020 2015
BD(4) 3.20 2.74 200000 0 % 25.00
2020 2015
BF(4) 3.00 2.62 ag7s00 202, > 25.00
BO(4) 4.80 2.38 00000 2% Lo 25.00
BT(4) 4.20 2.71 21.000000 202; . 15021 1,000.00
/
c-2(6) 6.75 4.052  Uss 16.875000 202 2o US$1,000.00
o 2025 2020
1(8) 4.50 4.137 na. o0 o $1,000.00
2026 2020
2(9) 4.00 3.617 n.a. 9 : 1,000.00
2026 2021
3(10) 3.65 2.665 na. o0 1,000.00
(Y] BT
11 24 ( C-2 ) BT
(2) OSFI
AZ BB BD BF BO 25
BH BI 12 26
12 0.25 25
BT 1,000
C-2 1,000
(3) OSFI
@) NVCC Tier
NVCC OSFI
) )
®)
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(6) LIBOR Cc-2
Tier 2023 11 /
Cc-2 1,000 ( 25 )
(7) LRCN
LRCN
() ( )LRCN
( )LRCN ( )LRCN LRCN
LRCN (
)
LRCN
LRCN LRCN NVCC
Tier NVCC
OSFI1
LRCN
) )
(1,000
)
OSFI
LRCN
(8) LRCN 2025 11 24 4.5 2080 11 24
4.137 ( )
11 24 LRCN 2025
OSFI BQ 10
24 11 24 ( )
(9) LRCN 2026 24 4.0 2081 24
3.617 ( )
24 LRCN 2026
OSFI BR
24 24 ( )
(10)LRCN 2026 11 24 3.65 2081 11 24
2.665 ( )
11 24 LRCN 2026
OSFI1 BS 10
24 11 24 ( )
n.a.
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( DRIP )
DRIP
2023 DRIP
2023 2022 10 31 DRIP
2023 10 31 DRIP
26.9 2009 26 RBC
38.9
21
) )
(100 )
10
2023 10 31 11 (2022 10 31
) 2023 10 31 (2022 10

31 ) 1.9 (2022 10 31 2.0 )
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2023 10 31 2022 10 31
(
) ( ) @ ( ) @
7,509 $ 100.07 7,055 $ 92.27
1,088 131.64 1,184 129.99
@.3) (740) 84.76 (684) 73.98
(90) 113.55 (46) 104.28
7,767 $ 106.01 7,509 $ 100.07
3,830 $ 91.84 3,502 $ 87.15
@ 2023 10 31 2022 10 31
©) 63 (2022 10 31 51 )
130.94 (2022 10 31  134.10 )
(3) 2023 2022
2023 10 31 ( )
( ( ) @ ( ) (€Y)
) ( )
64.73 79.65 936  $ 74.96 1.58 936  $ 74.96
90.23 96.55 1,779 93.48 3.82 1,779 93.48
102.33 104.70 1,633 103.81 5.22 1,115 103.39
106.00 106.00 1,202 106.00 7.12 - -
129.99 131.64 2,217 130.78 8.60 - -
7,767  $ 106.01 5.72 3,830 $ 91.84
@ 2023 10 31
2023 10 31 11.51 (2022 10 31
7.80 )
(
)
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) 2023 10 31 2022 10 31
$ 130.16 $ 128.48
2.89 1.25
3.79 3.66
14 13
( ) 10
50 RBC
4,500
RBC 1,500
2023 10 31 139
(2022 10 31 128 ) 2023 10 31
36 (2022 10 31 36 )
( DSU )
DSU DSU
/ DSU DSU
RBC
RBC
RBC
RBC
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RBC
2023 10 31 2022 10 31

) ( )

466 $ 130.61 469 $ 131.49
4,231 110.32 3,794 125.22
2,362 131.41 2,220 129.65

103 126.81 92 135.44
1,506 130.12 1,083 128.50
8,668 $ 120.79 7,658 $ 127.48

( )
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2023 10 31 2022 10 31
) ( ) )
5,786 $ 641 5,429 $ 684
9,934 1,098 9,398 1,182
5,808 643 6,006 757
@ 2,654 294 2,537 319
2,135 234 1,772 218
26,317 $ 2,910 25,142 $ 3,160
@
) 2023 10 31 2022 10 31

$ (1) $ 20
126 210
216 273
213 (261)
104 91
$ 608 $ 333

452/634
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) 2023 10 31 2022 10 31

C )
$ 4,081 $ 4,151
851 (230)
(100) -
4,832 3,921
(1,286) 232
47) 4
125 231
() (86)
(1,232) 381
3,600 4,302

C )
¢ ) (10) (633)
- @
«C ) (39) 2
() 20 2
) (306) (478)
C ) 45 6
¢ ) 190 628
¢ ) 59 70
C ) (68) 287
(222) 622
C )

¢ ) 24 €))
2 10
(59) (45)
(364) 466
$ 3,236 $ 4,768
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) 2023 10 31 2022 10 31
$ 5,115 27.7 $ 5,269 26.2
« )

(2,130) (11.5) (428) 2.1)
(337) (1.8) 437) (2.2)
1,050 5.7 4 -
(98) (0.6) (106) (0.5)
$ 3,600 19.5 $ 4,302 21.4

19.5 190

CRD )
1.5
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2023 10 31
/
$ 987 $ - $ 18 $ 2 $ - $ - $1,174
1,504 ) © 22 - - 1,522
12 - 11 - - - 23
322 - G7) 1 ) - 261
6 3) 661 11) ) - 651
(16) (330) - 25 - - (321)
(1,234) - 302 Q@ ®) - (967)
(435) 68 37 1 0 - (333)
(113) 4 95 24 - - 10
$ 1,033 $ (263) $1,22 $ 37 $ (19 $ -  $2,020
$ 1,472 $ 2,446
(439) (426)
$ 1,033 $ 2,020
2022 10 31
/
$ 974 $ - $ 2 $ 1 $ - $ - $ 987
1,614 (10) (211) 101 10 - 1,504
11 - 1 - - - 12
242 - 67 2 8 3 322
110 €H) (126) 23 - - 6
19 @ - 5 - - (16)
(836) - 4 G7) (345) - (1,234)
(163) (287) 19 4 ®) - (435)
4 22 (137) (6) 4 - (113)

$ 1,937 $ (2718) $ (381) $ 83 $ (381) $ 3 $ 1,033

$ 2,011 $ 1,472
(74) (439)
$ 1,937 $ 1,033

455/634
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2023 10 31
261 (2022 10 31 322 )
( )
2023 10 31
417 18 (2022 10 31 429 130 )
(2022 10 31 )
(2022 10 31 ) 417 (2022 10
31 429 ) (2022 10 31 )
(2022 10 31 93 ) 18 (2022 10 31
37 )
2023 10 31 220 (2022 10 31 260 )
2022
2022 12 15 C-32 2022 (Fall Economic
Statement Implementation Act, 2022)( ) CRD
( )
CRD 2020 2021 10 2022 15
CRD 2023 10 31
12 10
100 1.5 2022
2023 10 31

26.2 27.7
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2015

2015

CRA

2009

2017

2012
2011

CRA

2017
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2018 (
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23
) 2023 10 31 2022 10 31
$ 14,866 $ 15,807
(236) (247)
Q) 13)
$ 14,623 $ 15,547
( ) 1,391,020 1,403,654
( ) $ 10.51 $ 11.08
$ 14,623 $ 15,547
( ) 1,391,020 1,403,654
@ 1,483 1,918
26 462
( 1,392,529 1,406,034
( $ 10.50 $ 11.06
@
2023 10 31
130.73 2,119,045
2022 10 31

458/634
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2023 10 31 2022 10 31

$ 23,314 $ 20,291
51,544 45,336

3,226 2,960

291 318

301,132 284,602

95,055 90,693

7,503 7,333

14,043 1,241

203 360

459/634
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ABCP
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OECD

FICC )
FICC FICC
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2023 10 31
3,980 (2022 10 31 3,630 )
(
)
2023 10 31
1,832 (2022 10 31 1,421 )
2023 10 31
10 (2022 10 31 20 )

2023 10 31 2022 10 31
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2023 10 31 2022 10 31
$ 102,944 $ 97,178
107,122 70,334
28,953 40,318
239,019 207,830
@
502,109 465,484
(6,876) (9,192)
495,233 456,292
$ 734,252 $ 664,122
$ 168,681 $ 158,748
46,260 45,288
331,784 274,392
38,686 40,438
69,802 62,905
40,352 49,556
9,111 9,503
10,709 8,263
18,867 15,029
$ 734,252 $ 664,122

€y
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25

( LIBOR )
LIBOR

2021 12 30

2023 21 LIBOR
LIBOR
2023
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2015 13
( RBC
RBC
RBC
RBC
2017
2018 29
2024
2016 10 28
Act) (
RBC
2015
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(tribunal correctionnel)
12 RBC
2021
2023 18
RBC
(Employee Retirement Income Security
QPAM )

QPAN
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2022 10 RBC RBC
( SEC ) RBC
SEC SEC
2018 11 ( CMA ) 2009
2013 RBC
2023 CMA RBC
RBC CMA
2023 RBC RBC
2023
2022 12 29 RBC RBC
( RBC DS )
2020 (
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(
( GE )
GE

2023 10 31 2022 10 31 (1)
0) $ 23 $ 27
®3) 2 2
39 40
$ 64 $ 69

(1) 2022 10 31 2021 10 31 GE
2022 10 31
14

)

®

21

DSU
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2023 10 31 (1) 2022 10 31 (2)
(
®) 2,805,471 $ 26 2,409,294 $ 59
®) 991,909 110 914,496 115
RBC 181,648 20 170,312 22
3,979,028 $ 156 3,494,102 $ 196
(1) 2023 10 31 2022 10 31
32,958
(2) 2022 10 31 2021 10 31 GE
569,470
34
©)
( )
2023 10 31 18 (2022 10 31
14 ) 2023 10 31 2022 10 31
2023 10 31 217 (2022 10 31 251
) 77 (2022 10 31 20 )
2023 10 31 2022 10 31
2023 10 31 (2022 10
31
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) 2023 10 31 2022 10 31

$ 1,089 $ 829

55 50

108 107

27
(
)
2023
2023
)
ATM

us
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( Teb )
Teb
Teb
Teb 559 (2022 10 31
)
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2023 10 31
) ®

o) $ 16,074 $ 4,495 $ - $ 3379 % 1,181 $ 25129 $ 18,752 $ 5,065 $ 1,312
6,046 13,049 5,675 7,672 (1,442) 31,000 14,851 8,563 7,586

22,120 17,544 5,675 11,051 (261) 56,129 33,603 13,628 8,898

1,579 328 - 561 - 2,468 1,648 784 36

- - 4,022 - - 4,022 2,161 - 1,861

9,215 14,128 653 6,509 668 31,173 15,319 11,177 4,677

C ) 11,326 3,088 1,000 3,981 (929) 18,466 14,475 1,667 2,324
D) 3,060 661 197 (158) (160) 3,600 4,770 (1,103) (67)

$ 8,266 $ 2,427 $ 803 $ 4,139 $ (769)$ 14,866 $ 9,705 $ 2,770 $ 2,391

$ 9%1 $ 1,234 $ 58 $ 509 $ -$ 2,762 $ 1,570 $ 836 $ 356
13 81 1 2 11 108 28 65 15

$ 636,046 $ 179,227 $ 22,591 $1,100,172 $ 66,956 $2,004,992 $1,042,663 $ 639,296 $ 323,033

$ 463 $ 1,008 $ 53 § 311 $ 639 $ 2,474 % 1,334 $ 700 $ 440

$ 635,952 $ 177,389 $ 23,355 $1,099,893 $ (49,357)%$1,887,232

2022 10 31
1,
, ® o O
) $ 14,019 $ 3,886 $ -3 4,944 % (132)$ 22,717 $ 15,761 $ 5,423 $ 1,533
6,124 12,357 3,510 5,005 (728) 26,268 13,508 6,364 6,396
20,143 16,243 3,510 9,949 (860) 48,985 29,269 11,787 7,929
463 33 - 13) 1 484 600 60 (176)
- - 1,783 - - 1,783 (466) - 2,249
8,437 12,015 588 5,816 (247) 26,609 13,648 9,006 3,955
« ) 11,243 4,195 1,139 4,146 (614) 20,109 15,487 2,721 1,901
( ) 2,873 985 282 778 (616) 4,302 3,615 452 235
$ 8,370 $ 3,210 $ 857 $ 3,368 $ 2$ 15,807 $ 11,872 $ 2,269 $ 1,666
$ 942 $ 1,109 $ 57 % 514 $ 12 % 2,634 § 1,617 $ 776 $ 241
11 2 2 3 - 18 11 5 2

$ 602,824 $ 198,380 $ 21,918 $1,033,978 $ 60,119 $1,917,219 $ 992,485 $ 570,255 $ 354,479

$ 394 $§ 2,347 $ 49 $ 258 $ 630 $ 3,678 $ 1,263 $ 666 $ 1,749

$ 602,741 $ 198,329 $ 22,588 $1,033,689 $ (48,303)%$1,809,044

@
&)
®
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28
™
2023 10 31
N $ 798,259 66 $ 294,670 24 $ 76,637 6 50,147 4 $1,219,713
[OREO) 27,221 19 36,698 25 67,406 46 14,470 10 145,795
$ 825,480 60 $ 331,368 24 $ 144,043 11 64,617 5  $1,365,508
*
®) $ 427,849 56 $ 252,071 33 $ 51,393 8 23,183 3 $ 754,496
85,222 61 30,737 22 21,428 15 2,731 2 140,118
$ 513,071 57 $ 282,808 32 $ 72,821 8 25,914 3 $ 894,614
2022 10 31
N $ 759,037 65 $ 263,736 23 $ 87,671 8 48,991 4 $1,159,435
ONO) 32,434 20 35,921 23 72,885 46 17,439 11 158,679
$ 791,471 60 $ 299,657 23 $ 160,556 12 66,430 5  $1,318,114
*
®) $ 398,719 57 $ 223,624 32 $ 52,669 8 20,857 3 $ 695,869
79,110 66 13,847 12 24,476 20 2,485 2 119,918
$ 477,829 59 $ 237,471 29 $ 77,145 9 23,342 3 $ 815,787

473/634
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)
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57 (2022 10 31 56 )
14 (2022 10 31 15 )
20 (2022 10 31 20 )
32 )

15 (2022 10 31 15 )
10 (2022 10 31 10 )
25 (2022 10 31 26 )

44 56 (2022 10 31 45 55 )
15 (2022 10 31 15 )
11 (2022 10 31 11 )

10 31 )

(2022 10 31

474/634



EDINETOOOO
OO000O0000O0O00oOdno(Ees99s)

ooooooo
29
OSFI
( TLAC ) TLAC
Tier ( CET ) Tier Tier
CET
Tier CET Tier (
LRCN ) Tier
Tier Tier
Tier TLAC
400 365 TLAC TLAC
CET Tier TLAC
Tier
(Tier )
TLAC TLAC
2023 2022 OSFI1

TLAC ( (domestic stability buffer) )
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) 2023 10 31 2022 10 31
€Y
CET $ 86,611 $ 76,945
Tier 93,904 84,242
104,952 93,850
( RWA
xa
$ 475,842 $ 496,898
40,498 35,342
79,883 77,639
RWA $ 596,223 $ 609,879
€Y
CET 14.5 12.6
Tier 15.7 13.8
17.6 15.4
4.3 4.4
( ) $ 2,180 $ 1,898
TLAC TLAC  (2)
TLAC $ 184,916 $ 160,961
TLAC 31.0 26.4
TLAC 8.5 8.5
() RWA OSFI ( CAR )
OSFI ( LR ) CAR
LR 2023 10 31 OSFI
2023 CAR « ) LR
« )
® TLAC TLAC OSFI  TLAC TLAC
( )
TLAC TLAC RWA
TLAC

476/634
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2023 10 31

@

@

$ 436,617 $ 96,676 $ 339,941 $ 201 $ 336,112 $ 3,628 $ 250 $ 340,191

138,318 1,544 136,774 89,889 22,310 24,575 5,676 142,450
3,306 443 2,863 19 421 2,423 - 2,863

$ 578,241 $ 98,663 $ 479,578 $ 90,109 $ 358,843 $ 30,626 $ 5,926 $ 485,504

$ 427,330 $ 96,676 $ 330,654 $ 201 $ 325,674 $ 4,779 $ 4,584 $ 335,238

132,770 1,544 131,226 89,889 17,340 23,997 11,403 142,629
1,475 443 1,032 19 - 1,013 - 1,032

$ 561,575 $ 98,663 $ 462,912 $ 90,109 $ 343,014 $ 29,789 $ 15,987 $ 478,899

478/634
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2022 10 31
(€))
) @
$ 411,937 $ 94,203 $ 317,734 $ 293 $ 314,602 $ 2,839 $ 111 $ 317,845
146,479 2,185 144,294 98,610 21,412 24,272 10,145 154,439
1,638 304 1,334 11 83 1,240 - 1,334
$ 560,054 $ 96,692 $ 463,362 $ 98,914 $ 336,097 $ 28,351 $ 10,256 $ 473,618
$ 360,722 $ 94,203 $ 266,519 $ 203 $ 265,822 $ 404 $ 7,428 $ 273,947
141,137 2,185 138,952 98,610 19,758 20,584 14,539 153,491
825 304 521 11 - 510 - 521
$ 502,684 $ 96,692 $ 405,992 $ 98,914 $ 285,580 $ 21,498 $ 21,967 $ 427,959
@
@ 170 (2022 10 31 200 ) 3,420 (2022
10 31 3,160 ) 150 (2022 10 31 190 )

3,280 (2022 10 31 2,670 )
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31
( )
)
2023 10 31 2022 10 31
)
@ $ 59,793 $ 2,196 $ 61,989 $ 71,081 $ 1,316 $ 72,397
71,086 - 71,086 108,011 - 108,011
©) 180,929 9,222 190,151 139,810 8,395 148,205
( ) 33,363 186,216 219,579 26,540 143,478 170,018
336,437 3,754 340,191 316,714 1,131 317,845
120,247 449,704 569,951 113,965 435,786 549,751
76,249 211,577 287,826 70,374 203,593 273,967
(5,004) (3,753)
- 2,760 2,760 - 2,638 2,638
21,690 5 21,695 17,827 - 17,827
@ 140,261 2,189 142,450 151,928 2,511 154,439
65 6,684 6,749 59 7,155 7,214
- 12,594 12,594 - 12,277 12,277
- 5,907 5,907 - 6,083 6,083
62,555 14,513 77,068 66,071 14,229 80,300

$1,102,675 $ 907,321 $2,004,992 $1,082,380 $ 838,592 $1,917,219
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2023 10 31 2022 10 31
)
®) $ 991,484 $ 240,203 $1,231,687  $1,023,324 $ 185,490 $1,208,814
- 2,760 2,760 - 2,638 2,638
21,740 5 21,745 17,872 - 17,872
32,602 1,049 33,651 34,105 1,406 35,511
334,959 279 335,238 273,001 946 273,947
0 131,352 11,277 142,629 140,808 12,683 153,491
1,898 10,068 11,966 1,904 9,607 11,511
69,187 26,983 96,170 71,689 23,546 95,235
- 11,386 11,386 110 9,915 10,025
$1,583,222 $ 304,010 $1,887,232  $1,562,813 $ 246,231 $1,809,044
@
(2) FVTPL
FVTPL
®) 5,110 (2022 10 31 5,620 )

481/634
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32
) 2023 10 31 2022 10 31
$ 41,770 $ 48,062
61,256 84,680
217,490 174,615
@ 55,082 49,841
105,070 88,260
150,207 132,829
( ) 709,635 679,580
(€} - 7,172
214,145 227,767
$ 1,554,655 $ 1,492,806
$ 1,006,284 $ 955,978
@ 10,132 -
6,866 36,701
402,326 382,099
1,425,608 1,374,778
11,386 9,964
117,661 108,064
$ 1,554,655 $ 1,492,806
@
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) 2023 10 31 2022 10 31
€)) $ 56,495 $ 27,791
44,174 12,846
12,321 14,945
) 5,390 5,425
17,711 20,370
2,002 579
11,780 10,175
3,929 9,616
1,874 2,276
( ) 2,055 7,340
12,804 8,454
$ 14,859 $ 15,794
« ) 251 5,810
$ 15,110 $ 21,604
(€H) 25 (2022 10 31 11 )
) « ) (2022 10 31 )
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2023 10 31 2022 10 31

$ 14,859 $ 15,794
(12,804) (8,454)
50,306 101,145
(30,055) (78,288)
(12,832) (10,348)
21,954 24,133
(17,378) (7,239)
(819) 3,024
5,000 2,385
18,231 42,152
23,424 (27,784)
127,965 59,304
(153,099) (71,509)
(2,075) (1,180)
(3,802) (2,514)
(12,531) (36,981)
(20,118) (80,664)
1,500 1,000
(110) -
65 51
- (5,426)
- 749
- (155)
(5,549) (6,960)
(311) (302)
(4,405) (11,043)
(6,292) (49,555)
48,062 97,617
$ 41,770 $ 48,062
$ 35,104 $ 7,801
49,098 21,332
2,628 2,618
2,604 4,641

484/634



EDINETOOOO
OO000O0000O0O00oOdno(Ees99s)

OoOoOoOoOodno
33
( ) 2023 10 31
(1) (@) (©)
$ 85,823
RBC
RBC
RBC
( )
RBC( )
RBC
RBC
RBC( )
RBC US D) 32,278
RBC USA @
RBC @
(@)
RBC 15,290
RBC
6,277
RBC 2,977
1,367
553
(€))]
&) ( RBC US
RBC USA
RBC
)
(©)]
2023 10 31 500 (2022
10 31 440 )
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(2013 ) 2023 10 31

(2013 ) 2023 10 31

2023 10 31

2023 11 29
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LY
Oictobar 11 Oxtober 11
ARy ol ©ermisen detlar) 2023 i FE
ASSELS
Cosh ond due from banks 5 61,980 % 12,397
Inl.-ere;l-hndrirlg d:posils wilth banks T0E86 108,611
Securiles jyoe 4
Trading 190,151 148,205
Inwestment, net of applicatle allowance 10 57T 170,008
409,730 118123
Assets purchosed under reverse repurchose agreements and securities borrowed EELAER 117845
Loging jMote &)
Retall 569,951 549.751
‘Whalesabe IBTBIB FFER T
BST.7I7 EEWEE
Alowance for loan |0sses e ) (5.004) {3.753)
(BSRT73 F1% 205
segregoted fund nel assels (vuew) .70 268
Other
Customers’ llobility wnder ooceptances 21,695 17827
Derival lves (neee 6 142 450 154,439
Premises and equipment (o s (L 7.4
Coodwill jmste 1y 12,594 13,277
Othesr npongibles jmeee iy £.507 b E3
Other assels jsoe ) T7.068 8, 304
166,463 278,140
Totol assels 5 2,004,992 5 19170219
Ligbilities and equily
I:Iepnsjt; e B
Personal § 441,996 5 404932
Business and gosernment 745,075 159 870
Bank 666 44.002
1,231,687 1. 208,414
segregated fund nel Habilities toe w) 1,760 2.638
Uther
Accepbances 21. 745 17,872
Ohligations reloted to securities sold shoel 11,651 15511
Obligations related to ossets sold under repurchose ogreements and securities loaned 335,238 173,947
Derivallives (mcee 5 142 629 153,491
Insuranee claims and pollcy benefit liabilities e 1) 11,266 IAR]!
Gther Robilitics moee =) G670 95,235
641,359 SHTSET
subordinoted debentures (w9 11386 10,025
Totol liobilitics 1,887,232 180, (b
Equity attributoble to shore holders
Preferred shares and other equity instruments ote 2 T.314 7.318
Common shores ois 20 19,167 13, R
Relained samings R4 328 TR.03T
Other components of equity 6852 3.723
117661 L KL
Ron-cantrolling inferests 99 111
Tnlﬂltquil‘.f 117,760 IOH. 175
Taotal liobilities and equity 5 1,004992 5 1.917.219
The accompanying noles are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Stalements.
David 1. McEay Frank Yeltese
President and Chiedf Executive Officer Directon
B8 Beryal Bask of Coroda: Annual Brpari 2588 Cordalidated Finand kol SLol rrieid s
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d Statem

1he yro e

Dctobes 1 Detober 11
(iR of Corxadsn dolldrs, eatopd por Wbt oo ) 1“‘23. 222
Interest and dividend income pore 1)
Loans § 43,463 5 26,565
Sacuritles 14.512 1.062
Assels purchosed under reverse repurchose ogreements and securitles borrowed 22,164 5447
Doposits and ather 6,852 1,697
£6.991 40,771
Inberest expense (noie 1
Deposits and other 36,679 1751
Clher Habilities 24.517 7015
Subordingted debentures iy 184
61.862 18054
el interest income 25029 2717
Hon-interest income
Insurance premiupms, investment and e scome (maee 1y 5675 1510
Trading revenoe 2,392 L
Investment management and custadial fees B.344 1610
NMutual fund revenue 4,063 4,189
Securities brokeroge commissions 1.463 1481
Service charges 2,099 1976
Underwriting and other advisory fees 2,005 2,058
For L*ign Jllcrhq-'tgr rewenye, other than Irnd-ng 1,292 1,038
Cord servioe revenue 1,240 103
Crodd fees 1,489 1.512
Net gains on iwvesliment securilties 193 43
Income {loss) fram joint ventures and ossocioles uoe ) {219} e
thier 'il 64 512
31,000 16268
Totol revenue 56,129 AH9R5
Provision For credit l0Sses pintes 4 oo 5) 2468 AR4
Insurance policyhalder benefits, claims and acquisiticn expense mos 5 4022 1,783
Hon-inlerest Expense
Humian Mesources peges 17 os: 31} 18,971 16,528
Eguipment 1,381 2,009
QCoupancy 1,634 1,554
Communicatkons 1,271 [
Professionol fees 2,223 1,511
Amiortizdtion of other Inlunglblﬂ..n s 11] 1,487 1,369
Oither 3,206 1.l
311173 i, B
Income before inCome toxes 18,466 20,109
InCoamiE LaXES (Hote k2 3,600 4.302
Het income § 14,866 5 15,507
Met income attributoble to:
Shareholders 5 14.85%9 5 15.794
Hon-canlralling interess T 13
] 14,866 L 15,807
Basic earnings per share (o dotons jree 21 ] 10,51 L3 1108
Diluted earnmngs per share jmsola) o 29 10.50 1106
Dividends per common share jin sl 5.34 496
The accompanying notes are an integrol port of these Consolidated Finoncial Statements.
Cormealikdal ind Finosciol Sl nmenils Byl Bank & Cosoda ‘f'hllll'rr‘-ﬁl ke ) e
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ol Sbabe mer
___ P Ui reor el
clotar 81 D baker 11
IM oy ol Lol dolldrs) 1{]13 2022
Met income % 14866 5 15807
Other comprehensive income [loss), nel of Loxes o
Items that will be reclossified subsequently o income:
Net change inunrealized gains (losses) on debt securities ond loons at fair value through
other comprehensive income
Metunrealized gains (bosses) on debt securitbes ond logns at fair value through other
:nmprrl‘ ensive income i l-“ {2.241)
Provision for credit bosses recogniFed in income RE1] | &)
Reclassiliool lon ol nel losses (gains | on debl secwrities and loans ol Tair value through odher
comprehensive inCome Lo income [131) {12)
{159} {2.269)
Foreign currency Lranslotion odjustments
Unreafized foreign currency translation goins (losses) 2,148 5001
Nl loreign currency branslallon pains (losses) rom degutg aeLivitlies {1,208} {14495
Reclassification of losses ﬂgqln:\.}nn]nrqlgn cyrrency tronsigtion to income ‘Iﬁﬁ' {148
Reclassification of losses (gains) onnet investmen! hedging octivities to income 146 17
926 3641
Net change in cash Mow hed ges
Met gains {losses] on derivatives designoted as cosh flow hedges FALS 1634
Reclossificatlen of losses (gains ) on derivatives designoted os cash flow hedges to Income 146 194
162 1828
Items that will not be reclossified subsequently Lo income:
Remegsurement going [losses) on employee benefit plons (o e im {3d4) B
Net gakns [losses) fram T v i chamnges dise bo credit cisk on Mndancial Habilities designated ot
Iair valse ||Ir|:|'i.|j_‘J1 pralit g loss (576) 1.747
Net goins (losses) on equily securities designated at fair value through other
comprahensive income 44 5
E (876) 1613
Total sther comprehensive income {loss). net of toxes 153 SHIR
Totol comprehensive income {loss) 5 15119 % 21425
Total comprehensive income attributable to;
Shareholders £ 15110 % 21604
Nor-controlling Interests 9 21
5 15118 5 21625
(1) orehade ) @i an e win recas sl INGM ohes ComRpehens e ST 10 reboine- e g

The ur:{lmpqnging nales are an inh;'gul.mrt of these Consolidaled Fngnclal Stglements

EH] Bewal Bonk of Canada: Anniel Bepeit K21 Comaniidebed Finanecial Soements
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T 1 hr jrwnt ivided

Ociober § October 81
(AN ol Corsdsan dolldrs ) mzﬂ- 222
Cosh lMows lrom operoting oclivities
Hek incomes 5 14 866 % 15,807
Adjustments for non-cash ilems ond others
rowision for credil Insses 14868 i
Depreciolion 1.275 1,255
Delerred incame toxes (995) 560
Amortizalien and impairment of ather intangibles 1.595 1,387
NE[CI‘IDI‘IEESIHIHN'?S[I‘I‘IQH[S I pint ventures ond associakes 221 [ 108
Losses (Gains ) ah imeestment securities {193} [#3)
Losses (Gaing) on disposition of business [92) [ 11s0p
Adjustments for nct changes in operaling asscls and liohilitics
Imsaronce claims and palicy benelit liabiiities 455 {1,308
H:‘l:hnnge' inagccrued interest recelvable ond pu-,nhr{' 28317 313
Current income taxes (986) [ERELT)
Derlvative ossets 11,826 | 58, 506)
Derivative liobdlities [10.452) 62,032
Trading securities (47,946 (8,931}
Loayies, ret of securitizations (34,688 {102,653
Assels purchosed under reverie répuichose agreemenls ond securilied bomrowed (22,346) (2.942)
Obligations reloled (o easels sold under repurchase agreements and secorilies loaned 61,291 11, Tadis
Dblip.ulmns felated lo securities sold shorl {1.860) {2,320}
Deposits, nel of securitipotions 4% 98 108,814
Brokers and deglers receivable gnd payable ‘1,444} 4412
Mher 1.257 1,800
Met cosh from {used in) operating octivities 16,079 21,942
Caosh flows from investing octivities
Change in interest-beoring deposits with bonks 18,743 (28,373)
Proceeds from sales ond motiwities of investment securities 156,466 99,143
Purchoses of investment securities {202,456} {122,964}
Het acquisitions of premises and equipment and other infangibles {2,730} (2, 500)
Het proceeds rom (cash lransfeered lor) dispositions 1.712 (313}
Cash uaed inocquisitiors, nel of codh acquired - {2,047
met cash from (used in) investing activities (28.265) {57,054}
Cakh flows from finoncing octivities
Iszuance of subordinated debentures 1.500 1,000
Hepayment of subordinated debentures (A k]] [1%2)
Issue of comman shares, net of issuance costs [ 51
Common shares purcmwﬂ for concellation =7 [5426)
tssuc of preferned shares and other equity instruments, net of sBsuance costs - T4n
Redemption of preferred shares ond other equity instruments - [155)
Sales af tregsury shares and other equily instruments 4,174 5,474
Purchases of treasury shores and olher equity InSiremenls (4,07 5) [&,TOR)
Divld ends paid on chores and distributions paid on other equily iiromenls (5.549) [, DE0)
Dividendaidistributions pald to non-contralling inerests (21} 15}
Chungein&hnrt-lnrm hnrming}nfsuhﬁldiuries (5.102} R
Repoyment of legse lobilities (655} [Ead )
Met cosh from (used in) finoncing octivities [9.833) (2,185}
Effect of exchange rale changes on cosh and due from banks 1611 [#.152)
Het chonge in cosh and due from banks (10,408} (41,440
Cash and due from benks at beginning of period 1) 12,397 113,846
Cosh and due from bonks ol end of period | ] 61,989 % 72,397
Cash flows from operoting activities include:
Amaunt of interest pald § 54,698 % 13,677
Amount of nterést recelved 81,095 35817
Amounk of dividerds received 33632 3,144
Anmount of inceme loves paid 4,964 T.A1l6
[l Ve ere iequited Bo maintotn befonc e dus 1 regulsleny teguineiie i of costiodtesl relicteni lrem centnel Banka, sl inpulatony uherities. and olbei
cinmlefzsilen The lolol balsndes wors L B koo o o0 Gctoler 10 20020 | Dotebes Bi 2500 - 03 bilban; Sotober §i. B3 - 42 bilion)

The oooompanying noles are an integraol part of these Consolidoted Financial Stotements.
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Royol Bonk of Cangdo and its subsidigries (the Bonk| provide diversified finoncial services Incll.u:]mg Personal & Commercial
Banking, Wealth Manogemenl, Insurance and Capital Markets products ond services on a ﬂl“.’lbtﬂ basis, Refer bo Naote 27 for
further dedalls on dur Business segmaents.

The parent bank, Reyal Bank of Conada, is a Schedule | Bank under the Bonk Act {Canada) Incorparated and domiciled in
Canado. Our corporate hepdguarters are lncoted at Royal Bank Plaza, 200 Roy Street. Toronko, Ontario, Conacda ond aur head
office is locoted ot | Ploce Vilke-Maorke, Montreal, Quebec, Conoda. Gur common shores ore listed on the Toronto 5tock Exchange
and New York Stock Exchange with the ticker symbol RY.

These Consalidated Financial Statements are prepared in complionce with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS} os issued by the Inle rnqlmnql.ﬂ.rrnunting Stondords Board (IASE). Unless otherwise stoled, monetary gmounts are stoled
in Canadian dallars. Tabular infermalion is stabed in millions af dedlars, excepd os noled. These Consalidaled Financial
Slotemenis also comply wilh Subsection 308 al L Bomk Act {Camocda), which states that, excepl os otherwise specilied by the
Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institulions Canada [O5F1). our Consalidated Financial Stalements are bo be prepared in
accordance with IFRS. The accounting palicles outlined in Mote 2 hove been consistently opplied to oll periods presented

On November 29, 2023, the Board of Directors authorized the Consolidated Financlal Statements For issue.

Thie significont occounting policies used In the preparation of these Consaolidated Finoncial Statements, including the acoounting
requirements prescribed by O5F, are summarized below. These accounting palicies conform, inall material respects, to IFRS.
The same accounting policies hove been opplied to-all periods presented

General

Use of estimotes and ossumptions

In preparing our Consalidated Financial Slatements. managemaent is required 1o make subjective estimates and assumplions that
allect the reported omaunt ol gusels, lobilities, nel iIncome and related disclosyres, Estimabes mad & by managenment are bgsed
an historical cxpt'rlrn:t' and olher gssymptions that are believed to be reasonable. !'.-t", sources of estimolion uncortainty
Include: determination of feir value of fironcial Instruments, ollowance for credit losses, insurance cloims and policy benefit
linbilities, pensions and other past- employment benelits, inceme tases, geodwill and ather intongisle assets, and provisions.
Accordingly, actual results may differ from these and other estimates thereby iImpacting our fulwre Consollidated Financhal
Statements. Refer to the relevant accounting policies in this Note for details on our use of estimotes and assumpt lons,

Significant judgments

In preparation of these Consolidoted Financiol Staterments, management |s required to make significant judgments that affect
the rqrryin;g amaunts of certam asscls and liobilities, and the mpuru‘d- omouni= of revenues and ERpENseS recorded during the
period, Signilicant judgments have been mode in the following areas ond discussed as noled in the Consalideled Financiat
Statemenis:

Consofidotion of structured entities Nobe 2 Application af the elfective interest method Mote 2
Note 8
Falr value of inancial instruments Hote 2 Derecognition of financial ossets Mote 2
Note 3 Note 7
Allowance for credit losses Naote 2 Income laxes Note 2
Hote 4 Mote X2
Nale &
Emgloyves benafits Note 2 Provisions Mote 2
Nate 7 Hote 34
Note 15
Coodwill and other intangibles Note 2
Rate 11

Basis of consalidation

Our Consolidated Financial Statements include the ossets and labilitles and results of opeeratbons ol the parent company, Rowal
Aanak ol Comnada, and s sybsidiories ine rlul.ing cerlain structured entities, alles eliminalion ol intercompany transoctions,
bofonces, revenues and expenses.

Consolidation
Subsidiarles are those entities, Including structured entities, over which we hove control. We contred an entity when we are
exposed, or have rights, to varlable returns from our invelvement with the entity and hawve the ability to affect those returms
thraugh our power aver the investee. We have power over on entity when we have sxisting rights that give us the current ohiity
to direct the activities thot most significantly offect the entity’s returns {relevont activities), Power moy be determined on the
bosis of w:lin;g_ righl % of, in the cose of structured enlities, other contractueal ar rangements

We are not deemed Lo contral an entity when we exercise power over an entity os the agent of a Lhird party or parties. [n
drI.Erminin.g whether we are acting as an qgl.-nt. we conaider the overall relationship between us, the investes and ather pnr!irs.
to Ehé arrangement with respect to the fallowing hactors: (i) the scope of our disc i\i-!:n-nlu]h‘l;? e (1) thee rights leld by ather
porties; (iil} the remunerotion to which we ore entitled; and (iv) our exposure to voriability of returns

Cotrdidalnd Fisaneil Sistements Hoysl Bark of Conade Aerual Repes] 2208 s
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The determination of control |5 bosed on the current focts and circumstances and s continuously ossessed. In some
circumstances, different factors ond conditions may indicate that various parties control an entity depending on whether those
factors and conditions ore assessed in lsolation or in tetality, Significont judgment Is applied In determining whether we centrol
an entity, specifically, assessing whether we hove subslantive decislon-making rights over the relevant activities and whether we
are exercising our power os a principal or an agent

Wi congalldale all subsidiaries feaom the dole we abtain controd and cedte consalidalion when an entily is no longer
cosirlrolled by ws. O comsolidation conclusions alfect the classilication and amount of gssels, labilitkes, revenues and ERPENLES
reparted in our Consolldated Finoncial Statements.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiories thaot we consolidote are shown on our Consolidated Balance Sheels os o separate
companent of equity which ks distinct frem equity attributoble to cur shareholders. The net iscome attributable bo
non-contralling interests is separately disclosed in our Consalidated Statemaents of Income

Investments in joint ventueres ond associotes

Cur investmenis in associoled corparmtiang and limited pnrlnr-rdllpt o wihiich wie hove Il;'lp1.iH1'r.|r1r mllpence are acoounled lar
using the equily method. The cqu-ll:,r mielhod i also upplll:d to our interests in joint ventures aver which we hove joint control
Under the equity method of eccounting, imestments are inftially recarded at cost, and the carrying amount i increased or
decreased to recognize our share of the investee's net profit or loss, including our proportionate shaore of the investes's Olher
comprehensive inceme (OC1], subsequent o the date of acguisition.

Hon-current assets held for sole and discontinued operotions

Non-current assets (ond disposal groups) are chossified as held for sale if thelr corrying amounts will Be recovered principally
thraugh o sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This candition i< satisfied when the assel i= available lor
Immediale sale in its present condition, management ks commitbed bo the sale, gid §E s highly probobile to occar wilhio one year.
Ron-current assels {ond disposal groups) clastified as held for sole are megsured at the fower of thelr previous carrying omount
and lair volue less costs o sell and iF significant, ane presented seporately from other assets on our Consolidated Balonce
Shasls.

Adisposal group is classified os a discontinued operation if It meets the following conditions: (1) it is a component that can
be distingukshed operationally aed Minanclally from the rest of our opgerations and (i) & represents elther o separote majer e of
business or is port of g single coordinated plan to dispese of o separate major line of business or geographicol area of
operations. Disposol groups Classified os discontinued operolions ore presented separately from our continuing operations in
our Consolidated Stotements of Income,

Financial Instruments

Clossification of financiol mssets

Financlal essets are measwred at inithal recognition at fair volue, and ore clossified and subsequently measured at fair value
through profit or loss (FYTPL), fair value theough other comprehensive incomse [FYOC) or amortized cost bosed on our business
maodel for managing the financlal instruments and the controctual cash flow characteristics of the instrument.

Betbl instruments ore measured at omortized cost i both of the fellowing conditions are met and the asset is not designated
as FVTPL: (o] the assel & held within o business model thal s Held-to-Collect (HTC) o= described below, and (bj the contractual
Lerms of the instrement givee rise Lo cash Nows that ore selely poyments of principal ond interest on the principol omount
uutﬂqr‘-dlng {5PPI).

Dbl instruments ore measured at FVOC if both of the following conditions are met and the asset ks not designated as
FVTPL: [a) the asset is held within a buskness model that is Held-to-Collect-and-Sell (HTCAS] as described below, and (b) the
cantractual terms of the instrument give rise, an specifled dates, ta cash flews that are SPPI

All other debt instruments ore measured ot FYTPL.

Equity ixstruments are measured ot FYTPL. unless the asset is not held for trading purposes ond we make an irrevocoble
election to designate the osset os FYOCE This ¢lection ks made on an instrumend-by -Instrument basis,

Business model ossessment
‘We determine our business models at the level thol best rellects how we manage portfolios of finencial assets to achieve our
business objectives. judgment s used in determining our business moadels, which is supported by relevant, objective evidence
i ludimg:
- EHHW[FIE economic ¢Clivilies of our businesses generale benefis, for example Lhrough troding revenue, enhancing yields
ar hedglng funding ar other costs and how such ecenomic activities are evaluated and reported Lo key monogament
personnel;
= The significant risks affecting the performance of our businesses, for example, market risk, credit risk, or other risks as
describad in the Risk Monogement section of the MDA ond the activities undertaken to manage those risks;
= Histericol gnd lulure expectotices of sales of the loons or securities pofolios monoged os port of o business model
and
= The compensation structures for managers of our businesses, Lo the extent that these are directly linked Lo the
economic performance of the business model,
Our business models fall into three categories, which are indlcotive of the key strategies used to generate returns:
+  HTC: The objective of this business model |s to hold loans ond securities to collect controctual principal ond Intesest
cash Mows. Sales are Incidental to this objective and are expected to be insignificant or infrequent.
+  HTCAS: Both collecting controctual cash flows and sabes are integral to achieving the objective of the business model
+  Gther fair value business modeks: These business models ore nelther HTC nor HTCAS, and primarily represent business
models where gssels are held Fur-lr{:din& or mqnngl.-d on a fair value bagis.

ey eyl Bask of Canoda. Airiedl Baperl 2.1 Cosaalidebed Firnonelal Sl eiiieils
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SPP assessment
Instrwments held withina HTC or HTCAS business mode| ore assessed to evaluate iF thelr contractual cosh flows are comprisad
of selely payments of principal ond interest. PP poyments are those which would typlcally be expected from basic lending
arrangements. Princlpal amounts inclede por repayments from lending and financing arrangements, ond Interest primarily
relotes to basic lending retums, Including compensation for credit risk and the time volue of money ossocioted with the principol
amaount outstanding over o peciod of ime. Interest can olse include other bosic kending risks and costs [Tor example, liquidity
risk. servicing or administrative costs) ossocioled with holding the linancial osset for o period of time, and o profit margin,
Whede Lhe conlraclual befms introduce :lkputurclu Pk of vm‘lthfll}'ﬁf\‘.n:h Naws that are inconsistent with a boatle hl‘ldi’l&
arhangement, the related financial asset is clossified and megsured at FVTPL,

Securities

Trading securitlés Include all securities that ore classifled as FYTPL by nature and securities designated as FYTPL. Obligations to
deliver trading securithes sold bul not yet purchosed are recorded as llabilithes ond carried ot falr valee. Realized and unrealized
gains and losses on these securities are generally recorded in Non-interest income - Trading revenue or Non-interest income =
Other. Dividends ond Interest Income ecorulng on Trading securitles ore recorded in Interest ond dividend Income. Interest and
dividends accrued on securithos sold short are fecorded in Interest expense,

Investrment secuflties Inchede all securithes classifled os FYOCH and amortized cost. All investment securities ore Initially
recorded ot fair value and subsequently measured according to the respective classilication.

Investment securities carricd ot amortired cost are megsured using the effective interest method, and are presanted net of
any allowance for credit losses, calculated in accordance with our palicy lfor Allewance far credit losses, as described balow.
Interest income, including the amertization of pramiums and discounts on securities measured ol amortized cost are recorded in
Interest and dividend Income. Impairment gains or losses recognired on amortized cost securities are recorded In Provision for
credit losses [PCL). When a debt instrument measured at amortized cost Is sold. the difference between the sale proceeds and
thie amortized cost af the security at the Lime ol the sake is recorded as Nel gains on investment securities in Hon-interest
Income.

Dbl securities carried al FYOC) are medsured at fair value with unrealized gains and losses arising from changes in fair
volue included in Other componenis of equity. Impairment gains and losses are included In PCL and corréspondingly reduce the
accumulated changes in fair value included in Other campenents of equity, When a debt instrument meatured ab FUOCT is sold,
the cumubative gain or loss Is reclessified from Other components of equilty to Net goins on Investment securities in Non-intenest
Income.

Equity securities corrled ot FYOCH cre measured al fair volue. Unrealized poins ond losses arising from changes in fair value
are recorded in Other components of equity and nod subsequently reclossifled to profit or loss when reclized. Dividends from
FVOC] equily securities ore recognized in Interest and dividend income,

We account for all of aur securities using seltlement date accoanling and changes In folf value between the trade date and
settbement date are rellected in incorme for secyrities mecsured at FYTPL, and chonges in the fair value of securities megsured ot
FYOC Between the trode and settlement dotes are recosded in OC1 except for changes in foceign exchange roles on debt
securities, which ore recorded in Non-interest income.

Fair value option

Afinoncial instrument with a rellobly measurable folr value can be designoted as FYTPL (the folr value option) on its inithal
recognition even if the finonclal instrument was not ecquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing,
The halr valuee option can be used bar finoncial assets IF 6l eliminotes or significantly reduces o measurement o recognitlon
inconsistency that would otherwise arise from measuring assets or llakbdlities. or recognieing refoted gains and losses on o
different bosis (on accounting mismatch ), The foir value option con be elected for financial liabalities if; {i) the election elimingtes
an accaunting mesmateh; () the Ninanc ol Nability i part of @ portfalia that 1s manoged on a falr value basis, I coordance with o
documented risk management or investment strategy: or (iil) there ks on embedded derlvotive in the financlal er nen-financial
hiost contract and the derivative §s not closely related o the host contract. These Instruments cannot be reclossified out of the
FVTPL category while they are held or issued.

Financlal assets designated as FYTPL ore recorded ot fabr volee ond any unsealized pain orless arsing due to o infair value &
Hldudad In Mon-Interest Income - Trading revenue or Bon-interest income - Gther, depending on our business purpose for holding the

nomncial asset,

Financial linkilithes designoted os FVTPL are recorded ol Foir value and faie value chonges attribuloble to changes inour own
credit risk are recorded in OCH, Own credit risk omounts recognized in OCH will nol be reclassified subsequently to net income,
The remaining fair value changes vol attributoble to changes in our own credit risk ore recorded in Non-interest income - Troding
revenye of Non-interest income — Other, depending on our business purpoase for holding the financiol Habdlity. Upon indtial
recogniton, If we determing that presenting the effects of own credit risk changes in OC1 would create or enlarge an accounting
mismatch in net Income, the full folr value change in our debt designoted as FYTPL is recagnized In net incame. To moke that
delermination, we assess whether we expect that the effects of changes in the liobllity's credit risk will be offset in profit or loss
by @ change in the fair valee of ancther financial instrument measured at FYTPL Such an expectation Is based on an economic
refotionship between the characteristics of the liobility and the choracteristics of the other financhal instrument. The
determination is made at initiol recognition and is not reassessed, To determine the foir volue adjustments on our debt
inatrumenls dedignated as FVTPL, we calcalate the present value of the instiuments basid ain the contractial cath llows aver the
terrm of the ﬂrl'unﬂmm.-rll h:,.- waing our effeclive l'unJIlllg rale of the l!EEhI'llllH and end of the o,

Determinabion of Foir vale
The falr volee of o financlal instrument is the price thal would ke recebved to sell an ossel or paid to tronsfer a lability nen
orderly transoction between market participants ot the measurement date. We determine fair value by Incorporating Factors that
market participants would consider in setting a price, Including commanly occepted valuation approaches.

The Board of Directors provides oversight on valuation of financial instruments, primarily through the Audit Committee and
Risk Commilles. The Apdll Commitlee feviews The prrwnrur'mn and disclasude ol lnancial instiurients thal ade measwided ol Fals
value, while the Risk Commitiee ossesses the odequacy ol governance strectures and control processes for the voluotion ol
these inslrumenls,

Censohitlaled Firanolal Selemeals Hirpel Bard o Cosada: dhoisl Regesi | MUY ur
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We hove established policies, procedures ond contrals for valuatien methodalogies ond technigues toensure that fair value
I= reasonably estimated. Major valuation processes and controls Include, but are not limited to, profit and loss decomposition,
Indapendent price verificatien (IPV} and model validation standards, These conlrol processes are managed by either Finance or
Group Risk Maonagement and are Independent of the relevont businesses and thelr trading functians, Profit and loss
decomposition is o process bo explain the foir volue chonges of certain positions and is performed daily for trading portfolios. Al
I'air value instrument< are subjiect Lo 1PV, g process wherly Ifudlng Fuimel loe valsal ione are verified ngnimt exbednal morked
prices and obber relevent markel data. Markel dato sources nd bede traded pilces, biokers and price vendors, We give priodty Lo
thase third-party pricing services and prices hoving the highest and most consistent acouracy. The level of accurocy s
determined over time by comparing third-party price values to traders’ or system volues, other pricing service values and. when
avalloble, actual trode dota. Quoted prices for kdentical instruments from pricing services of brokers are generally not adjusted
unbess there are Issues such os stale prices. If multiple quotes for identical instruments are received. folr value is based on on
average of the prices received or the quote lrom the most relioble vendor, after the outlier prices thot Toll outside of the pricing
range are removed, Other valuction techniques are used when o price or quote is ned gvailable. Some veluation processes use
maedels to determine fair value. We have o systemalic and considlent opprooch to control the use of models. Valuation models
are approved lar use within our model fisk muﬁng«:—mcﬂl framewadk. The lfgmewark addresses, um:m&ulhhr Eh'l'lg:.. made]
development stondards, velidotion processes and procedures and approval outhorites. Madel validation ensures that amodel is
suitobbe for its intended use gnd sels porameters or its use, All models are revalidated regulary by gualifed personnel who are
independent of the model design and development. Annually, our model risk profile is reported to the Board of Directors.

1FHS 13 Fair value Measurement parmits an exception, through on accounting policy cholce, to measure the fairvalue of a
portfolio of financial instruments on a net open risk position basls when certoln criteria are met. We have elected to use this
podicy choloe to determing the fair value of cortain portfolios of financial iInstruments, primarily derivatives, based on a net
exposure bo markel or credit risk.

We record valuation odpestments o appropriotely reflect counterparty credil quolity of sur derivotive portfodis, differonces
beltween the actual counterporty collateral discount curve and stondard avernight index swap (D15) discounting lor
collateralired dervatives, lunding valuation adjustments (FVA) for uncallateralized and under-collateralized over-the-counter
(OTC) derivatives, unrealized gains of losses ab inceplion of the transaction, bid-offer spreads, unobservable paramelers and
maodel limitatlons. These adjustments may be subjective os they require significant jrdgment in the input selection, such as
Implied probobility of defoult |PO and recovery rate, and are intended Lo arrive ot a falr value that is determined based on
assumptions thol market participonts would use in pricing the linanciol instrument. The altimate realized price for o ransaction
may differ from its fair recorded value previously estimated using management judgment.

Voheatlon adjustments are recorded lor the credit rick of our derivative portfelios in order o orrive of their fair volues, Credit
valuatkon adjustments (CVA] lake inlo account our countefpartles’ creditworthiness, the current and polential future
mark-to-market of transactions and the effects of credit mitigonts such os master netling ond collateral agreements. CVA
amaunts are derived from estimates of exposure al default (EAD), PO, recovery rates on a counterparty bosis and morket ond
credit factor corfelalions. EAD is the volue of expected derivalive relobed assets ond labilities at the time of delfoul, estimated
through madelling using underlying risk factors. PO s imglied from the morket prices for credit protection and the credit ratings.
of the counterparty. When morket daota is unavoiloble, il is estimoted by incorporating assumptions and adjustments that market
participants would use for determining Falr value using these inputs. Cerrelation |s the statkstical messure of how credit ond
market factors may move in relotion to ene onother. Correlation s estimated using historical doto. CVA s calculoted daily end
changes ore recorded in Non-interest income = Trading revenue,

FVA s also calculaled Lo 'l'wnq:nrdq the eost and benelit of Fumﬂrlg in the valuation of uncallateralized and under:
collateralired OTC derivatives, Fulure expected cosh flows of these derivatives are discounted Lo reflect the cost and benefit af
funding the derfivolives by u:.lngn lunding CUfve, imFIil.-ﬂ valalilities and comrelalions a% Inp-.ﬂs.

Where required, a valuation adjustment is made te refllect the unrealized gain or less at inception of a financial Instrement
controcl where Lhe falr value of Uthol Mnancial instrument is nol obtoined from o guoted morket price or connol be evidenced by
other observable market transections based on a valuation technique incorporating cbservoble market data,

A bid -offer voluation odjustment is required when a financial instrument is valued at the mid-market price, instead of the bid
or olfer price for osset or liabifity positions, respectively, The valuation odjustment tokes inlo occount the spread from the
mid-market price to either the bid or offer price.

Some voluation models reguire porameler colibrolion from such feclors os markel observable opthon prices. The calibration
af parameters may be sensitive ta factors such gs the cheice of instruments or aptimization methodology, Avaluation
adstment is also estimated o mitigate the uncertaind jes of parameter colibralion and model limilations.

In determining fair value, a hierardhy is used which prioritizes the inputs to valuation technigues. The falr value hierarchy
Eives the highest priority to unodjusted quoted prices in active markets for Identical assets or llobiities. {Level 1) and the lowest
priority to unobservable inputs [Level 3). Determination of fair value bosed on this hierarchy reguires the use of ebservablie
market dato whenover ovailable. Level 1inputs are unadjusted quoted prices noctive markets for identlcol ossels or lisbilities
that we have the akility to occess al the measurement date. Level 2 inputs include quoted prices lor similar osselbs or llabilitles in
active markets, quoled prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active, ond moedel inputs thal are
wither ohservable, or can be corraborated by abservable market data lor '\sqbﬂlqnthlli'r thie Full term of the assets or liabilities
Level 3 inputs include ane of mare inputs thot are unobsenvable and significant to the loir value of the assel or lability,
Unabaervable inpuls are used to measure Fair value bo the extent thal observabile inputs ane not available at the measurement
date. The avallability of inputs for valuation may affect the selection of valwation technigues, The clossification of a financial
Instrument in the fair value hierarchy for disclosure purposes |s bosed upon the lowest level of input that is significant to the
measurement of fair value.

‘Where observable prices or Inputs are not ovallable, management judgment ks required bo determine fair values by
assessing other rebevant sewrces of Information such os historical deta, proxy Informathan fram similor ransactions, and theaugh
extrapolation and interpolotion lechniques. For mofe complex o lliguid instruments, signilicant judgment is required in the
determination of the model used. the selection of model inputs. and in some coses, the application of voluotion adjustiments to
Lhie modiel value or quoled price for inactively traded financial instruments. The selection of model inpuls may be subjective and
Ihe inpats moy be unobservablbe. Unobservabile inputs ane inherently uncertain as there is litle or no market data avallable from
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which to determine the level at which the trarsoction would aceur under normal business circumstances, Appropriate parameter
uncertointy and market risk valuotion adjustments for such inputs and other model risk valestion odjustments are gssessed in all
such Instamces.

Loans
Loans are debl instruments recognized indtielly at fair volue and are subsequently measured inaccordonce with the
Classification of linoneiol assets palicy provided ahove, The mojosity of our lcons are carried ol amaortized cost using the
ellective Interest method, which sepresents the gross carrying amoami less ollowance for credit losses,

Interest on lodns is recognized in Interest income using the effective interest method, The estimated future cosh flows used
In this calculation inclede those determined by the contractual term of the asset and all fees thot are considered to be integral to
the effective interest rate. Also included bn this amaunt ere Lransaction costs and all other premiums or discounts. Fees that
relote to activities such os originating, restructuring or renegotiating loans are deferred and recognized as Interest income over
thie expected term of such loans using the effective Interest method. Where there |s a reasonable expectetion thot a loon will be
originated. commiiment and stondby fees are alse rocegnized as interest income over the cxpected torm of the resulting loons
using the effactive interest method. Otherwise, such fees are recorded os other liobilities and amortized into Man-interest income
aver the commitment or stondby perod. Fulure prepayment fees on mostgoge loans are not incheded o3 part of the effective
interest rate ol origination, Il prepayment fees are received on a renewal of o mortgage loan belore moturity, the fee s Included
as part of the effective interest rote, and if nol rengwed, the prepayment fee is recognized in interest income at the prepayment
date.

For boans corried at amortized cost or FVOC), impalrment lesses are recognized at each balanc e shaet date in accordance
with the three-stoge impalrment model autlined below.

Allowance for credit losses
An allowaonice for credit losses (ACL) 15 estoblished for all linanclal gssets. excepl for linancial assets clossilled or designated as
FVTPL and equity securities designaled as FYOCL which are not subject to impairment assessment. Assels subject to impoirment
assessment include loans, debt securilies, interest-bearing deposits with banks, customers’ liobility under acceptonces, accounts
and accrued Interest receivoble, and lingnce and operaling lease receivobles, ACL on loans measured al amortized cost is
presented in Allowance for loon losses, ACL an debl securities measured at FYOCH i£ presented in Other components of equity.
Other finonciol ossets carrled at omortized cost are presented net of ACL on car Consalidated Bolance Sheets,
Off-balonce sheet ltems subject bo impolrment assessment include financiol guarantees and undrawn loan commitments.
ACL on off-balance sheet tems |s seporately colculated and Included in Gther Liabilitles - Provisions.
‘We measure the ALL on each balance sheel date according to o three-stage expected oredil loss impairment model:
+  Performing financhal assets
+  Stage 1 - From initial recagnition of o financial osset 1o the dale on which the ossel hos experienced g significant
Increase in Credil risk relative Lo its initial recognition, a loss allowance 1s recognized equal to the credil losses
expected ta result from defaulls eccurring over the 12 months fellowing the reporting dole.
«  Stage 2 - Following o signilicant increase in credit risk relative to the inithal recognition of the finonciol asset, o loss
allewance ks recognized equal to the credit losses expected over the remaining fifetime of the asset.
+  Impaired financiol assets
+  Stage 3 - When o finonciol asset |s considered to be credit-impalired, o loss allowance is recognized equal to credit
lasses expected over the remaining lifetime of the assel. Interest income is coloulobed bosed on the carrying
amount of the asset, net of the loss allowance, rather than on its gross cormying amount

Thee ACL is 0 discounted probobility- weighted estimate of the cash shortfolls expected to result from defoults over the relevant
time horizan_ Far loan commitments, credit loss estimoles consider the poction ef the commitment that is expected to be drawn
over the relevant lime period. For financial guarantees, credit loss estimates are based on the expected payments required under
the guaraontes contract. For finance lease receivables, credit loss estimates are bosed on cash Mows consistent with the cash
Mows used In measuring the lease recelvable.

Increases or decreases In the required ACL oitribulable Lo moedel changes ond new odlginations, soles or moturities, and
changes in risk. parometers ond exposures due to changes n loss expectations or stage transfers are recorded in PEL. Write-offs
and recoveries of omounts previously written off ore recosded ogainst ACL,

The ACL represents an unbiosed estimate of expected credit iosses on our financigl ossets os ot the bolance sheet dote,
Jusdpment b fequited In moking adsenptions and extimations when calculating Bhe ACL, including movements belween the three
stages and the opplication of forward-looking infoemation. The underlying osswmptions ond estimotes may resull inchanges to
the provisicns from period Lo period thot significantly alfect our resylls of operotions.

Measurement of expected credit losses
Espected credit losses ore based on arange of possible outcomes and consider all avallable reasonable and supportable
Inﬁlmntiun. including internal and external ratings, historical credit loss experience ond expactotions obout future cash lows.
The measurement of expected credit losses Is bosed primarily on the product of the instrument’s PD, loss glven defoult (LGD),
and EAD discounted to the reporting date, The main difference between Stage | ond Stage 2 expected credit losses lfor performing
finaneial assets i the respective calculation harizon, Stage 1 estimales project PO, LGD and FAD over o maximum geslod of
12 monthes while Stoge 2 estimoles project PO, LGD and EAD over the remaining lifetime of the instrument

An expected credit loss estimate is produced for each individuol exposure. Relevant parometers ere modelled on ¢ collective
basis using portfolio sepmentateon that allows for approgriate incorporation of forword-leoksang information. To reflact other
choracteristics that are not already considered through modelling, expert credit judgment |s exercised in determining the final
expected credit bosses

For a small percentage of our portfofios which lock detalled historicol informatkon ondior loss experience, we apply
simplificd meosurement opproeches thal may differ from what s described above. These approaches have beon designed to
maximize the avallahle ntarmation that is reliable and supportabile for each portfalio and moy e collective in nature:

Expecied credil osses are discounted o Uhe reporting period date using the elfective interes| rote.,
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Expected life
For instruments in Stage 2 or Stage 3, loss allowances reflect expected credit losses over the expected remalining lifetime of the
Instrurment, For most instruments, the expected life ks limited to the remaining contractunl Hie,

An exemption is provided for certain Instruments with the following characberistics: (o) the Instrument Includes both o loan
and undrawn commilment compancnd; (b) we have the contractual obility bo demand repayment and cancel the andrawn
commilmant; and |€) our expasure o credil bosses is ol limited to the conlractual netice period. For peoducts in scopee o this
exemplion, he expected file may exceed the remoining conlractuol life and i Lhe petiod over which our exposure Lo credil bosses
Is not mitigated by our normal credit risk management actions, This pertoad varles by product and risk category and ks estimated
based gn our historlcal experience with similar exposures and consideration of credit risk management actions taken as part of
our regular credit review cycle. Products in scope of this exemption include credit cords, overdraft balances and certaln revolving
lines of credit. Judgment is required In determining the instruments in scope for this exemplion and estimating the appropriate
remaining life bosed on our historical experience ond credil risk mitigotion proctices,

Asgessment of significant increase in credif risk
Thi= gssessmenlt :.Igl:lfiu.qul! incregse In credil risk reguires ;'rgnil'lr.qlsl jurfgllmtl.fﬂw:lrlunh belwesn Slnge 1 and Stage 2 are
based on whether an instrument’s credit risk os at Lhe reporting date has increased significantly relative to the date it was
Initially recognized. For the purposes of this ossessment, credit risk ks based on en instrument’s lifetime FD. not the losses we
expect to incur. The assessment i generally performed at the instrument level
Our assessment of significant increases in credit risk is performed ol least quorterly based on three factacs. (Fany of the
following loctors mdicoles that o significant increase ncredil risk s ocourred, the instrument s moved from Stoge 1 1o Stoge 2t
(1) We have established thresholds for significont increases in credit risk based on both o percentage ond obsolute change
in lifetime PO relotive to initiol recognition, For our wholesale portfalio. a decrease in the borrewer's risk roting is also
required Lo delermine thot credil risk hos incregsed significantly.
Additional qualitative reviews may be performed, 0s necessary, to assess Lhe staging results, which may lead 1o
adjustments lo better reflect the positions whose credil risk has increased significantly. These reviews are completed at
bath the individual borrower levels and the portfelio level and may resull inon instrument, a portfolio or o portion of a
portfolic moving from Stage 1 to Stage 2.
(3] Instruments which are 30 days past due are generally considered to have experienced o significant increase in credit
risk, even if our other metrics do not indicote that a significant increase in credil risk hos occurred

[

—r

The threshalds for movemnent belween Stoge 1 and Stage 2 ore symmetrical. Alter o finoncial asset has tronsferred bo Stage 2, if
it% credil rlsk i+ no bhncr considered to have ﬂ'gnlﬁtnnth- e fedded relgbive fa (bs Ini!llulrn.-:uanillm.lhr financial aeset will
maove back to Stage 1.

Far cerlain instrument< with low credil rigsk as ol the report Ing date, it B presumed that credil risk has nol increased
signiflicantly relotive to initiol recognition. Credit risk is considered Lo be low if the instrumeant has a low risk of defoult, and the
borrower hos the ability to Fulfill their controctual abligations bath in the near term and in the longer term, including periods of
adverse chonges In the economic or business environment. Certain Interest-bearing deposits with banks, ossets purchosed under
reverse repurchose agreements. insurance palicy loans. and Bguldity facilities extended to cur multi-seller condulits have been
Identified as having low credil risk

Lise of forward-feoking information

The measurement of expected credit losses for coch stoge and the ossessment of significont increase in credit risk considers
Infarmation aboul past events and current conditions as well as regsonable and suppartable projections of fulure events and
economic conditions. The estimation and application of forward-looking Infermation requines significant judgment.

The PO, LGD and EAD inputs used to estimaote Stage 1 and $toge 2 credit loss allowances are moedelled besed on the
macroeconomic varlobles jor chonges in mocroecanomic varlabbes) that ore most closely correlated with cradit losses in the
relevant partfolio. Each macrocconomic scenario used In our expected credit boss colculation incledes a projection of all
rebevant mocroeconamic varlables used inour models Far a five-year period, subsequently reverting to long-run averoges,
Macroeconomic variables used in our expected credit loss models include, bt are not limited to, unemployment rotes, gross
domeslic product growth rotes, equity return indices, commodity prices, ond Canodian housing prices. Depanding on their usoge
In the models, macroeconamic voriables may be projecled ol @ country, province/state of mare granular level,

Our estimation of expected credit losses in Stoge | ond Stage 2 s o discounted probobility-welghted estimate that considers
a minimum of three fulure mocroeconamic scenarios. Our bose cose scenarin is bosed on macroecanomic forecasts published
by our internal economics group. The published forecosts are developed from models bosed on historical macree conomic dola,
derived from public seurces ond financial markets. Upskde and downside scenarios vory relative to our bose case scenarlo based
on reasonably pessible alternolive macroecanomic conditions. Additional and more severe downside scenarios are deslgned to
capture a broader range of potential credit losses in certoin sectors, Scenario design, including the identification of additional
downside scenarios, occurs al least on an annual basis and more frequently if conditions warrant

Scenorios gre designed to copture o wide ronge of possible solcomes ond welghted occonding to ouw best estimate of the
telative likelihood of the range of sulcames thal each scenaia represents. Scenafbo welghls lake Wbte account histedical
frequency, current trends, and forword-looking condithens and are updated on o quorterly basis. All scenorios considered ore
applied o all portfolios subject to expected credil kosses with the some probeobilities,

Our assessment of significant increases in credit risk is based on changes in probability-weighted forward-looking lifetime
PDs as ol the reporting dole, using Uhe same mocroeconembc scenarkes as Lhe calculotion of expected credit losses,

Definition of defoult

Thee definition of defoull used in the meosurement of expected coedit fosses is consistent with U definilion of defoult wsed for
our internal credit fisk moragement purposes. Cir definition of delault may dilfer across products and contider both
quantitative and qualitat ive ﬁ;ctnn. such 0s the terms of financial covenants and doys post due. For retail and wholesole
borrowers, ::u;l.'pl: g% detoiled below, defagull occurs when Uhe borrower is more Lthan 90 chays past due an any risalerig] uhligntlur
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to us, and/or we consider the borrower unlikely to make thelr payments in full without recourse oction on our part, such as Llaking
formal possession of any colloleral held. For certain credit cord bolonces, defaull eccurs when payments ore 180 coys post due.
For these bolances, the use of g period n excess of 90 days past due is reosonable and supported by obsenvoble data on write-off
and recovery rates experienced on historkcal credit card portfalios. The dafinition of defoult used |s opplied consistently from
perbod Lo perjod gnad Lo all lnanclol instraements unbess & can be demonstroled Lthat crcumstonces have changed such thol
anather definition of defaull is more appropriate.

Credil-impofred finonciol ossels (Sloge 3)

Financlal assets are assessed for credit-impainment ot each balance sheet date and mare frequently when clrcumstances
warrank further assessment, Evidence of credit-impairment may inchede indications that the borrower is experiencing significant
financiol difficulty, probobility of bonkrupley or other financial reosganization, os well as o measurable decrease in the estimoled
future cash Rows evidenced by the adverse changes b the payments slalus of the Bofrowor of economic conditioas thal
correlale wih diloults, An osset that is s Stage 3 will move bock Lo Stoge 2 when, s ol the repodting date. it ks no langer
considered o be credit-impaired. The asset will transfer bock 1o Stoge | when its credil risk of the repodting date ks no longer
considered to have Increased significantly from Initlal recognition, which could occur during the same reporting perlod os the
transfor from Stage 3 to Stoge 2.

Whon afinanclalasset has been identified os oredit-impaired, expected credit losses are measured as the difference

between the assel's gross corrying amount and the present value of estimoted huture cash fAlows discounted ot the instrument's
origingl effeclive interest rote, For impaired fnonciol ossets with drawn and undrown components, espected credit lsses olso
eflect any credil lostes reloted to the portion of the lan commilmant thol ks expected Lo be drawn down aver the remaining life
al’the Instrement,

Wien a Nnanciol gsset is credit-impaited, inlerest cegses o be recogniced on the regulon accreal bosls, which aocrues
income based on the gross carrying amount of the asset. Rother, interest income |s calowloted by applying the ariginal effective
Interest rote Lo the omortized cost of the gsset, which is the gross carmying amount less the related ACL.

ACL for credit-impoired loans In Stoge 3 are established ol the borrower level, where losses reloted to impaired loons are
Identified on individually skgnificant leans, or collectively ossessed and determined through the use of portfolio-bosed rotes,
without refecence to particular leans,

Individually assessed loans (Stage 3)
‘When Individually significant loans are Identified as impalred, we reduce the carrying value of the logans to thelr estimated
realizable value by recording an individually ossessed ACL to cover identified credil losses, The individually essessed ACL
reflects the expectod amawnt of principol and interest colculated under the terms of the original loan agreement that will not be
recoversd, and the bnpact of tme delays in collecting principal andfer interest (time value of maney ). The estimated reallratile
v lue for each individually significant loan is the present value of expected Tuture cash Nows discounted using the original
effective interest rate for each lnan. When the amounts and Hming of future cash flows cannat be estimaoted with reasonabie
reliobility, the estimated realizable amount may be delermbned using observable market prices for comparable loans, the fal
value of collateral undertying the leans, and ather reasonoble and supported methods based on management judgment.

Individually-ossessed allowonces are established in consideration of o range of pessible outcomas, which may include
MECroCConamic or non mocrocconomic scenorios, b the extent relevant to the circumstances of the specific borrower being
assessed, Assumplions used in estimating expected future cosh flows reflect current and expected fulure economic conditions
and um generally consistent with those used in Stage 1 and Stoge 2 measurement.

fltdnlludirm:n! is required in assessing evidence of credit-impairment and estimation of the amount and iming of

{uture cash flows when determining expected eredil losses, Changes in the amount expected to be recovered would have a direct
Impact on PCL and may result ina change in the ACL.

Collectively ossessed loons [Sloge 3)
Loans that ore collectively essessed are grouped on the basis of similar risk chargcteristics, toking Into gocount loan type,
industry, geographic location, colloteral type, pest due stotus and ather relevant factors.

The collactively-ossessed ACL reflecks: (1) the expected amount of principal and interest caloulated under the terms of the
original loan agreemend Lhal will not be recoveded, and (18} the impact of tme delays in collecting principal andfor inlerest {Lme
value of money).

Thet expected principol and nterest collection is estimoted on o partfolio bosis ond references historicol loss experience of
comporable portfalios with similor credit risk characteristics, odjusted for the current environment ond expected future
comditions. A portlolle specific coverape ratio is applicd againat the impaired lean belance in determinkng the collectively-
ossessed ACL. The Hime volue of money component is calculoted by using the discownt foctors applied to groups of loans sharing
comman characleristics, The discount lectors represent the expecled recovery pattern of the comparable F_rnqu’ loans, and
reflect the historical experience of these groups adjusted for current ond expected future economic condit andfor industry
Foctors. significant judgment is required In assessing evidence of Impakrment and estimation of the amownt and timing of future
cash Aows when determining expected credit losses, Changes in the omount expected to be recovered would hove a direct
Impact on PCL gnd may result In o change in the ACL,

Write-aff af loans

Loans and the related ACL are written off, elther partiolly or in full, when there is no realistic prospect of recovery, Where loans
are secyred, they are generally written off after receipt of any proceeds from the realization of collateral, In clroumstonces where
the net realizable value of any collateral has been determined ond there B no reasonoble expeclation of further recovery, wrile
all may beearlier. For credit cards, the babances and related ACL are generally wrilten off when paymaent is 180 days pasl due,
Personal beons ore EEI‘I:I““‘F wirliben off ai 150 days Pl;n.l.dul:.

Modifications

Thie arigingl terms of o linanciol assel muybel'um:gdlnled of alherwise modified, resulling in tflﬂ‘]iﬂ% o Lhe condraclual berms
of the finoncial asset thal affect the controctual cosh flows. The treatment of such moadificalions is primarily bosed on the
process undertaken Lo execulte the renegotiothen and the nature and extent of the expected changes. In the normal course of
business, modificetions which are performed for credit reasons, primarily related to troubled debt restructurings, are generally
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treated as madificatkons of the original financiol osset. Modifications which are performed for other than credit reqsons are
generally conskdered to be an expliry of the orlginal cash flows; accordingly. such renegotiations are reated as o derecagnilion of
the original financial asset and recognition of a new financial asset.

If g madification of (erms does not resull in derecognition of the Mngncla | asset, the corrylng amount of the Anancial asset 1s
recalculated os the present volue of the renegotioted or madified contractual cash Nows, discounted at the origingl effective
interest rode and ngnll'l o |t = rrrngni.lrd Thie tineeneial astel conlinues tabe subject bo the <ome asdessmenis for f.ignlrlrnnr
Increass in coedit risk relolive bo indtiol recognition and ci Edll-illlpui:'nlurl.u: described above. A modified financial assel will
transfer out of Stoge 3 if the conditions that led to it being identified as credit-impaired are no longer present and relate
objectively to an event occurring after the ariginal credit-impairment was recognized. A modified linanclal asset will tronsfer out
of Stage 2 when it no longer sotisfies the relotive Lhresholds sel to ldentify significant increases in credit risk, which are based on
changes in its [ifetime PD. doys post due and ot her qualitative considerations. The financiol assel continees to be manitored for
skgnificant Increases In oredit risk and credit-impaimment

Il o madification of terms results in derecognition of the origingl fingncial asset and recognition of the new financiol asset,
the new flinencial asset will generally be recorded in Stage L unbess it s determined 1o be credit-impaired of the time of the
ranguqul‘inn. Fai the purposes af th:ir:g e .-i.ip'l.ifin:,ﬁn! ncreases in credil Fisk, the date af initial ret,n;gflll:inn laF the nais
financial asset is the date of Lhe madifleation.

Derivalives

‘When derivatives are embedded in other finonclal instruments ar host contracts, such combinations are known os hyhrid
Instrurments, Soame of the cash Nows of o hybeld instiement vory in o say similor Lo o stond-olone derivotie, IFthe bost contrect
is o financial osset within the scope of IFRS 9 Financiol nstruments [IFRS 9], the classification and megsurement criterio are
applied to the entire hybrid instrument os described in the Classification of fimancial gssels section of Note 2. If the host contracl
i= a linancial liobility or an assel that is not within the scope of IFRS 9, embedded derivatives ore separately recognized if the
eeonomic characterictics and risks of the embedded derivative are not clearly and elosely related to the host controct, unless an
election has been made Lo elect the fain volue oplion, as described above, The host contract is eccounted for in occordance with
Lhe relevont stondards.

Derivatives are primanily used in trading octivities. Derivotives ore olso used to Manoge our expasure bo interest, cumrency,
credit and other morket risks, The most frequently used derlvalive products are Interest rate and foreign eschonge swaps,
aptions, futures and forword rate agreemaents, equity swaps ond credit darivatives, Al derivative instruments are recorded on our
Consolldobed Bolance Sheets at falr value.

‘When derivatives are used in troding activitios, the realized ond unrealized gains and losses on these derivatives are
recognized in Trading revenue in Noncinterest income. Derivalives with positive lair values are reporbed as Dervative ossels and
derivatives with negative fair values are reporied as Derivative liobilities. In accordance with our policy for effsetting financial
assets and finoncial Habilities, the net fair value of certain devivative ossets and liobilities are reported os an ossel or liobily, as
appropriote. Valuotion sdjusiments are Included in the foir value of Derivative ossets and Derivallve labilities. Premiums paid
and premivms recelved are shown in Derivative assets and Derivotive llabifities. respectively.

‘When derivatives are used to maonoge our own exposures, we delermine far each derivotive whether hedge ocoounting con
be applied, as discussed in the Hedge accounting section below.

Derecognition of finonciol assets

Financiol gssets are dl:rr;msnl.r#d from our Consolidoted Bolance Sheels when our conlroclual rlghh. o the cash llows from the
assels hove expired, when we reloin the rig_hl:. 1o receive the cash lows of the ossets but assume an ahligqliun Lo oy those cash
fows b thied party subject (o centain pass-through requirements of when we tronsfer our contractual rights bo recelve the cash
flows and subskantially all of the risks and rewards of the ossets have been tronsferred. When we retain substantiolly all of the
risks ond rewards of the transferred assets, the tronsferred ossels are not derecognired from our Consolidated Balonce Sheets
and are accounted for as secured finoncing lronsactions. When we nefiber retain nor ransfer substontially oll risks and rewords
of ownership of the assets, we derecognize the assets If control over the ossets |s relinguished, If we retain control over the
transferned assels, we conlinue to recognize the transferred ossels to the extent of our continuing nvalvement.

Management judgment is applied in determining whether the contractual rights o the cash flows from the iransferred ossels
howe m.plrnd ar whelher we retain the fighh]n receive cosh fows on the ossels but gssume an nhll_g,qlinn [{3] ey For those cash
Movavss. W derecognize transfered lnonciol essels il we transfer substantiolly oll the risks ond rewards of the ownership in the
assels, When assessing whether we hove transferred substantially all of the risk and rewards of the transferred assets,
management considers the Bonk's exposure before and after the transfer with the voriability in the amount ond timing of the nat
cash flows of the transferred assets. In tronsfers in which we retain the ﬁervlclnf, rights, management hos applied judgment in
assessing the benafits of servicing against market expectatbons. When Lhe benafits of servicing are greater than fairvalue, a
servicing assel s recognized In Gther assels in our Consolidoted Baolonce Sheels. When the benelits of servicing ave less Uhon lalr
value, o servicing labilily is recognized in Other labilities in cur Consolidated Balance Sheats,

Derecognition of finonciol liobilities

We d-err:ngn Fea Nnancial |iuhi|lty I am our Consolidoled Balante Sheels whish our rbhliﬂﬂl ion :.p-étl"rd‘ in the conlroct expires,
or is dischorged or cancelled. We recagnize the difference betwesen the carrying emount of o financial lability transferred and the
consideration paid in our Consolidated Statements of Income.

Interest

interest Is recognized in Interest income and Interest expense in the Consolidoted Stotements of Income for all interest-bearing
tinancial instruments, The effective interest rate is the rote thot discounts estimated future cosh Hows over the expected life of

the linosciol asset o lobility to the el conrying amound upan initkal n:t:flllliun. Skpnilicant judgment is ogplied In determining
the elfeetive Interel rale due Lo uncerlainty in thi Ilrnirlg and amoaunts of future cash Mows.
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Diwidend income
Dividend inceme s recognized when Uhe right Lo receive poyment is established. This is the ex-dividend dote lor listed eguity
secyritles, and usually the dote when shareholders have epproved the dividend for unlisted equity securithes,

Transoction costs

Transection costs are expensed as incurred for financial instruments clossified or destgnated os FYTPL. For other financial
instruments, iransaction costs are coplalired on initiol recogaition, For Snanciol agsels and fsonciol Tiobilities meosured of
amea tiged cosl and debt financial assets megsured of FVOCH capltolized transection costs gre emorticed through net income
oaver the estimated life of the instrument using the effective interest method.

Offsetting linanciol assets and lnoncial lobilities

Financial essets and financlal lobitites ore offset on the Consolidoted Balonce Sheets when there exists both a legally
enforceable nght to offset the recognized amounts and an intention to settbe on a net basis. o realize the osset and settle the
linbility simultenecusly.

Assets purchased under reverse repurchase ogreements and sold under repurchase agreements

We purchose securities under agreements to resell (reverse repurchase agreements] ond loke possession of thess securilies. We
meaitor the market value of the secorities purchosed ond odditional callateral is ebtained when oppropriote, We hove the right
ta ligukdate the collateral held in the event of counterparty defoult. Reversa repurchose agreements are treated as callateralized
lending transoctions, We also sell securities under ogreements Lo repurchase [repurchase ogreements |, which ane treated as
collateralized borrowing transoctions. The securities received under reverse repurchase agreements and securitles delivered
under repurchose agreements are not recognized on, or derecognized from, our Consalidated Balonce Sheets, respectively,
unkess the risks and rewards of ownership ore obtained or relinguished,

Reverse repurchase agreements ond repurchose ogreements are catried on our Consalidoted Balonce Sheets ot the
amaunts at which the securities were initlally ocquired or sold, except when they are clossified or designated as FYTPLand are
recorded ot fair value, Interest earmed on reverse repurchose agreements is included in Interest income, ond inferest incurred on
repurchase ggreements is included in Interest expense n our Consolidated Statements of Income, Changes in fair value for
reverse repurchase agreements and repurchose ogreemenis clossified or designoted as FVTPL are included in Troding revenue or
Other In Non-interest income.

Hedge accounting
We have elected to continuee to opply the hedge accounting principles undar 1AS 3% Instead of those under IFRS 0.

W use derivathves and non-derivatives in our hedging strateghes (o manage our exposure Lo inerest rale, currency, credil
and other market risks, Where hedge occounting con be applied, o hedge relationship is designated and documented ot inceplion
Lo detail the particulor risk monggement objective and strategy for undeoking the hedge tronsaction. The decumenlalion
jdentilies e :pﬂ.HiL aasel, lNobility o anticigasted cash Mows LIE'rIﬂ_'I\‘.dHI:IJ. Lhe risk Lhat s Lazinigy ru-_-dglsl]. L t','po:ﬂf |1i:dg'||'|g
instrument used and how effectiveness will be assessed. We assess, bath ab the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis,
whether the hedging instruments are ‘highly effective” in affsetting changes in the fair valee or cosh fiows of the hedged items. A
hedge ks regarded as highly effective only I the following criterio are meL: (i) at inception of the hedge and throughout its life, the
hedge Is expocted Lo be highly effective in achieving offsetting changes In fair value or cash fiows attributable to the hedged risk.
and (i) octual results of the hedge ace within g pre-determined range, We perform elfectiveness testing to demonstrate that the
relotionship has been and bs expected to be effective over the remaining term of the hedge, In the case of hedging o forecast
transaction, the tronsaction must hove o high proboebility of occurring ond must present on expesure to variotions in cosh flows
that auld ultknately allect the feporled fet grofit of loss, Hedge accounting B discontinued when LB delermined that the
hedging Instrument is no longer effective o= @ hedge, the hedging instrument or hedged lbem is terminoted or sold, or the forecast
transaction is no longer deemed highly probable, Refer to Nate @ lor the fair value of derivatives and nan-derivative insfruments
calegarized by their hedging refotionships, os well os derivatives that are nol designated n hedging relationships.

Unitil the hedging refotionships impocted by the Interest rate benchmark reform (the Reform) fully transition to alternative
benchmork rates (ABRs), our prospective effectiveness testing ks bosed on existing hedged cash flows or hedged risks and any
ineffectivensss grising from retrospective testing does not result in o discontinuation uﬁhr hedge, Additionally, effectiveness
testing is applied seporately to hedged ilems referencing ABRs and hedged items referencing interbonk offered rotes {IBORs),
which Inglude USD Londan Interbank Offered Rote (USD LIBOR) and Canedion Dollar OfTered Rate (COORY, In accordance with
the Phase 2 amendments to IFRS 8 Fingncial Instraments, 1AS 3 Finonclol Insiruments: Recognition ond Megsurement, IFRS 7
Financim Instruments: Disclosares, IFRS 4 insuronce contracts, and IFRS 16 Leoses {he Amendments), Subsequently, when [hese
relotionships fully trensition to ABRs, and provided qualifying criterio are mel, we will amend the reloled hedge documentolion
for the ABR rksk, including consequentiol changes to the description of the hedging Instrumentis), the hedged item(s}, and the
method for assessing hedge effectiveness, without discontinuing the existing hedging relationships.

Falr valuve hedpes

In @ fair vabse hedping relationship, the corrving value of the hedged lem s adpsted for changes in fair volue attrituloble o the
hedged risk and fecognized in Noa-interest incenne. Changes In fals value of the hedged lbem, Lo the extent that the hedging
relationchip is effective, are olfset by changes in the fair value of the hedging derivolive, which are alsa recognized in
Non-interes! incame. When hedge accounting is discontinued, the carrying value of the hedged item is no longer adjusted and the
cumulative fair value adjustments to the carrying value of the hedged items are amortized Lo Nel income over the expected
remaining life of the hedgad [tems.

We predominantly use inlerest rate swops Lo hedpge our esposure Lo changes na lixed terest rote instrument’s Tol value
caused by changes In interest rates. Untll the hedging relotionships impoacted by the ReFoem fully transitien to ABRs. we apply
hedge accounting to IBOR rotes which may not be controctually specified when that rate is seporately identifiohle and reliobly
measuroble af Inceplion of the hedge relotionship.
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Caosh Aow hedges

In @ cash flow hedging relationship, the effective portion of the change in the fair value of the hedging derivative, net of toxes, s
recognized in OC1 and reclassifled to profit or loss as the ossocioted hedged ferecast transoction occurs, while the Ineffective
portion is recognized in Non-interest mcome, When hedpe accounting s discontinued, the cumubative amounts previously
recognized in OC1 are reclossified bo Net interest income during the periods when the variability in the cosh flows of the hedged
e ollecks Net interest income, Unfealired gains and losses an defivabhves ane reclossilied immediabody fa Net income when e
hedged item is sold ar Ler minaled ear Iy. or when the lorecast transaction is no Iullgl.-l expecled Lo ocour,

We predominantly use interest rate swaps to hedge the voriabblity In cash Aows rebated to a varlable-rate asset or lability.
until the hedging relotionships impocted by the Reform fully transition to ABRs, we treat the highly probable hedged 180Rs based
cash flows of greups of similar assets or llabilitles with similor risk choracteristics as unchanged os a result of the Reform. In
addition, assoclated cash flow hedge reserves are nol recycled into net income solely due to changes reloted to the transition
froem |BORS Lo ABRSs, Subsequently, when some lenss in the group transition o ABRs belore other lems, the individual hedged
ibems are allecated ta suhgrnups bosed an the Benchmark interes! rate hl.'i'ng_ hﬂdg:.'d. We test h:‘dg_l.' effectiveness based on the
defined subxproups. in accordonce with the Amendments, il eligibility requirements are met, IF o subgroup fails the eligibility
r-rquirz'menls.. we woalild discontinge I'bed;ge ncw.nl.mllﬁg Fl'mpe-:l:iur!y ar Lhe hed'giﬁg ifelal lul‘lﬂhlp i [t enlirety.

tet investment hedges
In hedging our foreign currency exposure o a nel investment in a foreign operation, the effective portion of foreign eschange
goins and Insses on the hedging instruments, net of applicable taxes, s recognized In €1 and the ineffective partion is
recognized i Non-intere=l incomse. The amounts, or a portion thereol, previously recognieed in Other components ol egquity ore
recopnized in Mot income on the disposal, or partial disposal, of the foreign operation

We use forelgn exchonge controcts and foreign curfency-denominated liobilities (o manage our foreign currency exposures
to net nvestments m foreign ogeralicns having a functionadl currency other than the Canadion dallar

Guaranlees
Financial guarantee contracts are contracts Lhat canlingently require us to moke specified payments (in cash, other gssels, our
own shares or proviskon of services) to reimburse the holder for @ loss [t incurs because a specified deblor Falls to make payment
when due in occordance with the ecginol or modifed tenms of o detst instrument. Liobilithes are recognleed on our Consolidoted
Balonce Sheots ot the inception of o guarantee for the fair value of the obligation underteken in issuing the guarantee, Financial
puorantees ane subsequently remeasured at the higher of (i) the amount of expected credil lasses and (1] the amount initially
recognized less, when appropriole, the cumulative amount of income recognized

If thee Financial aunl'\qnl e contract meets the delinithon of @ derrative, it i< measured at fair value ot #ach balance sheet
date and reported under Derivatives on our Consolidated Babonce Sheets.

Insurance ond segregobed funds

Premiums From kong-duratlon controcts, prima iy lifie, health and annukty insurasce (Iife isuronce), are recognized when due in
NHon-interest income — Insurgnce premiums, investment and fee income. Premiums From short-duration contracts, primarily
praperty ond casualty, and fees for odministrative services are recognized in Inswrance premiums, investment ond fee income
aver the reboted controct peried, Uneamed premiums of the short duration contracls, representing the unexplired portion of
melum. are n.-pnrlcdin Other ligbilities, Investments mode by our insurence operalions are classiflied g% VOO instruments
and amortized cast instruments, except for investments supgorting the poalicy benefil liobilities on Nilfe insurance controcks ond a
pnefinn Hprnpcrh_.r and casualty contracts, These are d'-u.signuh:'d as FYTPL wilh I:Ill:ln!.ﬁ in fair value reported in Insurance
premiums, investment and fee income.

Insurance chaims and policy benefit llobilitkes represent current clabms and estimates for future insuronce policy benefits.
Liabilities For |ife insurgnce contracts are determined using the Canadion Asset Liobility Mathed (CALM), which incorporates
assumptions for mortality, morbldity, policy lopses and surrenders, investment yields., policy dividends, operating and policy
maintenance expenses and provisions for edverse deviotlon. These assumptions are reviewed at least onnually ond updated in
respanse fo actunl experkence ond markel conditions, Lichilities lor property and cosualty insurance represent estimated
pravishons for reported and unreported claimes, Liakbilities for fife and property ond cosualty insurance are included in Insurgnce
cloims and policy Benefit liobilities. Changes in Insurance claims and policy benefit liobilities ore included in the Insurance
policyheider benelits, claims and acquisition expense in our Consolidated Stalements of Income In the period in which the
estimates chonge.

Premiums ceded for relnsurance and reinsurance recoveries on palicyhalder benefits and claims incurred are reported In
income and expense os approptiote. Reinswronce recoverables, which relale to poid benefits and unpoid claims, are included in
Other asseks,

Acquisition costs for new Insurance conbrocts consist of commissions, premium taxes, cerlain underwriling costs and ather
costs thal vary with the acquisition of new contracts, Deferred acquisition costs Tor life insuronce products are implicitly
recognized in Insurance clains ond policy benefit liobilitbes by CALM. For property and cosualty insurance, these costs are
classilied os Olher assels ond emortkaed over Uwe policy Lerm

Sepregabed funds are lres of butiness in which we Beue an Msuance contracl whede the benefit amount is directly linked to
the marker volue of the investments held b the underlying fund. The controciual arrangement 1 such that the underlying
segregoted fund assels are registered in our name but the segregated fund palicyhalders bear the risks and rewards of the funds’
Investment performance. Liohilities for these controcts are colculated based on contractual ebligations using acbuarial
assumplions and are ol keast equivolent Lo the surrender or transfer volue colouloted by relerence to the valuee of the relevant
underfying funds or indices. Segregoted funds” ossets and liokilities are separately presented on our Consclldated Bofonce
Sheels. As the segregoted fund policyholders bear the risks and rewards of the funds’ performance, investment income earned by
the segregated funds and expenses incurred by the segregated funds are offset ond are not seporately presented in our
Conzolidoted Statements of Income, Fee income we sorm [fom segregaled lunds incluydes monagement lees, martality, palicy
administration and surrender charges, and these fees are recorded in Non-interest income - Insurance premiums, investment
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and fee income. We provide manimum death benefit and maturity volue guarantees on segregoted funds. The lability ossociated
with these minimum guorantees ks recorded in Insurance clolms and pelicy benefit lobllities.

Limbiliey adequacy tests are performed for all insuronce conteact portfolies at eoch balonce sheel date to ensure the
adequacy of Insurgnce contract liabllities. Cwment best estimates of future contractual cash flows, clalms handling and
admini=trotion costs, end investmend returs from Lhe ossels bocking the Nobililes ore token inlo occownd in the Bests. When Lhe
test results indicole thol there is o deficiency in lebilities, the deficiency is chorged immediotely to our Consolidated Stotements
af Incame by writing down the deferred acquisition costs in Other assels ond/or increesing Insurance claims and policy benefit
linhilities.

Employes henefils - Pensions and ather post-employment henefils

Our delTned Denelll pension expanse, which & e 10 oA el esl exgense - HUmon reseeces, consists of the cost of
employee pension benefits for the current year's service, net interest on the net defined benefil lobility (asset), post service cost
and gains or lnsses on settiement. Remeasurements of the net defined benefit obligotion, which comprise octuarial gains and
losses and return on plan assets {excluding amounts Included inonet interest on the net defined benefit liabilityp, are recognized
immadiately In GCI in the poricd in which they occur, Actuarial gains and losses comprise experience odjustments (the offects of
differences between the pieviaus acluarial assumplions and whal bas actually eccured ), as well o5 the effects of changes in
acluarkal assumplions, Amounts recognized in OC) will not be reclassilied subsequently Lo net income, Past service cost is the
change in the present value of Lhe deflined benefit obligation resulting from a plon amendment or curtailment and is charged
Iimmediately Lo income.

Foir each defined benefit pension plan, we recagnize the present value of owr defined benefit obligations less the Fair value of
the plan ossets as o defined benafit liobility reported In Other lobHities - Emplayee benefit liobilties on our Consollidated
Balonce Sheets. For phans where there s a net defined benefil asset, the amount Is regorted os on osset In Other assels -
Employee benefit gssets on our Consolidated Bolonce sheets.

The cabculation of defined benefil expenses and ebligolions requires significant judgment as the recagnilion is dependeant on
dizcount rotes ond various octuarial asswmptions such os healthoore cost trend rales, projected solory ncreases, relirement ape
and mortality and termingtion roles, Due to the long-derm noture of these plons, such estimoles and gssumplions are subjecl ta
inharrent fisks and uncertaimbies. For our pension and other post-employment benellt plans, the discount role is determined by
reference to markel yields on high qualily corperate bonds. Since the discound rate is bosed an currently ovailolble yields, and
Involves manogement's assessmend of markeat lguidity, it s only o proxy for future ylelds. Actuarial assumptions, set in
accordance with current practices in the respective countries of our plans, may differ frem actual experience os country specific
statistics ore only estimates of future employee behaviowr, These assumptions ore determined by management and are reviewed
by octuaries gt least anneally, Chonges to any of the obove ossumptions moy offect the emounts of benefits obligations.
expenses gnd remeasuremants Lthat we recognkee,

Our contributions lo defined contribution penslon plans gre expensed when employees have rendered services in exchange
lar such contributions. Defined contribadion pension expense is included in Nomdinteres! expense - Humaon resources

Shore-based compensation
We offer share-based compensation plans to certaln key employees and to our non-employee directors.

To occounk for stock options granted to employees, compensation expense |s recognized over the applicoble vesting period
with a corresponding increase In eguity. Fair valee is determined by usbng option valeetlon models, which take into occount the
exercise price of the apthan, the current share price, the risk free interest rote, the expected volatility of the shore price over the
life of the optkon and other relevant factors. When the options ore exercised, the exercise price proceeds together with Lhe
amount initiolly recorded in equity ore credited to comman shares, Qur other shore bosed compensotion plans include
performance deforred shore plans ond deferced share unit plons For key employees (the Plans), The obfgations for the Plons are
acored over I vesling periads. The Plans afe sellled in cosh.

For cash-sellled owards, our oecrued obligations are adjusted Lo thelr fair value ot each balance sheet date. For shore-
settled awards, our expected obligations recognized in equity are based on the fair volee of our common shares at the date of

ant. Chonges in our obligations, net of related hedges, ore recorded as Non-interest expense - Human resources i our
onsolldated Statements of Income with a corresponding increase in Gther liabilities for cash-settied awards and in Retalnad
carnings for shore-setthed awords, Compensation expense Is recognized in the year the owards are eorned by plan participants
based onthe vesting schedule of the relevant plans, net of estimated Forfeitures.

Ther compensation cosl attributable lo options ond awords grented to employees who ore eligible bo retire or will become
eligible to retire during the vesting period. 1s recogrized immediotely I the employes is eligible to redire on the gronl date o over
ihe period between the grant dote and the dale the employee becomes eligible to retire.

Our contributions ta the employee savings and share swnership plans are expensed s incurred.

IACame Laxes
ncome tox comprises current tox and deferred box ond ks recognized in our Consolidoted Stotemants of Income except to the
extent thal It relates to ltems recognized directly in equity, n which case it Is recognized in equity.

Current incomae box poyable on profits is recognized as on expense based on the opplicoble tox laws In each jurisdiction in
the period in which profits orise, colouloted using tax retes enocled or substantively enocted by the balonce sheet dote, Dilerred
loxis recognized on lempoioiy dilferences belween Lhe conyiing gmounts of assets and Babilities for scoouiting ond Lex
purposes. A deferred income Loy asset or liability is determined for cach temporary difference, except for carnings related to our
subsidinries, brane hes, associates and interests in joint ventures where the temparary dilferences will not reverse in the
loresecable future and we hove Lhe abilily te control the Uming of reversal, Delermed tox assels and Habilities are detenmined
based on the tox rotes that ore expected lo be In effect in the period that the osset is realized or the labllily Is settled, based on
tox rates and tox laws that have been enacted or substantively enocted ol the balonce sheet dote. Current tax assets and
liobliities are offset when they are levied by the same toxation outhority on either the some tasable entity or different taxaoble
entities within the some tox reposting group (which Intends to settle on o net basis), and when there is o logal right to offset,
Deferred tax assels and llobilities are offset when the same conditbons are sotsfled, Our Consolidated Statements of Income
include items that are non-taxable or non-deductible for Income tax purposes and, eccordingly, this couses the incame tax
provision to be different from whot it would be if bosed on statulory roles.
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Deferved income toxes accumuloted as 0 result of temporary diferences and tax kess corryforwards are included in Other
assets and Other lichilities. On o quorterly basis, we review our deferred income tax assets to determine whether it s probable
that the benefits astociated with these ascets will be reglized: this review invalves rwlunllng bath pmll!l.\-e i m.-gql'wz evidend e,

We are subject o Income tox kews in various jurlsdictions where we operate, and the complex Lo lows are polentiolly subject
to different interpretations by us ond the relevant taxotion authorities. Significont judgment ks required in the Interpretation of the
relevont tox laws and in assessing the probobility of ecceptance of our bax positions to determine our tox pravision, which incledes
our besd estimate of uncertain tax positions that are under gudit of appeal by the felevant tox guthorilies, We perform o review on
a quarterly basis to incorporate our besl assessment based on infermation available, but additiena| liabifity and income tox
expense coubd resull bosed on the ecceplance of our tax positions by the relevant tax aulhorities.

The determination of our deferred tax asset or liobility alse reguires significont monagement judgment as the recognition is
dependent on our projection of future toxable profits and tax rates that ore expected tobe in effect in the period the asset is
realized ar the |||;|I:.|'|'||I!"I s settled. Any changes inour prn'p:: ticn will result in ch anges In deferred tox assels or liobifities on our
Consolidoted Bolance Sheets, and alsn deferred tox expense an our Consalidoted Stalements of lncome.

Tiee 1ASE issued amendments lo 1AS 12 Inceme Toxes (1AS 12) in Moy 2023 Lo address the Pillor Two Model Rules for
Internatioral Tox Beform, including a plobal 15% minimum tox. The amendments introduce, with iImmediate effect. o temporary
recognition exception in relotion te accounting and disclosure for deferred taxes arlsing from the implementotion of the
internalicnal tax felarm,

Business combinations, geodwill and other intangibles

Al business combinations are cccounted for using the oogquisition method, Non-controlling interests, If any, are recognized ol
their proportionate share of the fair value of identifiable assets and liobilites. unless otherwise indicated, Identifioble intangibile
assels are recognised seperately from goodwill and included in Other intangibles, Goodwill represents the excess of the price
paid Tor the business ecquired over the fair value of the net ienlifioble ossels ocquired on the dale of acquisition.

Goodwill

Goodwill is allocated to cosh-generating units or groups of cash-generating units for the purpose of impalrment testing, which is
undertaken al the bowest level ol which goodwill is monitored Tor intemal monogement parposes, impairmend lesting bs
Pl.-rfnﬂn:'ﬂ nnnuqll',- as al Auguﬁ.! 1, &F mofe Frqquqn!l‘:,rl.“hﬁr are objective indicator ﬂrlmpqlrrm;ln!. by rumpquhg lhe
recoverable omount of o cash-genenating unit [CGU) with its carrying amount. The recoverable amount of o CGU is the higher of
Its value In use (VL) ond Its Foir value less costs of disposal (FVLCD). VIU is the present value of the expected future cosh flows
froem a CGUL FYLED is the omount oblainable from the sole of o CGLU inoan arderly transaction between market participants, less
disposal costs. The fair velue of a COU ks estimoted using valuation bechnigues such os o discounted coash low method, odjusted
to reflect the considerations of o prospective third-party buyer. External evidence such os binding sole egreements of recent
transoctions for similor busknesses within the same industry Is considered to the extent that it is avallabie.

Significant jJudgment Is involved in estimating the model inputs used to determine the recoverabde amount of our CGUs. in
porticuior future cash [ows, discount rotes ond terminal growlh rates, due to the uncertainly in the timing ond amouent of cosh
Mows and the forward-looking noture of these Inputs. Future cosh Mows are bosed on finonciol plons agreed by monagement which
are estimated bosed on forecest resulls, business initiotives, planned capital investments and returns to shorehoblders. Discount
rates are based on the bank-wice cost of copital, odjusted for COU-specific risks and currency exposure as reflected by differences
in expected inflotkon, Bank wide cost of capital ks based on the Copitall Assel Pricing Model, the Dividend Growth Model and peer
anolysis, COU-specific risks include country risk, business/operational risk, geographic risk (including political risk. devaluation
rik and gn'HPnrnErlI: regulul!'mnj. CUTency n‘akq.rvdpu'lte ik I:i'rlril.pdlng product Fru:ln rask and Inﬂqtinn]. Terminal growlh rgbes
are based on the lang-term steady state growth expectalions in the countries within which the CGU operates. IF the fulure cosh
flows and ather assumptions in futwre periods deviate significantly from the current omowms used in our iImpairment testing, the
value of our poodwill could become impalred, with any such Impolrment loss recognized in Non-interest expense

The carrying amaunt of o CGU includes the carrying aomount of assets, llabilities ond poodwill allocated 1o the CGLU, I the
recoverable omount is less than the carrying value, the impairment loss is allocoted first to reduce the carrying omount of any
goodwill allocated to the CGU and then to the other non-finoncial assets of the CGU proportionately based on the carrying
amaunl of each assel. Aoy bmpoirment loss is charged o income in Lhe period in which the impaimeent s identified. Goodwill is
stabed at cosl less occumuloted impalrment losses. Subsequent reversals of goodwill impairment are prohibited.

Upon dispasal of a portion of a CGW, the carrying amount of goadwill related Lo the portion of the CGU sold s Included in the
determination of geins or losses on disposal, The carrying amaunt is determined based on the relative fair value of the disposed
portion to the total CGLL

Other intongibles

Intangible gesets represent identifioble non-manelory ossets ond are ocquired either separately or through o busness
combiralicn, of g,l.-ul:-rutl.-d inlernolly. Inmn_gihl: gasels Oc quilﬂlﬂlrwﬂ a bupsineas combingtion are rr.-r:ogni:rﬂ Mpnrn[:l',.' Iram
goodwill when they are separable or arlse frem contractual or other legal rights, and their falr value can be measured reliably.
The cost of o separately ccquired intonglble asset inchedes its purchase price and directly attribuloble costs of preparing the
assel for s Intended use. In respect of internolly gencrated intongible asscts, cost Includes all directly attributable costs
necessary [o create, produce and prepare the assel 1o be capabile of ﬂprl'ﬂliﬁ in the manner intended by management, Research
and developrment costs that ore not eligible for copitalization are expensed, After initiol recognition, on intangible asset is carried
at s cost bess any accumulated amortizatken and accumulated impairment losses, If any. Intangible assets with a finite-lile are
omaortieed on o stralght-line bosis over thekr estimated useful lives os follows: computer softwore - 3 Lo 10 years; and customer
list and relationships - 10 to 20 years. We do not have any mtangible assets with indefinite lives,

Intangibke assels ane oasessed for indicotors of impairment at each repodting period. If there is.an indication that an
Intongible assel may be impaired, an impakrment Lest is performed by comparing the carrying amount of Lhe intongible asset to
its recoverahle omount. Where it is nol possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an Individual osset, we estimate the
reciverable omouwnt of the CGU Lo which the osset belongs. 1If the recoverobbe amount of the gssel (or CGUJ ts less than ils
carrying omaunt, the corrying amount of bhe intongible asset is writlen down to its recoverable omount os an impairment loss,
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An impobment loss recognized previously is reversed (Fthere is a change in the estimates wsed to determine the recoverable
ameunt of the asset (or COUJ since the lost impairment loss was recognired. If on impakrment loss |s subsequently reversed, the
carrying omaunt of the assed (or CGU) ks revised to the lower of its recoveroble omount and the carrying amaant thot would hove
been determined (net of amartization) hed there been no pelos impaiimant.

Due Lo the subjective nofure of these estimaotes, significant judgment is reguired in determining the wselul lives and
recoverable amounts of cur intongible assels, ond cssessing whether corfain events or circumstances constilute objective
evidence of impakrment. Estimates of the recoverable omounts of our intangible ossels rely on certain key inpuis, including
future cash flows ond discount rabes. Fubure cash flows are based on sales projections and allocoted costs which are estimated
based on forecast results and business Inltlotives. Discoun rates are based an the bank-wide cost of copital, odjusted for esset-
specific risks, Chonges In these gssumpthons may iImpoct the amowunt of iImpalment loss recognized in Non-Interest expense,

Other

Translatien of foreign currencies

Monetory assets and llobilitkes denominoted in forelgn currencles are translated into Conadlan dellors at rates prevabling ak the
bokonce sheet date. Foreign exchonge gains ond losses resulling from the translation and settlement of these items are
recognlied in Non-interest incoma in Lhe Consolidated Statements of Income,

Ron monetary assets and labilities thal are meosured ot historical cost are translated into Canadion dolars ot historical
rales,

Assels ond Fobilities of our loreign operalions wilh funclions] cumencies other Lhan Canodign doblors are translated into
Canadian dollars at rates prevailing at the balance sheet date, and income and expenses of these foreign operations are
translaled of average rabes of exchonge for the réporting period.

Unrealized gains or losses arising as o resull of the trans lotion of cur foreign operations along with the effective portion of
reloted hedges ore reported in Other components of equity on on alter-tax basis. Upon dispesal or partial dispesal of o foreign
operation, on appropriate portion of the accumuloled net translation gains of losses is incheded in Non-interest income.,

Premises and equipmenl
Premises end equipment incbhudes land, buildings, leasehold iImprovements, computer equipment. furniture, fixtures and other
equipment, and are stated at cost less accumuloted depreciation, except for kend which is not depreciated, and occumuboted
Impalrmant losses. Cost comprises the purchase price, any costs directly atiributoble to beinging the asset to the location and
condition necessary for its intended use, and the inltial estimote of any disposol costs, Depreciation s recorded principally ona
stroight-line bosis over the estimoted useful lives of the assets, which are 25 1o 50 yeors for buildings. 3 to 10 yeors far computer
equipment, and 5 to 10 years for furniture, fixtures and other equipment. The omortizotion period for leasehold improvements is
the lesser af the uselul [le of the leasehold mprovements of he legse Lerm plus the Mt renewal perlod, Il reasonably gssured
of renewal, Depreciotion methods, uselul lives, and residual values ore regssessed ol eoch reporting period and adjusted os
appropriote. Gains and nsses an disposal are recorded in Mon-interest Income.

Premises and equipment are assessed for Indicators of impairment ol ecch reporting period. IF there s an indicotlon thot an
assel may be impaired. on impalrment test |s performed by comparing the asset's carmying eamaant to lks recoverable amaount.

After the recognition of impairment, the depreciation chorge is adjusted in fulure periods Lo reflect the asset’s revised
carrying amoaunt, If an impakrment is loter reversed, the carrying amount of the assct is revised to the lewer of the osset’s
recoverable amount and the carrying amount thal would hove been determined (net of depreciation) hod there been no prios
impairment loss, The depreciation charge i lulure periods s adjusted to reflect Lhe revised carryng amaunt.

Right-of-use assets are olso included in premises and equipment,

Leasing

At incoption of o contract, we assess whether o conlroct is or contains o kease. A cantract Is, or contains, o lease if the controct
conveys the right to oblain subsiantially all of the economic benefits from, and direct the use of, an identified esset for a period
af time in refurn for consideratlon,

When we are the lessee in g lease orrangement, we initially record o right-of-use asset and cmespmwnrg lease liobility,
exceplt lor shart-term leases and leases of low-value ossets. Short-lerm leases are leases with a bease term of 12 months or bess.
Low-value assets are unspecholized, comman, technaloglcally unsophisticated, widely ovailoble and widely used
non-Infrostructure assets. For short-term leases and leases of low value assets, we record the lease payments as on operating
expense on a stralght-line hasis over the lease term.

‘Whire we are reasonably certain to exenclse extension ond termination options, they are included in the lease term.

The lease Rability is initially measured of the present value of the lease povments Lhat are not paid of the commancemant
dote, discounted al our incremental barrowing rate, The lease iability is subsequently measured al amorntized cost using the
effective interest method, recorded in Interest expense.

The right-of-use oaset is initiolly mecsured bosed on the initiol amount of the lease lobility, odjusted for lease poyments
made on of before the commencement date, nitiol direct costs incurred, and an estimate of costs to dismaontle, remove, or
restore the ossel, less any lease Incentives recelved. Costs related to dismoantling and removing leosehold improvements are
capitalized as part of the leasehold iImprovement asset (rather than the right-of-use asset of the lease) when the leasehold
Improvements are separately capltalized.

The right-of use asset is deprecioted to the earlier of the lease term and the useful life, unless ownership will transfer to RBC
ar we ani rqmnnub}’r civilain lo exerclse npurrllﬂr,rl npl ion, inwhich case the uselul e ol Thie rlghlanl-u:n ossed {5 osed, We
apply 1AS 36 dorpoirment of assets Lo determing whether o dight-ol-yse gssel is impained and gccount for any Tdentilied
impairmont boss as described in the premises and equipment accounting policies above.

Provisions
Provisions are labilities of uncertain timing or amount and are recognizoed when we have a present legel or constructive
abligotion as a result of o past evenl, it is probable that an outflow of fesources will be requined Lo sellle the obligation, and a
relioble estimate con be made of the omount of the obligotkon, Provisions are measured os e best estimate of the consideration
required Lo setlle the present obligotion ot the repocting date. Significant judgment Is required In determining whether o present
abllgotion exists and v estimating the probatility, timing and amowent of any outflows. We record provisions refated Lo litigation,
assel retirement obligaticns and olber ibems.
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We are required to estimate the resubts of ongoing legal procesdings, and expenses bo be Incurmed to dispose of copltal
assets, The forward-kooking noture of these estimotes requires us to use o significant amount of judgment in projecting the
timing and ameunt of future cash flows. We record our provisions on the basks of all availeble Information at the end of the
reparting period and make adjustments on o quarterly basks to reflect current expeciations, It may nol be possidle Lo predict the
resalution of these matters o the timing of their ultimate resolution, Should actual results differ from our expectations, we may
incur expendes in excess ol the provisions recognized. Where appropeiale, we apply judgment in limiting the extent ol our
provisions-related disc |oaisres g5 ok Lo prejudice aur positlons in moatters uf-dh.ul.ll.l.-.

‘When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected Lo be recovered from o third party,
such as an Insurer, g seporobe osset Is recognized IF it is virtually certain that relmbursement will be received.

Commissions ond fees

Commissions and lees primarily refote to ivestment monagement and custodial fees, Mutual lund revenue, Securitles Brokeroge
commissions, Services charges. Underwriting and other advisory fees, Cord service revenue and Credit fees, ond are recognized
based oo the qpplirulalr sirvice confracls wilh clenis

lovestrenl muanagement arl custodial lees and Mutual fund revenue are penerdlly colculoted as o peu.:ntugl.- of dai Iy o
period-end net asset values [ HAYV) based on the terms of the contract with elients and are recebved manthly, quarterly,
semiannually or annually, depending on the terms of the contract, Investment management and custodial fees are generaglly
derived fram ossets under managemant (AUM) when our elients solicit the investment copabilities of an investment manager or
Frowm ossets under administration (AUA) where the investment strategy Is directed by the client or o designated third-party
mamager. Muluol fund revense s generally derlved from the dobly NAY of the mulual funds. investment maragemen] and
custodial fees ond Mutual fund revenue are recogniced over time when the service s provided to the client, providad that it is
highly probable that o sipnificant reversal in the omount of revenue recognized will not occur.

Commisdions egrned on Securities brokerage services ond Service char ges that are felated to the provision of specific
transoction-type services ore recognized when the service is lullilled. Where services are provided over time, revenue is
recognized as lhe services are provided,

Underariting and other advisory fees primarily relate Lo wnderwriting of new ssuances of debt or equity and various
odwisory services. Underwriting fees are generally expressad as a percentage of the funds raised through Issuance and are
recognized when the service has been completed. Advisory fees vary depending on the scope and type of engogement and can be
flxed in nature or contingent on a future event. Advisory fees are recognired aver the period in which the service ks provided and
are recognized only bo the extent that | Is highly probable that o significant reversal in the omoant of revenue will not occur.

Card service revenue primarily includes interchonge revenue and annugl cord fees, Interchonge revenue is calculoted os o
lixed percentage of the transoction amount and recognived when the card transoction is sellled. Annual cord lees are lixed fees
and are teca-gniz:d aver g 12 month period,

Credit fees anFtin‘.qrill,- earned for arranging syndicoted loans and making credit available on undrawn facilities. The timing
of the recognition of credit fees vories based on the noture of the services provided.

When service fees and olher costs are incurred Inrelation to commisskons and fees corned, we record these costs on a gross
basis in either Non-interest expense - Other or Non-interest expense - Human resources based on our assessment of whether we
hawe primary responsibility to Fulfill the contract with the client and bove discretion in establishing the price for the commissions
and fees earnad, which may require judgment

Earnings per share

Enrninss por shore s I:MFL.IMIJ by di'viding Net income gvailable to common sharehold ers by the wuighl::.'d average number of
comman shores outstanding for the period, Net income avallable ta common shorehodders s determined after deducting
dividend entitlements of preferred shareholders and distributions on other equity instruments, any gains {losses) on redemption
of preferred shares and other equity Instruments net of reloted income taxes and the net income attributable 1o non-contrelling
Interests.

Diluted earnings per share reflects the potential dilution thot could occur IF addil kenal common shares are gssumed to be
I=sued under securithes or contracts thot entitle thelr holders o obtain common shares in the Tuture, b the extent such
entitlement s not subject lo unresolved contingencies, For contracts thot may be settled In cosh or in common shores at our
nplinn. elilutied nnrningﬁ per shore s calouloted based on the uli'r.1:r|1|'|rir.|n thok such controcts will be settled in shores, Income
ond expenses essecioled wilh these bypes of controcts are exchoded [om the Hel income available boe common shoreholders, and
the additlanal number of shares that would be ssued (s ncluded b the diluted eatnbngs per share caleulathon. For stock oplions
whose exercise price |s less than the overage market price of our common shores, wsing the treasury stock method, they are
assumed to be exercised and the proceeds are used to repurchose common shares ot the average market price for the ﬁerlnd.
The incremental number of commaon shares issued under stock options and repurchased from proceeds s included in the
caloulatbon of diuted eormings per shore.

Share copital ond ather equity instruments
Wee chussily o linanciol Bstrument that we issue as o linonciol assel, lnonciol Bebility or an equity instrument in occorndonce with
the substance of the contiactual arfangement.

Our common shares held by us are classified os treasury shares in equity and occounted for ot weighted average cost. Upan
the sale of ireasury shores, the difference between the sale proceeds and the cost of the shores is recognized in Retained
earnings: Financial Instruments issued by us ore clossified os equity instruments when there i no contractual abligation to
Lramisler cash or other financkol assets. Incremental costs directly allributoble to the lssue of equity Instruments are included In
equity as a deduction from the proceeds, net of tox, Financial Instruments that will be seltled by o varioble number of our
common shares upon their conversion by the holders as well os the reloted occrued distributions are clossified as liabilities on
our Consolidated Bolonce Sheets. Dividends and yield distributions on these instruments ore clossified os Interest expense in our
Cansolidated Statemenls of Income, For cnmg:nund Enstrupments I:,um!:-ri:scd of bath qubilinl,l and equity ¢qmpnnenh._lhe lizzhility
component ks inithally measured ot fakr value with any residual amount assigned Lo Lhe equity companent
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Future changes in accounting policy and disclosure

IFRS 17 Iisurance Contracis 17

In May 2017, thie IASE issued IFRS 17 Lo estoblish a comprehensive Inswrance standard which provides gukdance on the

recognitkon, measurement. presentation and disclosure of insuronce controcts issued ond relnsuronce contracts hedd and will

replace the existing IFRS 4 Inswrance Confracts (IFRS 4). In June 2020, the 1ASH Issued amendments be IFRS 17, including deferral
fhﬂ effective date by two years, This new standard is effective for us on November 1, 2023 ond is to be opplied retrospectively

with comparatives restated beginning November 1, 2022

Under IFRS 17, insurance controcts ore contracts under which we accept significant insurance risk from a policyholder by
agreeing to compensate the palicyholder if o specilled uncertaln future event odversely alfects the policyholder, Embedded
derivatives, investment components and promises to provide non-insyrance services, provided specific criterio are met, ore
separated from the measurement of insurance and reinsurance contracts. Insurance ond reirsurance contracts are agaregated
Inta portfolios that are subject tosimilar risks and are monaged together, and then divided into groups based an the period of
I=suance ond expected profitobifity. Groups are separately recognized and meosured using one of three measurement models
depmdlng on the characteristics of the contracts:

For insurance contracts with direct participating features, the controcts are measured using the varioble fee opprooch

[VFA

= hLumn:.e contracts and relnsurance contracts held with a short duration of one year or less, the premium aliocation

approach {PAA} is elected.

The general measwrement method (GMM) s opplied toall remaining contracts.

Limder the GMM and VEA, the liabilities for remaining coveroge and incurred claims for groups of cantracts ase measured os
the sum of the fulfilment cash fows and the controctual service margin (CSM), which ore recalculated at the end of each
repadting period. The fulfilment cosh Aows consist of the present value of future cash lows ond o risk odjustment for
non-financial risk. For insuronce contracts, the C5M represents the unegrmed profit for providing insurance coverage, For
reinsurance conbracts held, the C5M represents the net cost or net gain of purchasing reinsuronce. Under the PAA, the liobility for
rermaining coverage fof each group s megsured @5 the premipms received less Insufance revenue recognized for sofvices
provided, while the Habliity for Incurred <laims 1s measured s the fulliliment cosh fows for incurred claims phes adjestment on
any financing components, Losses from the recagnition of onerous groups of insurance contracts, regardless of the
measurement model applied. are recognized in the Corsolidated Statements of Income mmediately

Thee following are key differences between IFRS 17 and IFRS 4:

Mew business profits are deferred and measured os the C5M of the insurance controct llablilitles and amortized Into income

s insuronce contract services are provided, while losses are recognized into income iImmediotely. Under IFRS 4, gains and

losses are recognized in income iImmediately, On july 18, 2023, O5F1 releosed regulatory gukdonce to allow the incluslon of

the CSM incalculating CET1 capital and related rotios, therefore, there will be no impact on the capltal metrics from such
reduction in retained sarmings resulling Mrom the CSM.

Discount rates used in calculating the present value of insurance contract liobilities are based on Lhe chargcteristics of the

insurance contrects unlike IFRS 4 which k& bosed on the assets supporting thie liobi lities.
= Presenlation and disclosure chomges aie expecled due Lo Lhe new reguiremenls.

While IFRS 17 Impacts the timing of profit recognithon of insurance controcts. it will have no impact on telol profit recognized over
the lifetime of these contracts,

Impact of IFRS 17 transition excliding the impoct of reclassificetions of fnancial assets

Lipon the adoption af IFRS 77, we willapply IFRS 17 refrospectively by odjusting our Consolidoted Balance Sheets as ot
Kovember 1, 2022 and restating comporative information. The full retrospective opprooch will be applizd for all Insurance and
reinsurance contracts unkess i is impracticoble to do so. The full retrospective approach s opplied to all contracts moasured
using the PAA and all new contracts Bsued on and alter November 1. 2027 measured using the GMM ond VA as if IFRS 17 hod
alwoys been applied. Due to data evailability and ihe inabilily to use hindsight, the fair volue approach is epplied to contracts
Issued before November 1, 2022 that are measured under the GMM and VEA. Under the falr value opprooch, the CSMof the
linbitity fior remaining coverage Is calculoted as the difference between the fair value of a group of controcts and the fulfillment
cash Aows messured at the dote of transition,

Rased on current estimates, the adoplion of IFRS 17 is expected to resull in o reduction in retoined earnings of approximalely
2.4 billion, net of toxes, os ot Novembaer 1, 2022, This is otiributable to the estoblishment of the CSM ond other remeasurement
chonges to insuronce and reinsurgnce contracts and related tax effects, The estimated CSM of all insuronce controcts net of
reinsurance coabracts held as at November 1, 1022 was approximately $1.8 billion, These estimates ofe subject o change os we
finalize the quentitative impacts of the adaption in the first guarter of 2024,

Impact ef reclassifications of financial assels

As permitted by IFRS 17, we will change the classificathon and measurement of certaln eligible financial assets held inrespect of
an activity that relotes to Insurance controcts upon the adoption of IFRS 17, We will apply these chonges retrospectively by
adjursting our Consolidated Balance Sheets os at November 1, 7023 with no restatement of comparative information. We expect Lo
reclassify financial assets between fair value clossification cotegorles, which Is not expected o have a net impact to totol equity
nar the canrying amounts of those ossets. This bs subject o chonge os we linalize the quantitotive impacts of these chonges and
the quonbitalve (mpocts of odogling IFRS 17 in Lhe lesl qudsler of 2024,
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Updates reloted Lo inberest rate benchmaork reform

Pragress in and risks arising from (he transilion lo ABRS

To manage sur transition to ABRs, we have implemented o comprehensive entarprise-wide program and governance structure
that addresses the key oreas of impact including contract remediation, lunding and liquidity planning, risk managemant,
financial rrpnrling and valuation, systems, processes and clent education and communication. Trengition aclivities are focused
an two broad streams of wark: (1) developing new ABR linked products, and {ii) comeersion of existing CDOR based contracks 1o
ABRs. Our program Urmelives ore ullimotely dependent on brogder market acceplance of products that relerence the new ABRRs
and our clients’ readiness and ability te adopt the replacement products, Significont matters that we conlinue to evaluate
Include client product offerings, short and long-term funding strotegies. and our hedging progroms, We continue to work towards
the recommended target date for the cessotlon of CDOR based products provided by sur regulators and are on track with our
tramsition octivities to move bo ABRS

The following tables show the Bank’s significont exposwres ta finoncial instruments referencing benchmork interest rates subject
16 the Redosem thiol hovie yel to Eromilion bo ABR<. A% al Gctodser 31, 2023, this ropreconts our financiol inslroments r:-lrr\rnting
C0=OR and maturing alter Jurie 28, 7024, In the normol cowrse of business, our dervative notlonal amounts miay Nuclisobe with
minirmal ":I'I'IFIIHC[ be over |BOR corversian |.|I|HI15-.

i sl
- ctoberyMy Dictober 11, 3072
Mon-derivaiive Han-derreatve Dervalive Ron-dermatine Ten-derivalive Berivatnee
[Mifines of Conadion dollars)_ eanclalasssts (1) financiol libilitles(2)  notlonal _finarcial avsets (1) Minanciallobifiies (1) naticnal 13)
CDOR (4 5 29496 5 14,735 5 1,154,345 5 18493 § 18572 & 22267040
n Hon-Seivebye Ccveets reprient e drown el anding EBalerse of Lears ond Cusiomerns’ lshibly under adcaplondrs und the [nisvakee of Sriumten

121 Muohdetvalie bl rrproen Sulbssidivoled deBeniuirs, Depoady gid Adorpl onors
13y A hinee Disen ujasiled i thind (o evitanly pieheriid (o rellec] the Cetsalios of Ul LIBOR
(4 rckndey il eapodine 0o Ninoe sl inslruinndy relerent ing ndesvil nobes siBnconteslly smiler e CO0R

The folbowing table presents the undrown balances of loan commitments referencing benchmaork interest rates subject to the

Reform
Ag ol
| WA o Coptpdban didlors _Qt_ll_:_tgt_l'_.",_l‘_ﬂ_.l‘!: Owinber T MJ}
Autharized and commitled undrown commitments
CDOR (1), 3) 5 AD010 % 26911

(1) MR Ol Spoaine 10 norchel INSIFUMETs refenenting MeTes! nones sutnconoally wmiler 0o COOR
121 Undrows commEments skide mourts rekiied o demee custonding Balores. which in certale ¢ oses moy esciude extenaion ok

As port of the interest rate benchmark reform, the publicotion of all remaining USD LIBOR settings ceosed on June 30, 2023 and
consistent with aur transitkon plan, our exposure to non-derivative lMnanciol assets, non-derivative linoncial llabilities, derivative
notiongl and undrawn balonces of logn commitments rrf:r:nring LUSD LIBOR interesl rates 5 no Inrlgl.-l material to owr Fingncial
statements (Octaber 31, 2027 = $57.5 billian, 51.5 billion, $5,772 .4 hillion and $59,3 hilllon, respectively), We continue to manage
sinillcanl exposuies e benchimarks Ll hive no anmdunced phids o Cessalion o larther relomn, inclsdi 1@ Lhie EURD bialerbank
Offered Rote [EURIBOR) and Australian Bank Bl Swap Rote (BESW ), which are excluded from the tables above.

L] Byl Bank of Canada Annucl Bepeil 5131 Consnidoled Firaneidl Solements
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Carrying value and fair volee of fingnciol instruments
The following tables provide a comparison of the carrying and fair valuves for each classification of finoncial instruments
Embedded derivatives are préesented on a combined basis with the host coptracts. For megsurament purposes, they are carried

at falr value when conditions requiring separation are met

A o Dteleer 1. 2023

Carrying valus ond fair viles Comyagvales __ Folrvalus
Fisancial Fmancld  Firancial Financial Finascial Fimancial
™ i Iadnaneniz Tokal
whomnifled on dealgraied on clow megauresd ak conrying Tatol
| Moy ool o diliars) IR el e ieed £oak amumnl Fesir wluse
Finons kol aasels
Interest beaing deposils wilks bonks s - 4 BOETE % -4 -4 10,230 & 10,230 4 Ti08& 3 71086
S|l
Troding 1ED651 9500 . . : = 190,151 199,151
trwestment. ret of applcable ollawonce . = NI7.614 LTF] BIAET 219579 1133
1EILRST 508 117AM4 A4l E1AAT 408710 400184
Aty prchosed under teverse reporchiose
agrecrments and secuities borowed LRI - - - $4.333 TR FF] a0, 1510 J4d,180
Lexam, pet of upjliclie llwanen
Hreai LAE ] 363 80 = 568.3TH 541480 567,132 541106
Wil 5,629 AL 547 - 15790 D643 DESB41  27EBHA
5743 1981 877 . R42.172 811,323 AS1L771  A21924
Cihesy
Derrelives 142,450 - - - . - 141450 141450
e gl (1) 4,819 5 - - BE53T BEEIT 3381 Ti61
Financiol linhilities
[ pristts
Perscnal ¥ oY e RO b AI5A35 O AILABE B 441,998 8 439007
N 5 e Prerrmend (2] T4 137454 607447 605260 745075  741.K84
Bz - 11,462 33,204 13,160 44, B66 44,622
253 175614 1,035,786 1851306 1311687 1227107
ihay
ObAgations ¢ 13,651 - - - 33,651 33,651
Ddgnbom
repurchase agreements ond securiljes
louned - 19RATS 18530 F6.55% 135,138 315138
142,619 = L - 145 61% T42.02%
1937} il 83,500 #1403 1,574 476
= - 11,3K6 11,713 11,154 1,113
Coanniulalind Firaticiol Sobeirand+ Hoydl Barl of Cosade Ahaidial lepail M08 E
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Ak QL TROIODET SL JULT

o rying vahie oied loi vilue Carying value Fir withort
Finaraial Firgnciol Finayaricd Financal Farupneg gl Finagncial
mslrgments  iretrymenis  insingmests  insiromenty abnEmans inpiruments Total
clgysilied v devgnated an  clossified oy designoted o mensued ol e o coEEymg Togal
(Ml af Cornaien doliars) i TR el VR preostiped oowl g lred coad i e vgle
Financ ol aswets
Inbevest-heaneg disposils siib Bbunks L] - 3 B4.468 % 5 - § 73543 & 21543 8 108,011 &  WOEA1
SPCUTIIeS
Trnading 118 507 6% 148,705 BAH M5
iveskment, ret of applicobde allowance 31,06F EIE T 7,073 170,018 Wi sl
118507 LR BL06N EIR Traa? 118,220 LARREY )
Assels purchaved wrdder teverse repurchose
agreerests ond seceribes borowed B N TR - - - SR AED 51180 JT Ras LT L
Vs, sk oo applicolie alowares
Retail T3 15 1K - a6787 SIVAR 54T 433 EFEE L]
‘Wholrsoke &4 3,211 568 - 261831 5386 173,53} J64.515
38T 3,597 THI BB 00 175,244 219,965 TBb,b0S
Oiher
Derrregfises 154 430 154 &30 54439
Cther ossets (1) 1377 - THOE4 F1ngd ELE L) ThAel
Financiod lobdtlies
Dperiils
Persaennl 4 298 § 18595 i (T ] IRTA06 & 4049007 & 402653
Rusineis and govermmenl 1) |47 B5201% 0T I #045, 102 TEN.ETO TET BEE
Bank (1) T, 1% pit 10 ¥, T5E 44,017 45854
T45 TH0174 B, 026,795 LEXLISE  LIGAEI4 1,304,375
Othay
Dbguieny refobed b secailes sokl shod 1551 35,511 15,511
Distgnbions mlobed to ovsels sold under
rejurchoss agresments oo securilles
Ingnad - JAHENS awang 112 171,047 279,847
EmernGEhary 140401 ¥ - H 158,401 155401
ey Ny bailifirs (4] (B ] ol 148 16 i 057 B RS
Submrdinated debsrium 1035 LT 1,025 W Ebd
1) ieclude Cuslemers’ lisiity wnider scorplunoe ond Nifendig! indismenia iecogniied in OThir casis.

121 Dennesy end povermrmest depaulls inckade deposils lrom regulaied depeall-teking inslilutions ofhes than banks
15} Benk depoilis reler to depudits from reguisted Banks and centrol Bk
{4 inchudes Aceplances and Nrenckl adrements recegalied in Other Batslilies

Fimonchal assets designoted os fair volue through profit or loss

For gur financial ossets designated as FYTPL, we maasure the chonge in fair value attributable to chonges incredit risk as the
dilference between the lotal change in the fair valee of the instrument during the pedod and the change in Tair valee colculabed
u-singl]ﬂ:- qFFmpriqle risk-free ':,’]Eh'J curves, For the year ended Gctober 11, 2023, the :Ilqng«; in Tair yalue durlnslhr.- Fmiod
attributabsle Lo :-!tnrl.gﬂ. in credit risk for positions sl beld was o gnih af 5360 million and the cumutolive chnng,l.' in lgir valye
attributable Lo changes In credit risk for positlons still held was g loss of $102 milllon. For the year ended October 11, 2022, the
change in folr value during the period atiributable le changes in credit risk for positions still held was a loss of 2662 million and
the cumubative chaonge in fair value attributable to chonges in credil risk for positbons still held wos a loss of 54940 milllon. As at
October 31, 2023, the extent to which credit derivatives or skniler instruments mitigote the maximum exposure bo credil risk wos
5692 millien (October 31, 2022 - $58% million).

Finoncial liohilities designoted os fair volue through profit or loss
For our financial labilities drsignq:od a% FYTPL, we lake into gccounl :hqzlgrr.in our own credil upﬂ:q¢ and the expected
duration of the instfument Lo measure thi changs in Falr vahpee aitributabie to changes im credit risk.

e L s L)

Inlfeeence
Changes in Falr voiue olbritotde
Costraciol Hm lnm:.hrr::ltn:hlum-d
metuy oni costracton] 1P OCtorpasionewtilibeld
{MiBions of Conadian dotiars) amsunl matuiity emounk - Duting Ehe peried  Curnaltive (2)
Term deposits
Persanal 5 270M L) {429} 5 112 5 {37)
Business and government (g 147 844 {10.390) 683 {1,030)
Bonk.te) ___11.865 UL L2 (23} B SO
186,460 175.618 (10.542) 795 (VOET)
Obligoticns reloted to ossets sold under
repurchose agreements ond securities booned 198,734 198,679 (55) 3 4
Gther llabilties 1 " e e -
5 485205 5 474,308 5 (10,897) 5 798 5 (1.083)
53 Hipal Bark ol Carads Ardisl Brpssil J009 Carmelidadrd §isaresil Salrmeniy
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Jp gt Tl flse piteafricys) O el 31 41)

m Envengey i i withue or it
i Fcredit el dschided
e b i posns s
|8iMigrs of Canodian dollar) amoEnt  Comying vobes Ly A Ihiing the pariad Cumigaiie (3}
Term deposits
PFersonal 5 2238 5§ 2958 H] [3649] 5 [23d) 5 |iee)
Business and government iy 160,775 152119 (8,656] [2,135) {1.71H)
Bank g TR 1) e -
194037} (2373) (1.884)
Obligothons reloted Lo ossets sold under
repurchose agreements ond securities looned 248,963 248,815 [128] 1 1
Other labilitkes a9 i) - - -
§ 419,343 § 430,178 5 [9.185) 5 (3,373) 5 (1.883)
11 5% médlion is chanrgrs in Toirvales b e to chongrs in credil rink were recogriaed in income for B pror mrded Dotober 51 7003, ond 51T milfon in cum ke

change s cred (K mere incuded mindome for pouiiona il el Ble-jo-dete {Debebsr 15, 200 - 790 Sdllan and 397 milion reipecvel)
11 The cuamadalive changs h ﬁ-u-\r-c 'ru-h I.h- Innd&u'mkm o W Babslilbes g FYTIL, For 1B jpeai erided Duobier ¥, JOTL 83 milliin of lak vilee pelii pervisuly

d i 0C 1 1ok i eharirigg L ywuar | L 302) - 43 million of kv volue poani)
{3 Bearirss utsd et e dejnits b ude ot T vrgubsted drpessil g irslibtins utes o s eguleted ks,
|47 Bonk Lerm deposlts reler lo b frem peguiated bonds and centiel Banla.

Net goins {losses) from fnoncial instruments classified and designoted os fair value through profit or loss

Financlal Instruments classified as FYTPL. which includes mainly trading securities, derivatives. trading lobilities, and finencial
assets and lobilities designated as FVTPL are measured ot fair value with realized and unrealized goins and lesses recognized In
Ran-interest ingamse.

Tk e fn.rnndfd
October 31 October 31
[MMisr of vk dislkars 2023 X022
Mt gains {losses) )
Classified os falr volue through profit or loss 4 5 1998 5 (1.383)
Desipnoted o5 foir value through profil or loss (4 1499 8,543

5 J_,i’i'l' 5 1481

By product line

Interest rate and credit (4 5 355 35 1291
Equities {510) (B3
Forelgn exchonge and commodities 492 753
5 3487 5 116
I Exchades the Pallowing &3 peinled o oar akions onad Wcluded In SO [rEmaET, veibment and e scme b the Consetidoled Sotements of
Eegrrme Nl Ipnaey from linong gl nslruments unkmlﬂ'n TP e 5071 mitlam (Dedoliey V1, 072 - lowwrs ol 37,505 mili]
121 Enchadin desholives desigused ia hedgng 1 Refer Lia Husle 9 Far ned o | lemary) an hese devhotie

[1] ¥t ther it erubed Chébeitenr 10, 3071, %1 54 il ol rest dnar vodue paing an fnncisl Bahillies degnote oo 1T alher o B stiulitis B ensges in oo
el ri, wote incladed in Ben Inberesl incermss | Oglebor 11, 2320 - gass o S840 milllan )
[4)  Anchades pen {loks 4] TeCoglied 00 CTONE SUITENCY INGERE] FONF Imigs.

Net interest income from financiol instruments
interest and dividend income arising from financhal assets and financial Hobilities and the associated costs of funding are
reparted in Net interest income,

Far the yeor ended
October 31 October 31
[Milliany of ©eradsen duliari) 2023 o2
Inberest and dluldandln:mr |1H‘J

Finmsciol instruments meosured of fair volue through profit or loss 5 31464 5 10999
Finonchel instruments megsured ot falr value through other comprehensive income 5117 1437
Finonchal instruments messured ot amortized cost 50,400 28595
86,991 40,771

Inberest expense (i )
Financicl instruments mecsured ot fair volue theough prafit or loas $ 2A46 5 BRI
Fingnciol instruments mecsured of amortized cost 33416 8718
61,862 15054
Met interest income 5 25129 § 22917

M Enchades thes Ealfoing omaunss iesaled bo o iunanoe Spsrobions ond cluded In msurance premaema, mweitment and lee loome W he Conualdalsd Stotements of
Wcme Irkenesd Income of S0 millkon [Octotser V1 2000 - BR00milon |, ond nlerest mgeense of $15 millias (Dolober 11, 1007 - 56 millan|

|21 ey diwidend income for B year ended Doiober 51, 1008 of §3,178 milion [Detober 10 2030 - 829504 million), which i presented in inferest ord dasdersd income in
the Comnlidated Salements of Intoms

i badated Firaniis 5 & Byl Bank ol Condde Ahausl Regeit ML (1]
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Fee income arising frem fnancial instruments
For the year ended October 31, 2023, we earned 56,112 milllon in fees from bonking services (October 31, 2022 - 56,118 million). For
the year ended O ctober 31, 2023, we also eamed $15.319 million in fees from Investment manogement, trust, custodial,

underwriting, brokerage and other similar Nduciary services to relall and nstitutional clients [Octaber 31, 2022 - 514932 million),
These fees are included in Mon-inderest income.

Foir volue of assets ond liobilities meosured ot fair volue on o recurring bosis ond clossified using the fair volue hierarchy

L]
hrtaban 11, BTV Udmba- 11 W20
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Sacmniien
1647E PR T — 1 1R LIy
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Fair values of our significant ossets and liobilities measured on a recurring basis are determined and classified in the Fair value
hierorchy takvle using the following valuotion technigues ond inputs.

Interest-beoring deposits with banks

Thie majarily of our Interest-bearing deposils with banks ore designated as FYTPL These FYTPL deposits are composed of shart-
dated deposits ploced with banks, and are included in Interest-beoring degosits with banks inthe falr vaolue hierarchy table. The
fairvalues of these instrements are determined using the discounted cosh flow method. The inpuls to the valuation modabs
Inchide interest rate swop curves and credit spreads. where applicable. They are classificd as Level 2 Instruments in ihe
hilerarchy as the inpuls are observable,

Government bonds (Conadian, U.5. and other OECD governments)

Government bonds are Included In Canadion government debt. U.5, federal, state, municipal ond agencies debt, Other GLCD
government debt and Obligotions related to securities sold shart in the fair value hlerarchy table. The fair values of government
Issued or guarontesd debt securities in active morkets are determined by reference to recent Iransoction prices, broker guotes,
or third party vender prices ond ore classificd as Level 1in thie hierarchy. The fair velues of securities that are not traded in
aclive markets ore bosed on either security prices, or vakeation lechniques using implied yields and risk sproods derved from
prices of gotively troded and similar government securities, Secutities with olsenvoble prices or role inpyls os congeared Lo
transaction prices, deaker guntctnl' wendor prices are classified os Level 2in the hicrarchy, Sccurities where inputs are
unabsenable are classified as Level 3in the higrarchy.

Covporate and U, 5. municipal bonds

The falr volues of corporate and U.S. municipal bonds, which are inchuded in Corporate debt and other debt, U_S. federal. state,
mumicipal ond ogencles debt ond Obligaotkons reloted Lo securities sold short in the folr value hlenarchy table, are determined
using aithor recently exccuted tronsaction prices, broker quoles, pricing services, or in cerlain instances, The discounted cosh
ey methodd using rale inpuls such os benchmark yhekts [COOR, Secured Overnight Financing Robe [(S0OFR) and olher similar
reference rotes) and risk spreods of compareble securities. Securities with observabbe prices or rate gals ome clossificd os
Level 2 inthe higrarchy. Securities where inputs ere unobservabile are clossified e Level 3 in the hierarchy,

Assel-bocked securithes and Morfgage-bocked securities

Asset-bocked securithes [ABS) and MBS are included in Asset-bocked securities, Mortgoge-backed securilies, Canadian
povernment debt, US. federal. state, municipal ond agencles debt, and Ohligations relaled to securities sold shart in the folr
value hlererchy tabhe. Inputs for valuatkan of ABS and MBS are, when ovolboble, ireded prices, dealer or lead monoger guotes,
broker quotes and vendor prices of the identical securities, When prices of the identical securities are not readily available, we
use mddustry stondaord models with inputs such as discount margins, yields. defloult, prepayment and loss severity rates thal are
imiplied from Lronsaction prices, dealer quoles or vendor prices of comporable instruments, Where security prices ond inputs are
observable, ABS and MBS are classified os Level 2 in the hierarchy, Otherwise, they ore classified as Level 3in the hierarchy.

Equities

Equities consist of listed and unlisted comman shares, private equities, muluol funds and hedge lunds with certabn redemption
restrictions ond are included in equities and obligotions for securities sold short. The fair values of common shares are based on
quobed prices in active markets, where avallable, ond are classified os Level 1in the hierarchy, Where quoted prices in active
markets gre not readily availoble, foir volue is determined bosed on quoted market prices for similor securities or through
valuation technigues, such os multipies of eamings ond the discounted cosh Mow method with forecastod cosh Mows and
discount rate as inputs. Private equities are classilied as Level 3in the higrorchy as their inpuls are not observable. Hedge funds
are volued using Net Assel Values (NAV). If we con redesm a hedge fund at NAV prior te the next quarter end, the fund is
clossifled as Level 2in the hierarchy. Gtherwise, it & clossifled as Level 3 in the hierarchy,

Loans

Loans inchede bose metal loans, corporate logns, banker acceptances and assel-boecked lnancing loans. Fair valwes are
determined based onmarket prices. If avolioble, or discounted cash low method using the following inputs: market interest
rates., bose metol commodity prices, market bosed sproads of assoets with similar credit ratings and terms to maturity, LCD,
expecied defauli frequency Implled from credit dedivallve prices, If avallable, ond relevand pricing informatlon such as
contractucl rate, origination and maturity dotes, redemption price, coupon payment frequency and day counl convention. Loeans
with morket prices or observable inputs are clossified as Level 2in the hierarchy and leans with unodsenvoble nguls that hove
signilicent impacts on the foir values ore chossified os Level 3 in the hierarehn.

Derivotives

The falr vafues of exchange-troded derlvatives, such os Inberest rate and equity options ond futures, are tosed on quoted market
prices and are typically classified o5 Level 1in the hierarchy. OTC derivotives primarily consist of interest rate controcts, foreign
exchange controcts, commadity derivatives. equity derivatives ond credit derivatives. The exchange draded or OTE Interest rate,
Toreign exchange and commodity and equily derivalives ore included in Interest rote contracls, Foreign exchangs controcls and
Other contracts, reﬂm:t'm;'lr. in the fair vafuc hicrarchy toble. The foir values of OTC derivotives are determined wsing valuation
mshels whaen quated market prices or thisd-porly consensus pricing information ore nol available. The valuation madels, such s
discounted cash Now melhod or Black-Scholes option model, incorporale observabile o unobservable inputs for Interest and
forelgn exchange rates, equity and commodity prices [bncleding Indices), eredit spreads, corresponding market volotility levels,
and other market-based pricing foctors. Other adiustments to fair value include bid-offer, CvA FvA, 015, porometer ond model
uncertainties, and unrealized goin or loss at inception of o transactken, A derivative instrement is clossiflied as Level 2 in the
hlergrchy il observable morkel Inputs are avalloble or the unobservable Inputs are nal significent to the foir volue, Otherwise, it
I chossilied as Level 3 bn the hierarcly.

Consalelaled Firant il Solereniy Bieryal B ol Consde vl Brpoil HU (%]
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Securities horrowed or purchased under resale agreements and securities looned or sold inder repurchaose ogreements
In the falr value hierarchy table. these instruments are included in Assets punchosed under reverse repurchose agreements and
securities borrowed, and Obligations related o ossets sold under repurchase agreements and securities loaned. The falrvalues
af these controcts are delermined using valuation technigques such os the discounted cosh Now method using interest rate
Curves as mputs. They arne classified as Level 2 instruments in the hicrar chy as the mputs are observable.

Deposils

A majority of our deposits are meoasured ot amodtized cost but certaln deposits are designaled as FYTPL. These FYTPL doposits
In¢ ude depasits token from clients, suances of certificates of deposits and promissory notes, and interest rate and equity
linked notes. The fair values of these instruments are determined using the discounted cash flow method and derlvative oplion
valuation models. The inpuls to the valuatien models include benchmark yield curves, credit spreads, interest rates, equilty and
Interest robe volatllity, dividends and correlotion, where applicable. They are classified as Level 2 or 3 instruments in the
hierarchy, depending on the significance of the uncbservable credit spreads, volatility, dividend and correlation rates

Quantitative information about fair volue meosurements using significont unobservable inputs (Level 3 Instruments)
Thie folbowing talle presents Falr values of cur significent Level 3 financlal instruments, valuation technigues used o determine
thieis fair vahoes, ranges and welghted averages of unehsersable inpats

ek ot Ol cobei W, 3
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Sensitivity to unobservable inputs ond interrelotionships between unobservable inputs

Yield, credit spreeds/discount mergins

A financhal instrument's yield is the interest rate used to discount luture cosh Aows ina valuation medel. An increase in the yleld,
im isodation, would result in o decreose In g (oir value megsurement and vice versa. A credit spread/discount margin Is the
difference belween a debl instrument's yield and o benchmark instrument's yield. Benchmark instruments have high crodit
quality ratings, skmblar maturities and ore often government bonds. The credit spread /discount mergin therelore represents the
discount rate used to determine the present volue of lubure cosh Mows of on gsset to reflect the market return required for
uncertainty in e estimated cash flows. The credit spreadidiscount margin for an instrument forms part of the yield vsed ino
discounted cash Now method.

Funding spread
Funding spreads are credit spreods specific bo funding or deposi rates. A decrease In funding spreads, on its own, will increase
the Fair value of aur ligbilithes, end vice varsa.

Defoult rotes

Adefaull rate ks the rate at which borrowers lail te make scheduled loan nts. A decragse in the default rate will typically
Increase the fair value of the loan, and vice versa. This effect will be significantly more pronaunced for o non-govermament
guaranteed leon than a government guarantecd loan.
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Prepayment raltes

A prepayment rate is the rabe ot which o loan will be repald In edvance of its expected omortizotion schedube. Frepayments
chonpe the future cash fows of a lean, An incregse in the prepayment rate in lsolation will result inan increase in foir value when
the leegn Inferest rate is lower Uthan the current relnvestiment rele, and o decrease inthe prepayment rate In isololion will resull in
adecrease in fair value when the loaon interest rate i lower than The current reinvestiment rabe. Prepayment rales are gl:'nr.'rnll','
megalively corcelatid with inleresl rales

Recovery and loss severity rales

A recovery rote |5 onestimotion of the amaount that can be collected in a loan defoult scenario. The recavery rate is the recovened
amount divided by the loan babance due, expressed as a percentage. The inverse concept of recovery ks loss severily. Loss
severity rote is on estimation of the loan amount not collected when o leon defoults, The loss severity rate is the bess omount
divided by the loan balonce due, expressed 0% o percentage. Generally, an increase In the recovery rate of a decregse 0 the loss
sewverity rate will increase the loan fair value, ond vice versa,

Valatility rates

Volatility measures the potential variability of future prices and is often measured as the standord deviation of price movements.
Volotiity i< an input to option pricing models used o volue derivatives and lssoed stroctured notes. Volatilily s used in valulng
equity, inerest rote, commoedity ond foreign exchange options. A higher volatility rate means that the under lying price or rote
movements are more kely to occur, Higher volatility rates may increase or decrease on option's folr value depending on ihe
option's erms. The determinotion of volatility rates is dependent on variows foctors, including but not limited Lo, the underlying's
mavket price, the strike price and moturity.

Dividend yields

A dividend yield i the underlying equity’s expected dividends expressed as on onnuol percentage of its price. Dividend yicld is
used as on input for farward equity price ond option models. Higher dividend yields will decrease the forward price, and vice
versa. A liigher dividend yisld will Increose or deciease an option’s vabes, depending on the oplion's lerms.

Carrelotion rates

Correlation ts the linear relationship between the moveiments in lwo different varkobles. Correlation = an npul to the valuotion of
derivative controcts ond lssued structured notes when on instrument’s payoul ks determined by corralaled variobles, When
varlables are positively corfelated, an Increase in oni variable will result in an incredase in the other variable, When varlables are
m.-gqliwlycurn.-lntrd. an incregse in one variable will resull in o decrease inlhe clh!.-r wariable, The referenced variables can be
wilhin{:-‘.ingh- assel clast or marke! (equily, inlerest rate, commodities, credil and rnrvi_gn mhnngﬂ-] o belween varioblos in
different ossel ¢losses (equily to loreign exchange, o interest rate Lo foreign exchange]. Changes in cofrebalion will eitles
Increase or decrease o financlel instrument’s foir volue depending on the terms of the instrument.

Inlerest rotes
An interest rote is the percenfoge amount chorged on a princlpal or notlonal amount, Incregsing interest roles will decregse the
discountied cash lNow valee ol alinancial instrumaent, ond vice versa,

Consumer Price Index swap roles

A CFl swap rabé is expressed os o percentoge of an incregse In the average price of a basket of consumer goods and services,
such as transportation, food and medical care. An increase in the CP| swap rate will couse inflation swap paymenis to be barger,
and vice versa

EV/ERITDA multiples, P/E multiples, EV/Rev multiphes, ond liguidity discounts

Private nqulr!,- wrilisation i|'||'|u|!l= include FYERITRN ml;lliplp—:, P{E multiples and Fy/Rey mulllplns These are used bo calculobe
elther enlerprise value or share volue of o compony bosed on o multiple of earmings of revenue estimates, Higher mulliples
equate to higher foir valees for oll multiple types, and vice verso. & liguidily discount may bo opplied when few or no transaciions
ekl Lo support the valuathons,

Credit Enhoncement

Credit enhancement ks an ingut to the valuotion of securitized transoctions and s the amount of loan loss protection for a senior
tranche. Credit enhancement is expressoed as a percentoge of the tronsaction sizes, An incregase in credit enhancement will couse
thie credit spreod o decrease gnd the tronche fair value Lo increase, ond vice versa

Interrelotionships between unobservabie inputs

Unobaervable Inpulls, Imllng the abiove dise aunk erfJ-h. delault Fale, rln'petyrm'm rate, and recovery o loss severily roles,
may not be independent of soch olher, For example, the discount morgin can be oflecied by o change in defaull rate, prepoyment
raliy, of pecoverny and loss severily roles. Discount mmgim. '.|.'ilI_p;q.'-‘n’."rrl:|llg.I decrease when defaull rates decline or when FBECOVETY
rates increase.
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Changes in fair volue meosurement far instruments meagured on a recurring hosis and cotegorized in Level 3
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ol Gaind Giles,
at i [uokies ond ba outol ofesdef tor
|WiBiare of Conaduon dollars) i wktenr Levell  Leweld [t
AsseLs
Sedudilies
Trodi
Bebi o guarantecd by:
L5 sdoke, municipal and agencies. 5 4 5 = § = § = 5 M) § = & =:5 - § =
Astelbocked securdies
Mo COD securilies F - - - - - =
Corpoiale debd and other deibl T - - F 1 17 (&1 -
Eyuities 1874 [8E) 20 5% &7 48 - 3,366 {154}
1887 (198} 1 L1 (L] L5 (1o 2366 {154}
Irsesd el
Ml wri il liey 8 - - 1 - - - 9 ne.
Corpatale debl and obher delbl LE4] - L - i - - LE R o
Eiuities 7 - T 1 - 466 n.o.
LB i LR [ 1] = S L
Loons 1692 95} 3 1443 [RS8} 30 (376) 1859
'ml
Wl derivatiee bolonces (1)
Interest robe controcls 55 83} 5 FETS a1 26 (86 a3
Toreign exchinye conlrocls 152 1= L[] 14 44 - i1 1“ L
Olker controcls " BX a {14 18 (1593 A%a i 152
Yahsatinn odfustmenty 51 - - - i - = i} -
Oibe: ossets Ly = % e N e = G
$2.447  sq260) 5953 S 1826 S(66A) & (22) 5 157 83,634 3
Linoilities '
gt Ly (1) § 5 5 - 5 (26D] 5 23 §[134) § 214§ (38]) L]
_Other Hohiliies = = = = = = = = 3
S5y § 5 & - 5 fdeD] & 33 5{134) § 234 5 {(IH3) 5
For the yror ended Dytoler 11, 04
Coim  Coim Coimm
Paifwales  (Mieen]  (loanei Safllerion] Tromalens Tromlen Felividue  (laaes| nchided
ol begieniing inchaded it inchuded  Fuschoses. (uale] osd s ool clendel I o for
| Mo ol Comadien dolléra) i perind  ewmings mOCI[1} [meseiced)  other (3]  Linel] Ll d gediod  posien alill leld
Asseis
Troding
Uebt issued o guaronteed by:
W% stabe, mamicapal ond ogencies t B O - & 31 s = & [y §E - 4. =% i & =
dasel-bocked securties
oL M0 Securilies s - - - - - - 2 -
Cenpoinie debt aind oiher debi 1 19 : N i q & 7 .
Eajuitics 14500 4 i 1id qﬁ:; ] 13 La74 41
L 1502 " 1 ELT R 1AL 0 (21 A 4
I s manl
Martgage hocked spwilies o] & bl na
Coipolole debd and other detil 153 2 . ! , [ 151 na
Equities 134 51 " i 37 [EL] 147 na
yoi - (1] " 41 3 [EL] ain na
Lugns 1887 [1%) {17} 407 (RLLT] LLH (8] 1892 17}
Opher
Kol et hvarlibew halgnges (1)
Tnbesest pobe conliocis {835} (187} {5 17 il (01 e (eS| 18]
haregn eschonge conlicts 47 103} 2] {221 k| E [T LEF] 143)
Dithes contnocts |23 165 {14] {245] ™ fans| 5E (7a5] m
valisation sdjoshments o] - - 25 {1 11 - 53 -
bt ansets - - 1 15 111 - - 15 -
2304 S (NS} B B & 527 K (NN) B 4548 (227] § 2447 5 132
Lin&liities
B its  Mp » 2 % (3) % qi2a) 3 e b [EA3) B reR 3 240) LI L]
Okt Hablllies 74 11 - - H . I =

$ SR % 1 % (1] % (136] % B4 5 (b4F] & K4E 5 (48]

{1 e omouni nchods e Boregn cunteecy tranileticn guie of ke orhing en conclidation of T g susidiorie slating ts the Level § imtnanesis, whede
eppiinaide. The wrmsliied gaim on ivesiiend seom e secogioed i 91 were S84 il Do iy eonded Gceober 11 3009 | Oclobe 31, 3003 < pobnn ol 250 milleing
eachuding the sronalolion goi of kedaes otlang en comclidetion

&) Db b orravtieation of premrmi of dicound Froogrdind n Rel Boome

5] Mt derheolives ou of Gorebed 51 700 H ewckiced devivitivs ety o S400% million lcbobesr 51 JTE - 550 mallion ) osd des ivative habdithes of 31558 milbon (Dcobes 31, D01 -
B3, W6 rillion |

nn el opplicoble

i daled Firaretial & % Bopal Bank ol Corads Ml Repait HUW L]

516/634



EDINETOOOO
OO000O0000O0O00oOdno(Ees99s)
oOoOooodn

Transfers belween fair value hierarchy levels for instroments carried ot Fair value on o recorring basis

Transfers betwean Level 1 and Level 2, and transfers inte ond out of Level 3 are assumed bo oocur at the end of the perlod. For an
asset ar o lability that transfers into Level 3 during the period, tho entire change In fair value For the peried Is excluded from the
Gains (losses) Included in earnings for positions =Ll held column of the above reconclliation, whereas for transfers oul of Level 3
l':luril'lj_; the period, the entire ch-q-ng:' in Dair value for the period i e luded in the same colurmn aof the above reconciliation.

Transfers between Level | and 2 are dependent on whether foir value |s obtained on the bosis of quoted market prices in active
markets [Level 1),

During the year ended Octiotser 31, 2023, significont tramsfers out of Leval 1to Level 2 included Trading WS federol, state,
municipal and agencies debt of $763 million, Investment US. federal, state, municipal and agencies debt of 5433 milllon and
Obligaticns related to securitles sold short of $151 million. During the yeor ended October 31, 2022, there were no significant
tramesfers out of Level 1 1o Level 2

During the year ended October 11, 2023 and October 31, 2022, there were no significont transfers out of Level 2 to Level 1,

Transfers betwesn Level 2 and Level 3 are prismarily due [o either o change in the market abserability for an Inpul, or a chonge In
an unebservoble input's significance o a linancial instrument’s fair value.

Durkng the year ended October 31, 2035, significant transfers ot of Level 2 to Level 3 ingluded Other controcts and Deposits
due to changes in Uhe significance of unobservable inputs and chonges in the morkel observability of inputs. Dwing the yeor
ended October 31, 3022, significont transfers out of Level 2 (o Level 3 Included Loans and Other contracts duse 1o changes in the
market observabliity of inputs ond chonges in the significance of unobservable Inputs.

During the year ended October 31, 2023, significant transfers out of Level 3 Lo Level 2 included Gther controcts, Leons and
Dieposils due ta changes in the market ohserdability af inpuls and changes in the significance of unohservable inputs. During the
year ended Oclober 1, 2022, there were no significant translers oul of Leveld 3 lo Leve] 2

Pasitive and negative fair value movements of Level 1 finonciol ingtruments from uting reasonobly possible alternative
assumplions

A financhol instrument |s clossified os Level 3 in the falr value hlerarchy if one or more of its unobiservable inputs may
significantly affect the measurement of its fair value. In preparing the financial statements, appropriate levels for these
unobservoble Input porameters are chosen so that they are consistent with prevailing market evidence or management
judigment, Due o the unohservable nature of the prices or rates, there may be uncertainby aboul the valuation of these Level 3
Mnancial Inslrunmends,
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The following table summarizes the impacts o foir values of Level 3 financial instruments using reasanably possible
glternative assumptions. This sensitivity disclosure |s Intended to illustrate the potentiol impoct of the relotive uncertainty in the
fair value of Level 3 financlal Instruments. ln reporting the sensitivities below, we offset balances in instances where: {ij the move
In valuation factors couse an offsetting positive and negative faolr value movement, (I1) both offsetting instruments ore In Level 3,
and {Il) exposures are masoged and reported on o net bosls. With respect to overall seosiRivity, I s unlikely in procibce that all
reasenably possible alternalive assumplions would simultanecusty be realized.

R—— *" -
‘Dol 11, 3024 Dieinber §1, 7032
Pl Ly fai voius Mrgathee lar volus Pasilkew fair valus P petive Ler vedue
o Ie Hureenel s survetrtd s
i feasaaably using restanahly g reasimakly Ay Feus oAbl
Lewal 3 possitle piaiile Livel § pussille prsaibile
[ Ml ol Comuemi dulfbaisg Taii wabae aiteimitive il ivol s Tuie wiihee il Futives. uleitsihe
Securities
Trading
Dbt issued or guaranteed by:
LS. stale, municipal and
agencles ] - ] - ] = ] 4 § - % -
Asset bocked securities - - - F]
Corporate detd and ather debt - - - 7 - -
Equities 2,266 50 {43) 1874 a7 {z3}
Investment
Mortgoge-backed securities 19 4 {4) 8 4 14)
Corporate debt and ather debl 1449 11 [RL] 151 12 (1o}
Equities A A% (47) 387 I8 {3}
Loons 1.859 i3 (37) 1,652 0 (a2}
Derivatives 408 10 17 383 5 13)
Other assets 11 - - 15 -
5 5,189 5 158 5 [148) 5 4553 5 ldn 5 (141}
Deposils 4 (383 3 26 ‘% (2B} 5 [241) 5 9 5w
Derivatives {1.555) 59 [66) {2.004) 55 (57}
Other
oither labilities - - - - - -
% (1,918) 5 85 5 {92) 3 (2347 L] Ll 5 (G}

Sensilivily results

As gt October 31, 3023, the effects of applying other reasonably possible alternotive ossumptions to the Level 3 osset positions
wiould be an increase of 5156 million ond a reduction of 5188 million infair vahee, of which $63 million and 561 million would be
recarded in Other components of equity, respectively, The effects of applying these assumptions to the Level 3 llability pasitions
wemsld result in o decrease of $835 million and an increese of $82 million in fair value.

Lewvel 3 volualion inpuls ond approaches Lo developing reasonably possible allermalive ossumplions
The following is a summary of the unobensable inpuls used b the valuation of the Level 3 instiuments and eur approaches to
developing reasonobly possible alternative assumptions used to determinge sensitivity.

Financhal assels or
Assel-bocked securities,

Sensitlvity methodolegy

Sensitivities are determined bosed nnudju_snng_pm or minis one standard deviation, the

Oooooooa

corporale debl, ngmm-urlt

debl, municipal bands and
s =
Private equitkes, hedge fund

investments and related
equity dervatives

Interest rate derbvatives
Equity derivatives

Bank funding and deposits

Structured notes

bid-ofTer sprends or Input prices I o sulficlent number of prices are recelved, adjusting inpul
pofarmeters sich os eredil spreads e using high and low vendor prices s freasonably possible
alternative assumptions.

Sensitivity of direct private equily investments is determined by (i) odjusting the discound rate
by 2% when the discounted cash llaw method is used to delermine fair value, (i) adjusting Lhe
price multiples based on the range of multiples of comporabde companles when price-maultiples-
bargied models ore used, or (i) using on alternol ive valuation approach, The privale equity lund,
hedge fund and related equity derlvotive NAVS are provided by the fund managers, and os a

tesull, there are no other reasonabity possible allernative assumptions for these mvestments.

Sensitivities of interest rate and eross aprency swaps are derived using plus or minus one
stondard deviotion of the inputs, and an amount representing model and porameter uncertalnty,
where opplicoble. . . . - — .
Sensitivity of the Level 3 pasition ks determined by shifting the unobservable model inputs by
Plus or minus ene stondord deviation of the pricing service market dota inchading volatility,
dividends or correlotions, as opplicable.
Sensitivities of deposits are caloulated by shifting the Funding curve by plus or minus certain
bosis painls.

Sensitivities for interest-rate-linked and equity-linked structured neles are derived by adjusting
inpuls by plus of minus ene standard deviotion, ond lor other deposits, by estimating a
reasanable move In the funding curve by plus or minus cortaln basis points,
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Foir value for financial instruments thot are corried at amortized cost and clossified using the fair value hierorchy

Aa af October 19, Pel

_ Folrvalve may not approximale corrylng value

Fair value — _ -
approximotes _ FOir volue meosurements using. Talal
[Py ol Coricn dotiars) carrying value i} Level 1 Level 2 Levell Total fair value
Interest-bearing deposils with banks % 10,230 $ - % - & - 4 - ] 10,230
Amaortized cost securities i) - 14 83,613 - 1,667 81,667
Assels purchosed under reverse
repurchase agrecments ond
sacurities bormowed 39,518 - 14,794 - 14,704 54,312
Loans
Retall 70,606 - 466,962 4912 471,874 542,480
Whalesale 8,231 - 254,342 6,270 260612 168,843
TH.EIT - 721,304 11,182 EEFRLL B11.323
Other assets 67,400 - 914 223 1,137 68537
195,995 34 520, 645 11,405 832,084 1,028,079
Deposits
Personal 151,779 - 159,665 438 160,107 411886
Business and government 385,727 - 218,761 772 219,533 605,260
Bark 16,902, = 16251 20 7 @ 16258 33,160
655 408 - 394,681 1.217 195,898 1,051,306
Obdigations related Lo ossels sald
under repurchase agresments and
securities loaned 36,559 - - - - 36,559
Other lkahilities 76,982 = 1,856 13.564 15410 92,402
Subordinated debentures = = 11,213 = L 5 T— P b

S768949 5 - 5 407,750 514,781  $422,531  $1,191,480

i ok Dtk 11, 020

Fair wolue moy nod approximate comylng volue

Falr value
approximates Faoir value measurements using Total
(MG of Ecradesn dillars | corrying value i) Levell Lovel 2 Lowve| 3 Total fair vahse
Interest-bearing deposits with banks £ 213543 s 5 5 5 5 23.5413
Amaortized cost securities oy = = o7l = 70073 70073
Assats purchosed under reverse
fEpurchose ugrrl:rm:'rlh- g
securitles Bormowed a2 224 - 1956 - 10,958 53180
Loans
Retail T 62 = A4k RG 4 487 451 26k RI1 428
Whalesabe 17541 - 210,850 4,553 2354871 151816
B8.105 - 67 7.689 9,450 687,139 775.244
Other assels T2198 - TG 170 HE& 73084
226,070 - TEU4 4 o620 769,054 o5 124
Deposils
Personal 271414 - B, 549 433 105,982 AH0 I
Business and governmaent 406045 - 108,265 ToX 199,057 605,102
Bank 21638 - 14,120 14,120 6,758
700097 - 10934 1,225 331159 1.022.256
Otdigaticns related to ossels sold
unfer fepur hose agreements and
sacurities loaned 25113 - - - - 25,112
Other lobllities TTED - 1.554 10,805 12359 90160
Subordinated debentures oa08 B0 94663 668
5 BOIOID % = % 332.0%6 5 12000 5 3441846 5 1 147.19%

I Certoin fleanchl Imcnaments have nol been 0ssipred e a level o3 the comying omount approsimatey. el (0w volses
121 nchided in Securitien - wesbment nel of appbosbie ofowonoe on the Conciitabed Balanoe Sheels

Falr values of financial assets and liabilities corried at amortired cost and disclosed in the table above are determined using the
fallowing valuetion technigues and npuls.

i eyl Bark o Corada: Aaronl Reper] 2853 Eoralidated Finnsclal Sintemenis
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Amariired cosl securilies

Fair values of government bends, corporote bonds, and ABS are based on quoted peloes. Fair velues of cestaln Non-DECD
governmant bands are bosed on vendar prices or the discounted cash flow method with yield curves of other countries’
povernment bonds os inputs. For ARS, where market prices ore not avallable, the loir volse is determined using the discounted
cash flow method, The Inputs to the valuation model generally include market interest rotes, spreods ond yields derlved from
comparable securities, prepayment, and LGD,

Assels purchosed uvnder reverse repurchose ogreements and securifies borrowed, and Gbligotions reloted (o ossels sold
under repurchose ogreements and securities loaned

Vabuation methods used for the long-tesm instruments gre described in the Fair value of ossets and labilities megsured ona
recurring basis and clossified using the fair value hierarchy section of this note. The carrying values of shorl-lerm instrements
generally approximate their falr values.

Lowrns - Retail

Retail lans inchede residential mortgopes. personal and small business loans ond credit cords, For residentiol mortgoges, and
personal and small business loans, we segregate the portfafio based on certain atbributes such os product bype. contractual
interest rate, term Lo maturity and credit scores, il applicable, Fair volues of these loans are determined by the discounted cosh
flov method using applicable inputs such o prevailing interest rates, contractual ond posted client rates, client discounts, credil
spregds, prepoyment rates and loan-to-value (LTV) ratios. Fair values of credit cord receivables are olso colouloled bosed an
discounted cash flow method with portfolie ylelds, write-offs and monthly poyment rales as inputs. The carrying values of shart-
term ond variable rate loans generally approximaote thelr fair values.

Lowans - Wholesale

Whiere market prices ore ovollable, wholesale Inans are valued bosed on morket prices. Otherwise, fair value s determined by
the discoumed cash flow method using the fallowing inputs: market interest rabes and market based spregds of gssets with
similar credit rotings ond terms bo maturity, LGD, expecied defoult frequency implied from crodit defoult swop prices, if ovoilable,
and relévant pricing infarmalion such o8 contractual rale, origination and malurity dates, redemption price, coupan payment
frequency and dale convention,

Deposits

Deposits are comprised of demand, notkce, and term deposits which include senlor deposit notes we have Issued lo provide us
with leng-term funding. Fair values of term deposits are determined by one of several valuation techniques: {1} for term deposits
and similar Instruments, we segregate the portfollo based on term to moturity, Fair valyes of these instruments are detenmined
by the discounted cosh flow method using inputs such as client rates for new sales of the corresponding Lermes; and (i) for senior
deposil notes. we use actual traded prices, vendor prices or the diseaunted cosh Mlow melhod using a markel inlerest role curve
ang ol rumlhlﬂ:phﬂjdslﬁ s, The curiying vilues ol demond, nolice, sivl shodl-Lerm leem l]up!nll.'. Eullg!rulhﬂ upplmihu!e
thelr falr values,

Orher assets and Other Robllities

Other assets ond Other lobilities include receivables and poyables reloting te certain commaeditics, Falr wolues of the commaodity
receivables and payables are coloulated by the discounted cosh How method using applicable inputs such as market interest
rates, counlerparties’ credd spreads, our funding spreads, commodily Forwand prices ond spot prices.

Subardinaled debentures
Fair values of Subordinated debentures are bosed on market prices, dealer quotes or vendor prices when avalloble. Where prices

connal be observed, fair value i determined using the discounted cash flow method, with epplicable inpuls such os market
Interest rates and credit spreads.

Eraalidaied Firone el SHalemenily oyl Bamsk of Doniada: Aoni Bepedd 1021 4]
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Carrying value of securities
Aol O lebei 31, 20270
Term bo maturily 1

‘With no
Within  3months Tyearbo 5 yearsio Over  specilic
[MMiens of enadin doflars) imonths ol yeor 5 years Wyears 10 years  maturity Total
Trading iz
Debt issued or guaranteed by:
Canadian government 5 9867 517,244 5 B68Y 5 2912 5 8915 § - & 45,645
.5, federal, state, munkcipal and
agencies 15,507 8,136 15.864 4,375 8806 - 51,688
Other QECD governmien L1110 1,117 B15 1.040 1,094 - 4,632
Mortgage bocked securities - - - - 2 - 2
Asset-bocked securities 452 151 234 07 101 - 1,245
Corporate debt and other debit
Bankers” gcceplances 143 - - - - - 143
Other 1.207 2,219 6.681 3,656 - 21,471
Equities 63,324 63,324

27,742 28867 32281 12310 63334 190,151

Foir value through other
comprehensive income |2
Dbl fesoedd o gunrqnlﬂl:l 1YY

Canadian government

Federal
Amortized cost 2,479 1,247 1,726 G40 517 - 6,609
Fair volue 2479 1,242 1.707 515 AL - 6,259
Yield 1) 4.5% 3.1% 1.6% 1.2% JA% - J.A%
Provincial and municipal
Amodtized cosk 469 & 1.159 52 1,708 - 31,396
Fair valug 469 & 1.158 52 1,061 - 2,748
Yield (1) 4.9% 3. 7% 1.8% 4.5% 4.4% - 3.8%
W5, federal, state, munkcipal and
ﬂgl‘ﬁr:l"h
Amortized cost 846 8,595 33,044 16,355 16,486 . 75,316
Fair value fi56 4,572 33.050 16,193 14,614 - 73,295
Yield (4 T 4% L% 1.7% 4.0% 3.6% - 3.1%
Other OFCD governmienl
Amortheed cost 160 1,009 5.030 1 - - 6,200
Fair value 160 1.00% 5022 1 - - 5,192
Yield (1) B.3% 4,0% 3.0% 4.6% - - 3.9%
Mortgape-bocked securities
Amortized cost - - 32 28 2,702 - 1,762
Fair value - = 3 25 2,645 = 2,701
Yield (1) - - 7.5% 6.7% (8.5 1 - 6.8%
Assel-bocked securities
Amortized cost - - 16 7.542 1,194 - 8,752
Fair volue - - 17 7.503 1,186 - 8,706
Yield (1) - - 6.4% 6,95 7.0% - 6.5%
Corporote debt and ather debit
Amodtired cost 4,928 1,759 18.794 2,248 a1 - 17,774
Fair volue 4,918 1,755 18.761 1,243 EL - 17,711
Yield 1.9% 4.1% 3.9% 5.4% 4,7% - 4.1%
Equities
LCost 493 493
Falr volug i) R o R B42 842
Amortized cost 8,482 12,618 59.805 26,866 11,648 493 131,312
Fair value 8,492 12,586 59.746 26,532 19,568 g41 116,466
Amortized cost 2
Debt issued or guaranteed by:
Canadian government 997 1,931 17448 6468 - - 26,844
Yield () 1.8% 1.0% L1% 2.0% - - 1.1%
US, federol, state, munic ipal and
agencies 414 1,427 14.536 5,156 13,015 - 44,568
Yield (4 5.0% 4, 1% 3.3% 2.9% 2.5% - 2.9%
Other OECD governmienl 315 713 4.362 bb - - 5516
Yield (4 2.0% 0.8% 2.59% 1.1% - - 2.5%
Azsel-bocked securities - - 424 - 1 - 425
Theld () = = 4.9% = 1.4% - 4.9%
Corprorate debt and other debt 838 1,443 11.256 190 i3 - 13,750
Yield (1) 2.3% 2.9% _3A4% 3.0%  5.6% = 3.3%
Amortlied cost, nel of allowance 2,634 5,524 48026 11 880 33,049 - 91,113
Fair value 2,627 5447 46,258 10,276 19,059 - 83,667
Totol carrying value of securilies 539,268 546977 5 140053 5 50,712 568,544 S6d.066 5409730
(L] Rayil Bark ol Canada Andisl Fepsil 1033 Coninlidalnd Financial Sobeoenls
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et Delober 51, 1072

Terrm b maburily ()
‘With no
Within 3 months  Tyearkto 5 years o Ower specific
|Miliorn ol Conadsen dollars Imaonths  tolyear 5 years years  10years moturlty Tatal
Trading i2)
Dbt issued of guoranteed by:
Canadlan government % 2255 5 14,181 5§ 6,907 5 2706 5 6011 5 - § 32060
WS, federal, state, munickzal and
agenchies 751 10,107 7.043 4,507 2,020 - IsM28
DthHDEEDWﬂhMi 1,343 213 Gl 241 2,354 4777
Mortgage bocked securities - - - - 2 - 2
Asset-bocked securities Fr 49 BT o7 208 - (EEA ]
Corporate debt and other debi
Bankers acceplances 151 3 = - = - 255
Other i 1055 1,837 4,813 3,037 8172 - 20,814
Eyuilies : . 521,059 31059
: . o 14,835 26410 10,436 10,698 24767 52050 148 205
Foir value through other comprehensive
income (2
Dbt issued or guaranteced by:
Coanadian government
Federal
Amontized cost TR 1010 1024 745 522 - 40081
Fair value 78 1,008 1,011 B35 147 - 1781
Yield :ql 1.1% 1.3% 2.8% 1.6% 1% - 24%
Provinciol and munbcipol
Amortized cost 237 213 1] 5b 1.561 2685
Fair volue 17 216 Gl 56 999 i 2,124
ield (4 L0% L% 2.0% 18% 4.1% 0%
U5, federol, state, munkcipel ond
agencies
Amadtized cost Hi2 2413 13,586 9, 1 19929 46034
Fair value B2 2415 13,554 L 18,926 44358
Yield 1) 4,5% 4% 1.65% 14% 3.0% 2.65%
Other CECD governmisnt
Amartized cost 1,105 b2 1,406 I - - 5,154
Fair volue 11035 642 3,396 I = - 5044
Field ) 1.4% 1.4% 1.7% 4.4% - - 1LE%
Mortgage-bocked securities
Amodtized cost - - - 41 2,944 - 1985
Fair valus - 7 2,851 - BB
Yield ra) - - - #.5% 4 T% - 4.7%
Asset-bocked securities
Amuoatfeed cost - - B 6331 1911 - B.288
Fair value - A6 6,172 1,830 - LR
ield (4) - - 4.6% 53% a4 - 11%
Corporate debt and ather debt
Amaortized cost 5912 4,793 12,420 2, bl 51 - 25852
Fair value 5419 4,792 12,307 1656 4h - 25,720
Yield 4 1.1% 18% 2.46% EN L 5.1% . 1.5%
Equities
Cost 551 551
Fair volue g5 Hid [ e ]
Amortized cost B.846 9.273 31,098 18,544 26918 551 45,630
_Foirvalue H.841 5,274 30,5931 18618 24,3199 B prk
Amortized cost (2
Debt issued or guaranteed by:
Camadian government 929 1,734 6,655 6, 101 - - 254149
Tield 14% i18% 2.0% 11% - 1.1%
U5, federal, state, municigal and
agEncies 161 TEA 1,885 3. 7R 25,518 - 14,132
Yield j#) &4 1.0% 1.7% 3% 4% - L.1%
Other OECD governmient 235 1,574 1,645 4 - - 5518
Yield ju 1.1% 1.3% 1.9% 1.3% - - L.7%
Asel-bocked securities - - 571 135 i . FRll
43 - - 0% 15% 1.5% - 1.01%
G rate debt and other debt 574 2,434 1,574 T4 24 - 11,347
 Yield 14 5% 1.7% 26% 24% 4.59% 2.0%
Amortized cost. net of allowance 8. b.5i6 12,332 10825 25,545 B 17127
Fair valug__ L1899 A5 3053 9433 29w - 70873
Towli:n.rrrlng value of securities 5 25575 S 42210 5 BLEDO S 40,041 5 74T & S2EE7 &5 31B223

11 et rvastis i ity ilTer fromm ook uebe! ot Mies shown olsse on beriowers oy lave U fight be cabend o prepy eleliguloas with o wioul penalties.
2] Tresding seowRies osd FPYOL) secunibes ore reconded of fow velue. Amoriined ool seoer@ies. inciuded in Invesimenl securilies, ore recerded i omortiesd cosl ond

prevenied net of allosonee for ot s

13 Frimarily comgoaed of copomibe dele, supro-nationol etk and commerciol paper.
4] Theweighted sverage yiekd i derived usng e coairoch! inferest role ond the comying wolue of the esd of the yeor doribe respeciie seourbes.
15 Cerioimequity secertlies thoi ore nod held lor troding aposes ore desiproted gy Fe0O1

E sl khefied Finone ol 5ol nferfils
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Unrealized goins and losses on securibies of FYOCE ) )

At
D loker 1L, 3033 Dcaber 1. 042
Cost/ Gross Gross Coslf Gross Cross
Amartized unrealized woreolized Amoitized unrealived unredlined Fair
(M ol Ceradian dolisra) cost gains losses  Foir volue cosl gains loszas value
Dbl issued or guaranteed by:
Conadian government
Fesiberul % 6,600 % [ (351] & 6259 4 4081 % 1 % (301) & A7=)
Provincial and municipal 3396 2 [650) 2748 1,685 1] (567) 2,124
.5, federal, state. municipal and
agencies 75326 343 (2.374) 73,195 46,034 343 (2,019) 44358
(ther OECD government &, 200 1 [9} Hh a7 5154 7 {17 5144
Mo tproge-bocked securitlies 2,762 = {&1) 2,7 2985 1 [EES] 2888
Asvet-bocked securities
Co 5308 3 [46) 8.265 I.741 3 [220] 1.524
Nan-CO0 securities Ad4 2 (%) 441 547 - {23 24
Corparate debt and other debi 27,774 44 (95} 17,723 25,852 51 (§B3] 257D
Exquiities 493 357 (8] B42 351 284 7] Ara

S131312 § 753 § (3.599)5 128466 5 05630 5 606 5 (3435) 5 9289

i Eschader 4% 000 mitkon of Aaid o cofact seciilion ga of Ocbober 18 001 Ehad e corned of amnaaiired ceak, nel ol silpwange for rradil leawr, [Ostokar 15, MHi12
AITIT il

A G uniecllyed ';..-uu.l:ndluunul:lu:lr\ 81 rndllios of alomaner Dne ¢red] dgee on debid securilies o IVOC) ga e Octelaer 11, 2650 j02iaker 11, JO32 - 1M} milkan}
Frengnited s income ord Giker : crpansst ol equity

Allowance for eredil losses on investment securities

The folkowing tables reconcile the opening and closing allowance tor debt securities ot FYOC! ond omortized cost by stage.

Reconciling items Inc lude the following:

+  Tronshers between stages. which are presumed lo occur before any comresponding remeasurement of the allowance,

+  Purchases. which rellect the ollowonce related o assels newly recognized during the period, inchuding those ossets thot
were derecognized following a modification of terms

+  Sales and maturities, which reflect the allowance relaled to assels derecognited during the period without a credil kss
being Incurred, including those assets that were derecognized following a modification of lerins.

»  Changes in risk, parameters and exposures, which comprise the impact of changes in model inputs of assumptions, including
changes in forward-keoking macroeconomic conditions: partial repayments: changes in the megsurement following a
transfer between stages: and unwinding of the time value discount due to the possage of time.

Allowance for credit losses - securities of FVOCH )
For e yrar seded

Cciobed 11, 3013 Ot iy ¥1 .:I":l:!
Periniming . i Periming bRpi e

| M iR ol ©erdio dulkiri) Sage | Muge I Sage 3|2 Tetal wage | Shage 1 Sioge 3{1] Tedal
Bolance at beginning of period § is 1% (23} % (e s 2% 1 5 {12 % (RU]
Prosdsien fiar cradit lasses

Transfers to stoge 1 I i - - [ i - -

Transfers 1o stioge 2 - - = = .

Transfers bo stage 3 - - - - - - - -

Purchoses 7 - - T 3 3

Sales and maturities {2) - - {2) {1] - - [R1]

Changes in ilsk, porometers and

CRpOSUTES {5) - [Ty (22) {2] 1 {1a) [1np

Exthongs rate and athar - - 3 3 - - i1 {1}
Balance ot end of period $ 4 5 = (37) % {33) & 3 5 1 & {23] & 1k

1N Espeected credhl boeses on debd secuntiss ol FYOC) ere nol seporol oy recegnived on Be Consolioled Bolonce Sheets on the refoded weoprifies ore recondsd of lok wolse
The curmsdnlive nmognd of credit lostes recogniped in incrme j e ewented in Diter components of sguily
(i} Rellects charmges in 1he alleagnee o paeshoyed credll imgednes] secwriies

5 Herped Btk o € osat: Aseual Repes] 2023 Eorslidated Fiansciol Satenemis
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Allowance for credil losses - securilies ol amortized cost

At H TN Duloher B 200
Peifomming Impoied Periimng Impoired

|Miliom of Conatkan doliars) “Slage | Sioged Slage ¥ Tatsl Stage | Sogel  Sleged Tonnl
Bolance at beginning of period 5 B 5 14 5 - & 1 s 5 5 | F. SO 1 - 5§ 1
Provisien for credil losses

Tronslers lo stoge 1 - - - - - - - -

Iransfers io stage 2 - - = = z = = .

Tronsfers o sloge 3 - - - - = = = -

Puichases L] - - 10 11 - - 8]

Sales amd maturities (R} - = (1) {14 = = {1

Changes in risk, porometers gnd

BAPOSLIES 1% - - 9 (7 16} - 13

Evchonge rate and other ™ 1 = o____ - 4 = 4
Balance at end of period L) ] 15 5 - § 3 5 4 5 14 5 = % 44

Credil risk exposure by internal risk rating

The following toble presents the foirvalue of debt securities ot FWOC) and gross corrying amount of securithes ot omortized cost.
Risk ratings are based on internal rotings used In the measurement of expected credil losses_ as at the reporting date. os autlined
Im i internal rotings maps inthe Credit risk section of Monogements Discussion and Analysis,

#aal
Uciaber 31, 3033 . Chobe 30 2002
P of Lieailih gt} Soge) - wagEr  dged i) Tetal Magel wMaged  sogedin b
Investment securilies
Securities al FwoCl
Investment grade 5 126,732 % 1 % - 8126733 S 91177 %5 5h s - 5§21
Nan-investment grode T4l - - T41 R - - HED
Impaired = - 149 148 - - 150 150
137,474 1 149 127,624 D857 56 150 52063
IEevrs mol sufiject to impairment (3 B432 Hig
5 128,466 g D2a91
Secarities ot omortized cost
Investment grode % 80947 % . | -~ % B9O4T % 76035 & - £ - & Te035
Nan-investment grode 990 199 - 1,189 Eo8 Na - 114
_impaired = g g = e - .
50,937 194 = 91,136 769313 e - TI14%
Alowance for credit osses 8 15 - 23 ] 4 23

5 90529 5 1B4 & = 5 91113 5 76825 520 5 - A

(1 Refieots 510 i Ton of pUICHIMED CIEOI | IOIRE SECUEINE OCDDEr 31, S0 - 5150 millien)
(3] Mverarsent securihes ot FYOCH rot S ubeect |0 MMpoment Feprelent quity shoaite designated o Vel

E lickistircd Fimaneicll Sal i Byl ok of Cosofa: dnrmail Beperl 2000 L1
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Loans by geagraphy and portfalio net of allowance

Ao et Dcluber 31, 2620

United Other Alawance for Tatal nel
|Pilion of Eosadn doflar) Canada States  Internotional Totel loonlosses iy of allowonce
K0l 2

Residential martgapes % 397,605 § 33683 4 313 £ 434,500 $ (481} § 434,020
Fersanal 79,705 15,751 3178 94,734 [1.145) 97,589
Credll cords (3 22,040 624 P i 23,035 {1013} 22,022
Saeall hasiness (45 13,681 - - 15,681 { 1R} 13,500
Wholesale (. (5 121,761 119,067 46,997 287,826 [2.185) 185,641
Total leans 5 634893 5 169125 5 53,759 5 HSL.VVT 5 [SAMM) 5 HSLTT3
Undrawn loan commitments - Retoil 177,863 5,054 3,173 286,000 {152)
Undrawn loan commitments - Wholesale 118,967 147,881 84,633 461.481 {136)
A ul Tusokary 11 .'I-'-i'.'

United Other Albgwance for Tatal net
Mg ol Comadeen doilarsg Canada Clotes  Infermolicnal Totel loonblosses iy of ollowance
Retail {2

Kiesidential mortgdges £ AEaTur % 31054 % L0431 & amEduy 5 (452} A8 364

Persanal 422 14 HEE 1,399 07,09 {I’IRE[ Q6,853

Credil cords (5 19,778 558 241 20537 {BE9) 19.72E

Smaall business (45 12,569 - 12,669 (181} 12488
Whalesale pp (4 108 916 114,795 256 71,967 | L435) 173,513
Total legns 5 04582 5 162,087 % 56419 § HIATIE 5 [3,783) &  H19.965
Undrawn loan commitments - Retail 258,115 4,630 2212 164,857 {243}
Undrawn loan cammilments - Wholesale 11898 235113 21,194 415 135 {135}
1) g kedes allowirrne lor koo esoomored 68 FVOCHof 58 millon (OqEoleer S 2022 - 4 millice)
18] Cesgiaphe inormatien B baked on cetidente ol bhe barmmeer
18] Thie comdil € oS Basinss s menaged o o dagle porrd o snd indhistes bels £ ofiammer sl DS ieess i
4] rchides una¥ Dainess expotare manoged ono pooked basts
15] ey amol Business espese e Managed onon indviduol client basis
Loans moturity and rote sensitivity

B e s
_ Maturily besm 1) Rile sensitivity
Under Tto5  Owers Fived Monorobe-
[Mion af Ceradion duoliars) _yearp)  yeors  years  Totsl  Flooting  Role seasilive Total
Ketail $ 176,710 5 MU0 5 #4021 F 5699501 % 1B3604 % 3TVELI6 B T4MT % 569.9%1
‘Whalescle 236,126 319,353 12,342 187,826 53,655 232,024 2,147 287 826
Tolal ledis % 312846 5 IBES6A S5 56,363 3 85V.VTT § 1AT.25% % GOD.6BO 3 9838 SA5ST.YVY
Altpwonce far leon loswes |5 004§ {5,004
Tobal ledrs et af allewence fer loan losses 4 852,773 £ B52,773
Ad et Dol 11, 3003
Mhabusily berm i Reke sefiilivily
Lnder 1 1o & Ohven § Fined  Nodedale-

[Milion ol Ceralen dolisr ) WO L) Years YEars Total Floating Rate  sensitlve Tabe
e bail & ITTMR} OB OJIETOI § ASERE 5 540750 5 VHDAN4 5§ MTO0ET % BI50 & 549751
Whalescle Ja6E03 I5ER 11352 273,947 46,650 225,113 PR L 273867
Total lears S BO4005 5 JAREOL & ST0ME 5 RXATIR 5 46004 5 SETZ00 5 10434 5 £21T7iR
Altowanee fat loan losses (1.757) (3.753)
Tolal lsors el ol allvsance fo loon losses 5 E19008 S 19908

i Censrally, bosed omihe sefen of ontrocie repricing o maha ity dais.

(H]

7% eyl Bark o Corada: Aaronl Reper] 2853

b by wonsalile oie Booes Dot con e repsoed ol ile ey diecr et wii Bowt peeraliy

Eormdlidotrd Frnscial Stenetils
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D-l:mbrril ey -
Bebanceat  Proxlslon Euchifge  Balwce [ T—— Esthange  Exaece
t?mb' Far credit Hel vt and otesl  Eepnnig lor ceedst sl il and o &l
[Miions of Ceoadean dollin [] losses wiiteoffs 1) othar  afperied  ofpeviod  bosses erte-olls () sttwr o perind
Relail
Residential mortgoges s 431 % 74 gB)s 481 5 4w 5 ¥ s |24] 5 13 % 432
Fersanal 1,043 593 ﬂ-ll- -l 'I,.tll. 1,079 2 LM ) ] 1,043
Credil cords B93 Gk 1,069 /75 Jad 132} b £93
Small business 154 43 :39-;. m 194 117 i {23} ¥ Jind
Wholesole 1,574 1145 (293) (woD) 2336 1797 {o {134) 1 1574
Customers’ lobility under
gCCeplances 45 5 - = 50 75 [30] - - 45
5 4,081 5 2496 3 [1,213)% [(116) % 5348 5 4415 5 4097 8 (76315 28§ 4181

Presented as|
Allowance for loan losses
ther Lobdlities - Provisions
Cusbormers’ Rability urder
oo ances
Other companents of equily

5 3,753
178

45
5

i Looss written-oll sre genenally subiec lo coatinued coBection ellods for o perd of iimes following siibe-ofl. The conbioctes! amaunl ouiabond g on koo wilbesoll
dgrmng the veor ended doiober Y1, 1Y thoi ore nd oager subsect bo enforcermenst octivity wos SE¥ milbon [Dciober ¥, T - S55 milion ).

The following toble reconciles the opening and closing allowance for each major product of leens ond commitments as
determined by our modelled, scenario-wisighted allowance and the application of expert credit judgment os applicable,
Re:an:]rmgitem inelude the fallowing:

Mode! changes, which generolly comprise the impoct of significant changes to the quontifative models used fo estimaote

expected credil losses and any staging impocts that may arise.
+  Tronsfers between stages, which are presumed to oocur before any commespanding remeasurements of the allowance.
«  Originations, which raflect the allmwance reloted to assets newly recognized during the period. including those assets that

were derecognized following o modification of tenms.

+  Maturities, which refloct the ollowance related to assets derecognized during the period without a credit koss being incurred,
Including those assels that were derecogmized following o modification of Lerms,

= Changes in risk, parameters and exposures, which comprise the impact of changes in model inpuls of assumptions, including

changes in forward-looking macroecenomic conditions: partiol repoyments and odditional draws on existing faciiities;
changes in the measurement foflowing o tronsfer bebween stoges: and unwinding of the time value discount due to the
possage of time in Stoge | ond Staoge 2.
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Allowance for credil Insses - Retail ond whalesale loans
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Ky inputs and assumplions
The measurement of expeclied coedit bosses is o complex calculotion that involves a significant number of intemeloted inputs and
assumptions and the allowance |s not sensitive to any one single foctor. The key drivers af changes in expected credil losses
Inchude the following:

+ Changes In the credit quality of the borrower or Instrument, primarily reflected in changes in Internol risk ratings;,

+ Changes in lorwerd leoking mocroeconomic condilions, specifically the mocrosconamic variables toewhich our models are

calibrated, which are those most chosely correloted with credit losses in the relevant portfolio:
+ Chonges in scenario design and the welght assigned 1o eoch scenario: and
« Tronsfers belween stages which con be triggered by changes Lo any of the obove inputs

To reflect relevant risk factors not caplured in our modelled resulls, we applied expert cradit judgment in determining the
measurement of our welighted ollowance for credit losses. The measurement of expected credit losses, Including scenorio design
and welghtings, determining significant Increases in credit risk since originotion and opplicetion of expert oredit judgment, is
averseen by o senior management committes that includes representation from Finance, Group Risk Managemant and
Ecomnnmics.

Internal risk ratings

Internal risk ralings are essigned sccording ta the risk monogement fromework oullined under the headings Wholesale credit risk
and Retail credit risk of the Ceedit risk section of Management's Discussion and Analysis. Changes in iternal risk ratings are
primarity refllected in the PD paremeters, which are estimated based on our historical loss experience at the relevant risk
segment of risk rating level, odjusted for forward-looking information.

Scenaria design and 75

Our estimintiesn of expected credil losses in Stoge L ond Stoge ? considers five distinet future mocroeconomic scenorios
Scenarios are designed to caplure o wide range of possibie outcomes and are weighted occording bo our expectation of the
relotive likelihood of the ronge of sulcomes that each scenario represents ot the reporting dole, We weight cach scenorio Lo toke
Inta accaunt histarionl Frequ-:nw.current trends, and [mﬂfd-lﬂﬂlﬁg{ﬂldﬂiﬂﬂs which will change over Lime, Scenario
weightings take into consideration the extent to which the bose cose scenario includes both favoureble and unfavourable
econombc expectotions, and upside and downside risks to the base scenarlo moteriolizing in the future. The base cose scenarko |s
bosed on forecasts of the expected rate, vaive or yleld for each relevant macroeconomic varioble. The upside and downside
scenarkes are sel by adjusting our base projections to construct reasonobly possible scenarlos and weightings that are more
oplimistic and pessimistic, respectively, than the bose cose. Two additional downside scenarios capbure the non-linear nature ot
potentiol credit losses aoross our portiolios, When the econemy |s ol or near eguilibrium. ihe severity of the downside scenario
generally rellects on adverse event typical for o business cycle and bath the non-linear downside scenarios refloct an outcome
That s materially more adverse than the downside soenario,

The impact of each of ouf live scenarios varies across our portlalios ghven e portfolios have dilferent sensitivities ta
movements in each mocreeconomic variobbe. Qur scenarlo weights are unchanged refotive lo October 31, 2022 Lo reflecl
continued uncertainty and downside risks that may drive recession outcomes that are more severe than contemplated in our
base scenario.

The impact of welghting these multiple scenarios Increased our ACL on performing koans, relative o our base scenario, by
5868 million at October 31, 2023 [October 31, 2022 = 5733 million )

Farward looking macroeconomic variables

The PD, LGD and EAD inpuls used to estimate Stoge 1 and Stage 2 credit loss allowances are modelled based on (he
macreeconomic variobles (or changes in macroeconamic voriables) that are most closely correlated with credit losses inthe
relevant partfolio. Eoch macroeconomic scenarbo wsed In oar expected credit boss colculation includes a projection of all
relevant mocreeconomic varlables used in our models for a five yeor horlzen, reverting o long run averoges generally within the
2 ta § year perind, Depending on thelr wsage in the models, mocroeconomic variobles are projected ot o counlry, province/state
of more gronular level, These Include one or more of Lhe vorlables described below, which diifer by portlolio and reglon,

Our allewance lor credit losses reflects our economic oul look os at ctaber 31 2033, Subsequent changes to This forecast and
velpled estimoles will be reflecled in o allowance for credil losses in Mulure periods,

Our bose seenario reflects rising unemployment rates, high central bank policy imnterest rotes and elevated but declining
Inflatien, which re<ult in mild recessions in Canoda in the secomd holf of colendar 3023 and the LS. in the liest hall of calendor
2024, Expectations are Lhal there will be no further increases in central bank interest rates in Coneda and the U_S. Our bose
scendarko also reflects commercial real estate price declines in the near term,

Downslde scemarios, including two additional and more severe downskde scenarios designed for the energy and real estate
sectors, reflect the possibility of o more severe macreeconamic shock beginaing in calendar §1 2024 relative to our base
scamarbo, I Lhese scenarios, conditions gre expected o deleriorate from calendar Q4 1021 levels fof up bo 1R months, followad by
a recovery lor Lhe remainder of the peried. These scenarbos assume monelary policy respetwses thal return ithe economy to o
I run, sustainable growth rate within the forecast period, The passibility of @ decper recession ond o more prolenged recovery
a5 compaored Lo our base scenario, including further monetary policy responses o elevated inflation robes which may increose
ciedit risk, bs reflected in our general downside scendiio.

The upside scenario reflects slightly stronger economic growth than the base scenario, without prompting o further
offsetting monetary policy response as compared b0 our base scenario, foliowed by o return to a leng-run sustainable growth
rate within the forecast period.
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The folkowing provides additbonol detall abest our calendaer quarter forecosts for certain key mocroeconsmic voriables used in
the maodels bo estimate ACL:

+  Unemployment - In our base forecasl, calendar Q4 2023 unemalayment roles are expected to rise to 5.9% in Conoda and
4,0% In the US., peaking In Q2 1024 at 6.6% in Conodao ond in Q3 2024 of 4.7% b ihe U5, then ll.'\l-e'rllng ta |c:-|:u|un
equilibrium levels by calendar Q2 and Q3 1026, respoecl ively.

Canado Unemployment Rate o) U.5, Unemployment Rate
Wy ., ¥
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«  Gross Demestic Producl {GEP) - In our base forecast. we expect Canadian GDP to continuously grow in calendar QI 2024
ond thereafter, while WS GDP growth |s expected to experfence o mild recession during the first half of colendor 2024
followead by continuous growth, GODP in calerdar Q4 2024 |5 expected bo be 1.6% and 0.5% above G4 2023 kevels in Corodo and
Lhiz LS., respectively.

Congdo Real GDP 1) .S, Real GDP
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. ﬂi{prh,e (West Texos Mnfermediale in LSS - I our buse lorecost, wis expell vl prices lo ovel oge 581 per bamel over Lhe
next 12 months from calendar Q4 2023 and $67 per barrel In the following 2 to 5 years. The range of average prices in our
olternative downside and upside scenorios ks 528 to 5103 per barrel for the next 12 months and 543 to 574 per barrel for the
lollowing 2 to 5 years. As ol Oclober 31, 2022, our bose forecast included on overage price of 588 per borrel For the next
12 manths and 572 per barrel for the following 2 to 5 years,

* Conodien housing price index - In our bose fovecast, we expect housing prices to incnease by L% ovier the neasl 12 months
lram cabendar Q4 2023, with o compound annual growth rate ol 5,0% lar the Fullnfwil'pg Tlosyears 'I'I:q.*tnngr wl gnnugl
housing price growth (contrection] in our alterngtive real estate downside and upside scenarios i (30.0)% to 10.9% over the
mext 12 manths and 4.2% o 2.6% for Lhe following 2 to 5 years. As ol October 11, 7022 owr base forecost Included housing
price contraction of [1.0)% from calendor Q4 2032 for the next 12 months and housing price growth of 5 2% For the lollowing 2
Lo 5 yedars.
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Thie primary variables driving credit losses in our retall partfollos are Conodian unemplayment rates, Canadien housing price
Indeex and Conadian GDP. The Canadian overnight interest rote also impocts our retaoil poctfolios. Sur wholesale portfolios are
affected by all of the varkables discussed above; hawever, the specific varlables differ by sector. Other variables also iImpect our
whalesale portfolios Including. but not limited to, Canadion and U 5. %0 year BRB corporate bond credit spreods, Conadian and
WS, 10 year governmend bond ylelds, WS, 10 year BBB corpovate bond yield, Conadlan consumaer confidence ndes, Conadian amd
U5, commercial real estate price indices, U5, housing price index, ond natural gas prices (Henry Hub),

Increases in the following macrosconamic variables will generolly correlote with higher expected credit losses: Canadion
and LS. unemployment rates, Canadion overnight interest rates, Canodion and U5, 10 year BBB corporate bond credit spreads,
Conodlon and US, 10 year government bond yields, ond US. 10 year BBE corporate bond yleld.

Increases in the following mocroeconosmic varkables will generally correlate with lewer expected credit losses: Canodion and
U.5. housing grice indices, Conadian and U.5. GDP, Canodien consumer confidence index. Conadian ond U 5. commercigl real
estate price indices, and oll and notural gos prices.

Transfers between stoges
Transfers between Stoge 1 and Stoge 2 are based on the ossessmeant of significant Increoses in credit risk relative bo initkl
recagnithan, os described 0 Note 2, The impact of moving from 12 months expected credit losses Lo Hletime expected credit
losses, of vice versa, varies by product and is dependent on the expected remaining life ol the date of the transler. Stoge
tramafers may resull in significant fluctuations in expected credit losses.

The following table Hlustrotes the impact of stoging on our ACL by cemparing our allowance il all performing oans were in
Stage | bo the actual ACL recorded on these assets.

Bctober 31, 1013 Bictober 31, 231

ACL-pllparforming  Impectol  Mgelondd  ACL-Alprdonmig Empactel  Slagelandd

{MBion o Cooockan dollers) bant I Hapes wagieg Mol looowinbiggel  wagng Lo
PEmei“Ehﬂl‘li-rll 5 2,892 & 1,257 5 4,150 5 2373 & 1,004 5 367

1} Repreasnes oo ond cormmimenis miboge | ond Shege §

Ceasalulabed Finoncisl R demehiy oyl Bank ol Conado Ahausi Bepail HL (4]

530/634



EDINETOOOO
OO000O0000O0O00oOdno(Ees99s)
oOoOooodn

Credit risk exposure by internal risk rating
The followkng table presents the gross corrying amount of loans measured ot omortized cost. ond the full contractual amount of
undrgwn kean commitments subject to the impairment requiremants of IFRS @, Risk rotings are based on internal ratings used In
the megsurement of expected credit losses as al the reporting date, as outlined in the internal ratings maps for Wholesale and

Retail facilities in the Credil risk section of Mq.rrﬂ.g_unmn-l'h Discussion and Angbysis.

A

: Oatisber 11',1'11:.'! Dictaber i, 3887
|MiRinny of Toralion dolkr) Stage | Stege J - Stoge 3 (1) Tetal Slage Slope ] Soge 11| Ton!
Retail
Loons oul :turlr.llng = Residential
morigaoges
Low risk S 349001 % 1630 5 = % 350,637 § MOTI6E £ 2373 % - § 343289
Medium risk 19,126 1610 - 20,736 15,015 1,932 18,9467
High risk 1,582 4917 = 6.509 1,188 31325 ] 4.3
Nat rated (1) 54,247 1,220 - 55,467 51,915 1,004 53,219
Imgpaired - - 682 682 2 - Sh0 S0
) ) o 413,956 *387 GEE 1!-1.!]_2_5_ 8 554 B934 5660 418345
Items nol subject Lo impoirment g 476 A
Taotal 5 434.501 5 418.796
Loans outstanding - Personal
L ow risi 5 75571 5 1476 5 = § FRI4B 5 F33319 5 1575 § 5 75914
Medium risk 5587 1915 - H.502 5482 1,780 - 0.262
High risk 477 1088 - 2565 Blé 1,560 - 2496
Nak rated (11 B,a872 157 - 10,139 0713 104 - LEER
Ienpaired - —— 180 !ﬂ.‘l = - .::J{I 200
Total 5 01,618 & 68356 & 280 5 9B7M 5 BN 5 E119 5 o 5 97 Fo%
Loans oubstanding - Credit cards
Low risk & 15331 % 135 % = % 16466 5 15088 £ 2 5 - £ 151N
Medium risk 1,71 1.132 = 3903 1418 1211 1319
High risk 41 1,734 = 1,775 & 1,255 = 1,294
Mak rated (1) LELS i5 - /91 751 32 783
Tatal § 18999 5 4036 5 - § 3035 5 11a% 5 3RS - 5 1057V
Loans aulstanding - Smoll business
Lo Fisk 5 HKb41 % L I - 5§ G861 5 HSM 5 g% 5 Aoy
Medium risk 1,138 936 = 3074 1512 1.130 - 2,642
High risk 59 592 = 91 2 175 ary
Mat rated {23 11 - - 11 3 1
Imngaired | e _34{ - - 138 138
Tatal 5 £ 136E1 5 1008F % 234} & 18R 5 11640
Undrawn loan commitments - Retail
Low risg 5 166,209 % G610 35 - % 166819 S MIsd0 £ 1M1 £ - % 2dEbal
Medium risk 10,7549 208 - 11,057 2021 244 0367
High risk 256 434 = 1.3%0 B1h 167 = 1.243
Mak rated (23 - Eﬁaﬁ - _I_l_ﬂ__ B - uu 5,668 118 5786
Tatal 5 84,600 5 148D 5 = § 186090 5 Jed085 5 1,072 § F 264,957
Whalesole = Loons outstanding
lavestment grode 5 HO9.037 %5 A16 5 - & 'H9483 5 HH513 £ nr £ 5 B TIE
Nan-irvestment grade 136,211 19210 - 175421 145,904 15,758 - 161,066
Mat rated i1 10,968 138 - 11,206 11,7849 a0 12,14%
Impaired - - 1498 '_1.4_95 = = 1,30 1301
1Bems nat sajhject o Impairment 1) 9. 14R IIRET
Total & JET.R26 & 273067
Undrawn lgon commitments -
Whalesile
lmvestment grode § 312178 & 18 & = & 312364 5 4Bl 5 178 % 5 284,660
Hon-imvestment grode 130,994 13,947 = 144,941 126,225 10,657 = 136882
Mat rated (1) -l_l:.l_?_i = = -_I..IIE L k] 1 1,693
Total § 447348 5 14133 8 = S 451481 S5 4149%8 5 10,837 5 § 425215
11 B ol Octoker 11, 3075 0% of Sredh- mpcared Bsani wede ptber hilly o¢ porislly colalamiteed (Doober 81, 127 - 8% Tor debady onthe hpes of collabensl beld apainit

ol ifpoi o aviati dnd our palid ek on cellaeral, el ér o tha Credil risk miligetion wedtlon of Minaperend's Dasuisie sid Anabii
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e Flid
13} mews ek subjsct o AmpEiment die i held of PP
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Leans past due bul nol impaired 5 2

Aol
Dcinber 31 1023 Btober 31, 2002
o0 days G0 days
{Misiorn of Conadian dolien _30to 89 days ondgreater  fotol 101089 days ond greater Tatal
Ristail 5 1,840 % 08 5 2048 5 1,028 5 168 & 1.4%
Wholesale 1,823 49 1,872 1,279 2 1281
5 1663 & 2575 3920 5 2.607 & 170 & 2377

i Enchedes Wy s ihan 360 ey posl S o ey one il aras oty Pepressnialive of thae bisrowe’ abikiy b msel Beir poyesenl oblgation
[£] Aty (o esenbed sy Fahuie Soais pasl due s o ievsl of odelibdigie poieeses, sulh o8 moigage oo on wlikch pariiein ooed el oined pedisg papuil Jise lo
sole of relinoncing, Post due loans rtsing Irom odminisrotive precesses are not represengotive of the bomosers’ abillly o meet their peyment mEpatons

Hole 6 Signilicant acquisitions and disp

Acquisitions

HSEC Bank Canada

On Novembeer 29, 2022, we entered into an agreement to acquire 100% of the commaon shares of HSBC Bank Canada (HSBC
Canade) for on all-cash purchase price of 5115 billion. H5BC Conado is o premier Canodian personal and commercial bank
locysed on globally connected clients, We will glso purchase all of the exisling prelerred shofes and subordinated debl of HSBC
Canado held directly or indirectly by HSBC Holdings ple ot par value {$2.1 billion as of Seplember 30, 2023},

The apreement ing ludes o locked box mechanism under which HSREC Canada™ ea miug-.!mm Juimg b, 2077 Eon e -.“lui.ing dlale
accrue to RBC and will be refllected inthe acquired net assels on closing, Relatedly, we will pay an additienal amount thaot
accrues from August 30, 2023 to the closing date, which ks caleulated based on the all-cash purchase price for the common
shares of HSBC Conoda and the Conadion Overnight Repo Role Average.

The transaction ks expected bo close In the first colendor quarter of 2024 gnd is subject bo the satisfoction of customary
clpsing conditions, including regulatory opprovals. The results of the acgquired business will be consolidated From the dole of close

Wealth Manogemend

On Sc'ptrnl.l.'-l.-r 27, 2022, we -cumpluh'r.l thir acquisition ol 100% ol the issued share l:r.lpilul-ul Browin Dnlph:in Hnldings. PLC

[(RBC Breswin Dolphin vie our subsidiory, REC Wealth Monogement (Jersey] Holdings Limitad, RBC Brewin Dolphin provides
discretlonary wealth menagement services in the UK, lreland and the Channel |slands. REC Brewin Dolphin's business ghves us a
platfarm to significantly transform our wealth monagement business in the UK., Irelond and the Chonnel Islonds, ond provides us
wilh the opporiunity Lo position lhe combined businesses as o premier inlegroted weallh inanagement provider bo private and
Institutional clients.

Totol consideration of £1.591 million {52341 million] as of the date of close consisted of £1.5648 million (52302 milllon) n cosh, os
well os amounts feloted to share bosed compensation, Our purchase price allocation assigned 53,27% million (o assets and 5938
millian ta Fabilities, ncluding customer relationsbip i|1|u|'1g_ib|‘|: gasels af 51,292 rillkon and glhudwill of 5913 million, which is allecated
o our International Wealth Management and Global Assel Manogement CGUS and is not deductible Tor tox purposes, Goodwill
feflects the expected synergies leom the combined bsinesses ond the expected growth of the Weallh Maragement segmenl.

The results of the acquisithon hove been consalidoted from the date of close and included (n owr Wealth Manogement
segment

Disposition

Wealth Management

On july 3, 2023, we completod the previously anncunced sole of the Europran assel servicing octivities of RBC Investor Services®
and ity oseoc inted Maloysion centre of excellonee bo CACFIS, the assot wnlbrlnj; hnn‘n:ing group ol Cradit A;gril: ole 5.4, and Agneo
Sontander, S.A A% a resull of the Wransaction, we fec anded g pre-tox gakn on disposal ol 569 milllon in Morelnterest income wilhin
the Wealth Monagement segment [577 million after-tax). The completion of the sole of the business of the UK. branch of RBC
Investor Services Trust and the RBC Investor Services business in [ersey remains subject to customary closing conditions,
including regulotory approvals. The disposal group consists of $2.6 billion of assets, primarity consisting of cash and due from
hanks, and $2.6 billlon of llabifities. primarily consisting of depasits. and remains chossified as held-for-sale, presented In Other
assets and Other llabilites, respectively,

[ financial a

We enter Into transactions in which we transfer financial assets such os Ioans or secwrities (o structured entities or other third
partles. The majosity of assets transferred under repurchose agreements, securities lending agreements, and | our Conadian
residentiol mortgoge securitization tronsactions do not quality for derecognition as we continue Lo be exposed o substantially
allal the risks and rewards of the transfermed ossels, such as |1:rFH'.ryr.n|-nI_rn'1‘tIr_ p-rin'. interest rote and Inrrign mrhnngr rizks

Transferred finoncial assels not derecognized

Securitiration of Canadion residentiol mortgage loamns

We perindically securitize insured Conadion residential mortgoge loans through the creation of MBS poaels under the Notional
Housing Ack MBS (NMA MBS) program. All leans securitized under the NHA MBS progrom are reguired to be insured by the
Caonadion Mortgage ond Housing Corparation ([CMHC) or a third-party insurer. We require the borrower Lo pay for mortgage
Insurance when the loan amount s greater than 80% of the originol oppraised value of the property (LTV rotio). For residential
mortgope loans securitized wnder this program with LTV ratios bess than 0%, we ore required bo insure the mortgages at our own
expense. Under the NHA MBS program, we are responsible lor making oll payments due on our issued MBS, regordiess ol whether
we callect the necetsary lunds rom Lhe m:u’lwgm or the insurer. When a bofrowee deldgulls an a moel e, we submil g clakmi Lo
the insurer (Fthe amownt recovered fram the collection o forec logure process is lower than the sum of the principal balence,
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accrued interest and collection costs on the outstanding Ioan. The insuronce clnim process is managed by the insurance provider
In accardance with the Insurer's policles and covers the entire unpabd loan Balance plus generally up to 12 moanths of interest,
selling costs and other eligible expenses. IF an insuronce claim is denled, a loss is recognired In Proviskon for cradil losses in aur
Consolidated Statements of Income, The amount recorded o a loss s not significant to our Consolidated Financial Statements
and ra 1ig|1if“u.'uﬁl losses were incurred doe tuiug\ul aclion -:.ui'|i|1g Frown mor lguw.' defaulls duriﬁg 2023 g 2022,

Wie el B NHA MBS pool€ prirmarily Lo Canadn Housing Trust, a gavernmenl-sponsared struclured entily under thie Canada
Maitpage Bond [{CMB) program, The entity periodically issues CWBs, which are guorantesd by the povernment, and sells them o
third-party mwestors. Proceeds of the CMB ssuonces are used by the entity to purchase the NHA MBS pools from eligible NHA
MES Issuers who participote in the Isswonce of o particular CMEB serles. Our continuing invoheement includes servicing the
underiying residentiol mortgage leons we have securitized, either oursebves ar through a third-party servicer, We also act as
counterparty in interest role swop agreements where we pay the entity the interest due o CMB investors and recelye the inferes!
on the underlying MBS and relnvested assels. As part of the swops, we are also required bo maintain a principal relnvestment
account for pr'lnl."||:|ul |:u:.lrm.~r|.|1. received on the undn:rlyl.l'.g mortgage |mares Lo mieed Uhie rrpn:,'m:'nl: obiligation upon maturily of
the CHMB, We reinvest the collected principal payments in permitted investiments o outhined in the swap egreements

We hove delermingd thal certain of the NHA MBS prograin leaans trandlermed Lo the entily do not qualily for destec -::-Hnllivl:-n as
we have not transfermed substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership. As o result, these tronsferred MBS continue to be
classilied as residential morigage leans and recognized on our Consolidated Bolance Sheets. The cosh recelved for these
tromsferned MBS is treated s o secured borrowing and o corresponding liobifity is recorded In Deposits - Business and
government on our Consolidated Balance Shieets.

Securities sold under repurchose egreements and securilies loaned

We also enler into ransactions such os repurchase ogreements and securities lending ogreements where we transler assets
under agreements to repirchase them ot a fulure dole and retain substantiably ol of the risks and rewaids associated with the
assels, These translerred assets remain on our Consolidoted Balonce Sheets and are occounted for as collateralized Borrowing
Lransoctions

The following table provides information on the carrying amount and falr value of the tronsherred assets that did nat qualify for
derecognition, and thekr ossecioted Hobilites,

Anat
Dclober 1, M7
Canodian Conodian Securities
residentiol sold unded residential sold under
marigage repurchase Securities martgage repurchase Securities
(il of Cerden didisrsg Noong s agreements (i |oaned (1) Tolod  |oand ju. (1) agreements (3 loaned j3) Tatal
Lormy |I'|-E ameunt of ranstenred
asseks that do not qualify for
derecognilion 5 28312 % 313,558 5 21,680 $ 363,550 5 32812 5 ISRAIS 85 15332 § 306,759
Corrylng wimount ol ossockbed
liabilities 28,007 313,558 21,680 363,245 32,177 258 615 15,232 306,124
Fairvolee of transferred ossets § 26,472 S 13558 5 20680 5 261,710 S 3174 § 258615 § 15232 5 305120
Fair volue ol essocioted
liakiliies 26,780 Ji3.558 21,680 362018 M 900 158615 15,512 b BT
Falr valie af nat pesition 4  [30E} % - % - 4% [I08] = 274 H -5 - & 274

10 inchidet Conodian reshilenliol Mo goge Moo translemed gresaily 1o Conods Houteg Trsk of the ol s scuntizalion and other permsd sweitments used lor
Funad g requbnersemy olter e indilol seoeilizodion

[#] CHEiwestors bave legal recosrse oaly b the Ironalfened ousels, ond do nel hive recouree 1o cur generol oveets

|8 Doened ncledes overcollabanslizoline of ovesin pledged

In thie normial coyrse of business, we cngage in qvqrh:'l:,'nl: fingncigl transoctions with structured entilios to suppﬁrl: oyr

linang illg anil ||:|w'=li|1g meeds as wellos those of aur clients. A structuned entily is an entily inwhich vn-!ing or sirmilor righl-.' e
rok the dominanl fockor in dhﬂ'.lding control, Structured entilies gre gerleruli'y crealed Lo achieve anarraw and wall defined
abjective with restrictions around their ongolng activities. We consolidate a structured entity when we contral the entity in
accordance with our occounting policy os described in Hote 2. In other cases, we may sponsos or have an interest In such an
entity buk may nol consolidate it

Consolidoted structured entities

We consolidate the Fnllnwing structured enlities, whose osscis and liohilitics are recorded on our Consalidated Baloncoe Shecls
Thirdparty investors in these strochured entities grnrmlry howe reconrse nrlfyl!ulhr‘ assels ol the relobed eatity and do nol hove
recorse bo our gr:'nl:rm assely unless we breach our conlractual -ubl'rgnt.nn.-\. to those entities, In the ordinary course of businiess,
the assets of sach consolidated structured entity can generally only be used Lo settle the obligations of thot enlity.

Multi-sefler condwils

‘We generally do nat makntaln ownership in the multi-seller conduits that we administer and generally do not have rights to. or
control of, thelr assets, However, we kssue ossel-bocked commerciol paper (ABCFP) through o multi-seller condult that does not
have an expected loss investor with substantive power to direct the significant eperating activities of the conduit. This conduilt ks
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consolidated becouse we have exposure to variobility of returns fram performance In the multi-seller arrangements through
providing trensaction-specific and program-wide liguidity, credit and loan focilities to the conduit and hove decision-moking
power aver the relevant activities. As of October 31, 2023, $1.316 milllon of Anancial assets held by the condult were Included in
Loans |{October 31 2023 - $1.826 million] and $1.194 million of ABCP issued by the condult was Included in Deposits

(October 31, 2022 < 51284 million ) on our Consalidaled Balonce Sheels,

Credit cord securitiration vehicle

We securltize o portlon of our credit cord recelvaliles l:hmugh astructured entity ona l"h'ﬂh'-"l‘lﬁ Basis. The enlity purchases
co-owniership interests in g pool of credit cord receivaliles and issues senlor and subordinated Lerm notes collateralized by that
cao-ownership interest in the underlying pool of credit card recelvobles. Investors who purchose the term notes hove recourse
only b Usel co-owner ship interest in Lhe ander lying pool of credil cord receivoliles.

We continue to service the credit card recelvables and perform an administrative role for the entity. We also retain risk in
the underlying pool of credit card recelvables through our retoined interest in the tronsferred assats, the cosh reserve balonce
wir fund from time to time, ond olso through certain suberdinated notes which we retain, Additionally, we maoy own some senior
notes as investmants or for market-moking activities ond we act as counberparty to interest rate and crovs currency swag
agreements which hedge the enlity's inleresl rate and currency Fisk exposune,

We consolidate the siructured entily becouse we have decision-making power over the taning and size of fulure issuances
and other relevant activities which were predetermined by us at inception. We alse obtoin significont funding benefits and are
exposad bo voriability lrom the perfarmonce of the underlying credit card receivables through our reloined interest. As at
October 31, 2023, 57 billion of notes isswed by our credit cord securitization vehicle were included in Deposits an our Consalidated
Balonce Sheets (October 30, 2022 - 56 billlon)

Collateralized commerciol poper vehicle

We estoblished a funding vahicke thal provides loans to us and linances those loans by issuing commarcial paper ba third-party
Inviestors, The structured entity's commerclal paper carrles an equivalent credit rating Lo RBC becouse we are oblipated to
advance funds to the entity in the event there are insullficient funds from other sources to setthe moluring commercial poper. We
pledge colloleral Lo secure the loans and are exposed Lo the morkel and credil risks of the pledged securities.

We consolldate the structured entity because we hove decision-making power over the relevant activities, are the sole
borrower from the structure, and ane exposed bo o majority of the residesl cwnership risks through the credit support provided.
As ot Dctober 31, 7023, 517 hilllon of commercial paper Issued by the vehicle wos inchaded In Deposits on our Consolkdobed
Balonce Sheets (October 30, 27022 - 514 billion|.

Covered bonds

We peridically transfer mortgoges o RBC Covered Bond Guoarantor Limited Porinesship (the Guarantos LP) Lo support fumding
activities ond osscl coveroge requirements under our covered bonds progrom. The Guarantor LP wos created to guarontee
interest and principal poyments under the eovered bond program. The covered bonds guaranteed by the Guarantor LP are direet,
unsecwied ond uncondithonal obligetions of RBC; terefore, invesions hove o cloim agabsl the Bank aiich will comtinue (7 the
covered bonds are not pald by the Bank and the mortgope assets in the Guarantor LP are Insuffickent to satisfy the cbligations
owing on the covered bonds. We act as general partner, limited partner, swop counterparty, lender ond liquidity provider to the
Guarantor LP, servicer for the underlying mortgoges os well as the registered Issuer of the covered bonds.

We consolidate the Guarantor LP as we hove the decision-making power over the relevant activities through our role os
general partner and ore exposed Lo voriability from the performance ulFlht undes lying mortgages, As ol Oclober 31, J23. the
total omownt of mortgages transferred ond cutstanding was $100 billion (October 11, 2022 = 5121 billiony and 550 billion of covered
bonds were recorded o5 Deposits on our Consalidoled Balonce Sheels {Octaber 31, 2022 - 543 billion],

Structured fingnce

We sell taxable ond tox-exem pt municipal bonds into Tender Option Bond {TOB) structures, which consist of o bond that is credit
enhanced by us and purchased by a 108 trust. The TOB trust finances the purchase from us by kssuing floating-rate certificates to
shoet-term Investors and o residual certificate that s purchased by us, We are the remarketing agent for the floating-rate
cortificates and provide a liquidity fecility to the shart-term investors which requires us o purchose any certificates tenderad but
nob successfully remorketed. We credit enhance the bond purchased by the TOB trust with o letter of credit under which we are
required Lo extend lunding if there ore any losses on the underlying bonds, We carn interest on the residesl certificate and
receive markel-based lees lor acling os remarketing agent and providing the liquidity facilily and letter of credit.

‘We consolidate [he TOB trust when we ore the holder of the residunl centificote as we have decision-making power over the
relevant activities, including the sebection of the underlying municipal bonds and the ability to lerminote the struclure, and ore
exposad to variability froam the performance of the underlying munkcipal bonds. As at October 31, 2023, 55 billion of munic ipal
bonds were Included In Securlths reloled Lo consolidoted TOB structures [October 31, 2022 - 56 billlon ond o comesponding
55 billion of fiooting-rote certificates were Included in Deposils on our Consolidoted Bolance Sheets | October 31, 2022 - 47 billlon},

‘We estoblish structured entities to ocquire leans for the purposes of issuing term colloteralized loan obligoton (CLO)
tronsactions ond oct os colloberal manoger. During the worehouse phase, we provide subordinated financing and, for certoin
term CLO transactions, oct gs the arranger and placement agent, ond maoy provide senior worehouse financing, Proceeds from
the sabe of the term CLO ore used Lo repay our warehouse fingncing. During the berm CLO phase, we continue [o provide
subordingled financing, which serves os the first loss tranche that absorbes losses prior to the senior franches, and may alse
directly invest in the olher Iranches.

‘We consolidate these CLO structures a5 we hove decislon-moking power over the relevant activities of the entity, which
Include the initiol selection and subsequent moanogement of the underlying debt portfolio, and when our interests, including
direct investment plus collateral manogement fees, indlcate that we are octing as a principal. As ot October 31, 2023, 5493 million
of Cosh and duwe from banks and 51675 million of Loans related to consolidoted CLO structures [Octeber 31, 2022 - 5108 milllon
and 51,410 million, respectively) and 51,706 million of Deposits representing the subordinated and senaior ranches held by third
parties (Dciober 31, 7037 < 51,314 million] were recorded an our Consalideled Balance Sheets.
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RBC managed investment funds

We are spoensors and investment managers of mutwal and pooled funds, which give us the abllity to divect the investment
deciskons of the funds, We consolidate those mutual and pooled Funds in which our interests, which include direct iwestmend in
seed capital plus management o performance fees, Indicate thal we are acting o a principal, As ot Gotober 31, 2023,

40 million of ?rqding secufities held in the consolidated funds (Octobeer 31, 2027 - 5524 million) ond %331 million of Other
linbilities represenling the Fund units held by third parties (Getober 31, 2032 - 5363 million ) were recorded on aur Contalidated
Balance Sheels.

Uncansolidated structured entities
We hove interests In certain structured entities that we do not conselldate but have recorded ossets and llabllitles on aur
Consolldoted Bolance Sheets related te our transactions and involvement with these entities.,

The Tollowing table presents the asséts and Habilithes recorded on our Consolidoted Balence Sheels and our moximum
exposure to boss related bo our mlerests in unconsalidated structured entities. |1 also presents the sire ol each class af
uncarsolidated dructured entily, as measured by Uhe lalol gssets of The enlities in which we have on inbesfest

As gt October 31, 1003
Hon-HBC

Mulil-seller  SEructured wvestment securitlzotbon

| Miitisns of Canodian dollars ) _conduils |1 finonce fimnds. _ wehicles Other Todol
On-bakence sheet assets
Securiliey % 4 % - % 2411 % - % 743 % 3,138
Loans - 5790 = B451 2,403 16,644
Derivatives 1 - 16 - L) 119
Other assels - - - - 365 365

) 6 5 5,790 % 1437 5 BA51 5§ 3,602 3 10,266

Oi-bibpince sheel Hobiliies
Depasits H - 5 - 5 - % - 5 166 % 166
Derivatives 245 - 1 - - 146
Oilver Hobilities - =, ==0 T 7
5 245 5 - 5 1 5 - 5 173 5 419
Maximum exposure o loss (2 5 54,715 510580 5 3068 5 14863 5§ 5595 % AH,821

Tolol gssets of unconsolidoted structhwed entities 5 53,641 5 31,037 5 440,924 5 81,028 5 461,917 5 1,068,549

eyt D ey B0 WITF

Mon-FAC
mandged  Thindpary
Myl welbe Structisred Wivesdmelil  Seuitl ol
Moo of Conadian dollon oy [1) Tinorsre Funids wehickes Dby Toiad
On-bolonce sheel ossels
Securities 5 155 % - % 3089 5 - & 595 5 1830
Loans = 5,334 = B.404 2487 16315
Derivalives 25 = - = 100 125
Other assels - fr - ShE 574

2 80 5 5340 5 3049 s B.4%4 % 3,750 5 20,953

Un-bulnrince shaet lobllities

Depasits < -8 - & - % -5 - % -
Derivatives 171 - - - - 171
Other lobilities - - - : N &

5 177 & = B = § - § - & 171

Maximum expasure bo loss (1) § 48260 % BA5E S 1758 & 14339 5 5523 % BO538

Tatol gssets of unconsolidated structured entities 5 47289 5 26,543 5 548320 % G360 5 5354573 %5 ), 241086

1 Wbl dsseit of e i@ 8 sivacTused e repese ihe rembmom dseds ol my S to be ey hoased Ty e ooestulls ader puicliie cimmibmens
eul it onding Cf It purcivise Commileme s culsbonderg, the (endets howe purchased lkancial assets tetalkng §37 bion as ol Oolober 1, 2010 [Dtober 12000
B30 i)

{21 Whemaokmom esposiee b lovs resulting fram our isEerests in these end Shes com ists mesty of isvestiments, oo, foir volue of derivotives, lquidty ond credit
anhancament fociities, The masmam sqposuns 4o lose of the mulls seller conduits is higher than the on bslonce shest opcett primarity because of 1he polionsl smosnts
of |he hockatop lquidty and credil enhoscemeni foc ties, Refer bo licbe 14 for hrther detals

Below is 0 descriptbon of aur invalvement with cach significant chass of unconsalidaled structured entity,

Multi-seller conduwils
We edminister multl-seller ABCP condult programs. Multi-seller conduits primarily purchase fingnclol ossets from clients and
linance those purchases by Issuing ABCP.

In certain malti-seller condult orrongements, we do not maintain ony ownership of the maltl-seller conduits that we
administer and have no rights to, or control of, its gssets, As the administrotive agent, we eorn a residual fee for providing
services such as coordinating lunding activities, transaction structuring, documentation, execulion and monitoring. The ABCP
Igsued by each multi-seller conduit 15 in the conduit's own name with recourse to the linancial assets owned by the multhseller
condull, and 5 non-recowrse Lo gs Em:eFI! Ihrnqgh owiar Fn:ill:lpqlinn in liguidity and’or credit enhancement facilities.

We provide transaction-specific and programe-wide lguidieg facifities bo the mult-seller conduils. Inaddition, we provide
program-wide credit enhancement to the multi-seller conduits which obligote us to purchase assets er advance funds in the
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event the multl-seller condult does not atherwise have funds from other sources, such as from the liquidity faciities, to settle
maburing ABCP, In some coses. we of another third party may provide transection-specific credit enhancement which can toke
varkeus forms. We recelve markel-bosed fees far providing these llquidity and credil facilktles.

For certaln transactbons, we oct os counterparty to various hedging contracts to focililote our clients® securitizotion of fived
rate andior forelgn currency denominaled assets through U conduils. These maoy Lake the Tonm of Torward comrocts, nlerest
rale SWOps or cross currency swaps, These derivatives expose us to foreign eachonge ond interest rate risks thot are contrally
managed by our foreign exchange Irading and swap desks, respectively, and credit risk on the underlying assels that is mitigoted
by the: credit enhancement described below.

Eoch iransactkon is strectured with transoction-specific first leas protection provided by Lhe thind porty seller. This
enhancement can toke various forms, including but not imied to overcollsteralization, excess spreod, subordinated classes of
financigl gssets, georantees o ketters of credit. The amount of this enhencement varies bul is gererally designed Lo cover a
multiple of historical losses.

An unreloted third party (expected loss investor) obsorbs losses, up to 0 moximwm contractual emount, that mey ooour in
the Future on the gssets In the multi-seller conduits before the multi-seller conduits® debt halders and us. In return for assuming
this mudti-seller conduit first-loss position, each multi-seller condult poys the expected loss inveslor a relurm commensungte with
its risk position, The eapecled loss investor hos substonlive power Lo ditect the majority of the activities which significontly
impact the conduil's economic performonce, Including inltial selectbon and approval of the gsset purchase commitments and
liguidity facilities, approval of renewal and amendment af these transactions and facklities, sale ar transfer of assets, ongaing
moniloring of assel peformance, nitigotion of losses, and management of the ABCT lobilities,

We do not consolidate these multi-seller condults os we do not control the conduils os noted obove.

Struclured fingnce

We participate in certain municipal bond TOB struc bwres that we do not consalidote. These structures ane similar to those
consolidated municipol bond TOB structures described obove; however, the residucl certificates are held by third parties. We provige
liquidity focifilies for the bemefit of floating-rate certificote holders which may be drawn if certificates are lendered bul not able Lo be
remarketed. For o portion of these trusts, we also provide a letter of credit for the underlying bonds hald in the trust. We do not have
declsbon-making power over the relevant octivities of the structures: therefore, we do not consalidate the se structures.

We provide senior worehouse linoncing to unaffillated structured entitles that ore established by third porties to acquire
lewvs for the purposes of Issulng o borm CLO transaction. Subordinoted financing is provided during the warehouse phase by
elther the collaleral manoger or third-party Investaors, Subordinoled financing servies as the first loss ranche which absorbs
losses prior Lo sursebves s the senlor lender. We oct as the arranger and Elq:cmml agent for Lhe term CLO tronsaction.
Pracesds from the sale of the term CLO are used to repay our senbor warehoawse finoncing, at which poinl we have no Further
invalvement with the transaction. We do nod consolidote these CLO structures as we do nol have decksion-moking power over the
relevant activities of the entity, which include the initial selection and subsequent moenogement of the underlying debt portfolio,

‘We provide senior financing to unaffilioted structured entities that are established by third parties to goguire loans.
Subordinated financing is provided by either the collaters! manager or third-party investors, Subordinated finoncing serves as
thi first kass tranche which absorbs losses prior to ourselves os the senlor lender. These facilities tend to be longer In term thon
thie CLO warehouse lacilities and benol@ lrom credit enhancement generally designed 1o cover a multiple of historical losses, We
do not conzolidote these structyres as we do not have decision-moking power over the relevant activities of the entity, which
in¢lude the initial selection and subsequent monagement af the undtrfyinﬂ debt poartiolio,

fion-REC monoged investment funds

We enter into fae-based equily derivative Irareoctions with third parties including mutual funds, unit inveslment trysts and ather
Investment funds. These ronsoctions provide their investors with the desived exposure to reference funds, and we economically
hedge our exposure bo these deratives by Im-estlng In those reference funds. We olso oct os custodian for several Funds. We do not
consolidote those reference funds that are managed by third porties os we do not have power to direct their Investing ectivitles,

We provide liguidity facilities te certain third-party investment funds. The funds Issue unsecured variable-rate preferred
shares and invest in portfolios of bax-exempt municlipal bonds. Undrown liquidity commitments cxpose us to the liquidity risk of
the preferred shares and deown commilments expase us to the credit risk of the underlying municipol bonds, Wie do niot
consolidobe these third-party monaged funds os we do noed hove power Lo direcl thels investing ocivitles.

Third-party securilization vehicles

‘W hold interests In securitizgtion vehicles thol provide funding to certoin third porties on whose behalf the entities were created, The
activities of these entities ore limited to the purchase and sabe of specilied linoncial assots from the sponsor, Wi, o6 well as ather
Mnonciol instilutions, ane ohligoted to provide lunding op b our moximem commitment level and ofe exposed (o credit nsses on the
unberbying assels ofter vorious credit enhoncements, Enhancements can take var ks leems, mcluding bt not imited bo
overcollaberalirgtion, excess spreod, subordinoted closses of financial ossels, guorantees o letlers of credit. The amount of this
enhancement varies but ks generally deskgned to cover o multiple of historcoal losses. We do not consofdote these entitles as we do
not hove decision-moking power over the relevant oclivities, incleding the enlilies investing and financing activities.

rher
Other unconsaolidated structured entities nclude managed lnvestment lunds, arfangements bo pass cradit risk to third paities,
credit investment products and tax credit funds.

We are sponsors ond investment managers of mutual and peoled funds, which gives us the obiity to direct the investment
deciskons of the funds. We do not consalidale those mutuol ond pooled funds IF we exercise our deckslon-moking power as an
agent on behall ol other unit holders,

Wie use structured entities to generally tronsfosm credit derivatives into cash instroements, o distiteuie coedit risk and te
crogbe customized credit products to meet investors' specific requirements, We enter into derivative controcts, Including crodit
derivalives, 1o urrhﬂin_-pd'nlm:llnn tram thasd endities [oredit pfutnriinn; and cormeerl various rsk faclors such a% '.'|llm.1.'ill'l"l'ﬂl:1l[
or credil risk of widerlving ossels Lo meel the needs of the nvestors. We ocl 05 sale aronger angd swogp provider lor certoin
entities and, in some cases, fulfill other administrotive functions for the entities. We do nol consaolidobe these credit investment
product entitkes as we donot hove decision-making power oyver the relevant octivities, which include selection of the collateral
and reference portfolie, and are not exposed 1o o majority of the berefits or risks of the entities.
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W creabed certain funds o poss irough tax credits recelved from underying fow-Income housing, historic rebobilitation
real estate projects to third parties, new morket tox credits or renewable energy tax credits to third parties {tax credit funds). We
ara sponsars of the tox credit funds os a result of our responsibility to monoge the funds, arrange the financing, and perform the
administrative dulies of these ox oredit funds, We do nol consolidate (he tax credit Tunds as the Lhird-porty Investors inthese
funds have the decision-making power to sebect the underlying investments and are exposed o the majority of the residual
ot ship and ax risks al e fonds

We also purchase passive inleresds in rencwaldle energy lax credil entities crealed and conlrolled by thind pailies. We do not
consolldate these third-party funds os we do not have deciston-making power over the relevant activities and our Investments
are manoged as part of larger portfollos which ore held for troding purposes.

Other interests in unconsolidoted structured entities

i Lhie normal course of busingss, we buy ond sell possive interests in certain third-party stroctured entities, including mutuol
funds, exchange traded funds, and government-sponsored ABS vehicles. Our investments in these entities are managed as part of
larges porifolios which ore held for trading, liquidity or hedging purposes, We did nol create of sponsod Lhese entities and do nol
have any dec Ixiun-mqll:ing power ower Lheir nngnl i ac Lt il s, Ohpf masiamam @xpoaiine Bo 1o s limbed 1o our an-balance sheel
mvestrenls in hete enlities, which are nol included in (ke lable above, As al Oclaber 3, 2023 and 2032, our invesbments o Lhese
entities were included in Troding and Investmen! securities on our Censolidated Bolance Sheets, Refer to Nole 3 and Nole 4 lor
further details on our Trading and Investment securities.

Sponsored enlities

We ore g sponsor of certoln structured entities in which we have interests but do not consolldate, In determining whether we are
a spansor of o strectured entity, we consider balh qualitative and quantitative foctors, Including the purpose and nature of the
entity, our Initial and continuing involvement and whether we hold subordinated interests in the entily. W are consldered to be
the sponsar of cerlain credit invest ment products, oy credit entities, RBC monaged mutual hevds ond o commerciol mortgoge
securfization wehicle. Dlur'nslhl,r year ended October 31, 2023, we did nod tronsler any commercial morlgopes (October 3, 2022 -
5450 million) to g sponsoded securilization vehicle in which we did not have any interests as ot the end of the reparting period.

Fimancial support provided Lo struclured entities

During the years ended October 31, 3023 ond 2022, we hiove not provided any finonckal or non-limanclal support te any
consolidoted or unconsolidated structuwred entities wihen we were nol controctuolly obligated to do so. Furthermore, we hiave no
Intention to provide such suppoart In the future

Derivative instruments are categor ired as cither imancial or non JJinancial derivatives, Financial derivalives are Fnoncial
contracts whose value is derived lmom an under I].'Ing inferes! role |i:"'|.'lrll"‘l exchange rale, oredit risk, and equity or quily andex,
Mon-financial derivatives are contracts whose value i derived from a precious melal, commaodily instrument ar index. The
notional amaunt of def ivalives represents the contract amount used a% a reference poinl o caleulate payments. Notkonal
amasunts are RE'I'II:"I'I‘.'Ill'l' not EKT‘.I:II'IREH l!'!.' EDUI‘I[ETFGTHES.{II’Id donot reflect our EAD,

Financial derivalives
Forwards ond filtres
Farward controcts are non-standordized ogreements thal are tronsocted between counterpartios in the OTC market, whereos
lutures afe standardized conlracts with respect bo omounts and settlement dates, and are traded on regular lutures exchonges,
Exgmiples of forwords and futures are described below:

Inteerest rale lorwards (lorward rabe agreements) and futuces are contractual abligalions to buy or sell an inlenesd-rale
sensitive linancial instrument en @ predetermined fulure date at o specilied price.

Forelgn exchange ferwards and fulures are controctual abligations te exchange one currency for another at a specified price
for seltlement ot 0 predetermined future date.

Cquity farwards ond futures are contrectual ebligations to buy or sell at o fixed value {the specifled price} of an equity index,
o basket of stocks or a single stock at a predetermined future dabe

Swaps
Swaps ore OTC contracts inwhich two counterparties exchange a sefies of cash llows bosed on agréed upon rates applied toa
motienal amaunt. Examples of swap agreaments are described below,

Interest rale swaps are ugrllerrwnl-i whaore lwo counlerparties L*l:rl;rrnﬁt' o series of poymenls based on dilferent nierest
rates applied (o g nod icngl omownt in g single cwrrency. Certain inlerest role swaps are bransacled and seltled through clearing
houses which act as central counterparties. Cross curmency swaps involve Lthe exchange of Nxed payments in one currency for the
recelpt of fixed paymenits in another currency. Cross curmency interest rate swaps invelve the exchange of both interest and
nothenal amaounts In bwo different currencies,

Equity swops are conbracts in which one counterparty agrees to pay or recelve from the other cash flows based on changes
In the vabue of on equily index, o baskel of stocks or a single slock,

tichns
gﬁﬁl!l‘lﬁ are conlrociyal qgreements under which the seller {writer) Erqnh the purchaser the rlght, bl not the nbl]&qlmn, el hier
te By (eall option) or sefl {pul option) a security. exchange rote, interest rate, of other fnancial instrument of commodily at o
Hpuflflnﬂ plce, al of by o predetermined future dote, The selier [writer) -::lrvl'l-lu!-pti-.’!lll{ull alsg sellle the contract by paying the
cash settlement volue of the purchaser's righl. The seller {writer) receives a premium from the purchaser for this right. The
VAT S I:I'Flt1l.'ll'l I:IRTE'E'NEI"['S- that we entar intoinclude but are not limited to interest rate D|J| lwvs, FI'.'H'FlEl'In Cumency I'.Iplll'.ll'lﬁ. Eqillt'r‘
options and Index options,

] Byl Bark of Caneda Aol Brpoit 311 Conamiadobed Fitaneial Slalrments
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Credit derivatives
Credit derivatives are OTC contracts thal transfer coedil risk redoled Lo on underlying linanciol instrument [referenced gsset)
fresm one counterparty toanother. Credit derivatives include credit default swops, credit default boskets and tobal retun swops.

Credit default swops provide prodection against the decline in the value of the referenced asset os a result of specified credit
events such os defoult or bankruptcy. They are similor in structure be on option, whereby the purchoser poys o premium to the
seller of the credit default swop inreturn for payment contingent on a credit event offecting the referenced asseot

Credit defaull boskets are similar to credit defoull swops except thot the vnderlying referenced financial instrument 15 g
group of assets instead of o single ossel,

Talal relurn swops are contracls where ane counlerparty agrees to pay of recelve lrom the ather cash amaunts based on
changes In the walue of a referenced assel o Brodp of gssels, Including any returns such as nlerest earned on these gssels, in
exchange for omownts that are based on prevailing morket funding rates.

ather derivative products
Other contracts are steble volue ond equity derbeative conbracts,

Noa-financial derivatives
Other controcts olso Include non-financiol derivalive products such as preclous metal and commedity derivative contracts in
both the OTC and exchange markets,

Derivalives issued for troding purposes

Mest of our derivative transoctions relate to client-driven sales and trading activities, ond ossockoted morket risk hedging, Sales
activilies nclude the structuring ond maorkeling of derivative products to clients, enabling them to modify o reduce risks, Trading
invalves mnrlce{-rnnkmg, pu:ltboﬂing ond nrbll.ruge acbivities, Mnrkﬁ-mnklng imvalves quullng bid and ol er ptir;\es. bo other markel
participants with the intentien of geneating revenue bawed on spread and valume. Posilioning invalves the sctive management ol
derlvalive transactions with the expectation of profiting from fovourable mevements in prices, rales, of indices. Arbiltrags
activities involve identifying and profiting from price differentiols between markets and product types. Any realized and unrealized
gains o losses on derivalives used for troding purposses are recognized Immed lately In Non-Interest income - Trading revenue

Derivatives issued for other-than-troding purposes

We also use derivalives for purposes other thon brading, primarily for hedging, in conjunction with the management of interest
rate, credit, equity and Im‘r.*lgn exchonge risk reloled to our rl.ll‘lﬂh‘lg. lending, investment activities and assetllability
manggement.

Hllilﬁere-:t rale swaps ore used bo manage our exposure to interest rote risk by modifying the repricing or maturity
characteristics of exksting andfor forecosted ossets and liabilities, inclisding funding and Investment ectivities. Purchosed oplions
are used bo hedge redeemable deposits ond other options embedded in consumer products. We manage our exposure bo forekgn
currency risk with cross currency swaps and forelgn exchange forward contracts. We predominantly use credit derivatives to
manage our credit exposures, We mitigate industry sector concentrations ond single-name exposures reloted to our credit
partfolio by purchasing credit derivatives to transler credit risk to third porties,

Certain derivotives and cosh instruments are specifically designated and qualily for b gccounting. We also enter inlo
derivative transactions to economically hedge certoin exposures that do not otherwise qualify for hedge occounting, or where
hedge accounting ks not considered ecanomically feasible to Implement. In such circumstances, changes In falr volue are
reflected In Non-interest income - Other income.

Hotional omant of derivativees by term to maturity (absalute omounts)

As ot Octebar L 3003
Term o maturily
Within 1through Over Qther than
[Milicrn of Comadion dollars) 1 yeor Syedrs Syears Totol Iroding Troding
Owver-the-counter controcts
Imterest mte conlrocts
Forward rate agreements 5 LO00B97THE 5 691397 5 A58 5 1,700,733 § 1,700,733 5 -
Swnps A.220.675 6,651,849 4418065 152900689 14069938 1020751
Dptions purchosed 162,845 420,341 166,275 TA9,461 749,257 204
Crplicns writien 144,138 412239 179,532 TI5.90% T35.562 347
Fareign exchenge contracts
Farward conlracts 2336565 10606S L RILFS TA46.716 2365796 B1920
Cross CUITENCy swaps 30,098 B8.615 74,538 193,161 189,100 4,161
Crods cufrency [lerest rale swops 971658 2055058 1,141,295 4,169.011 4107125 61 886
Options purchosed 44,70 73407 1,663 320,791 310791 -
Options written 254,534 71,039 1305 3274878 ITTHTE -
Credil dertvotives (1 11,709 108637 114,463 134,809 134,066 743
Gther contracks (1) 261,528 140,225 13,088 d1d, 81 401,371 13468
Fechange-traded contracts
Interest imle condiscls
Futires - long pesitions 103,185 14,283 1 127,479 126,879 6040
Futures - sha positkens 99,792 817 1 154,610 154,445 165
Options purchased 12,801 3 - 12,804 12,804 -
Optiens written 11,206 1468 - 12,674 12674 -
Forelgn exchonge contracts
Futisnes. - long positioms 124 - - 124 124 -
Qther contracts 571,970 154,677 4,586 731,233 731,233 -

4 IDA47.537 & 11,054,134 § 6,121,352 § 17,623,023 $ 26337774 § 1285245

Conwnduelalied Firaticiol Sabermeili Hoyel Bk of Cosade: khausl legenil MU i
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Ak O INEOeT B, JUd2
Teiin ta nialui Ity

Within Vihreugh Crved e than
| Ml ol Conardion dollsre) 1 year 5 yedars 3 years Tikal Trading Trading
Owver-Lhi-counler contracts

Interest rate conlrocls
Forward rate agreements 5 763 398 5 44188 5 353 5 HOT 939 5 H06,576 5 1,363
Swaps 4,904,006 6,934,006 4,781,148 16,710,150 16,001 414 TOR. 736
rptions purchosed 100, 504 877,780 151,084 HI% NoE HI% Jbd -
piicns wriiten 198,770 556,652 181841 R4i. 263 #4826 =
Foreign exchenge contracts
Forwarg conlrocks 4,187,124 R, 136 4,048 22759508 2.430.901 45007
Cross Curmency Swaps BT 047 07,345 B1.65% 237,946 233617 4329
Cross currency nlerest rale swops 518,244 1572490 879,541 2970275 2818063 52212
Cptions purchosed SEOTS 18,1 1,199 T9.335% T35
picos wrilten 62 166 16,623 3,274 52,163 22163 =
Criadil dervolives ) 1,14) 5621 6,751 41515 421 785 730
Other contracts (1p 128,709 9343 19,3592 9552 327 860 13472
Exchange-troded contracls
Interest rate controcts
Fulures. - long pesdtions 148032 S0.ELS = 195507 197,451 1A50
Fulures - shar positiens 231041 0E.763 &5 332769 X320 440
plions purchosed 56,351 1217 - AR5 GRS -
piions wrillen 16,394 6,168 = 221562 225631 =
Forelgm exchenge contracts
Futures - long positions 164 - [CF] 164
{Fther conbracts 539,103 B, 147 4094 hil 144 hk ie4 -

5 10004068 5 ID2G0443 8 6.115049 § 26ATOA60 5 Z5651517 & RIRI4R

M Thederimive notiesal grrognts oee determined wing the sisndordined opprnach fer megauring coyrterporty credil risk [SA4-COR] in googedoncs wilh the Capitgl
Adegpacy RequineTenmns [CAR)

12)  Coedin devivolives with o eeCon vidue of 41 bilioh (October 31, 1003 - 41 Billlos | ore coonamie hedpen. Trading dredi devivathes compine pooceolios prchined of
R Ballion {Dctober AL 7012 - 526 Slllen) and prolection sold of §915 Sillien | Deiober 11, 3337 - £17 Billon)

|5)  Other contracts esciide lan uhderariling Commitmesnts of L7 hillon [Ooteber ¥ 3027 - 55 billion], which are nof cleallied o Servabbes usder CAR puideline

Fair value of derivative instruments ()

A of
Octebar 1L 3033 Delobes 11 61T
| il of Cermen difiarsj Pogitve mhu Posibve Megotive
Held or issued for roding purposes
Interestrole conlrocks

Fosrwiard rale agresments L 6 & 4 £ 77 & a5

Swaps 26,320 11,965 25,690 216040

Options purchased 11,230 - 12,056 -

Diptians wiitten - 11,776 - 12,2061

37,626 34,765 17823 33834

Foreign sxchange contracls

Farword conlracts 22,972 22 655 17,734 irel
Cross CUITENCY SWaps 7.370 B15 8,650 D087
Cross currency inferest rabe swaps 535,268 46,550 40,758 38230
Oplions pql’l.'llm.l.'d 2,623 - 2623 g
Options written - 1,750 s L5
E§,233 76,810 oR, 795 HIS51G%

Credit detivatives 175 176 isE 125
Gther contracts 16319 20,865 18474 21,4084
142,353 132,616 155,480 143562

Held or issued far other-than-trading purposes
Interest rote controcts

Swaps I;@ﬂ!‘ '.I'l-]ﬁ-_ 2,244 R0
1,907 T.436 2,144 b ARD

Foreign exchange contracts
Forward contracts B&0 509 268 237
Cross currency swaps = - ki
Cross currency inberest ol swaps 5585 4 484 174 hbhT?
) ) ) 1415 4,993 [TH 6975
Cred® derivalves 40 - - -
Other contracts 7 109 ni 273
3442 12,538 3199 B
Totol gross foir values belore: 145,795 145,154 158,679 156651
wvaluation odjustments determined on a pooled basls 1,800 (981 2055 {475
Impaoct of netting agreements that qualify for balence sheet offset 1,544 {1,544 }2,135 {2185

§ 142,450 % 142,629 % 154439 5 153491

(1 Fhe T waked reflects the imgaiet of chavooieniging the dally woriaien mangin oi seifiement of B reigled decteative s robus o permilied by cerdain cmiral
DO LS i
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Fair vitlue of derivative instruments by berm Lo maturity 1)
a1t Pk b e L et B idani i iatn o ! —

—E&‘w@_—_ _ oemtean
Less iham 1 Lhrough Less fham  1hrough rver
[Fions of Conadson dofiars) _:ﬂf_lam_m% _lyear  Sycarn  Syeen Toled
Derhative assets 5 46,148 51,165 44,137 5 142450 5 56050 56.79F 41597 5 154439
Derivative Nabilities 47,707 51,690 43,212 142,629 58,504 54361 40626 153,491
11 The Db wabor fefliec by Hhe imgeict of ehésadeiing the delly voi bl lan mgngia on selBlement of 1B reliled divtod e [0 wikur o perilied by coiain ceitrol

cramlermt v

Interest rote benchmark reform )
We use Inberest rate controcts In Falr value hedges and cash Mow hedges to monage our exposure bo interest rate risk from our
exksling and/or forecost assets and labilities. We also use forelgn denominated deposit Hobilities in net investment hedges to
manage the foreign exchange risk arksing from our Investmends In forcign operations. The hedging Instruments designated to
mandage these risks reference IRORs in mulliple jurisdictions and will be alfected by the Retorm os the markets fransition to ARRs
a5 discussed in Nole 2

The foliowing table presents the notionol ar principal amount of aur hedging instrements which reference |BORs ond are
alfected by the Reform os discussed in Note 2. The notional or principal amounts of our hedging instruments also opproximales
the extent of the risk exposure we manage through hed ging relathonships:

_ October 312023 Ouiober 311022
MotionalPrincipal  Wetionol'rincioal

[Miliany o Conadian dollar
Interest role controcts
Ush LIBDR 5 - 5 40208
CDOR 115,048 114, 15%
Total Return Swops
CDOR TG B
Non-derivatlve instruments
USD LIBOR - 217

5 115,784 5 155405

M Enchedes njered mle contracts and ran-der ot inctrgmenty wiich relseesce mibes o mgllobe prisdicion, isckading TURD ingerbonk OF sred Rote ancd Labrolicn
Bank NIl Swap Bale (I05W)

Derivative-related credit risk

Credit risk from derivative transoctions is generaled by the potentiol for the counterparty to defoull on its contractual
obligotions when one ar more transactions hove a pasitive morket value to us. Therefore, derivative-reloted credit risk is
represented by the positive fair value of the instrument and is normally a small froction of the contract’s notional amount.

We subject our derlvative transactions to the same credit approvel, limit and monloring standards that we use for manoging
ather transactkons that create credit exposure. This includes evaluating the creditworthiness of counterparties, ond monoging
the sie, diversifioation ond moterity struclure of the portfolio, Credit utilizotion fos oll prosfucts is compored with established
limils on g continual basis and & subject to a stondard exceplion reporting prooeis. We use g single internal rating Lyslem fof all
credit risk exposure, os outlined in the internal ratings maops bn the Credit risk section of Manogement's Discussion and Anglysis.

Offsetting is o technique that con reduce credit exposure from derivatives and is generally facilitated through the use of
master netting ogreements and ochieved when specific criterio are met in accordonce with our accounting policy in Note 2L A
master netting ogreement provides for a single net settlemeant of all financial instruments covered by the agreement in the event
of default. However, credit risk s reduced only o the extent that ouwr financial obligaticns to the same counterparty con be set off
against obligations of the counterparty to us, We maximize the use of master netting agreemants ta rediuce derivative-ralated
credit exposure. Our overall exposure to credit risk that bs reduced through master netling agreements may change substontially
fallowing the reporting date os the exposure is olfected by each tronsoction subject to the agreement os well os by chonges in
underiying morket rotes. Measurement of our credit ure orizing out of derlvative transections is reduced to rellect the
effects of natting in coses where the enforceability of that netting is supported by appropriate legal analysis s documented In
our trading credit risk policies.

The use of collateral ks anather significont eredit mitigation technlgque for managing derivotive-related counterparty credit
risk. Murk-to-market provisions in our ogreements with some counterpartes, typically In the form of o Credit Supgort Annex,
provide us with the right to request that the counterparty pay down or colloteralize the current market value of its derivativas
positions when the value exceeds a specified threshold amount.

Replacement cost and credit equivalent amounts are determined in occordonce with O5F1's non-modelled regulatory 5A-CCR
under the CAR puidelires. The replocoment cost represents the total fair volue of all outstonding contracts in o pain pasition after
factaring in the master netting ogreements ond applicable morgins, The credit equivalent amount is dedined as the replacement
cost plus on additicnal amount for potential future credit exposure, scaled by o regulgtory foctor, The risk-weighted equivalent is
determined by applying appropriole risk-weights to the credit equivalent amount, including those risk weights reflective of model
approval under the internal ratings based approach.

i badaled Firaniis 5 W Byl Bank ol Corcde Shausl Regeail ML (L]
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Derivalive-relabed credit risk o)

As ot s
Dctaber 11, 2013 Oelaber 11,790
Credil Creda
Beplacement equivalen] Risk-welghled Roploiement equbvalent  IURE-weighted
Mo ol Conadion distiarsf fenl amggnl  egquivalent (11 end gmogad  equivdlenl (1}
Ower-the-counber conbiacks
Interest rate contracks
Forward robe agreaments 5 58 3 o4 5 6 %5 a6 5 76 1 5
Swaps 9613 14,448 i 9699 21,698 5.187
Options purchased G0 1,547 353 106 426 1%
Options written 123 564 152 15 543 T4
Foreign exchange contracts
Farward conlrocls 5655 27 862 5611 87172 20,565 5040
Swups 4,261 21 483 4,274 6072 22188 1556
Dptions purchosed B4 1,742 383 536 1,1 a0
Dptions written a5 441 19 28 ENE ] L
Cradit derivatives 156 1,834 219 299 76 114
Other contracts 1.933 16,002 4919 5194 20,457 1500
Exchonge-troded controcts T. 186 16,191 34 1108 19,870 347
5 30,731 5 112,208 5 20,081 5 A1 ERY 5 117013 5 24438
i The nmaginee prosensd ome nell of master reitiag agreemenin in cocondanece with CAR guidsiines
(| Tl vk we i ghid e bauslonoes wre sukuiged in pcrsrdonne with CAE il irs omaf e bade CVA ol 889 Bdlhon pOciotse BI, J03T - §9% ifon |
Replocement cost of derivative instruments by risk rating and by counterparty Lype
e A of October 1. 1013 =
L] Cownleipartylype 2
OECk
{Mumions.of CoPmdian dotan] MM, A A BUB 68 or lower Totol _ Gosks gowernmests  Other  Toiol
Gorga positive foir vobies 5 MIH 5 70,000 § 26086 % 10,608 5 145795 5§98 & L1658 5 55686 5 145708
Impesk el imomler ||r||!i||u ogreewernly and
ol uble s gins 14,015 #0356 21765 TTIE 115064 BE05) F0.237 16676 115,064
Replog el posl {alier netiing :
agiesmenls | 512,099 5 9454 5 619 5 2HAT § 10731 5 1690 5 I 5 19010 5 307N
A ol Dciubver 3L 332F
Hisk rofing (1] Counlerparty ype (7]
CHECT
[Mlllons £f € oradian dolon) ARL AL A _HEH Bl of lnwer Total Bonks_ goverments  Otdws Toted
Grass positive foir vahies §O3e000 § TA08) & 20.00 4 17008 % 158670 4 TAGIG (P RFEE B P ALLIE Y L
Impait al mesler nelliig agiersenbs aid
applaabde e gins 211,552 61,614 J1.EFR 10EzE 1T&RID 71,583 J11.5% 23,631 NIEEA0
Rephorarsent cast {alted nelting
agiesmiedilag £ OAT 49 5 I03e% 4 TBF2 8 BITD 5 4KBe% 5§ 2004 4+ e 5 39705 & 41869

W) Cur ingerresl iRk reUnES O AR, AA, A 00 BBH 1Epresent mwesiment grode FONngs o rotngs of B of lwer epresel nen ireRmenl grode roongs, a cutlinsd in the
intemal robings maogs in the Crediteisksaction of Monagement s Discussion ond Amsthysis
[ Comnbematy bype is defined in ocomedance with CAR guiceline

Derivatives in hedging relotionships

We apply hedge accounting te minimize volatility in earnings and capital caused by changes in interest rates o foreign exchange
rates, Interest rote ond currency fhuctuations will either couse assets and lobililies o appreciole or depreciole In marke! valiee
or cause variability in ferecasted cash Nlows, When a hedging relationship is effective, goins, losses, revenue and expenses of the
hedging instrument will offset the gains, losses, revenue and expenses of the hedged item.

Derivatives used In hedging refotionships are recorded in Other Assets - Derfvatives or Other Liobilities - Derlvatives on our
Consolidoted Bolance Sheets. Foarekgn currency-denominoled llabllities used in net investment hedging relotlonships are
recorded in Deposits < Business ond Government ond Subordinated debentures onour Consolidated Balance Sheets. Goins and
losses relating bo hedging Ineflectiveness are recerded in Non-Interest income and omaunts reclossified from hedge reserves in
OC] ba neame afe recarded in Nel-interest income Tor cash flow hrligr\ and Nondnterest income for neld investment hedges,

We gssess ond meosyre the effectiveness of o hedging relationship bosed on the change in the fair volue o cosh Aows of the
derivabive rmrjglngiuutrumml relative Lo the mnnge in the fair value or cash Nows of the hedgm item altribulaobbe Lo the hr.-d_gerj
risk. When cash instruments are designated as hadges of fareipn exchange risks, only changes In their value due to lareign
exchange risk are included in the gssessment and measurement of hedge effectiveness,

Potentinl sources of ineffectiveness can be attributed to differences between hedging instruments and hedged Bems:

*  Mismotches in Lhe terms of hedged items ond hedging istuments, for examiple the frequency and Liming of when

interes! rates are reset and requency of payment,

+  Dilference in the discounting factors between the hedged Hem and the hedging instrument, toking into consideration the

different reset frequency of the hedged tem ond hedging Instrument.,

S Hcd&ing derivatives with a nan-zero fair volue at i'|1-l;|rr.||!iu:)n date of the hrrjgingrt!mmhip, rﬂullingin mismatch n

Retines willls Chie hedged item

14 bisryal Bask of Canoda- Ml Beper| 201 Comanlidcbed Finoneial Slalrmments
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Below is o descripthon of our risk menagement strategy for each risk exposure that we decide to hedge:

Inlerest rabe risk

We use Interest rate contrzcts to monoge our exposure to interest rote risk by modifying the repricing characteristics of existing
andior forecasted ossets and llobilitkes, including funding and Investment activities. The swaps are designated in either a falr
value hedge or o cash flow hedge and predominontly reference IBORs across multiple jurlsdictions. Certaln swaps will be
alfectad by the Reform os the morket fransitions to ABRs

Far falr value hedges, we use Interest rote contracts to manage the folr value movements of our fived rate instruments due
o chonges in benchmark interest. The interest rate swaps are entered Into an a one-to-one basis e manage the benchmork
Interest rote risk, and its lerms ore criglcally matched tothe specified fixed rate Instruments.

We also use interesl rate swaps in fak value hedges to manoge interest rate risk from residentiol morigoge assets and
funding liabilities. Gur expesure from this pertfolio chonges with the origination of new loans, repayments of existing loans and
sale of securitized mortgoges. Accordingly, we have adopted dynaomic hedging for that portfolic, in which the hedge relationship
is rebalanced on a more frequent bosks, such os on o bi-weekly or on o monthly bosis,

For cosh flow hedges, we use interest rate controcts (o mangge the exposure to cosh fow variability of our variable rate
Instruments s g fesull of changes in benchmark mberesl Pates, The variable rate mstruments and fofecast ransactions which
reference certain IBORS and will be affected by the Reform. Whilst some of the Interest rate swaps are entered into on g one-do-
ane basis to monage o specific exposure, other interest rate swops may be entered into for monaging interest rale risks of o
portfolio of gssets and labilities.

Forelgn exchonge risk

‘We manage our exposure to Foredgn currency risk with cross currency swops in a cash fow hedge. and foreign exchonge forword
contracts inoo net Investment hedge. Certain cash Instruments may also be desipnoted Ina net investment hedge, where
applicable,

For cash llow hedges, we wse cross currency swaps and forward contracts to manage the cash Now varlabiiity arising from
luctuations in foreign exchonge rotes on our ssued Fnrel%n denominated fixed rate liobilities ond highly probabile forecosted
trancactions. The maturity profile and repayment terms of these swops ore matched to those of our loreign denominated
exposures o llmit our cash flew volatility from chonges in forelgn exchange rates.

For net investment hedges, we use o combination of foreign exchaonge forwards and cosh instruments, such os foreign
denominated deposit Bobilities, to manage our forelgn exchonge risk arlsing from our investments in foreign operatlons, Cur
maost sipniflcoenl exposures include USD, GBP and Euro, When hedging net investments in lforeign operollons using forelgn
exchange forwards. enly the undiscounted spot clemen! of the foreign exchange forward is designated os the hedging
instrument, Accordingly, changes in the foir value of the hedging instrument as a result of changes in forword rates and the
effects of discounting are not included in the hedging effectivencss axsessment, Foreign operations are only hedged to the extent
of the principol of the foreign dencminated deposit liabilities or notional omaunt of the derivative; we generally donot expect lo
ineur significant ineflectiveness on hedges of net investments in foreign operations.

Equity price risk

We use total return swaps in cash flow hedges bo mitigate the cosh fiew variability of the expected poyment assockated with our
cash settled share-based compensation plan for certaln key employees by exchanglng interest payments for indexed RBC share
price change and dividend returns,

Credit risk
We pmdmlmnliy wie credil derivatbses la utmﬂni:qlly hcdgt i credil CApaGUres. We mll.lgulf: Iﬁdus.l:i‘y aechof concanliathons
and single-nome exposures relobed 1o our credil porfolio by purchasing credit derivatives to transfer credit risk to third porties.

Defivalive instruments designated in hedging relationships i
The following toble presents the faolr values of the derlvative Instruments and the princlpal omounts of the non-derivative
linbilithes, cotegosied by thebr hedging relotionships, os well os derivalives thol are nol deslgnoted in hedging relationships.

As ol

Devignaled os hedging instiomests. Desigrated o hedging imdnamenis
in hedging relationshipn Wil desigaates In hedging relatiomaips it g A
el in & hedging et v g bidping
| PAilberrrs ol Eiosyclaan duflar Fail vibis Coih Pow  wriiment telablonihly  Faiivale  Codhllow  irmestiment iwlstenahis
Assels
Derivative Instruments 5 156 5 19 5 13 & 141,262 5 247 5 51 5 36 5 154000
Lighilities
Derivative Inshruments 50 oo A0 142,070 7 - 126 153,338
Nogr-derivalive inslruments - - 25427 n.a, - - 25794 e,
1 Bl Tt ko peflles by e ampct of wheron g the deily g e et o e rplatmd devuimive e vibues oo pereilted By corlon et
crnlefitri
no el opphicobde
[ ¥ lelalod Finsrcial 5 Byl ok ol Corada: Ahaisl Bepait HLA s
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cinl instruments and

The folkswing bables provide the remnoining term tomaturity anohysis of the notional amaunts and the welghted overoge rotes of
the hedging Instruments and their carrying emounts by types of hedging relatbonships:

Fair value hedges
e Aa ok Ocheber W, WEY e
_Motionol omoumly Koaryingomount [}
Within 1 through Over
|Milicas of Congden dolisrs. exiepl dvel oge inles ) 1 yeod 5 yeans Siyeors Tolodl Asseis Libilities
Interest role risk
Interest rote contracts
Hedge of lixed role ossels 5 #4853 562948 521,702 593,503 5 156 35 -
Hedge of fixed rate hobilities 13,591 75,130 10,236 108,958 - 50
Welghted average fived interest rate
Hedge of fixed rote ossets 4.3% 1.6% 3.2% 3.6%
Hedge of fixed rate habllities 2. 1% 24% 2.6% 2.3%
A ot O tober 31, 7023
K innaf omounds Carmping omaud {1
Within Vitwough ver
| Miines of Canadian doflarn, except overage rates) Ty Fypeart B ywan Tolol Avsrle Liahil il ey
Interest rate risk
Inlerest rale confracts
Hedge of fixed rate ossets S D081 £ 32173 % 155%W %5 56,772 s 247 & 3
Hedge of fixed rate Labilities 13,231 69,419 0% G274 = &d
Weighted averoge fixed interes! rate
Hedge of fixed rate ossets 1.1% 25% 1.8% 23%
Hedge of flaed rate Bobililes 1.9% 1.8% 1.0% 1.9%

11} Thecanying omount reflects (he impact of chorocienzing the doily vonotos morgin os seitiemenl of the reloted derative lokrvalees as permitied by cestoin cerino
ol s

Cash Mow hedges
ot Octobuy 38, 303) T e
istiohot piniunty Lonryimg gmoinl ]
Witkin 1 ihroasph DveEr
| Miliiros af Eorsydi dusliars. scepl sesoge foles) 1 year Sypors S years Toded  Asseis  Lishilities
Interest rote risk
Interest rale condracis
Hedge of varioble rote assels 563,927 S6BATO 5 1,097 5133494 5 - 0§ -
Hedge al variable rate labilities 16696 63,527 311802 113,025 - -
Wl:-lgl'.[n.-d average Ficed inleresl role
Hedge of variable rate assets 4.5% JAam 1.7% 4.0%
Hedge af variable rate Nabilities il 9% }.8% 1.5% 3iTe
Foreign exchange risk
Cross CURTEncy sWwaps 3 63 5 96 § - 3 979 i ESGaE 14
Welghted average CAD-EUR exchonge rote 1.48 1.44 n.o. 1.45
Weighted averoge CAD-USD exchange rate n.a. 1.34 nJo. 1.34
A o O teshir 11, 2032
Hstining | el ) Carvying g 1)
Wiidiin 1 tharugh Dt
[Mhilions o Conodion dollors. escept ovedoge fobes) 1 e Syears 5 yoars Tkl Assets L bl ithes
Interest rote risk
Interost rate contracts
Hedge af varioble rote assets 5 50436 5 T4TM6 5 1023 5 12eddS5 5 - % -
Hedge af variable rote liabilities B2 42830 24,024 74075
"ﬂ'u-lgl'.h.'d average fixed interest rate
Hedge ol varigble rate assels 31w LE% 1.5% 3.0%
Hedge ol variable rate labilities 2.0% 1.5% 2.0 1.7%
Foreign exchange risk
Cross currency Swops % - & 4 s - & 4 5 12 5 -
Weighted average CAD-EUR exchonge raote nao. 144 n.a. 144
‘Welghted average CAD-USD exchange rate na. n.a n.a. n.a

1} Thetanying amound refiects e impoct of charociens ing Ehe doily vorintaos margin o setBement of the reiolsd deroative fobr volees g4 permilted by certsin central
Ctamlergat e
nn  mel opplicoble

1 Ryl Bark ol Canada Ansusl Brgaii 1021 Cerniidalnd Fitancial Shal iy
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_ A ok Dctober 31, 1073
Within 1 through Over

{MiFiom of Conadan dofiers. excepd averge roles) 1 yeor S years Syears Totol Assels  Liobilities.
Foreign exchonge risk
Forelgn currency llabilities s 6061 5 14653 £ 6413 5 27,127 no. 515427

Weighted average CAD-USD exchange rate 1.28 1.29 133 1.30

Weighted average CAD-EUR exchange rate n.a. n.a, n.a. na,

Weighted average CAD-CEP exchange rate - .71 - 1.71
Forword controcts § 18920 5 - % - $18320 $ 13 5 409

Weighted average CAD-USD exchange rate 136 n.a, n.a. 136

Weighted averoge CAD-EUR exchaonge rote 1.45 n.o. n.a. 1.45

Welghted averoge CAD-GEP exchange rote 1.68 n.o. n.o. 1.68

HobonalFringipssl Camyeng amaunt
Within 1 i agh L

|Milion, ol Conadn duflere, furpl dorge inle) Ll ER LT Sy _ Tobel Mgty Liohilitles
Forelgn exchange risk
Foreign currency llabilithes % 5462 5 20851 5 025 5 37338 ng. 5 25008

Welghted average CAD-USD exchange rote 131 1.8 (] 1.9

‘Welghted average CAD-EUR exchange role - 1.51 148 1.51

‘Welghted overage CAD-OBP exchange rate - 1.7 - 1.71
Forward controcts 5 boyw % - % - % bOHY S ¥ 5 126

Weighted average CADMUSD exchange rote 1.34 na, na. 1.34

Weighted average CAD-EUR exchange rate 1.36 ma. LT 1.36

Waighted averoge CAD-GEF exchange rate 1.55 na, na. 1.55
nn el oppllooble
The followeng tatles present the details of the hedged items cotegorized by their hedging relationships:
Foir value hedges - Assets and liohilities designoted os hedged items

A ot ond fed the yeor eeded Goipber 31, 2021
Accsmdoled pmount of luie
value sdjusiments os the
Beedged ibem included n the
#n ol
o 1o

Ansets  Linhilites Ansnts  Liohifilies Consolidobed Balosce Shewt ilemy;

{Miliors of Conadan dofiers)

Interest rale risk
Fixed rale asseds g Securities = Investment, net of

applicable allowance; Loans - Retail;

$86,734 5 - s(3g1)s - Loans - Wholesale 5(1,445)
Fiwed rate labilitles iy Deposits — Business and government;
Subordinoted debentures;
- 102.535 —  [6.340) Deposits - Bank 176
................ As ok ol et (e yeor sded Oclobeer 11 202
A fumadated arnoure of Yol
withi nljusdiivisiils e U
hepiiged Bem i luded i ife
Cairying amouil ooty kg amanl
Changes b fair
wotluas. ugaed for
calculating hedge
{Mifion of Conad.an dotters) _ Masets Lobilitey  Assets  Liobiilies Comafidaled Balonce Sheel lems:  inelfectheseys
Interest rote risk
Fixed rate assels 1) Securities - Investment, net of
applicabile allowance; | sans - Retail;
55220 § - 5 (3285} 5 - Loans - Wholesals 5 [3,695)
Fined rate labilities ) Deposils - Business ond government;
Subordinated debantures;
- B6,7I8 - [5,924) Depasits - Bank 5,742
i1 B of Oetobeer 14, 2030, the ooumalated omeont of [airvales hedge odasi b W o o didoied Rolance Sheeis bor Pedped flems ihot Bave ceayed jobes

adjuvied lor hedging gairs and koaves bs o of boss of $518 milien lor lised roie gsaets ped @ pein of §153 milion for fned robe Bob@ities §0ciober 31, 1012 - logs of

i il o g Bows of 425 mmillicn, respecivelh

Cemaldaed Firianiial Slolemeily
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Caosh flow and net investment hedges - Assels ond linhilities designaled os hedged items

A5 0l mest 7 Ehee yeor ended Dctober 312023

Cash Mow hedigeToreign
Shongeanlcurvency romiationrestve
caloulaling kedge Conlinuing  [Mscontinged
| Aiiverns oof Crrriion drllars ) Cannalidaled Raland e el ama Ineflec thveieis hediges hedges
Cash low hedges
Interest rate risk
Varioble rote ossats Securities - Investment, net of
opplicoble allowance; Loans - Retall; 5 1.248 {2,115) § (3.126)
interest bearing deposits with banks;
Assets purchosed under reverse
repurchose ogreements ond securities borrowe
Variable rote lhobifities Deposits - Busi and gove it:
Deposils -~ Personal; (2.558) 5607
Obligations reloted bo assels sold under
repurchese agreements and securities loaned
Forergn exchange risk
Fixed rote assets Securities - Investment, nel ol
applicable allowonce 50 -
Het investment hedges
Fnril.',gn ilxrhnngp risk
Fosrelgn subeldiaries n.a. 1.531% (382}
i at o boi e yoor eraded Octoksei 18, 3002

| Mo of Conaden dofkrs)

Commolidiied Bulanie Shee ileifmn

Charges in folr
vilues used for
coloulating hedge
wefiectiveness

Caris iree Fypadigeil +
CLETENTY [Tarslalion ressne

Conlivsng  Discontisued

medzes
Cosh flow hedges
Interest rafe rick
Variable role gssels SeCurities = Invesiment, ned ol
applicable allowdnce; Loans - Rebail; % &, 720 5 |.6ER)
Interest hearing deposits with banks;
Assets purchosed under reverse
repurchose agreements and securities bomrowed
Warlable rote liobilities Deposits - Business ond government: [B.EB95] 2231
Deposits < Personol;
I.']hllgql bons reloted 1o assels sald under
repurchose agreements and securities looned
Forefgn exchaonge risk
Fixed rote assels Securities - Investment, net ol
applicable allswance (V7] 7 -
Het investment hedges
Forefgh exchonge risk
Foreign subsidiories n.a 1,827 {421}
no e opplleobie
Effectiveness of designoted hedging relationships
Foi 1% yedd onded October 10 2023
Hedgr
Chonge in foirvalue  ineflectiveness  Chonges inthe volue of  Amounk reclessilled
of hedging recognizedin ik hedging bsstrument  from hedge reserves
| Ml ol Comilion dallars) _linstrument o (1) _recognized in OC1 by e e
Foir value hedges
Interest role risk
Interest rote contracts - fixed role assets 1.385 3 (L] no.
Inberest rate conlracts - Fixed rote liabilities {205) T n.a,
Caosh Mlow hedges
Interest rofe rizk
Interest rate cantrocts - varloble rate assels {2.232]) T 5 {3.121)
Interest rate contracls - variable rote liobilities 2416 (R84 3,045
Forefgn exchange risk
Cross currency swap - fixed role ossets [50] - (37)
Net investment hedges
Foreign eschonge risk
Foreign currensy liabilities (684] E =
Forward contracts {§28) = {1891)

1= Wierpal Bark ol Carads: Aveusl Brpe) 2003

Caimlidsled it Shalememis
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Tew Lhee pror eried Oclober I1 222

H
Change infair vohue Inuﬂ\:dm'?:. Chonpes inhe voler ol  Amount reckasaified
of | B recogrired v the hedging mstrument  from hedge neseres
{Mions of Conadan dofiars} Instnament incomer (1) recogpieedinOC] o income
Fair value hedges
Interest rate risk
Interest role contracts - Fixed role gesels g 1,650 & {45} na n.d.
Interest rale contracls - Mixed role liobilities {5,713) 9 n.a. n.a.
Cash flow hedges
Interest rote risk
Interest rote contracts - variable rote ossets {4,698 [ELT I (4.432) & {185}
Interest rote contracls - variable rate liobilities 6,713 £ 6673 {118}
Forefgn exchonge risk
Cross currency swap - fived role gssets 17 - 23 17
Met investment hedges
Foreign exchange risk
Fareign currency liabilties {1,771 {3} {1,768) v
Forwdrd cantracts [155) - {159) {23)

(U Merlge issllecivene Pecoghlied n ingorme nciuded goiss ol §1 sillsn (bl e ecchoded s he sirvsnen of hedps #lTe eene and e T by ecsnnmic
Pedpes {Octsber 11, W22 « beases of 49 milios)
A0 el Dpplicobie

Reconciliotion of components of equity
The following toble provides o reconciliobion by risk category of eoch component of equity ond on analysis of ather
comprehensive income reloting to hedge occounting:

— Forkheyeor sndedOctober 0, 1808 For the pear ended Outober 3L 2002
Cosgh flow hedge CUrTency Canh flow hd| Formign cu ]
| Wiy of Conadsan ditiars) BNV I.r:'.:mm wmrr tromnl Iﬂ_ lnl:'rv_q_n_
Balonce ot the beginning of the year 5 2394 5 5688 % 566 & 24055
Cash flaw hedges
Effective portion of changes in lair vahse
Interest rate risk 568 2141
Foreign exchange risk 44) 23
Equity price risk {119) [l
Net amaunt reclassified to profitor loss:
Ongoing hedges:
Intéerest rate risk {377) {227}
Fareign exchange risk 37 117)
Equily price risk 93 {23)
De-designated hedges:
Interest rate risk 453 530
Hedges of nel Investment in foreign eperations
Froreign exchange denominated debt (bE4) {1.76H)
Forward forelgn exchonge controcts (828) {15%)
Foreign currency tranclation differances for
larekgn operations 2,164 5085
Reclossification of losses (gains) on forcign
currency translation lo income [V&0} {18}
Reclossification of losses [pains) on nel
Investment hedging octhvitles to income 1491 23
Tox an movements on reserves during the
period (249) 241 {B98) 470
Bolonce ab the end of the yeor 5 2,756 % 6,612 % 1304 5 5608

Cardoldadnd Firorcial Satemnily Bopol Bank ol Corads &l Repait MU L]
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__Right-ofuse lease ossets.
lxlures
Computer and other Leasehold Wark in
(e of Eomadian doflars) __Lond Buildings equipment equipment improvements process  Buildings Equipment  Total
Cost
Bolance of beginning of period  § 1418 11,2615 1,169 5 B35 5 2H4A5 5 120 5 5.748 5 199 5 12,419
Additions - - 2 12 29 511 ELH KO 10449
Acnquisition theough business
onmidinoiion - - - - - - - - -
Tronsleds from work in
rOCESs - 1% 246 62 187 [514) - - -
Disposals o {53) [218&) [96) (78} 12) [331] {31) (807)
Foregn emchange branslolion 1 [ 11 9 a2 | 13 - 174
Oither 12) I8 in 12 (8} [L1] (2] {31) {1}
Boknce ol end of period 51405 1,251-5 1183 S B35 § 307 5 108 5 5893 § 317 5 12,834
Accumulated depreciation
Bokance af begimning of perlod S -] 627 5 40 5 515 5 1656 5 =5 1,643 § 114 5 51205
Depreciolion - 51 247 a1 215 - 559 92 1,275
Disposals - {50) (216) [88) [kli]]} - (113 {31) [S&T)
Foreign exchange ranslolicn = 3 16 L] 16 = E1 - 11
Other S | R I [ % - (21 100
Bolance at end l."p{‘lll'.rd L) =3 ] 723 8 550 % 1563 5 - & 2049 § 154 4 6085
Het carrying omount ot end of
period 5 140 5 605 5 560 5 285 3 1.044 5 108 5 3,744 S 163 5 6,749
Hes 1he yeor erdesd Ochoba 18, 2022
Cramed by the Bark {1 liight:of-use lpase ossets
Furniture,
fixtures.
Computer  amd olher Leasehald  Wark i
|Mmicny ol Conadian doliar | Lond Buildings oquipnent  equipment  improvements  procoss Buildings Equigmeend Tolal
Cost
dolance ol begiming of perlod 3 145 % 1308 5 1,126 5 e 2,754 & 170 % 5394 5 WEs 11978
Additions 24 i 28 157 e 138 850
acrquisition through business
combination - - & 1 ] 1 L1 - &7
Transfers from work in process - 15 195 44 106 (465} - - -
Disporsals. (ML (83 [195) {5] |205) (1) | 153]) IREL] (T8}
Fareign emchange translation 1 4 17 15 67 6 58 (1) 193
OCiher [T (3 8] £ LA 12 124 - 100
Bolance at end of period 5 141 % 1361 § 1,168 § 36 § 1,845 § 130 § 5,748 § 199 § 12419
Accumulated depreciation
Bakance al begirning of period  § 5 TR ] 584 5 427 % 1,589 & - % 1,133 % 157 % 4554
[heperesc | aitlon - 45 Fit ] B L - A0 8T 1,245
Dspadals {80} [192) 4] | 204 | 104&) [944) {732}
Foregn exchange tronsiotion - i1 12 i 38 - 2 i1 58
Cither = {16} i i = - 43 17 i
Bolance at end of period 5 - % hav % 40 5 515 % 1,656 5 - % 1.643 5 1145 5,205
Mol carrying amaund ol end of
el 5 1418 B34 5 829 5 s 1,189 § 130 5  4,10% S 18 s 1214
M Ak o Ol 11, 300, wow el 160l desileoelin] el menls of V0 million Ie purchin el snd igelpment [Ootober 11, 1077 - 18 slllkon)

Lease payments

Total lease payments for the year ended October 31, 2023 were 51,326 million, of which 5655 milllon or 49% relates tovariable
payments and 5671 milllien or 51% relates to fixed poyments. Total lease poyments for the vear ended October 31, 2022 were
51213 million, of which 5578 million or 48% relotes to varioble poyments and $635 million or 53% relates (o fixed poyments

Total varioble legse paymenls nol Iincluded in the megsurement of lease lighilities wene S647 million lor the yeor epded
Octaber 31, 1023 [October 31, 2022 - 5571 millian)

Mo Noyal Bonk of Canoda S Beport N2 Cemanladobed Fineneiel Sictetmerts
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Goodwill
For iter yeor ended October 11, 2023
U5, Weolth
Cosadion Mosagemsenl |nlersalianal
(Mo ol Conodian  Coribbean Wealth Clobal Asset fincludisg Wealth  lsvestor Copitad
Coadien dalles) Hombing  Bonking Monagemsent Monagement Clby Moblonal) Monogemeni  Services Insuronce  Maorkets Todal

Eolonce at hfglnn-ng.

af period $ 1574 5 1,759 % 89 % 1924 % 3,027 % 1,042 § 59 & 112 & 1,187 §12.377
Roruisitioni m - - - - - - - - i
[Hspazitions = = = = - - {30} - - {30}
Cufrercy bronslations - 12 ] K 53 52 - - 18 277
Bolance af #md of

pericd § 2644 § 1,791 § 593 8 2016 § 3,080 5 1,124 § 2% 5 111 § 1,205 #1254

oot I e et Oiclodees 31, 2022

15, Weahh
Conaifign Mosogement  Intemsational

| MBI ol Faradian  Caribhenn Weollh  Globod Avasi (inekiding Wealth BeremiBor Capital
Coradisn dullar Bonking  Bunking Monogemen!  Monaprment  City Nulsonal]  Monagement Senvicoes (1) masarce Markets (1) Tl
Balonce ot beginning

al pariod £ 2557 % 1600 % §71:% 1,044 % 168 & 115 % 60 & 112 % Lion & 10854
.ﬂl:l'll,lhlllﬂnl I3 - 53 BEQ LU
Hapositions - - - - {19 - - - - f1%)
Currency translaliens = 159 12 6y 7R a7 [L1] - Ré 512
Balince al and of

petlod & )8M4-5 1,750 % E&O &£ 1528 % 1027 § 104y s £ & 112 & 1,187 5 12277
[ Amouacs hisee bieh revided o ihDue pevioualy preisniad bn Gl ons 80 o0 Serw Doiis of SRgime il preieiliion. Beler (o Note 2T (or [ deosl of o Bisined

SERMSE

We perform our annual impairment test by comparing the corrying amount of each CGU bo ts recoveroble amount, The
recovergble amount of o CGLU is represented by ils VIL, 1.':ln:|:'|:|l incircumstances where the carmying omount of g COU excecds its
WIL, In such cases, the greater of the COU's FYLCD and 1ts VIU s the recoverable amount, Our annual impairment test is

FII:'I‘FUI med as al August 1.

In owr 2023 ennual impadrment tests, the recovenobile amount of our Caribbean Banking COU wos based on (i FYLCD and the
recoverable amounts of oll other CGUs tested were based on their VIU. Inour 2022 annual impairment tests, the recoverable
amounts of the Corsbbean Banking CGU and International Wealth Maonagement CGU were based on thelr FVLCD and the
recoverable omounts of oll other CGUs Lested were bosed on thelr ViU,

Value inuse

We calcubale VIU using a five-year discounted cash flow method, with the exception of our International Wealth Manogemaent
COU where cash Now projections l:vmlr.-r'ingq SEVEN Yedr Pn'riud were ipmed, which more l:rum:'l',.'qlig'lﬂ wilh the st ntqglr.gruw!h
plan resulting from the aoguisition of RBC Brewin Dolphin. Fulure cosh Nows are bosed on financiol plons agreed by
management. estimated based on forecost results, business initiatives, capital required o support future cosh flows and returns
to shorehobders. Key drivers of fubwre cash Nows inchude net interest margins and average Interest-earning assets. The volues
assigned to these drivers over the forecast period are based on post experience, external and internal economic forecasts, and
management's expectations of the Impact of economic conditions on our fingnclal results. Beyond the inithal cash flow projection
period, cosh fows are assimed to increose al o constant rate using o nominal Inng-teem growth rote (terminal growth rote ),
Terminal growth rates ore bosed on the long-term steady stole growth expectotions in the countries within which the CGU
operotes, The discount rates used Lo determing the present value of eoch COU's projected future cash flows ore based on the
bonk-wide cost of capital, adjusted for the risks fowhich each COU is exposed, CGU-specilic risks include: country risk, business/
aperalional risk, geograghic risk {including palitical risk, devaluation risk, and government regulation), currency risk, and price
risk [including product pricing risk and inflathon)

The estimation of VU involves significont judgment in U determinotion of inputs bo the discownted cash low mode] and &
mast sensitive to chonges In futwre cash Nlows, discount rotes end terminal growth rates opplied Lo cosh flows beyond the
forecost period. The sensitvity of the VIU to key inputs ond assumgtions used was tested by recalculating the recoverable
ameunt uskng reasonably possible chonges to those parameters. As at August 1, 2023, no reosonobly possible change In an
Individual key input or gssemption, as described, would resull in g COU corrying amaun! exceeding ifs recoverablie amount
bosad an VIL

Carnaiidalnd Finotil Setrmenis Hiopol Bark ol Conoda: Annual Repel 3633 =
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The terminol groneth rotes and pre-tax discount rotes used noour disoounted cash flow madels are surmmarized balow,

’.\:d
_ Mgellaon _AugtT. 12
Terminal Terminal
Discount E‘mth Discoint growlh
__ roteqy  rate fate 1) rate
Group of cash generating units
Congdion Banking 7% 3.0% 1.0% 1.0%
Coribbean Hnll.klng 129 1.5 1340 L5
Congdion Weclth Monagement 12.5 3.0 1. 3.0
Clobal Assel Monagemenl 125 1.0 1.8 U]
LS Wealth Manogement | including City National) 12.5 10 128 1o
Internolienal Wealth Marogement (o 115 3.0 nim nam
Investar Services 124 L0 1L.E 30
Insurance 12.4 1.0 1.6 i
Copite] Morkets 157 1.0 124 30
M Prebo diveound rofes are delermined sl £y based on pobl-los daconl nites
121 the recoverdhle oo for nur internat oo Wealkh Masogement C6U s detenmined ving o mullgles boued opeoach in 5082

nm. sl seasriphd

Falr valwe less costs of disposal - Carfbbean Banking
As gt August 1. 2033, the recoverable amount of our Corlbbean Banking CGU, based on FVLCD, was 109%% of its corrying amount
[August 1, 2022 - 109%). We colculoted FYLCD using o discounted cash Flow method thol projects future cosh lows over o S-year
period, Cash flows are based on management forecosts, odjusted to approximate the considerations of o prospective third-party
buyer, Cosh flows beyond the initig| 5year period gre assumed Lo incregse ol o constant role u:ing i maminal Inns Eerm grum-th
rate. Fulure cash Mows, termingl growth rates, and discount retes are bosed on the same factors noded above. The forecast
lature cash Mows were discounted us'mgq-'pr:' tox rate of 12.0% {August 1, 222 - 12.6%). rcflr:iing a I1igh¢'r interes! rate
envirofment. This lalr vabse measurement is calegorized os level 3 n the falr vahee hierarchy os certabn significant inpuls are not
observable. We wse significont judgment to determing inpuls o the discounted cash flow madel, which ks most sensitive to
changes in future cash flows, discount rates and terminal growth rates

We considered regsonobly possible alternative scenarios, including market comparabbe transact kens, which yielded
valuatkens ranging from on immateriol deficil to an immatericl surplus, The sensitivity of the FVLCD to key inputs ond
assumptions waos tested by recalculaling the recoverable omount using reasonably pessible changes o those porometers. A
50 bprs |.I|u|1g: in the lerminol y_iq:mlluulr wirlled increase and decregse the recoverable amount by 52335 million ond 2049 million,
r-usp-u:l:iw.-l-,'. A 50 bps incregse in the discount rote would decregse the recoverohle amaoynt by 2278 million, A reduction in the
lorecaatad eash Mows af i per annum woubd reduce the recoverdble amount by 485 million. IF fuituire €adh Mows were Fediaced
by 8%, the recovercble amount would approximale the carrying amount. Changes in these assumplions hove been apphied
holding other individual factors constant. However, changes in one factor may be mognified or offset by related changes in ather
assumplions as impects Lo the recoveroble amount are highly interdependent ond chonges in assumgions may not hove o lineors
effect on the recoveroble amount of the CGU. In aggregate. the range of reasonably pessible outcomes would not materially
affect the recoverable amount of the CGLL

b ) Mool Bl 6l Carade Armual Brparl 004 Caniofidatd Firatisl SEolemenls
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Other intangible assels

Internally

generobed fist ond  n process
{tiom of Comdion dotiars} __softwore _ relobionships  software  Tolal
Gross Cnll'fiﬁﬂ amaunt
Ralance at beginning of period 5 5076 5 908 S 1.630 & 2472 5 1535 5 10,6
Additionrs A1 179 - - 1134 1,394
Acquisition thiough businesd combinotion = n - - - 11
Tronsfers 1,067 78 = = {1, 145) =
Mispositlons {509} {145) - {160} B (806}
Impalimen losses (73} - - () (5] 187)
Currency lramslotions (] 17 15 144 38 195
ther changes {115} Pl - 9  [33) (110}
Hr.llnnr_r‘nt endl of period i 5595 5 1,087 § 1.658 3§ 2456 5 1,53} S 1:.m_
Accumuloted amartizotion
Balance at beginning of period 5 (3031) % ([&12) 5 (1,148} % [T49) 3 - % (553%)
Amartization chorge for the year (v, 009) (148) (160) [172) - [0,487)
[Hipoditiane S0 157 - 114 - T
Impalrment losses {19y - 7 kx = (19}
Currency translations 137) {13) (24) [{33) - {107}
Gither changes () | [44) - (&) - 157)
Balonce at end of periad % [3.597) % (658) % (1.330) § (846) 5 - 5 [8A411)
Nel bodonce ot end of period $ 1998 § 439 § 328§ L6100 § 1.532 & 5907

Vst the yrar ended Oclober 11, 50007

internolly Core Customer

generated Mher deposit list ghed  In process
| il ol Cardtion dafisrs) saflware  sollwore imtangibbes redationships sollwane Textal
rass camying amaunt
Bolonce at beginning of period 5 4886 5 Bl 4 44 8 jdid % 1,236 & A O
Additiors 25 1h - - 1,156 1.297
Acquisition through business combinotion = 14 = 1.2%2 148 1454
Tromsfers L120 Th . = (1,1%7) =
DHspositions (960} [reng - (329] (5] [1,405)
Iripaifment lodides (18} 1) (27}
Currency tramnslotions A 45 45 113 A 411
other changes (51} {29) 7 [ 18] 78 {13}
Bolonce at end of periad 5 LA L 1% T 1,636 & 2472 % 1,595 5 1141
Accumuloted amortizotion
Bolonee at begirming of periad & {2979 % (§72) % [ERS] % (997] % 5. [5413)
Amortization charge Tor the year {aThj [037) EE]] [ 104} ]
[h_npr.-sillnns 5% LI - 115 - 1 383
Impainment losses 9 - - - - |
Currency translotions (36} {31) (k] 13 11533)
Other changes {8} L] [1o] 1 - X
Balance dt end of gerod S (a03rp % (612) 0§ [1,046] 3% [r4a) = 5 [5.5318)
Het bolonce at end of perlad F 045 3 2§ 484§ 1723 5 1535 § 6083

We do not have any joint venlurees or assocoiod componies that are individually material to our financiol results, The Fn:lnwlng
tabibe symmarires the corrying value of our inlerests in joint venluyres and associaled companies o counted for under the equily
method o well g our svare of the inceine ol [hose entilies

Il wrviares Riui MR £ R
Ak il et Ehie i’ :lk.l_
Debetser 31 Deisker M ihchob 31 D boier 18

|MiBion of Comadsmn dolrs} R 1= k] 2002 2023 1022
Carrying amount 5 115 & B 5 186 5 4b
Share of:

Mel b amis |y 5 18 % 103 % e 5 T
1} R bk ifapeirrnent Ik redagided o ouf isberees it st venlunes ond cuussksted comgeniey Dusing the pest snded Detslio 10 3001, we recogaiied imgadmenl

oh b Mo inleresd neome - Incomse [load | brom joinl vemutes and osasciales with reigeeet 18 our inleresl nen ensscisted comnpasy In ous Weakh
|Detsber 11, LS - )

Consodelald Fitarahel Sobrmenis Perpel Barm il Corada: Arniisal iegest) 033 2

550/634



EDINETOOOO
OO000O0000O0O00oOdno(Ees99s)
oOoOooodn

Hob= 13 Other ossels

A ul
ihchobar 11 Oichokied 1t
AT ol Cordes dolkira) 03 2
ACccounts receivable and prepaids 3 43731 5 4,251
Accioed interest receivable 7715 4,703
Cash colloteral 10,104 25834
Commaodity trading receivables 5979 1054
Dieferred income oy asscl 2446 14712
Employes benefit assets 1,816 3331
Held-lor-sale ossels 2.562 ]
Insurance-reloted ossels
Coblateral logns 528 524
Folicy loans 57 BS
Eeinsurance gssets 1,127 1.AkR4
Other 13 12
Investments in joinl ventures and gssociales 501 i1
Margin deposits 5849 14684
Precious melals 2,753 1771
Recetwibile lrodm brokers, dedalers amd clienls 2,814 325940
Tazes receivable BO08 6033
Qther 5403 4,741

% 77068 5 B, 30+

October 1, 1920 oo 1, 7022
[MiBion of £ crakan doliar) Demand (1 Notice i) Term 3| Tatal Demand ) Hotloe g Term 01} Tatal
Persanal 5 186,530 5 57614 5 197802 5§ 441,946 5 Misd5 5 A4.741 5 136544 5 404937
Business ond povernment 316,200 19,056 409,819 745,075 14ROl 17,855 Va0 ) FEARTO
Hank 7,996 769 35.901 444,66 14 5H 400 13,064 44,012

& 510,726 § T7A39 § 643,322 5 1230687 5 562,107 5 EIDEE £ SRIGND 5 1208814

Non-inlerest-bearing (4

Canada 3 132,994 5 6,107 % 168 § 139,269 5§ 149737 § 7,797 § 466 5 158000
United Staotes A0, 646 = = A0, 646 52.702 - = 52,702
Europe 15 17 - - 17 B0 b0
Other international T.165 - - 7265 7B - - 1 140
Interest-bearing (4

Canada 3ol 746 14,641 493,347 510,734 5719 17,5982 H{F, 550 733347
United States 16,210 55,805 78,8317 150,942 11410 57,055 RE. AT 151576
Eudape %) 53153 726 51,812 57,891 8,276 234 52,144 BO6T4
Oither International 54805 T 10,3158 24,913 5.7d3 - 16,312 22055

§ 510,716 562,007 5 EI0RE § 563,600 § 1208814

n

121
15}
14§

P e CoriaN

sl tremn depe

i the poing of rigin of Ehe deps ccagrland A

ilion ond 443 Elkan, jeapeg]

Ll

1%} Lurcps i e B U rgdom. the Chorned ludomds, fronee und Lusesmboorg

Conbraclual maturities of term de posits

Ak I
cladear 3 etk 1t
| Mimions of Comadmn dolkars) 10.13 M2l
Within 1 yeor

less than 3 months 5 182,373 5 159601

¥ Lo sl hys 69,868 1,996

6 bed 12 maonlbs 151,079 156531

11l 2 yedis 76,232 49,225

2o 1 years 49,965 4.2 R

Ito 4 years 16,774 27 50

4 o5 years 36,506 33835

Crver 5 vears 40,715 3202

5 643,511 5 5631610

Agpregate amount of term deposits in deneminations of one hundred thousond dollars or more & 586,000 S 521040
24 Boyal Bosk of Conoda: Anivad| Beport X014 Enmaldabed Finondiol Slaleiseris
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Averoge deposit balances and average rates ol interest

Fis lhe ot ended

_ Octobes W, MOV Attt M. HI21
Average  Averoge Averope  Averoge
|MiBioey of £ondadem dolldrs. escept o percentage am-urta) ~ balonces  rotes = balances rates
Canada £ 813,669 3.02% 5 R47052 1.02%
United Stoles 196,490 2.74 207,436 0,50
Eurepe T2 4,22 81,824 1.03
Other International 31,035 2.26 26,613 072

3 1.211,620 3.03% 5 1164925  092%

Risk manogement

Insurance risk is the risk of factuations in the tming, frequency or severity of Insured events, relative to our expectations at the
timie of underwriting. We do not hove a high degree of concentration risk dee to our geographic diversity ond buslness mix
Concentration risk is not a major concern for the life insurance business os it does nod have a moterial level of reghon-specific
choracleristics. Reinsurance ks obso usod for a majority of sur Conadian insarance business to lower our risk prefile and limit the
linhility on o ‘inglr clairm, We Mg Llnu'll'rwnllng arch pricl'rrg_ risk |hm|!ﬂh1hl" wse of Llnrlorwrlling Elllﬂl':h'li"'\"- which detail the
class, nature ond type of business Lhol may be occepled, pricing policies by product line ond conlroks over policy wordings, The
risk Uhal claims are handied o pnbd i|'||.'|||n|'.-r|:||:|rI|:|u'l‘5.I = miligated by uu'mg arange ol infarmation ln:hrmlug:,r |IT) system conlbrals
and monual processes conducted by experlenced stalf, These, together with o range af detalled policies and procedures, ensure
that all clakms are handed in a timely, appropriate and acowrate manner,

Reinsurance ceded

T Lhe oredinory course of business, our Inswrance operatbons reinsure rsks to olher insuronce and relnsuronoe companies in
order o lower our risk praﬁln, limit loss exposure o lorge risks, ond provide additionol capocity for future growth, These ceding
reinsurance orrongements do not relieve our insuronce subsidior es from oar direct obligations to the insured parties. We
evoluate the financial condition of the reinsurers and monitor our concentrotions of credit risks b minimize our exposure to
losses rom reinsurer insolvency, Reinsuronce amounls |ceded premiums) included in Non interest income are shown in the
[abke Felow

Met premiums and claims

Fow U year enged

Oiholssr 11 Dctobar 1
|Milinns of Coraden dollars) oy 20242
Gross premiums 5 5418 5 4913
Premiums ceded bo reinsurers {297] {264
Hel premiums & 5131 & 4,653
Gross claims and benefits gy 5 3960 %5 1741
Reinsurers' share of claims and benefits {261)  {273)
Mol clolms 5 3699 5 1468

i brchgide ihe ctmnge in fade value od Dmeeet ety taociling oo llogdadder Nodaliflea

Insurance claims and policy benefit liobilities ’

Al actuarial assumplions oré set in conjunction with Canodian Institule of Actuaries Standards of Practice and O5F1
requirements, The assumptions thal hove the greatest effect on the megsurement of Insurance liabilities, the processes used o
determine them and the assemptions wsed os at Ocheber 312023 are as follows:

Mortality end marbidity - Mortality estimates ore based on stondard Industry insured martality tables, odjusted where
appropriote to reflect our own experience, Morbidity ossumptions are made with respect to the rates of claim Incidence and
clalm termination lor heglth Insurance PD“I.'II:""- and are bosed on g combination nfindus!r!,l and cur own t-xpu:-ril:-r.-rn

Future imvestment yield = h:—lrmpljnn-r. agre bosed on the current vield rate, a reinvestment assumption and an allowance for
luture credit losses for each line of business, ond are developed using Interest rate scenaria testing, including prescr ibed
scenarkos for determination of minimem liabiities as set out in the actuarial standards

Policyheider behaviour - Under certaln polickes, the policyholder has a contractual right to change benefits and premiums, os
well os convert policies to permanent forms of insurance. All pelicyholders have the right Lo terminate their policies through

lapse. Lopses represent the termination of policies due to non-payment of premiums. Lapse assumptions are primarily based on
our recent experience adjusted for emerging industry experience where applicable.

Consrlidsted Fitaneial Slabrmants Wirpet Bard ol Canada Aneuel Tepotl 200 -
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Significant insurance assumplions
s i

Octaber 3l Ovtoher 11

023 il
Life Insuronce
Canadion Insurance
Martality rates iy 0.11% LIARL
Marbidity rates iz 1.79 .81
Future refnvestment yield 1) 3.73 175
Logse rates (4 0.50 050
Internationol Insurance
Kortalily rabes oy 083 LR
Fulure reinvestment yield iy 2.590 290

11} Averoge aarudl deaiheat o lor e loigerd poitiolo of imered policies

12} Swevoge net ierminoiion rote [on The individual and group disability imrones paninlis

13} URirmeale resvesiment rabe ef The insunnee ool

4] ulimeie pelicg inmenalion e | lopee male) o the b pest permaneni Me nsironce poeolsbs theat relies ofv 0 NHghes Lerminaions role 1D mainl o o profosisiirg
{logree supporied pacies )

Imsurance claims and policy benefit liobilities
I'he following toble summarizes our gross and reinswerers” share of insurance Habiligies ot the end of the year

Diecbokar 11, JO13 O Bolser 1 2037
|MiBi, ol £ cradesn dolkars) Gross  Ceded el Gross Ceded Net
Life insurance policyholder Habilities
Life, health and annuity £ 11,934 5 968 § 10966 5 11481 $ 903 & - 10579
Investment controcks g 38 - iR #1 - 41

S 11972 5 068 5 11,004 5 11522 % 902 5 10620

Non-life insurance policyholder liobilities
Unaarmisd pramium provision i L1 9 5 - % 9 3 7 L - 5 7
Ungpaaid claims prowision 32 i Ii in | 20

B I i B L L, 3.3 13 3

5 12,013 5 969 § 11,044 5 11,559 5 93 5 10,656

1 Listiimies o evestment oonlrocs ond unearmed premium poviien aee eptoied in Diher bubililies on the Consobdoled Bolonce Shesis

Reconciliotion of life insuronce policyholder Bobilities

Far the year mded

Wll'h_i I.l...lﬂ.?'l A Ol W, HLIT
|Milliesrrs of Cenadian doliars) Gross Ceded Hel Gross Ceded Net
Balonces ot beginning of period 5 11,522 % 902 % 10,620 5 12ENY % B61 5 11956
Mew and In-force polickes ji 552 £} 521 [1.288) {130} {1158}
Changes in ossumption and methodology a9y 36 {135} (&) 17 {177
Met rhqn.-_gf.': e |n','\f|¢._| menk r_r!r_llrr,!rlf_ 1;} - ‘}!_ |_I | = {1
Bolonces at end of period 5 11,972 5 968 & 11004 & 1151 £ 403 & 106D

m brw e ifw comnpe in fetr value of imeeu menl s daociing o policg®cdder liokalifle

The mel increase in life insurance policyholder Habilities aver the prios year was primarily attributable to business fronth
partially offset by gasset and Habilkty matching octivities ond market movements on assets backing life insurance policyholder
liobilities. During the year, we reviewed all key octuarial methods and assumplions which are used in determining the |ife
Insurance policyholder liebilities resulting bna 5135 milion net decrease to such liabilities. This ks primarlly comprised of o
decresse of 5170 million arising from Insurance risk related assumption updates lorgely due to mortality ossumptions. paortiolly
offset by increases of 515 million due to changes to valuation models and reloted data and 514 millien due to an incregse In the
crediting rate on universol life insurance policies.

e Byl Biorl, il Caneddo: A Ningeit 2021 Consstclslnd Fieanilal Scbrirenis
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Sentitivity analysis

Thie folbowing toble preseats the sensitivity of the level of insuronce policyholder labilities disclosed in this note Lo reosonaebly
possible changes in the actuarkal essumplions used to caloulate them. The percentoge chonge in each variable is applied te o
range of existing actuarial modelling assumptions Lo derive the possible iImpoct on net income. The analyses are parformad
where o single assumption |s changed while holding other assumptions constant, which is unlikely to occur in proctice,

Fisel i Come impoti
bewt ghe gy mrededl

henge m Dectobar 51 Dectobr 31
| Wil of Comadien doliar, @cepd fof percennge Omounta) wiiradie I{Ill 0322
Incredase I markel inleresl iates gy 1% 5 1 -1 [RLi}
Decremse in market interest rates ) 1 7 ]
Increase in equity market vakues iz mn 2 [
Decrease In equity morket values iz L[] (8) (AL
Increase In maintenance axpenses i 5 (32) {33)
Life Insurance (1)
Adverse change i annuitant mortalily roles F 177} {166)
.ﬁ.r..-"urrwrhnngl.- in owsurgnce martality rates 2 (54} {59)
Adverse change in morbidity rotes 5 77 (181}
Adwverse change in lopse rotes 10 {192} (R

M Serumhotien (o s Inleresl (ol clide the St bed curment paniod Srnings amgact of 4 K0 bavh poiscs shill i ihe kel cuive by INCreasing the cumet
FERsAELTRERL Nobes while holding the dttumed UBIRO0E rales Conitant. The senull ity constils of Baolh B dnpoct sn sasmed renvestnenl rated i the octuarnal
Wb dit e and ooy chaniges i As value of gssete oad Batdliles from the vkt clmve BN

FI

e 10 changes. I squity market values ore composed of (e Eepected cument persod sombigs impoct fom diflereces b (he changes in loirsalue of the spsty
et holdings ond B partially offsatling Impect on e sctotial lobisies

|8 Sencdkifies o chemges momaindpeanee sopenees ond By aaumnes actugral gnwempbions nciuide the copscted curment ;\.H:.cd womisgy impact from recogndion al
incregedl liekdlilbes due Bo on odverse chongs in S ghoon ossesgslion o e Wetime o il inforon Pl

We affer certain individual variable insurance contrects that allow palicyholders bo invest in segregoted funds, The investment
returns an these funds are passed directly to the policyholders. Amounts invested are af the policyholders’ risk, except where the
policyholders have sebected options providing maturity end death benefit guarantees. A liability for the guarantees & recorded in

Insurgnce claims and policy benefit liobilities.

Segregated fund net assets are recorded ot fair value. All of our segregated fund net ossets are cotegorized as Level T in the
lair value hierarchy, The fair value of the segregated Fund Raobilities s equal to the foir value of the segrepated fund net assets
Segrepated fund net assets ond segrepated fund liobilities are presented on separate lines on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
The following tobles present the compasition of net assels and the changes in net assots for the vear,

Segregoted fund nel assels
Ak 3l

irtbiser 1) Ch e 1)
|Milliom of Conadsn dotiarsj 2023 PLiERS
Cash H] 40 5 i
Investment in mutuagl funds 2,719 215494
Other assets [linhilities ), nel 1 1
5 2,760 % 2638

Changes in net asseks

Far ibe year ended

scobear 51 Oichiobes 3t

|MiBior of Conadian doliars) 2023 2022

Met assets ol beginning of pericd 5 2638 = 2,665

Additions {deductioms):

Depasits Iram policyholders T34 B59
Het realized and unrealized goins (losses) 52 {301)

Interest and dividends T6 56
Payment to policyhobders. (GaE) (573§
Management and administrative fees 172) (L5

Net assets ot end of period 5 1760 5 2638
Lornnbdotrd Fircnoicl Sldtrmeniy Wiy Baivk of Cancda A hejpeil 5171 6T
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Plan chargcteristics

We spansor a number of programs that provide pension and post-employment benefits to eligible employees. The majority of
beneficiaries of the pension plans are locoted in Canada and siher beneficiaries of the pension plans are primarily lecated b the
U5, the LK. and the Caribbean. The pensicn arrangements including investment. plan benefits and funding declsions are
governed by bocal pension committ ees or trustess, who are legally segregated from the Bonk. or manogement. Significont plan
chonges reguine the op proval of the Boord of Directors.

Our defined benefit pension plans provide pension benelits bosed on years of service, contributions and average earnings ot
retirement. Our primory defined benefit pension plons are closed Lo new members. New emplayees are generally eligible to jain
delined contribubian Fennh:m plun-n The sp:'n'[il: legtures of these plans vory by localion, We also prnq-il:e- u:pph.‘nrnlql
non-registered (non-qualified) pension plans far certain execulives and senior management that are typically unfunded ar
partially funded,

Dur defined contribution pension plans provide pension benefits based on accumulated employes and Bank contribul o,
Thie Bank contritutions are bosed an o percentoge of on employee’s annual earnings and o porthen of the Bank contribution may
be deperdent on the amount being contributed by the employee and their yeors of service

Our primary other post-em ployment benefit plans provide health, dental, disability and life insuronce coverage ond cover o
numbser of current and relired employees who are manly locoted In Conodo. These plans are unfunded unless required by
legislation,

Wi measure our benefit cbligations and pension assets os b October 51 each yvear. All plans ore valued using the projecied
unit-credit methad, We fund our registered defined benefit pension plans in accordance with ectuarially determined amounts
required Lo solisfy employee benelil abligations under current pendion regulations, For ear principal pension phan, the most
recent lunding ocluarkal valuation was completed on jonuary 1, 2023, and the next valuation is required no later thon
joruary 1, 2026

For the year ended October 31, 2023, total contributions to our pension plans (defined benefit and defined contribution
plans] and other post-empioyment benefit plans were 5346 million and 580 millkon (October 31, 2022 - 5427 million and
M million). respectively. For 1024, total contributions to our pension plans and ather post-employmant benafit plans are
expected bo be 5408 milllon ond 586 million, respectively

Risks

By their design, the defined bemefii pension and olher post-employment Isenelii plons expose the Bonk bo various risks such os
investment perfarmance, reductions in discount rates used to value the obligations, increased longevity of plan members, future
Inflaticn levels impacting future salary increases as well os future increases in healthoare costs. These risks will reduce over fime
due to the membership clesure of aur primary defined benefil pension plans and migration te defined contrlbution pension plans.

The following table presents the financial position rebated to all of our material pension ond other post-employment benefit plons
worldwide, including executive retirement arrangements.

October ILIOE) Cebober 11, U1
Other pl:m. Other post-
Defined benefit  employment  Defined benefit  employment
(Mo of Ecnademn dollars | pension plans  benefit plans  pension plans  benafit plans
Canado
Fair volue of plon osseks 5 13,704 5 - 5 14310 5 -
Fresent walue of defined benefit oblipation 11,142 1,348 11271 1,387
Kot surplus [deficit) 5 2,562 5  [1,348) 5 1039 s {1,387}
Inbernational
Foirvalue of plon ossels 5 G645 - 5 Tie 5 -
Present value of delined benefit abligation ELE 9 612 15
Het surplus [deficit) 5 T (63} = W5 {75}
Total
Falrvalue of plon ossets 5 14368 5 = 5 15006 5 -
Present value of defined h-rnrfﬂ obligation 11,727 Lll_Il 11,8493 1.462
Total ned surplus Id['IILIH -1 2,641 % [1.41T7) & .13 § {1L.a62)
Effect of osset celling _ _{_91 = (B} -
Total net surplus (deficit). net of effect of asset ceiling H 1632 5 [1.417) % 1925 5 {1.462)
Amounts recognized in our Consolidoted Bolance Sheets
1'||1|Jlayl:-|;-h|.-nL-flt;|=-|.Lh. 5 286 % - 5 3331 & -
Employes benefit obilities - (194} [1.417) {206} {1.4632)
Total net surplus {deficit), net of effect of asset celling 5 1632 & (1.417) s 3025 § (1462
MHB Noyol Fonit ol Corada Al Brpt 3024 Lenviicabard | irsatsial SPolerrared 3
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Thie falbowsng table presents an analysis of the movement in the financlal position related to all of our material pension and other
post-employment benefit plans woeldwide, including executive retirement arrangements.

As b o T the peor enided
Dikober ¥, 2023

Dctoher ¥, 1032
Other post- Other post-

pefined benefit  employment  Defined benefit  employment

__ pension plons 1) benefit plans.  pension plons ) benefit plans

(Ml of Cenadian diliarsj

Falr value of plan assets at beginning of period E ] 15,026 % - % 17,703 % -
Interest income 786 - SHO -
Remensurements

Return on plan ossets [excluding Interest Income) (895) - {2911} -
Change in foreign currency exchange rate 55 - (L] -
Contributions = Employer 13 80 117 4
Contributions = Plan participant 44 a2 45 kL
Payments {BA5) {102} (L] 199)
Poyments - amount paid in respect of settlements - - | F
Dusiness combinatiens/Disposals {17} - 135 -
Other {9) - {14} -

Folr vabue of plan assets at end of peried 5 14,368 § - § 15026 % -

Benefit obligation ot beginning of period H 11,893 § 1462 = 15315 °$ 1780
Current service costs 195 33 308 42
Past service costs - {1} (A1 1
Gains and losses on seltlements - - {3} -
Interesl expense 624 77 A9 53
Hemeasurements

Actuarial losses {goins) from demogrophic

assumplions (2) {24) {2} {1y

Actuorbol losses {goins) from financial assumiptions {48a) {46} [3.797) {341)

Actuariol losses [gains) from experience adjustments T {1} f3 {4
Change in foreign currency exchange rate 45 1 147} &
Contributions = Plan participant 44 iz 45 kL
Paymenis [645) {102} {6 1) {%9)
Payments - amount pald in respect of settlements - - k| -
Business combinoliens/Disposals {17} 13 103 {1h

Benefit abligation at end of period % 11,727 § 1.417 5 11,893 5§ 1462

Unfunded obligatkon H 18 % 1417 & 231 % 1462

Whaolly or partly funded obligotion 11,709 - TLRTD -

Total benefit obligation % 1,717 $ 1417 5 11,893 % 1462

1N Tor penaben plens wilk funding delic iy, e benefil obtigolions and fow solee of plon gaseln o8 of Ol ober 8, 7070 were 5500 millon ond 1 million, regectively
| D tober 11, 3020 - 3570 million cnd 157 million, respescinvedyl)

Pension and other post-employment benefil expense
The following talle presents the compasition of our pension and other post-employment benefit expense related to our material
penskon and other post-employment benefit plans worldwide.

Fortheyeorended =~~~

Other p'.nl'\'luphr;ﬂwl'l-r

Pension plans __ benclil plans :
ctober 11 Cctideer 11 hctober A1 Otk 10
[Millicsrrs of Conaian dolisrs 2023 2022 2013 2022
Current service costs 5 195 5 g % 3 5 42
Past service costs - m {2) 2
Goins ond besses on setthements - (3] = -
Met interest expense {income) {162) {B4] 77 63
Remegsurements of other long term benefits - - (1 {24)
Administrof ve expense 9 14 - -
Detined benefit pension expense 5 42 5 5 107 5 81
Drelined conlribulbon s ion expense 3 250 =l -
£ 365 5 dRd & 117 s &1

Service costs for the yeor ended October 31, 2023 totalled 5193 milllon (October 31, 2022 - 5305 million} for pension ploens in
Conedo and 52 milllon (October 31, 2022 - 52 millken) for Internationol plans. Nel Interest expense (income) for the year ended
October 31, 2023 totalled ${157) million [October 3, 2022 - £(&3) milllon) for pension plans in Canada and 5{5] million

(Drtober 31, 2037 = §(1) millian) for nternational plans,

Consslidrd Firof kil Sodemenls Fierpel Baik nl Conoda: Anrusl Ripes ) 2020 o]
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Pension and other post-employment benefit remessurements
The followkng toble presents the composition of cur remeasurements recorded in OC1 related bo our moterial pension and other

post-amplaymant benefit plans worldwide,

For thae year eoded

Nefined henefit pension Orhet pest-employment
B plars benelil plans
Dol 51 O Rt 1 Aicieber 31 O kb 1
|MiBion of Conademn dollars 2023 2002 013 2022
Acluariol {gains) losses:

Changes in demogrophic gssumplions £ {2) 5 (2] % (27) s {1
Changes in financiol assumptions (480) (3,797) 145) 319}
Expefience odiusiments 0 83 2 15)

Return on plon assets [excluding intarest based on discount rate) K95 2031 - -

Chonge in assat celling {excluding Interest income) 1 2 E -
5 484 5 [783) 5 {70) % 1325}

Remegsurements recorded b OC1 for the year ended October 31, 2023 were losses of 5440 million [(October 31, 2022 - gains of
578 million) fior pension plans in Congda ond losses of 544 millken (October 31, 2022 - losses of 515 millisn | for Intematienal
plans,

Investment policy and strategies
Delined benelil pension plan assels are imvested prudently inorder to meel our lanper-term pension obligations. The pension
plans’ investrnent strategy is to hold a diversified mix of investments by asset closs and geographic lecation in order to reduce
Investment-specific risk to the funded stotus while maximizing the expected returns to meet pension obligations. Investment of
the plon's os=ets follows on asset/llability framework os investmend |s conducted with coreful consideration of the pension
obligotion’s sensitivity Lo interest rates and credil spreads which ore key risk factors impacting the obligation's volue. Foctors
taken inte considerotion in developing our asset mix include but are not limited to the following:

+  the noture of the underlying benefit obligotions, incheding the duration and lerm profile of the liabilities;

® the member -dl..-fnr.'rgmp-hlr.s.. inu:ll.lding expeclations for normal retirements, lerminations, and deaths;

+ Ihelinanclal position of the pension plans;

® the diversilication benelite obiained by the inclusion of multiple ossel closses; ond

» expected asset returns, including asset and liobility correlations, along with liquidity requirements of the plan,

To Implemenl our asset mix policy, we may invest in debt securitles, equity securities, and alternative investments. Qur haldings
In certain investments, ncheding common shares, debt securities roted lower than BAE and residential ond commercial
mertgages, cannat exceed a defined percentage of the market value of our defined benelit pension plan assets. We may use
derivative instruments os either g synthetic investment o more n.l'[il:icnil:,‘tr.-plil;ﬂtt' the par formance of an und nrl-,.-lng security, or
as a hedge against linanclal risks within the plan. To monage our credit rsk exposure. where defivative Instfuments are not
central .‘:r :Irnmd.cnulllcrpurllna are required bo meel minimum credit rnllngﬂl and enter Inta rnl:lnt:'rqlugﬂ.-cm:'nl:s.

Our defined benefit pension plon assets are primarily comprised of debl and equilty securities ond alternative investments,
Our equity securities genenally have unodjusted quobed market prices in an octive market (Level 1) and owr debl securities
penerally have quoted market prices for similar assets in on active market (Level 2). Altemnative investments and other includes
cash, hadge funds, and private fund investments including infrostructure equity, real estate, privole debt ond private eguity. in
thie cose of private fund investments, no quoted market prices ore usually available [Level 2 or Level 3}, These fund assets are
ether volued by anindependent valuator or priced using ohservable market inpuls

During the year ended Oclober 31, 2023, the monogement of delined benelit pension imeestiments lecused on increosed
allocat lon bo risk rqdurlng nvesimenls q'l'vdf.l.rul,c-gkﬁ. imprm.-ing diversification, while 5|;rhring o malntakn mprﬂqd Investment
retym, Cver time, an incregsing allocation (o debt securities is bebng used o reduce gsseliliability duration mismatch and hence
variability of the plan’s lunded stotus due to interest role movement. Longer moturity debl securities, given their price sensativity
e mavements in interest rates, are considered to be a good economic hedge Lo risk associated with the plan's labilities, which
are discounted using predominantly long motue ity bond inlirest rotes as inputs.

L] Ropnl Bark ol Canada Antusl Begar 1121 Canuniidohod Fitancial Salemenis
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Assel allocation of defined henefil pension plans ). (3

oot
Shtsiel-Fl JUT) Dot W, 1022 ;
Percen Quoted Percontage Quaoted
oftetal  inockive of tatal i octhve
{MSons wf Conadin duflert, EACAgS pevceraagr) Fairvolue  plonassels  morkety) Foirvolue  planossels  market ()
Equilty securities
Dosmeslic ] 723 5% 100% 4] 1,469 10% 100
Forelgn 1,726 2 100 2,799 9 [£1:1)
Dbl secuiilies
Dasmestic government bonds (4 4,341 0 - 34849 23 -
Foreign government bonds 128 1 - 114 1 -
Corporate and other bonds 3,296 3 = LR Fi -
Alternative Investments and other 4,152 9 & jaR4 26 |
5 14368 105 19% 5 1502 1011% 0%

[ The owsrd gliccotion s based on e underying imvestmesis beld dnect iy onil indinectly Beough e fgndas g this s how we sonege e meesiment policy ond drgegses.

|2 mepresents the 1010l pisn gisets hield in our Conodios ond intemationol perion plorm.

10 o ouf aasevsment of whelhed of nol an aiset e quetod s as eclhe Mrod wos eed on direc] Fvedmenis, 22 of our [o10] phos ceeds wouh Be cesufed o8 geoled
iy g bee mariel {Octoben 51, H22 - 346

[4)  Amounty are rel of securites sold under repanthase ogreemenis

As ot Oclober 31, 3023, the plon assets inchede 0.3 million (October 31, 2003 < 0.7 million ) ot our common shares with o lair
v lue af 537 million (October 31, 2022 = 589 million) and 62 million (Oclober 31, 2022 = 548 million]) of owr debt securities., For the
yeor ended October 31, 2023, dividends received on our common shares held in the plan gssets were $3 million (October 31, 2022
54 million).

Maturily prafile
Thie fiollowing table presents the maturity profile of our defined benefit pension plan obligation
ks ot October 31, 2013

|Millicm of Conadsan dillars, except parioponds and yeor Conada Internaotionol Totol
Humbser of plan participants 65890 5963 71,451
Actuol benefit poyments 2023 3 B4 & 41 5 G645
Banelils ﬂ-:pﬁfedlahrpﬂk‘l 024 G70 44 714
Benefils expeciod Lo be poid 2025 694 40 T34
Benefits expected to be pald 2026 7T 42 759
Benefits expected to be pakd 2027 Ti8 42 TEOD
Benefits expected to be pakd 2028 757 41 799
Benefits expected to be pold 20392033 4,013 116 4,239
Welghted averoge duration of defined benelit payments 12.1 years 15.1 years 12.3 years

Significant assumptions
Our mithodologies bo determing sinificont assemptions used in coloulobing the defined benelil pension ond olber post-
employment benefit expense are as follows:

Discount rale

For the Canadian penskon and other post-employment bencfit plans. oll future expected benefit payments at coch measurement
date are discounted ot spal fales from a derived Conodion AA corporate bond yield curve, The derived curve is based on actual
short and mid-maturity corparate AA rotes and extropolobed longer berm robes. The estropolated corporate A robes are derived
from observed corporate A, corporate Al and provincial A vields. For the International pension and other pest-omployment
benelit plens, all future expected benefit poyments of each meosurement date are discounted of $pot rotes from a focal AL
corporate bond vield eurve. Spol fates beyand 10 years are sel bo equal the 30 vear spot rale. The discount rate i the equivalent
single rate that produces the some discounted valee os that determined wsing the entire discount curve, This valuation
methocology does not rely on assemptions regarding reinvestment returns.

Rate of increase in fulure compensation

The asswmptions for increases in fulure compensation are developed separately for each plan, where relevant. Each assumption
|z set based on the price inflation gssumption and compensation polickes in each market, as well os relevant local stotutory and
plon-specific requirements.

Heolthcare cost irend rotes
Heoltheare cost cabcubations are bosed on both short and long term trend assumptions established using the plan's recent
experience as well os market expectations.

Coanalaisid Finsticial Sobements Aoyl Barid of Conade: Ml Begsil 2021 a2
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Weighted overoge assumptions bo determing benefit obligation

Discount rate
Rate of increase in future compensation
Healthcare cost trend rates

= Medical

- Diental

.13 J'
etingd berepli] prmuice [Hhaer peead sropleymenl
plam berelit plioma

Oefobei 11 O plber N1 D tader 11 O tobem 18
.10:3- 2022 023 2022
57% 5.4% 5.8% 5.5%
3.0% 0% n.a. P
AL . 3. 4% 1.5%

.. . 3% 31%

in Fow ol pelihend el - momprhimy el bemeeli] gl ihe o8 sumesi e rofes used | o maspuane ihe especied benelll cosis of fhe delined beveiit oddigotions ore el he

wltimote frend robes

nn el applicoble

Mortality assemplions

Mortality essumptions ore significant in measering cur obligotkons under the defined benefit pension plens. These assumptions
hove been set bosed on country specific stolistics, Future longevity improvements hove been considered and included where
appropriote, The following table summarizes the martality ossumptions used for material plans.

Aaai
N Bl T, M0}
L_He f!lpgtlﬂ'lﬂr ul. Hhrq l'l'l-eﬂber :ul‘ﬂ.‘.-r_lllr ql__ Life expectancy ol 65 far & member currently at
Age &5 Age 45 Aps 65 Age 45
(i e Male Female Male Female Male Female Maole Femake
Counlry
Canada 3.9 24.3 4.8 15.2 119 4.3 248 25.1
United Kingdom 235 5.4 14.7 168 134 5.4 4.7 2b.8

Sensitivity analysis

Assumplions udﬁlptrd can have g slgnllk ant effect an the value of the abl

Liena for defined benefit pension and other post

employment benefit plans and are based on historkcal experience and market inputs. The increase (decrease) in obligation in the
following table has been determined lor key ossumptions assuming all other assumptions are held constant. In proctice, this is
unbikely to ccour, as changes insome of the assumptions moy be correlated. The Following table presents the sensithdty analysis

of ey ossumptions for 2023,

|AaiBiorrs of Comaiian dolldrs)

Discounl robe

Impact of 100 bps incregse in discount role

Impaoct of 100 bps decrease in discount rate
Rate of increase in fubure compensation

Impeact of 50 hps incrense inrate of increase in fulure comgpensal ion

lmgract of 50 bps decregse in rale of increase in lulure compensalion
Mortality rote

Imgract of gn increase i longevity by oné additianal yeor
Healthcarne cost trend rate

Impact of 160 bps increase in healthcare cost trend rote

Impact of 100 bps decrease In healthcare cost trend rate

Incrense (decreose)

in obligotion

Other post:

Defined benefit  employment
pension plans  benedit plons
5 {1,228) 5 {r49)
1,536 154

13 -

(25] -

259 18

LR 30
ma, {42)

no

st ol i otde

e Werpel Bark sl Conada: Asrnual Rrpe | 3053 Coruelifdmd Fisnscial Yatemmis

559/634



EDINETOOOO
OO000O0000O0O00oOdno(Ees99s)
oOoOooodn

Hobe 18 Qther liohilities

S

Ehtaber 11 Dbt 11

|Milione of Cirndan doliere) ) im m:{!
Accaounts poyable and gecrued expenses L3 1,599 % 1,203
Accrued interest poyable 10,936 50149
Cash collateral 25,365 T, 143
Commaodity linbilitics 11,716 10,038
Deferred income 3.830 3660
Deferred Income laxes 416 439
Dividends poyatle 1,975 1 856
Employes nefit llabilitles 1,611 1.668
Held-for-sale liobilities 2,560 -
Indurance related labilities 342 14
Lease liobilities 4,764 5110
Nepetiable instruments 1,684 1.715
Poyable to brokers, dealers and clients 8,065 10,974
Payroll and related compensation @088 89491
Precious metals certificates 175 557
Provisions G444 627
Short-term barrowings of subsidiarbes 4,507 ° G0
Taxes payable 2,959 2,436
Other 5.324 5007
3 Q6170 & 05215

Hobe 1% Subardinobed

The debenlures are pnsecyred nhhgqlinn.l. and are subordinated in righl! of payment to the cloims of depositors ond cortain other
creditors. The amounts presented bebow are nel of our awn haldings in these debentures, and mclode he impoct of fair value
hedges used for managing interest rate risk

iAok of Cirmdion dollar, et perentage ond nivigh curnendy] T
Denominated in T

- Wt
Mafurty redermpmion dats vt 1023 2022
Jusrse 8, 2023 1j 9. 30% % -5 L
|oruary 27, 2026 (1 4.65% US51,500 1,939 1. HA4
Movember 1, 2027 |n Movember 1, 2022 4. 75% TT%300 - L]
Jurly 25, 2029 g1y July 25, 2024 3 T4% (4 1,459 1415
December 23, A000 1 December 23, 2024 T BB ) 1,442 1,412
hl.rruurﬂ 2033 February 1, 2028 5.01% 4 1,418 -
wnae 30, M030 7 June 30, 2025 2.(19% 7} 1,249 12560
wember 3, ‘tl.al 12 Kovember 3, 2026 214% 3 1,637 1637
Moy 3, 2032 12 May 3, 2027 2.94% (w 919 232
|Enusary 28, 033 gy lanuary 28, 2028 1.67% (16} HBRE BiS
Oclobéer 1, 2083 Any Interast payment date [ 224 a4
| 2B, IS Any Interest payment dale IREE] Ussi74 241 237
5 11,396 5 10,036
Deferred finoncing costs {10) {11)
% 11,386 = 18,025

! inZereat mere ty date

1 arion Benad on (e gt

& e e ey e e

crtied ol e IEres on such node ] by the o

we reder med ofl TTS WK ol e adng £ 75 % sLEanEnoied d.er\u e o

P ocirusd Bo. ted exchafing the pndempion dole

[4)  inberess of sigied ivior el roie urkl sgries] por yelur redemprien dote, ond Therealter of o rate of 0.25% gbove he 1-moath CDOR

|5]  Baberest of sinsed intereqs rate uskl earlie st par velue redemgtion dote, ard thereaiter of @ robs of [LE#% obove the J-maath CDOR

(A Sberes ol siofed Eered rute untl el Best par value nedermgt e dote, gl Thereslber o iote of 117% abive (e Duly Costpaoursed CREES

7] inberens gl sigied rvered rote urd i e st por volue redemgtion dole, and iherealber of o rofe of 1% obhove e 1-mamih CUHOK

(Ml Snberest ol sigd 1 hereaiter of 0 mbs of 0 b mipeti C TR

{9} bnberanl ol & Limenlh CDOR

W] berest i alod kimonth COK

(M) beresd C

{12} balevesl il
e we deth
il e ot el

wrige tading price of e 1"-lr|||rrll-"rlnf~
times the multl

o Movrmlie 1, ]

;.- i of (b i ipol oevoues plis

e eerel of G o educt) of [Pe onasl
W ihe indered reduclion B poyatle

All redemptions, cancellations and exchanges of subordinated debenturas are subject to the consent ond approval af 05k,

Maturily schedule
Thee aggregate maoturities of subordinated debentures, bosed on the maturity daotes under the terms of issue, are as follows:

ot

ctaber 31

lMuiqucﬂfﬂnqdrqn -Jnll\:lﬂ.:\n _mgj
Within 1 year 5 -
1 bex 5 years 1,939
5 bo 1D '[uur*.- 5,992
Thereatter ) 4_515
5 11,396

Consaluidtn Finonriol R @rmehis Ryl Bank ol Canado Anadsi Bopai 5171 i
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Shore capilal
Authorized share capltal
Preferred - An unlimited nember of First Preferred Shores and Second Preferred Shaores without neminal or par valus, issuable in
series, provided that the moximum oggregate consideratkon for all First Preferred Shares outstonding ak any time may not exceed
530 billion, and for all Second Preferred Shares that moy be isswed may not exceed 55 billion

Cosnmodn = An unlinited nwmber of shares withoul nominal or par volue may be ssued

Quistanding shere copilal
The following toble details owr common and preferred shares and odber equity instruments outstanding,

A ot o or e yror sraled

n!ue-r;l_l_.__iw_l Ogtobser 112020
Number of Dividends Number af Dividends
[Tk ol Do dodbirs. encepd (e number shores dechored shares declared
o ahaaren el 04 CEheTwse Pl ed| _{thousonds)  Amount pershare  [thousonds)  Amount  pershare
Common shares issued
Balance al begiining of peviod 1,385,591 5 17,318 1425187 % 17,728
Issued In connection with shore-bosed
rc:;prnsul:inn ks T40 a4 1,270 99
Issued In connection with divedend
relnvestment plan 16,042 1002 - -
Purchsed lor cancellation 2 = - [ELLR. ] {509
Balonce at end of period 1402373 515398  § 534 1,385,501 % 17,318 5 496
Treosury = common shares
Balanee al beginning of period i {ul_aau $ (334 (662) & (73
Purchoses 195 [3.556! (48,437 {5,183
Sales ) AR ES 3659 Ah 410 44921
Balance al end of period |y {1.B62) & (231) {2,680) § (334)
Common shares sutstanding 1,400,511 5 19,167 LIB2OIT & ThOH4
Preferred shores and other equity
instruments issued
First preferred 1)
Non-cumulative, fived rate
Series BH 6000 3% 150 % .23 6,000 5 150 % 1.23
Series Bl 000 150 1.23 B6,000 150 1.23
Mon-cumulative, 5-Yeor Rote Rewel
Serigs AL 20,000 500 0.93 20,00 Sy 093
Serics BB 20,000 500 0.9 20,000 S0 0.91
Series BD 24,000 GO0 0.850 24,000 ) 080
Series BF 12,000 300 0.75 12000 Iy 075
Series BO 14,000 350 1.20 1, 000 150 1.4
Series AT 750 TS50 4, 20% 750 750 o T0%
Non-cumulative, fixed rote/floating rate
Series C-2 45 15 23 USS 67.50 15 11 USS 67.50
Othar ﬂsuit;.' insbruments
Limited recourse capital noles (LRCHs) (w
Series 1 ) 1.750 1.750 4.50% 1,750 1.750 450%
Series 27 1.250 1.250 &, 00 % 1,250 1.250 400%
‘_-i_Erl_E's. 1im 1,000 I,I!IEID 3.55_'&_ _I ,{.'rDI.P [EH 5[‘-5‘&
_ osye5 5 T323 e 765 5 7321
Treasury - preferred shares and other
cquity instruments
Balancd at beginning of period 1) (12 & {5 {16d4] % [EL)
Purchoses (1.924 (519 (2511 {518
Sales 1927 515 2,963 551
Balonce g end of period (5 (%) 5 (£ {12) % {ap
Preferred shares and other equity
instruments outstonding 106,756 5 7314 136,753 5 1318
i gy Todi vl cxd | and et S0 Bk ol of 56 rvilliion Dol 10, 3028 = Sk millicn )
(F] Duting he yeir #nded OCLoBes 11 300 L we didifal frors e [6F rond eikitiun oy dommen sharm. Th e yrer ended DoleBen 18, LY, we ek I grawat pibdilicr

it share Ul o elal felr value of B4 millon [eoeiege coal of S0 RS per thate), wilh @ bosk value of 3500 millon Bk vl o §12.47 per abaia)

13 Poddive srhouili epleiesl o AR poilion oied Aepeteee irourls repiesent o kg pristizn

(43 Fiisd Peleed Shaiies wei e B of 525 pei $hore with e esejd o of Mok Cuimsalive 7o Rl Boved Fiiad Freleiied Shiies Seies BT (Sevies BT pood
Mon Comulotive Foied RebeWioling Rote First Predermed Shores Series C0F [Series €3] which were Bveed of 40080 and US4 1000 per @are | sgeivalent o USSE per
dapiory share |, respertively

5] On Movessher .32 1, we redesmed all of o 3aued ol et pading Mor-Camulotive Froed ReteWiooting Robe Nirst Prefened Shares Sertes ©- 1 forcash at o redemgstion
e Of LS HLI per ghore [equivplent te USSES per deposdony shome)

(6} Tocheeries of LROHS [LRCH Serbes) were insied of o §U000 per nobe, The sasmber of sbares. represend [he number of notes issued and the dividends daciomed per whare
regrrend the ornuot isfarest mete percenioge spplc oble o the nobes ged o ol ghe reperting daie

iT) iy ¢ e, B wil o Bl s of LW Sevies | wiy e 80,750 0mdion of Won-Cumulotioe &Yem Ride Resell Pl Prelmoed Shines Seiem B} | Jevirm NQ) 0
enrwint linn with B isnd e of L RCH S 2, we iviued $1.390 &ilben of hon-Cusulstive &Yeor Ride Resel Pl Pred rered Shotes Sedien B0 | Sodies TR ); 5 consedSen
B e Fusiew ol LRCM Sevie § we s %1000 millien of Woa-Cumulitive & Year Bole Beut Pl Poelemed Shiifes Seien 0% (Serie 1%) The e B, BE ond it
prefermnd shaiey wene dwed o @ jeice of §1000 por aharr ofd were disued Do o condelidabad trual To be held e irus gisets inconnmion wilhosch reapeihe
LHLA ST

] Beyal Bank of Caneda Al Brpeil 5131 Comsniidohed Firaneidl Sobements
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Significant terms and conditions of preferred shores and olher equity instrumenls

Cwrrend Harliesi
Current dividend edemption Redemation
As o Dctober i, 1021 el v Framasm peor sheve (i dake 3} isaem date peles {11, ()
Preferred shores
First preferced
‘Non-cumubotive, Mxed role _
Series BH (4) 450% 5 M&I50  November 24, 2070 lune 5, J015 5 1600
Series B =) 450 2046250  November 24, 2030 luly 22, 2015 26.00
Non-cumibolive, 5-Year
Rats Resel (5] :
‘Series AZ j4) 170% 23i% 231250 Moy 24,2015 Janwony 30, 2014 35.00
Series BE (4 365 2.28% 2IE135 August 24, 2019 June 3, 2014 25.00
Sevies BD 9 320%  L74% 00000 May 24,2020 January 30, 2015 25.00
Series BF () 300% 161% BTS00 Nowember 14, 20200 Maorch 13, 2015 25.00
Series B (4 AB0%  LIEW MO0 February 24, 2014  November 2, 1018 2500
‘Series BT (4 A 20% 271% 21,0000:00 February 24, 2027 Hovember 5, 202§ 1,000, 00
Non-cumubative, laed rolef '
Ttogting rate
Laries £-2s) L75% 053N USSTGLETSH00  Nowvenber7,2021  Mevember 2, 1015 USS1.000.00
DOther equily instruments
Limited recourse capitol
notes 1
Saries &) A450%  4137% n.a. October 14, 2025 July 28, 2020 51,0000
Saetles 2w 400% 1617 ., Jamuary 14, 2026 Novembar 2, 2020 1, EHID, 0
Serles 3 i) A65% oSt n,a. Octaber 24, 2026 lune 8, J021 1, CHID, O
[ kb ¥ ef %eprirn 17, k preleremlil dividends of rach Semeri aon poyelie uariory, _uﬂuhqﬂwﬁwmmdﬂmwgmum
Ehw J8th dary | T8 Oy Tar Sera C-1] of Febiuady, May, Augusl asd Sovesber, in the cois of Sevir BT, fon B ol i el i papolils At cnfunlly,

i el e declbared By Lhe Beaid of Db et oni

2] Subec oihe consent of O5F1usd the degeirements of the Bank Ac! {Cunad |, we imay, on of ofler the deles speclied ubeve, redeen Fint Preferied Shaies in e Duse
d!:Ir-ﬂ..ﬂ.-.ﬂﬂ.BI.MHJ\,memhmdnﬂk!pﬁmﬁﬂilwwkmulmdﬂrwmﬂwmdﬂeﬂm
Fith yeor thevealter . in he cone of DH and B1, ihese may be redeemad for cash 4t 0 price per shisis of 126§ redeemed dsingthe 12 mamihs commmaong on ihe serbesi:
edeimplion dule und decrewning by 30,55 souh 0 manih pevicd theveofien (o u price per share of 525 0 iedeemed o peors liom the ewiiesd redemsiion dote o
therealter, mmﬂmurm!wcmhMupnnenfunrurumu|rmmedmmmstmkmumumwmlhemdurwmﬂmm
Eherealiern, Seried -1 moy be redeemed o 0 price of LSSL000 on he sorlies redemption date asd gy de

11 mmshum-mulwrl-u-du-e-wumnmm-.il.l-m-mq:m;umwmwrumhmwndmswuh:wwmuht-m
price or puices o whas, in the opimenof he Boord of Directon., wuch shores gre ol nitie

4 The preleered abane ischale WOCE jrowia i, iecesuy fer the abares in gumibify os Tier |n-phn:q.:u¢uumd-rlqudll M“prmllthhrrrimlhﬂ
e il o s voolle sk o cormmen ibser in e vt that G511 deees e Bunk nenwioble o a federad mCasada pailicly
annduncs thet e Bonl Bos coceptnd o agieed Bo ooepl & caphol wjed on. is wich on evest, sech greferned mututwmcm ahoes puriesnl 1o an
sl tenbir corweiiaen lermado with o miikiphen of §osd wilh & comesiion pice Based on ihe greoter ol 1) o Noos price of $%08d ({1 ) the currest merked price o ou
it i bossd o the vohine weghbad sveroge rading price ol our comeesn ihares o ihe Tedonte Slock Dachosge. The rember of swres sued b determined
ey dividing the prefemed shore value by the converdsen price.

{51 Fhe dividend robe will reset onihe sorbest redempdion deie ond every [lih yeer hereofier o a raie egual o the 3yeor Covemnmeni of Conoda Bond vield plus the
premiam indiooted. The Balders Bawe e oplion be comeor their shares. inbo nen oemulaiive oo ing roie Fst Preferned Shoves sobject ta corboin condidionm on (Be
o eyl rederplion dote mod every T yeoriheveslber of 0 reie equed io Be Beee-monih Coverrmend of Conoda Treosury Bill reie plus the premiee indicoied

[8)  The dividend robte wil change on e eoriiend redesplion dole of ¢ role eqal bo lhe §month LI phu. the premius mdicoled Sees -3 do nol qually G Tler |
reguictiry capisl On Revernbar 7, 3301, we sedpwmid oll i oy hiued gl oulstending Neo-Cumslol e Fioed Bais Tl ing Bale Finid Frelered Stgoes Series -] o
Ganh o @ redeingl o i ul USS1050 e whaace Pependlend o USA2N per e ity shuiieh

In Ihrtume-uw;wum-ehLFJ:Hs-mnw-mw-WHnruwluwhﬂhuu--Nt-wmu#wfrpu!qu Tha perprmsenitn of inderesd and

I el i Thet LBCAI Sevird aie Mods 88 our o v il inlaiesl el pricipal i dah does Aot eondiiils on seenl of Sefaull s e sl o
ilbrﬂpwuudﬁmwﬂmuwui_Li:nunpn-pmmdlh-ndmpuunwﬁmduﬁmﬁﬂalmhhpupmmdd
pincazal al the malunby of 0 LROH Senet, oF [) an svent of defiduill 2n o LRCN Sef i, Bolders of such LRCH Senied will have réouise oy [ e ausets | T ases)
Pt Ly o Uiy [Pl s i vt sl Lrusd i reiee o O Bkt LIROM Setbies oinl] s A0 H Aodefeilded will be snbilsd o reehes 114 oo rilo shae f | e Trusl
Raneth. I sieh an e, Ihe defivery of the Trst dssets foe aool LRCYH Senes will represent the full and complsts extinguishment of oo abligotions uesdes the felated
LRCH Series The LROMS include MVCE prosnssons, necessany o the shores fo qualily o Tier § regulotony copdl al under Boel 1|l RVCC provisions require the coayverein
of he inulrument indin o verleble nember of £ommon shaves in B event Bl O5F | dapms the Bonk non-yviahle o o federal or prosiecinl peverssnesd in Conada pulilicly
announces thet (e Bont kos cocepbed o agreed tn occept @ capibel inged lon. s such an evenk. tach sote s nutomatically rrdermod and B redemplion prioe will be
ntiilied By the deltvery of Trusl Aassty, which will conaist of vhores [» s omweryionof the series of pralemed Bares thin were isaged
conpurrently with the ielated LICN Seripd. Dach veries of preferred shores inchude on aulomalic comemlon inmuls with o consenidon prce bonssd an B greater ol (ij 0
Fizar price of 35 and (4] 1B cerrent mackst price of sor commen dbares bassd en Ehs vulohe weighlsd sverage nading price ol sur cormmon shorms onthe Torombo Siack
Enchanpr. T pumBer of omimen wlares. isurd i rrspect of foch series of prefeired shares will e detsimined Dy drvifing the prelerned shars virue (41,000 plus
el pd ahd urpoid dividendy) By Ihe camverien prioe. The rumber of gomimos shates delvened 0o ssch rrebeiu lder wil b Buted o such rolebolders prs ol inlemesl
it Trusd Assaie Subjec! Do e cenent ol GAFL we Moy punchess LIRS (0F conpefieion of Such prce & prides ans Ugn botS Ieims end oondithans i we b oul
it dhalietion mey debermiie, subject 10 wiy epphootde o desificing e padhoee of ole

|8l LRCH Series | eor istereat of @ fiusd note of & 5% per oanum unil Novesber 14, M5, and iheresfier of 0 rote per onea, revel every (15 year, equal [0 the 5 Year
Gowwmumeen | of Congda Yield phus & 137% umi il moboring 0 Howembes 14, 2080 The intere i posd coms gnnually on o shout the 289 doy of Say ond Nivesher, LN
Sevien 1 | iedesmalis S hig he pesiod o Ocbobes 34 o ol ischidisg Novemnbesr M, comimsncing i 2025 ond every N peor IB=reoflei fo e aslem we ridesin
Series B parsuant To el Temms and subject o the ronsest ol OSFEond regaremenis of (e Bonk Aol {Coneda)

[} LRCH Serien ] Bwne interat ol o laed vote of & 0% pey onrmoundl Febngory M, 70048, nnd Thereaftey o a rale per oo, rese] every Tilth yeor, sousl 66 1Be &-Veor
Gowemmen] of Crncda Vield plus L617% usid moiuridy on Februgry 24, 201 The inferest 18 posd semi-onnuoly on or gbogt the 241 doy of Tetrasry ond Aupust LRCW
Sabries  in redeormalils during (e pericd Frer paouery 24 1o ond includng Pelrunny 14, commeneing in 2005 énd wvedy NiTh yeer Esrealler 1o B exben] we redeem
Srries TR purniont 1o their e oo sshijer! 1 ihe conaent ol TR0 ond requiiemenis of e Bk AT [Connda)

9] LNEN Serien M eens iatereal ol @ faeed robe of 1Le5% por arvur until Sooersber 24, 21128, ond teeneolien of o role per armern, fesel oveny TS yeer, egual Lo dhe +Yeor
Gine el of Coneda Vield phu £665% untl Meturty on Hovember 24, JORE Thi sbened i pakd seme By on of obosd the J4ihday of Moy and Meemiber. LGN

Saries 3 e bt g e pevicad frien Octobed 24 bo sl Inciuding Rovember B4, commencing in 2006 end evary NItk yoor Baeteafler (o B eatenl wi tedsem
s«mﬂmmlnuummmmunm:mmumnnuwﬁluumchmr
ng ot applicole
¥ il Finorcisl S Boyol Bask ol Canada: Aneisl Bepait X7 ;LY
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Restrictions on Fhe payment of dividends
‘We are prohibited by the Bonk Act { Conoda ] from declaring ony dividends on our preferred or commaon shares when we ore, or
would be Fllrrri_'d s a resyll of the declorgtion, in controvention of the copital odequocy and quulditl,- :ngulur.nnr. oF any
rqgulqiur}'(lrc: thves Bsyed under the At We may not pay dividends on our comman shares al any Hme unless gll dividends to
wivich Fn:l'c-’ll'd sharcholders are then entitled hove been declared and poid or set apart for poymient,

Currently, these limitationg do nat restrict the payment ol dividend< on aur preferaed of camman shares

Dividend reiavestment plan

Qur dividend reinvestmeant plon (DRIF) provides commaon and preferred shareholders with a means ba receive odditional
comman shares rather than cash dividends. The plan Is only open te shareholders residing In Canada or the LS. The
requirements of our DRIP are sotisfied through either open morket share purchoses or shares issued from treasury. During the
second, third and fowrth quarters of 2023, the requirements of our DRIP were satisfied through shares ssued from treasury
During the first quarter of 2023 and the year ended October 31, 2022, the requirements of our DRIP were satisfied through open
markel share purchoses

Shores available for fulure ssvences

As ol Ochober 31, 2023, 269 million cammoan shanes are avalloble For fulune gsue rebaling booour DRIP and patentiol éxercise ol
stock apllens and awards eutstanding. In addition, we may Bsue up to 38.9 millbon comman shares from treasury under Lhe RBC
Umbrello Sovings and Securitles Purchase Plon that was approved by sharehalders on February 26, 2009

Hole X1 Share-based compensalion

Stock oplion plans

We hove stock option plans for certain key employees. Under the plans, oplions gre periodically granted o purchose commaon
shares, The exercise price lof the mojority of the grants |s determined as the higher of the volume-welghted averoge of the
Irqding prices por board ot (100 shares) of our common shares on the Teronloe Stock Fx:hungﬂ.‘ [ipan the day pr-'.'n:l.'ding the day
al grnrl!_um‘l (i} the lve conseculive Ir-;ul:ing doys irmmediolehy prl.'l:!.,'r“l'nl:!]ll," day of grand Thes exercise price lar the re Tll:lil'iI'IE
grants is the clasing markel share price of our common shates on the New York Stock Exchange on the date of grant. All options
veal ever o four-year period, ond are exercisable for a perlod not exceeding M years from the grant date.

The compensation expense recordad for the year ended October 31, 2023, In respect of the stock option plons was 311 million
[Cctober 31, 2022 - 58 millon]. The compensation expense reloted to nan-vested options was 55 millien ot October 31, 2023
[Cctober 312022 - 54 millian], to be recognized over the weighted averoge pariod of 1.9 yeoars (Oclaber 31, 2032 - 24 years)

Analysis of the movement in the number and weighted averoge exercise price of options is set out below

A summary of owr stack option activity ond related infermation

Trw I!l:_r_.ll.- eruded
Octaber 11, 2033 Dicjoher 1, 1032

Kumber of Weighted Nuanber of Weighted
oplions average options average
|Canadian dollars per share evcept chare amounts) (thousands) exercise price ny  [thousonds])  exercise price )
t]uhlnm:llngnr trsinmngnl |'|r~rinr| 7,509 5 10007 7055 5 493217
Grantsd 1,088 131.64 1,184 129.9%
Exercised (11 ) (740} §4.76 {684) 1504
Farfeited in the pérod {90) 113.55% (s} 104,28
Qut=tanding al encd of period 7.767 5 10601 7.504 g 1T
Exercisable at end of period 3,830 §  91.B4 3.502 & B7.I5

i1 Ehewengghted seeroge EverCiEe s e e e Corveers o of Tore s CUITency Oe nosmanebed opl o ol the Fuchonge ioies 03 0f Ooober 11, 2009 and Ocicher 31 Jops
Fowr loreign ourrency denominated ot koes exerd ised during the yoor. the weighied overage cosicie poices one tronsbai ed using eschang 4.4k O the sectbement dote

2] Conssrecesed for npbisns sasrcied dring the venr was (61 miBon | S ober 1, 102 - 851 milion] and Bu weighted averoge share price ol B date of ssoive wi
SERE N (O oteer A1, DED - 104 1)
18} Mew whores weve (swued for o ook optiont sy iced in 2000 ond 2000

Options oulstonding o ot October 31, 2023 by range of exercise price

Options outstanding Oplions exercisable
Weighted
overage
Number weighted remakning Number Welghted
|Canadian dollars ger share encept outstanding averoge conbractual exercisable average
share ameunts and yeurs] (thousands)  esercise price ) life {yeors)  (thousands)  exercise price [
50471 = 5TO6S 936 5 74,94 1.58 LEL 5 T4.96
590,27 - 596,55 1,779 9348 3.82 1.779 9348
£102.33 - S104.70 1,633 103.81 512 1118 10631.39
SO0 — SIDG.00 1,202 106,00 7.12 - -
299 — 512 04 b £ 17 _A30.78 860 = .
7,767 5 106,01 5.72 3.830 5 91.84
11 Thewsighted seeroge euercise prices. seliec e comvweryon of forega rumenoy-denomingted optinnm of the sachange mie ps of Doiober 1), 7008
ain Boya Bark ol Camsds Avusl Brpasl 2003 Canedidalrd §iearesil Satrmmia
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Thie weighted average loir value of opthons granted during the year ended October 31, 2023 was estimated at 51051 (Octaber 31,
2022 - 57.80), This was determined by opplying the Block-Scholes model on the dote of gront, toking into account the specific
terms and conditlans ender which Lhe options are granted, such as the vesting peflod and expected share price valatility
estimated by considering the hisloric average shore price volatility over o historical perind comresponding bo the expected option
Il Thee lollowing assumptions were used Lo determine Lhe Talr value of options gronted:

Weighted overage assumplions
______Kerbeipended
Dhclbbear A1 i bl 1§
|Conadian doliors per shore except perrenbapes ond year | - i ] 23
Shore price at grank date 5 130016 5 12848
Risk-free interest rote 1.80% 1.25%:
Expected dividend yield 3.79% 166%
Expected share price volotility 14% 13%
Expected lile of aption 6 Years & Yeors

Employee savings and share ownership plans

We alfer many employees on appertunily o own aur commen shares threugh sovings and share ownership plans. Under these
plans, the employees can generally contr ibule between 1% and 1% of their onnual salary or benefil base for commission-bosed
employees. For eoch contribution between 1% and 6%, we will match 50% of the employee contributions In our comman shares.
For the RBC Dominkon Securitkes Savings Plan, our maxkimum annual contribution is 54.500 per employee, For the RBC UK. Share
Incentive Flan, our maximum annual condribution ks £1,500 per employee, For the year ended Gctober 31, 2023, we contributed
$138 milllon {Octaber 31, 2022 - 5028 million), under the berms of these plons, towards the purchose of cur commeon shares, As al
Dctober 31, 2023, on aggregote of 36 milllon common shares were held under these plans (October 31, 2022 - 36 milllon common
shares).

Deferred share and other plons

We offer deferred share unit plans to executives, certaln key employees and non-employee directors of the Bank. Under these
plans, participants may choose to receive all or o percentage of thetr annual varlable short-term incentive bonus, commission, or
directors’ fee In the form of deferred share units (DSUs). The participants must elect to participate in the plan prior to the
beginning of the year. B5Us eamn dividend equivalents In the form of odditional BSUs at the some rate as dividends on commaon
shares. The participant is not allowed to convert the DSUs wnlil retirement or termination of employment/disectorship, The cash
value ol the DSUs is equivalent to the market valee of common shares when conversion lokes place.

W alsa olfer unit owards lor certain key employees within Capital Markets. The bonus is invested os REC share enits and o
specilied percentage vests an a ipecified number ol anniversary dates each year. Fach vested amount B paid in cash and i
bosed o Uhe originol number of share units granted plus ocowmuloled dividends, volued using the ovenoge closing gice of REC
comman shares during the five trading days immediately preceding the vesting date.

we affer performonce deferred share award plans Lo certain key employess, all of which vest ot the end of three years. Upon
vesting, the award ks pakd in cash ond |s bosed on the orlginal number of RBC share units granted plus occumulated dividends
valued using the overage closing price of REC comman shares during the five troding days immadiately preceding the vesting
date, A portion of the awerd under cerlain plans may be increased or decreased up Lo 25%. depending on our odal shareholder
return compared to o defined peer group of global financial institutions.

We maintein non-qualified deferred compensation plons for certain key employees in the US. These plans ollew oligible
employess o defer o portion of thelr anneal income and a variety of productivity end recrultment boauses and ol lecate the
deferrals amoeng speciflied fund chobces, inchading a RBC Shore Account fund that tracks the value of sur common shares.

The following table presents the units granted under the deferred share and other plans for the year.

Units granted under deferred shore and other plans

For [P e euied

Outober 11, 1021 Ocivtier W, 103
Welighted Welghted
Units  overage Units average
granted  lair value gronted Fair valse
[linity e per i pmeunia (thousands)  perunit  (thousonds) e uni
Deferred share unit plans 466 % 130061 469 & 13149
Caopltal Markets compensation plan unil awards 4.2 110,32 3,794 125.22
Perfarmance deferred share award plans 1.362 13141 .20 12965
Deferred compensction plans 103 126.81 G 13544
Other share based plans 1,506 130,12 1,083 128,50
B668 5 120,79 7658 5 12748

Our [bobibitkes for the owards gronted under the deferred share and other plans are measured at fair value, detenmined bosed on
thee quoted morket price of our commaon shores and specified fund cholces as applicoble. Annually, our ebligetion Is increased by
additional units earned by plan partickpants, ond |s reduced by forfeitures. cancellations. and the settlement of vested units. in
addition. cur obligation is impacted by fluctuations in the market price of our common shores and specified fund units. For
performance delerred share oward plans, the estimoted culcome of mecting the performaonce conditions alse impacts our
abiigotion

Erbasalidefied Firnonebal Sl emeiis Beyel Baik of Conada: dnreel Bepai X211 i
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Hobe 1

The following tables present the units that hove been earnead by the participants, our ehigations for thesa samed units
under the deferred share and other plans. and the reloted compensalion expenses (recoveries) recognized for the year

Obligations under deferred share and other plans

A4 il
Octobes 31, 3018 Oclisleer §i, S232
Units Carrying Lineits Carrying
[MiBions of Comalien diliars except wnits | {thausands) omount  [thousands| amaunt
Deferred share unit plans 5786 5 64 5420 5 bA4
Copltal Markets compensation plan unit awards 9,934 1.098 9,304 1.182
Performance deferred share award plans 5.808 643 b AHb G 757
[eferred compensotion plans (o 2.654 294 2537 119
Other share-based plans 2,135 234 177 218
16,317 $ 1910 25,142 S 3160
i Eaiciodes plaliganbons ok dederm ol i et i o o Bl e
Compensalion expenses |:{;ox|'|i::d under deferred share and other plons
P et iy v’ it
Declebar 31 Dcbiedes 1)
[Bkifinrs of Canodion dallars ) 13 PLLP)
Deferred share unit plans H ]51 | ] 20
Capital Markets compensation plan unit awards 26 210
Performance deferred share oward plans 116 273
Deferred compensction plans 213 {201}
Other share-based plans I[I-I_ 1
5 &08 = 333

Components of Lox expense

Fof (e vroe ended

Octoker 18 i ke 10
[Millinis al Canadian dollaml !I}_I't M2
Income toxes (recoveries) in Consolidoted Stotements of Income
Current fox
Tox expense for current year & 4081 = 4,15
Agdfustments for prior yeors 851 FEL ]
Recoveries afising fradn préviously unrecognized tax loss, tox oredil or l@mparany d ilference of
a prior period {100}
4,832 1921
[Beferned lax
Origination and reversal of temparary dilference {1,286 232
Effects of changes intox rales A7 i
Adiustments for prior yeors 5 FET
Recoveries arising fram previously unrecognized tax [oss, tox credil or lemgorary difference of
aQ pri-1r |:-r'r|nd nel {24] (B}
11,232) 181
3,600 4,302

Inceme baxes [Fecaveries) in Cansolidaled Statements of Camprehensive Income and Changes in

Equily
ﬂhwr compifehdensive Reame
Nl unrealized gaing {lodses) on debl securities and boans ol lair valie ||'.rnug|1 alhed
compréehensive mtormes (1) (B33}

Provision for credit losses rec ognized in income {2}
Reclossilication ol net 10sses (gains) on debl secunities and loans al fair value thraugh ethes
comprehensive ncomae Lo incomas (39) 2
Limnrealifed hlluign cufrency tronslation gaing {losse) 20 2
MNel foreign cufrency Wanslation gaind (bodses) from hedging activitics |306) [4TR)
Reclozsilicalion al losses [pains] on mel ivestment hedping oclivities to income 45 B
el goins {losses) on derivalives designaled as cash Bow hedges 190 2B
Reclossification of lesses ipains] on derivalives designated ax cash Now hedges to incame 59 L1
Remegsurement golns(lesses) on emgloves bendil pland [68) 287
Rel gains{losses) fram fair value change due to coedit risk on finoncial liobilities designoted ol Toir
wiiue Dhrough profit or loss {222) B2
Nel gaing (losses) on equity securities designated at fair value through other eomprehensive
e ame 24 {3
Share-based compensation awards 2 1]
Distritiidions on other equity instruments and lssuanoe costs (59) [d45)
(364) A
Total income taxes 5 3,236 & &, ThE
] Werpel Btk o Cascio: Asmual Rrpes] 3683 Coralised Fisastiol Satememis
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Thie follawing is an analysis of the differences between the income tox expense reflected in the Consolidated Statements of
Incoime ond the amounts colculoted ot the Conadian stotutory tax rate

Reconciliotion to statutory box roke

|Milion of Conalon dolisrs, socrpt for peroemioge omouyrds

Income loxes ot Canadian stalutory lox rate

Increase (decrease) in Income lowes rmlthnﬁ from:
5l

Lower avera
Tom-exem
Taxrate
Olhe

L incomae from securities
nge

tan rate applicable to sub

aries

Forchepeorended

Biginber 11, 3038
$ 5015 27.7%
{2,130 {11.5I
1337 {18
1,050 5.7
— .. ] I
5 1600  19.5% 5

Incodme taxes in Consolidated Statements of Income | effective tax rate

{428)
{437}
4

{104

4.302

O=tnlsey 10 3073

5,269

6.2%

(21
(22

05)
214%

The effective income tax rate of 19.5% decreased 190 bps, primarily due to lower average tax rote applicable to subsidiaries. This
factor wos partlally offsel by the impoct of the Canoda Recovery Dividend (CRD) ond the 1.5% Increase in the Conodlan corporate

tox rate in the current year,

Delerred tox ossets g Bobilities resull from tox loss and box credit conyforwords and lemporary diferences bebween D lax
bosis of gszels and liabilities and their cqrrrlng amoynls on our Consofidaled Bolance Sheets,

significant components of deferred tax ossets and labiities

As ot asd for Ehe year ended BCoser 43, 2020

Met asset  Chonge Chonge  Exchonge Mel osset
beginning af  through through rote Acquisitions/ end of
[Milion of Conadsan doliars) period  equity profitor loss differences  disposols Other pariod
Het deferred tox asset/|lobility)
Allpwance for credit losses 5 987 S - 5 185 5 2 5 - 5= 51,074
Deferred compensatbon 1,504 {2} {2) 22 - - 1,522
Business realignment charges 12 - 11 - - - 13
Tax loss and tax cred it cormyforwards 322 - (57} 1 |5 - 261
Deferred (iIncome) expensea 6 (3) (1] () 2 - 651
Financial instruments mecssured ot
lair valpe through other
camprehensive income {16) (330} - 25 - - {321)
Premises and equipment and
intangibles {1,234) - o2 {27) 18} - (367)
PFension and post-employment
related 43 (3] a7 1 14) - (313)
Oither 113 4 95 14 - - 1
5 1,033 5 [263) $1,232 5 37 5 (19) S5- 5 2,010
Cnmrn'l.ln
Deferred bax assets 1,472 5 2,446
Deferred tay lobilities 1_-5_39] _j-l.zlﬂ
5 1.033 5 2020
- ﬂlHll-!'ldll’J Ihl"p‘i_d_l_ﬂ'lﬂfﬂﬂltm W, M) -
Hetosset  Chonge Change  Exchange Net osset
beginning ol through through rote  Acquisitions) end ol
|MiBions of Conadien dollars) poriod  equity  profit or less  differences disposals  Other period
Het deferred tox asset/(liobility}
Allowance for credit lossas 5 974 5 - 5 2 5 (A 5 = H= 5 W7
Deferred compensation (K (A1) [211) 1 10 = 1.504
Business realignment charges 11 - 1 - - - 12
Tax loss and lax cred it cormyforwards 242 - a7 2 8 i in
Deferred [Income) expensa T {1 [126) k| - - [
Finaischol instremenls mecsuied ol
leir value through other
l.:nmprl.:rwn:.'m: T {19 {2) - 5 - - {1h)
Premises and equipment and
intanpibles {8346) - 4 {57) [345) ] {1.234)
Pension and post-employment
relabed 1 Ib]b (287} 9 4 (&) - {435
Other 4 2 137) 16) 4 - (s
5 1937 § (278) & [381) & a3 % (311) s 3 5 1033
Comprisi
Defermed assels 5 201 5 1471
Deferred box liobilities {74) [439)
s 1,937 5 1,033
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The tox boss ond tax credit carryforwords amount of deferred tax assets primarily refates to losses ond tox credits inoour
Canadion, US., and Caribbean operations, Deferred tax asdels of 5261 million were n-l.'a-gnin.-d at Getaber 31, 2021 (Octaber 31,
2022 - 4322 milllan ) in respect of tox lesses and tax credits incurred in current or preceding years for which recagnition is
dependent on the projection of eture taxable profits. Monagement's forecasts support the assumption thal it s protsable thot
the results of future opergtions will penerate su Micient taxable income Lo ulilize the delerred fox astsels. The lorecosls rely an
continued liquidity ond copital support to our business operations, Including tox planning strategies implemented in refation (o
such suppart

As of October 31, 2023, vmrsed Lox bosses ond tax credits of 5417 million and 518 million {October 31, 2002 < $42% milllon and
5130 million) avellable to be offset against petential box adjustments o luture taxable income were not recognired as delerred
tox gssets. There are no unused tox kosses thot will expire within one yeor (October 31, 2022 - Sall), or Intwo to Four yeors
(Qctotrer 31, 2032 = Snil) and there are 5417 million of unused box fosses ol will expive alter four years (Gclober 531, 2002 = 5429
millian ). Therd are ie bax credils that wlll expife b one year [October 31, 2022 - Smil), oF b bwi bo four years [Detober 31, 1027 -
593 million] and there ore 18 million thot will expire ofter four yeors (October 30, 2022 - 537 milllon).

The amount of temporary differences associoted with Investments in subsidiaries, branches ond associotes and interests in
joint ventures tor which deferred tax liabilitles have not been recognized in the parent bank is $22 bilfion as ot October 31, 2073
[Octeber 31, 2022 - S billion )

Government of Canada Budgel 2022

On December 15, 2022, Dill C-32, Fall Economic Staterment Implermentiation Act, 2022 (the Bill |, tobled by the Government of
Canado, received royal assent, The Bill amends the Income Tax Act |Cansdo) to implement o CRD and a parmonent increase in
the Canodian corporate tax rate on banks ond e insurer groups.

The CRE is o one-time 15% tox lor 2027 determined bosed an fhe averope taxable mcome obove 51 billlan for boxation years
J030 and 2027 and payable in egual installments over live years, The CRD resylted moan incregse in incom Doxes of 517 billicn lar
the year ended October 31, 21027, of which 51 billion was rec ngnimd in net income gnd 502 billion wos r\ﬁ-ngniz:ld inather
comprehéntlise incame.

Theet pest manenl increose in e Cangdion ool porale lox role is 1.5% on logable incone above $100 milllon ond opplies o
taxation yeors thot end after Apeil 7, 2022, resufting bn an increase in the Canadian stotutory tax rate from 26.2% bo 27.7% for the
year ended Oclober 31, 2023,

Tax exominalions end assessmends

During the year, we received proposal letters (the Proposals) from the Canada Revenue Agency (CRAJ inrespect of the 2018
taxation year, which suggested that Royal Bank of Canodo owes additienal taxes of opproximately $228 million as they denked
the deductibilily of certain dividends. On November 28, 2003, we received o reassessment in fespect of the 2018 Loxation year,
consislent with the Proposals received dur ing the year. The reassessment recelved i3 consistent with Uhe reassessments received
for taxotion years 2012 to 2017 of approximately $1,628 million of additienal income taxes and the reassessments recelved for
taxation yims 20004 to 201 of opproximotely 5434 million of edditional income toxes and intesest in respect of the same motber
These ameunts represent the maximum additionol baxes owing for those years.

Legislothve amendments intradueced in the 2015 Canadian Federal Budget resylted in disallowed deduction af dividends from
transactions with Taxoble Canodion Corporations including those hedged with Tax Indifferent Investors, namely pension funds
ang non-resident entitios with prospective nppfl;ql lon effective May 1, 2017, The dividends bo which the reassessments relole
inelude bath dividends in transactions similar bo those which are the target of the 2005 fegislative amendments and dividends
which ore unrelcted Lo the legislative amendments

It 15 prossibile that the CRA will reassess us o significont odditienal incorme tax for subsequent yedrs an the some basis. nall
cases, wie are confident that owr tax filing position was appropriate and intend to defend ourselves vigorously.

Eqrmi

it the yeast endid

[ 14 P O Lo 11
[Miliiih of Eormdban dollars, v epl dhaie Gl [ b e niusls | 2023 222
Bosic carnings per shore
et bncime 5 14,866 5 15807
Mvidends on preferred shores and distribations on other equity insbrumenis {247)
Het inc aine allributable to non-contralling interesls {13)
Met incodme evailable lo commaon shareholders 5 5 15,547
Weighled average number of coemmdan shares (in thousands) 1403654
Bosic earnings per share {in dodlars) 5 1051 § 11.08
Diluted earnings per share
Het income cvailable to commaen sharehalders § 14613 5 15,547
'I.\"ﬂg_hlr.'d averdge number of commaon sharcs (in thowsonds) 1,391,020 1. 403,654
Stock aplions i) 1,483 1918
Issuable under other share-bosed compensation plans X5 A2
Average numbes of diluted commaon shares (in thousonds) 1,392,529 148006, 0 34
Diluted earnings per share [in dallars) & 10,50 4 1106

(1 Thedifulive @iTect ol $100k TS won calculated wilng the Ireasuny Abeck et hod When Ihe Cortiie price of opl s ol ondng i reoter Dhan B svenogs Mmamned
pEbcE il o romeson shaies, e epiaons one ead bl Boin e celoskon e of dilate] soemings per shire. For e e soded Garlnher 51, 7000 an oseerange ol 2 110045
eulitirling eplinn with on gvendge-ewtnise fice of §730 78 were extluded fom the coboubation of Siuled nedings per Wbane. Fad ihe yoor snded Ocbober 31, 2002, 7o

oatiionding eptinm were encluded PFromithe calculetion of diluted sarmings per shore
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Guarantees ond commilments
We use guarantees and other off-baolence sheet credit instruments to meet the financing needs of our clients.

The toble below summdrzes our moximum exposure to credil losses reloted to our guarantees and commitments provided
ta third porties. The maximum exposure to credit risk relating lo a guaraniee is the maximum risk of oss if there wos a tolal
defoult by the guoranteed parties, without consideration of possible recoveries under recourse provisions, insurance policies or
from colkateral hebd or pledged. The maximum exposure to credit risk relating to o commitment to extend credit is the full amount
of the commitment. In both cases, the maximum risk exposure is significantly greater than the amount recognized as a llability in
our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

WG o e
b crofil fanars

A al
dhcteber A1 Cicteder 11

|MiBissrn of Conadian dollars) __Zj]_?_j-_ 2
Finoncial guarantees

Financhal standby letters of credit 5 13,314 5 202
Commitments to extend credit

Bockstop liquidity focifities 51,544 45336

Credi enhoncemenls 3,216 1960

Dascumeniony and commercicl leters of eredil 241 ER L]

Other commilments Lo extend credit 08,132 284,602
Other credit-reloted commitments

Securities lending Indemnifications 95,055 63

Performance guorantees 7.503 7331

Sponsored member guarantees 14,041 1.241

Gther 03 b0

Our credit review process, our policy lor requiring collateral security, and the types of collateral securily held are generally the
same far puaraness and commitments as lor loans. Our clients grnr.-rqll:,- have the righl to reguest setilement af, of drow on, our
guarantees and commitments within ene year. However, certain guarantess can anly be drawn if specitied conditions are met
These comdilions, along will colleleral reguitements, ore described below. We Bedigve thal it is highly unlikely that all or
substantially all of the guaraniees and commitments wil be drawn or settled within one year, and contracts may explire witheul
being drawn or settied.

Fironcial guorantees
Financiol standby letters of credit
Financla! a.l:nndly'- letters of credit represent revocoble gssurgnces thol we will make payments in the event thal a client connat
meet it payment abligations ta the third party. For cerfain guarantees, the guarantesd party ean request poymient from us even
though the client has not diloulled on s oldigotions, Thess guoronlees generolly ove o lemm ol fiver Lo seven YOS,

Our palicy for requiring collolenal security with respect to these instruments and the types of collsteral secur ity held i generally
the some os for loans. When colloteral security ks taken, it is determined on an occount-by-occount bosis according to the risk of the
borrower ond the specifics of the rarsocthon. Collateral security may inchude cash, securities and other assets pledged.

Commitments to extend credit
Backstop Nquidity focilities
Backstop Hguidity focilities are provided o ABCP condull programs administered by us and thicd parties a% on allernative source
of fingncing i the event thal such progrems ofe unabbe Lo ocoess commercial paper morkets, or n Bmited circumstonces, when
predetermined performance measures of the linancial essets sequired or linanced by these programs are ned mel. We alsa
provide bockstop liquidity focilities to certain third-party commercial mortgoge securitization vehicles. The average remaining
term of these Hgukdity fecilities ks approsimately four years.

The terms of the backstop lguidity facllities do not require us to advance money bo these programs in the event of
bankruptcy or insolvency and generally do not require us to purchase non-performing or defoulled osseis.

Credit enhoncements

We provide partil credit enhorcoment o mublli-seller ABCP progroms admindstened by us 10 protect commercial paper investons
in the evenl that the calleclions an the underiying assels !a-gnthrr wilh the transaction-specific credit enhancements or the
liguidity facilities prove Lo be insulfficlent to pay for moluring commercial paper. Each of the asset poals is structured to achieve
a high investment grade credit profile through credit enhancements required to be provided by the third-party sellers related to
eoch ronsaction, The average remaining term of these credit facilities is approximately three years.

Documentary ond commerciol letters of credit

DBocumentary and commercial letters of credit, which are written undertakings by us on behalf of o client guthorizing a third party
Lo draw drafts on us up (o a stipulated amount under speciflic terms and conditions, where some are collateralized bosed on the
underfying agreament with the client and others ore colleteralized by cosh deposits or other assets of the chient.

Grher commitments be extend credit
Commitments Lo extend credit represent unused portions of guthorizations to extend credit in the form of loans, revesse

repurchase agreements, bankers” scceplonces or latters of credit where we do not have the ability to unilaterally withdraw the
credit extended to the bomrower,
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Other credit-reloted commilments

Securities lending indemnifications

In securities kending transoctions, we oct os an ogent for the awner of o security, who agrees to kend the security to o borrower
for @ lee, under the terms of o pre-arranged contract. The borrower mast fully collaterallze the security loaned at all times As
port of this custodiol business. an indemnification may be provided to securities lending customers to ensyre that the foir value
al securilies boamed will Be returned in the event Dsal e hoeroswer Falls o relum the bormowed secorilieos ond e collaliral held
is Insufficient to cover Uhe lair volue of those secwrities. These indemnilicollons norm ally Lepminale withogl |.1E|r|g drarwn upei.
The term of these Indemnifications vories, os the securities loaned are recallable on demand. Collateral held For our securities
lending transactkons typlcally incledes cosh, securities thot are issued of pugranteed by the Canoedlon government, LS,
government or other OLCD countrbes or high quality debt or equity Instruments.

Performance guarantecs
Performance guarantees represent revocabde ossuronces that we will moke payments to third-party beneficiaries in the event
that o client Fails b perclarm under a l.Tmfi.l!r-d man-linancial confractual nhllgntinn Such nhligﬂlim‘.wp&rqll-,- Inelude works and
service conlrocts, Pr.-rf:u rivrce bonds, and warranlles reloted to intermational Lrade. The teim of these guoranless can range up
Lo theee Lo Seven years.,

Our palicy For requiring colloteral security with respect to these instruments and the types of colisteral secur ity held is generally
the same as for leans. When collateral security ks token, it s determined on an account-by-acceunt basis according to the risk of the
biorrower ond the specifics of the trarsactkon. Callateral security may Inchude cash, securities and other assats pledged

Sponsored member guorantees

For certain overnight repurchase ond reverse reparchase transactions. we act os o sponsoring member to eligible clients 1o clear
tronsactions through the Fixed Incomse Clearing Corporotbon (FICC). We glso prul.lil]l.-u Euarontee (o FICE lor fhe PII:I'I'||:I|. ane full
poyment and perfarmance of cur spansored member clients’ respective obligations under the FICC rules. The guarantees are
lully colloteralized by cash and securities issued of guaranteed by the LS. government

Indemnifications

Im the normal course of our eperatkons, we provide indemnifications which are olten standard contractual berms to
counterparties in transoctions such as purchose and sale controcts. Nduclary, agency, licensing, custodiol and service
agreements, clearing system arrangemenlts, participation as o member of exchanges, directorfolficer controcts and leasing
irmvsoctions. These indemniloaticn agreesments may reguire us Lo compensole the counterporhes for costs Inouried os d resull
al :hqngr: Iy Borwess rl:Equt'lnh% 1Inr|u|;|ing bax Ie:gh.lntsun] or as a result ol it Ignlbﬁn claim& or slatulory Lonclions that may be
sulfered by the counterparty as o consequence ol the transaction, The terms of these indemnification agreements vary hased on
the centract, The nature of the indemnification agreements prevents us from moking a reazonable estimate of the maximum
potentiol ameunt we could be required to pay to counterparties. Histerically, we hove not made any significant paymenits under
such indemnifications.

LUincommitted omownts

Uncommiited amounts represent widrown coedil facilities for which we hove Ue ability o unilobenally withdrow the credit
extended o the borroyer ol qn:,rl]mn-.Thrw include bioth retail ond commercial commitments, Az at October 31, 2023, the total
bokonce of uncommitted amounts wos 5398 billlon (October 31, 2022 - 5363 billwon)

Other commitments

We Invest in private compandes, directly or through third-party investment funds, including venture copltal Funds, private equity
funds, Small Business Investment Companies, real estate funds and Lew Inceme Housing Tox Credit funds. These funds are
generally structured os chesed-end limited portnerships wherein we hold a limited partner interest. For the vear ended

October 31, 2023, we have unlunded commitments of $LA32 millicn (Dctober 31, 2022 < 51,420 million ) representing the oggregele
amount of cash we are obligaled to contribute as capltal to these partnerships under the terms of the relevant controcts.

Pledged assets ond calloleral
In the ordinary course of business, we pledge assets and enler inte collateral agreements with terms and condilions that are
usugl and customary to our regular lending. berrowing and rading activities recorded on our Consolidated Balance Sheets, The
following ere examples of our general terms ond conditions on pledped ossets ond collateral:

+  The risks and rewards of the pledged assets resida with the pladgor

+  The pledged asset ks returmed Lo the pledgor when the necessary conditions hoe been satisfied.

= The right of the pledges to sell or re-pledge the asset is dependent on the specific agreement under which the collateral

is pledged
= I there is ne default. the pledges must return the comporable gsset to the pledgor upon satisfoction of the obligation.

We are also required bo provide intraday pledges o the Bank of Canoda when we use o real-lime electoonic wire transler system
that continvously processes all Canadian dollar lorge-value or time-critical payments througheut the day. The pledged assets
earmarked for our Canadion dellar large-value or time-critical payments are normally released bock to us at the end of the
setllement cycle eoch day, Therefore, the pledged ossets amount s not included in the follewing toble. For the year ended
Qctober 31, 2023, we had on average 51 billon of assets pledged intraday to the Bank of Canada on a daily basis {October 31

2022 - 52 billion}. There are infrequent ocoosions where we are required to toke on overnight odvonce from the Bank of Canada
to cover @ settbement requirement, In which case an equivalent value of the pledped assets would be used to secure the advance.
Thete were no nucrnlghl! gdvances taken on Oclober 31, 2023 gnd October 31, 3033,
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Aszets pledged against Habilities and collateral assets held ar re-pledged

A ol
Dectobear 31 Dbokes T
[MBions of Conadis dollars) S . wn o2y
Sources of pledged ossets and colloteral
Bank gssels
Loans 5 102,944 & 97178
Securitles 107,122 70,334
Olher assels 2;.’9!3 40,318
239019 207830
Client assels i
Collateral received and avallable for sale or re-pledging 502,109 465,404
baess ok sl o vucplocind (eF16)  (5.100)

495231 456292
$ 734,252 5 664,122

Uses of pledged assets and collateral

Securities borrewlng and lending 5 168681 5 158748
Obligations related to securities sold shast 46,260 45,188
Obligations related to securities lent or sold under repurchose agreements 131,784 2714392
Securitization 3B, 686 40438
Covered bonds 09,802 62905
Derivative ransactions 40,352 459556
Fareign governments and central banks 9111 0501
C|r.'nr'i|'|R Syslems, poymisnl systems and depositones 10,709 B 263
Ot 18,867 15029

5§ 734,252 5 664122

i Primaily e leted to Dbdiga!ione relaediio secunibees lord oe sadd under repunchass apreement s, Secwilies lend and Detivetive iransocidan

Legal and latary matlers

We are o lerge globol instilution Lhat s subject to many different complex legal ond regulotory requirements Uhot continue Lo
evolve. We are ond hove been subject to a varbety of legal proceedings, Including civil cloims ond lowsuits, regulotory
examinations, imvestigations, audits and requests fof Infermation by various governmental regulatory agencies and law
enforcement authorities in vorious jurisdictions. Some of these motters may invabve movel legal theories and Interpretations and
may be advanced under eriminal as well g% civil stalules, and some pr n.—.e:.-ding:- could resull in the imposilion of ¢ivil, rl:-g_ululnl"p
enforcement or criminol penalthes, We review the stetus of oll proceedings on an ongoing basis and will exercise judgment in
tresalving them in such manner as we believe ta be in our best interesl. ln many proceedings, IL s inherently difficult to determine
whather any lnss is probabde or to reliobly estimate the amount of any loss. This s on orea of significont judgment and
uncedtainty and the extent of our financiel and other exposure Lo these proceedings after Loking inbe acoownt current provishons
could be moterial to our results of operations in any particuber period though we do not believe that the ultimate resolution of
any such matter will hove a malerial effect on aur consolidated financiol condition. The following |s o descriplion of our
significant legal proceedings, Bosed on the facts curmently known, except os atherwise b noted, it ks not possible ot this
time for us to predict the ultimate culcome of lhese proceedings or the timing of their resolution.

Londan interbonk offered rate (LIBOR) Kitigotion
Royal Bank of Canado and other US. dollar pone! banks have been nomed os defendonts in private lowsuits fled in the 1S, with
respect to the setting of LS. dollar LIBOR Including o number of choss action lewsuits which have been consolidated before the
LLS. District Court for the Southern District of New York. The compbaints in those private lowsuils assert claims against us and
ather panel banks under various US. lows, Including LS. antitrust lows, the U S Commuodity Exchange Act, and stote low. On
Decembeer 30, 2021, the LS, Cowrt of Appeals for the Second Clrcult issued an oplinlon affirming bn part and reversing in part certain
district court rulings that hod dismissed a subsbontial portion of the consalidated class action on jurisdictional grounds and lock of
standing. The Secand Circuil remanded the matter e the district court for further proceedings consistent with ils decision

On July 11, 2023, Royo! Bank of Conoda and severol other defendants executed o seltlement agreement resalving one of e
LIBOR closs aclions hrcpu_l:;lll on behall ol certain pldlnti.“s that purchased US, dollar LIBOR-based instruments, The settlement
wirs preliminarily approved on August 1, 2023 and remains subpect te final court appreval.

Royal Bank of Caneda Trust Company (Behamas) Limited proceedings

On April 13, 2015, a French investigating judge notified Royol Bonk of Conada Trust Company {Bahamas) Limited (HBC Bohamas)
of the Issuance of an ordonnance de renvel referring RBC Bahamas and other unrelated persons to the French tribungl
comrectionnel to foce the chorge of complicity in estate tox froud relating to octlons taken reloting te a trust for which RBC
Bahamas serves of trustee, RBC Bahamas belleves that its octions did nod vielate French law and contested the charge In the
French caurt. On January 12, 2047, the French court aoguitted oll parties Inclmfing RBC Bohamas and on June 29, 2008, the French
appéliate couwrt affirmed the acquiltals. The scquittals were appealed and on January &, 2021, the French Supreme Couwrt msued o
judgrnent revessing the decision of the French Court of Appeal ond sent the cose back Lo the French Court of Appeol for
rehearing. Thi retriol befose Lhe Court of Appeal commenced on September 18, 2023 and hos concluded. The Court of Appeal’s
decision Is expected bo be tssued on March 5, 23024,
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Legal and e latory matters

0On Octaber 28, 2016, Royal Bonk of Canoda was granfed an exemptbon by the LS. Department of Labor that ollows Royal
Bank of Conada and is current and future affillotes to continue bo guallfy for the Qualified Professional Asset Manager (QPAM)
expmplion under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act despite any potentiol conviction of REC Bahamas inthe French
pracecding for a lempadary one year perbod from the date of conyiction. We expect the Department of Labor to publish o
technical correction to the prior ene-yeor exemplion in odvonce of the Court of Appeals decision, The anticipoted technical
casrreelion will rellisct thae lacl that the decigion will be rendeded by an appeliobe court, and naot P distrct caurt. naddition, he
Department of Labor has proposed amendments to the QPAM exemption, Il the amendments are fnalized os proposed, iL s
unelear hew they would affect Reyal Bank of Canada’s abdlity to obtain relief beyond the one-year temporory exemption perfod

RBC Bohomas continues to review the frustee’s and the trust’s legal obligations, including liabilitles and potentbal lobilities
under applicable tax ond other laws.

Forelgn exchonge matlers

Beginning in 2015, putctive closs actions were brought agamst Royal Bank of Canada ond/or RBE Copital Markets, LLC in the LS.,
Conada, the Uniled l‘.‘mﬂ:lnm ondl Brazil These aclions were cach hlrluglal ngnin«l mulligeles Fisr |'Ig|'| (‘Ni‘|inl1gl‘1!l'll|r‘rl. and nlllturrl_
among odher [hings, collusive belwviour in gluhu'l rl.'lll:'i#‘II exthange L uding. By Moy 2023 all of il LS., Conadien avd UK. aclions
were setlled or dis missed, and while thi Brazilian ections hove not been resolved, our ("!l.j.'llhsuﬂ:ll.'l these actions is de minimis be
Royal Bank of Canada,

L& communicalions recordkeeping inguiry

In October 2022, our subskdiary RBC Copltal Markets, LLC recelved o request For information and documents from the Securities
and Exchange Commission (SCC) concerning complionce with records preservation requirements reloting to basiness
commamications cx,rhqngr_'d on ebetronic channels that have nol been apperoved by RBC Coapltal Maorkels. LLC. RRC Cnpilﬂl
Markets, LLT is cooperating with the SEC"s inguiry. As hos been publicly reported, the SEC is conducting similar inguiries into
recordkeeping practices ab multiple other financial institutions

UK. Compelition and Markels Authorily investigalion
In Movemnber 2008, the UK. Competition and Maorkets Autherity {CMA) storted on investigotion of Royal Bank of Canada and RBC
Europe Limited relating to alleged anti-competitive conduct between 2009 and 2013, Involving U K. government bonds and related
derivatives. In May 2023, the CMA Issued o statement of objections te Royal Bonk of Conodo and RBC Eurepe Limited. ond certain
ather finonciol institutions, Royal Bank of Conodo and RBC Eurape Limited are contesting the CMA's case,

In Jure 2023, RBC Ewrope Limited and RBC Coplial Markels, LLE, among etbed lnancial instiiutions, were named os
defendants in @ putative class oction filed in the US, by plaintiffs glleging anti-compelitive conduct in the UK. governmen bonds
markel. In Seplember 723, the delendants fided a motion fo dismiss the complaint

Vacalion poy class aclion

On December 24, 2022, the Ontorio Superior Court of Justice certified a class inon octlon against REC Deminlon Securities
Limited and RBC Dominkon Securities Inc. (logether, RBC DS). The action commenced in July 2020, asserting claims reloting to
statutory vacation pay and public holiday pay for invesiment advisors, associoles and assistonts inour Canadian Wealth
Momagement business, with the exception of those erployed In Alberto amd British Columbia

ther matlers

W aie o delendant i a il of olher golioms alleging Lol e L il aur praclioes and daclions were improper. The lowsgits
Involve o varkety of complex [ssues and the timing of their resolutben is varied and uncertain Monogement believes that we will
ultimately be successful in resolving these kawsults, bo the extent that we are able o gssess them, without material financial
impact to the Bonk This s, howewver, an area of significant judgment and the potential llability resulting frem these lowsults
could be moterial to awer results of operations in any particubar periad.

Various sther legol procesdings ore pending (hol challenge certaln ol sur other prociices or actions, While this is an ores of
significant judgment and some matlers are currently Inestimable, we consider that the aggregate Hability, to the extent that we
are abde o assess i resulling from these other proceedings will nol be material bo our consolidoted financial position or resulis
of aperalions,

Reloted parties

Reloted porties inchude associated companies over which we hove direct or indirect conlrol or have hignil iconl influence and
post-emplayment Benafil plans for the benafit of sur employess, Reloted portles aleo include key management personmsel [KMP),
this Bosierel ef Darecibon s [Directors), Close Fiai |H|'|r members of KMP and Directors, ond entites which ar e, divectly ev Indirect |!,-'.
controlled by or jointly controlled by KMP, Directors or thelr close family members,

Key monogemenl personnel and Directors

KME are defined os those T sons hq-.-'lng authority and responsibility lor phnnlng dirﬂ:llng and canl mlling our activities,
directly or indirectly, They include the senior members of our organization called the Group Executive (GE). The GE is comprised
af the President ond Chie! Executive Officer, ond the Chiel Officers ond Growp Heods, who report directly Eo him. The Directors do
not plan, direct, or eantral the activities of the entity; they overses the management af the business and provide Ltewandship.

LR Byl Bk &l Caneder Srmue Bingoit 2121 Consstclzid Firaneial Schrimenis
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Compensation ol Key monagement personnel and Directors

hrtabesr 1 O bt 34

(Mo of Conadkan dotiars} a3 oy
Sabaries and ather abort-term employee benefits |3 3 21 5 27
Post-employmant benefits 5 3 3
Share-based poyments 39 410

5 64 5 &0

11 Darmgihe yeor ended Octaler 1, MY cenain eveqanes, whi weve members al the Bord's GF & ol Octobar 10 2621, o e Bank ard 1hevefone sere no lager part ol
WP, Comp=snsorien for the year endiad Oriober 11, JLT aliribebolele (o the Sanmer execut e, Incbpding benelis ond share baved psymieads refoling io gwords graned i
peior yary wos BH milinn

(31 inchuden iha porticn of the orrool vorigble shar] berm inceni ive hongs Lhed cerfoin ececulives elpcted borncoren infha o ef BEUW Aefer (o bole 3 for Burther dotnia
Direetor Prdeive iefoinen b donol i eeekie vokioies ond sthar shodl eem empiloyes el

191 Directory de pol s ehon pokl-eeplerprend benelia

Stock options, share-bosed owards and shares held by Key management personnel, Directors and their close fomily

members

dsal e
e Ochabees 0, JOR2EY
Mo, of Mo, of

[itiar of Cerabon delisrs, except numbes of Lty units held Value  wnibuheld  Wahee
Stock options i 2805471 5 26 2400204 5 59
Other mon-option share-based owards (1) 991,009 110 o4 406 115
RBC comeman and preferred shores 181,648 20 170312 22
3979018 5 156 404,100 5 196

I During the peor snded October 10 203, certoin @rectos, who win o mernbssns of the Board of Difecbers o8 01 Octoled 10 202, retired. Tolol shovesldings Pl i
Eheis relivermeril wen JES58 unils wilh o value of B millan

21 During the yeor ended Ocbober ). 20T cevinin enecutives, who were members of the Bonk™s GE 93 0l Doiober 112071, kef the Bonk ond thenefone were no loger EMP
Tulal sharshoisdings ond aptions held upon e deportune wirs 569,470 unit with @ volue of &34 million

15 Deeior derol ecehe slook aplians ur ong elfes neevopllin shaee-based uwsrdy

Transactions, arrangements and agreements involving Key monagement personnel, Directors and their close family
members
In the normal course of business, we provide certain banking services to KMP, Directors, and their close family members, These
tronsactions were mode on substantially the same terms, including interest rates and security, os for comparoble transoctions
with persans of a similar stonding ond did not invelve more than the normal risk of repgyment or present other unfevourable
feotures

As of October 31, 2023, tolal loans to KMP, Directors and their close fomily members weee 518 million {October 31, 2022 =
51 million}, We hove no Stoge 1 albowance or pravision for credit lesses relating to these keans os ot and lor the years ended
Oetober 3, 1027 and Detober 1, 2022 No goarantess, pledges or eammilments hove been ghien bo KMP, Direcions of their clogs
fvunl'll}':lngnil.wﬂ.

Jaint ventures ond associates

In Lthe mormal course of business, we provide certaln banking and finonchal services (o our jolnt ventures ond ossockoles,
Including loans, interest ond non-interest bearing deposits. These transoctbons meet the definition of related porty transactlons
and were made on substantially the some terms os for comporable lronsoctions with third parties,

As of Ocbober 31, 2023, loans bo joinl venlures and gssociotes were $217 million (Ocbober 31, 2022 = 5251 million) and degosits
Trorm joint ventures and associates were 877 million (October 31, 2002 - 30 million). We have no stage 1 allowance of plavision
for credit losses reloting to loans to joint ventieres and assocliates as ot and for the yeors ended October 31, 2023 and October 31,
2022, 51 million of guorantees have been given bo joint ventures ond associotes for the year ended October 31, 2023 {Oclober 3,
2022 - 51 million}.

Ciher ransoctions, orrangementy or agreements lavolving jolak ventures ond ossociotes
Aa ol orforihe joor ended

rtaberr 31 D bolanr 10

[Millony of Conadan doliars) 023 02

Cammitments and alher coalingencies i 1,080 % #10

Other fees received for services rendered 35 50

Other lees paid for services received 108 107
L Lich 4 Firatwrve bl 15l i [yl Borik of Canada Al Bepert M1 F7Lq
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Composition of business segments

For monagement purposes, bosed on the products ond services offered, we are organized into four business segments:

Personal & Commerclal Banking, Wealth Managemant, Insurance, and Capital Markets, Effective the first quarter of 2023, we
shmphified our reparting structure by eliminaling the Investon & Treasury Services segment and menving its former busknesses bo
1:u'r.|.ling segments, We moved our Invesior Services business Lo our Wealth Hunngr.'mr_'nt :.egmchl. and our Treasury Servioes and
Transaction Flem&ing busingess=t to our Capital Morkets wgm-r-nl FHectivie this Faurth quarter aof 2023, we movied ths |nvestor
Services lending business from our Wealth Monogement se gment Lo our Capltal Markets segment. From a repod Limy perspective,
there were no changes to our Persenal & Commercial Banking and Insurance segments. Comparative resulls have been revised
to conform to our new basls of segment presentation.

Persanal & Commercial Banking provides o brood suite of linancial products and services ta individual ond business clients for
thelr day-to-day banking, investing ond lNnancing needs through two businesses: Canodian Banking and Coribbean & US
Banking. In Conoda, we provide o broad suite of financial products ond services through our large branch network, ATMs, and
modile sales network, [n the Cafibbean and the LS. we aller a broad range ol Financial pc'ndurl & and services in tursrtrd
markels, Non-nlerest income in Peisonol & Cominercial Eqﬂhlll# nl.ulnl}l :ul:lr.lli:u.':. Seryice ClIL‘lIFE!. Mutual fund revenue and
Card service revenue.

Wealth Monagement serves high net worth ond ultre-high net woith individual and institutional clients with o comprehensive
sulite of zdvice-based solutions and stralegies os well as personalized bonking relationships through ows lines of businesses in
Canedo, the U.5. the U.K., Europe and Asio, including Conedian Wealth Management, U.5, Wealth Management {including City
National), Globaol Asset Management. International Wealth Management. and Investor Services. Non-mterest income in Wealth
Management mainly camprises Investment monagement ond custodial fees, Mutual fund revenue and Securities brokerage
cainmissions.

Insurance hos aperotions in Canada and globally, operating under Bwo business lines: Canadion Insurance and International
lisurance, providing o wide renge of advice and salutlons for individual and business cllents including life, haalth, wealth,
praperty & casualty, travel, group benefits, onnuities, ond reinsuronce. In Canadia, we offer our products and services through a
wide varlety of channels, comprised of mobile advisors, odvice centres. RBC Insurance® stores, and digital platforms as well as
through independent brokers and partners. Outside Canada, we operate In reinsuronce and retrocession markets globally
offering life, critical Hiness, dischility and kangevity reinsurance products, Non-interest incame in Insurance is comprised of
esurarce: premiunms, and invesiment and les ncome,

Capital Market< provides expertice in advisary & nr]_glnnt'mn. sales & I!l'qdll'u-_g, IH‘uIing & finonring afd Wransackion hnnkingln
corpenations, imstitulional clienls, assel managers, peivate equity lirms ond governments ghobally i our bwe main business lines:
Corporate & Investment Banking and Global Markets. in North America, we offer a full suite of producks ond services which
Include equity and debt origination and distributbon, advisory services, and sales & troding. Outside North America, we have g
targeted stralegic presence in the UK. & Europe, Australio, Asla & other markets oligned to our globaol expertise, In the UK. &
Europe. we offer o diversified set of capobilities In key industry sectors of foous. In Australio and Asla, we compete with glabal
and reglonal vestment banks intorgeled oreos oligned (o owr global expertise, inchading Myed Inoome distribution anpd
currencies troding, secured l'lrbqu:'lns, as well as corporate ond investment banking. Non-interest incomae in Capital Markets
mainly includes Troding revenue, Underwriling and other advisary fees and Credit foes,

All other enlerprise level activities that are not ollocated Lo these four business segments, such as certain treasury ond liquidity
management activities, including amounts gessocloted with unattributed copital, and consolidation adjustments, inciuding the
elimination of the Taxable equivalent basis (Teb) gross-up amounts. are inclisded In Corporate Support. Teb adjustments gross
up Incomse from certain tax-advontaged sources from Canadion taxable corporate dividends and LS. tax credit investments
recorded In Copitol Markels to thelr effective b egquivalent volue with the comesponding ofTsel recorded in Uhe provision for
income boxes, Manggement believes thot these Teb odjustments are necessary for Copital Markets to reflect how it is monaged
and enhances the compargbility of revenue ocross our laxable and tox-advontaged sources. Our use of Teb edjustments may nol
be comporable to similerly odjusted omaunts ol cther lingacial institulions. The Teb adjustment for the yeor ended October 11,
1023 was £559 millkon (October 31, 2022 - £572 millien). Gains {losses] en economic hedges of our US, Wealth Management
{including City Natienal} shore-based compensotbon plans, which are rellected in revenue, ond reloted variability in share-bosed
compensation expense driven by changes in the Fair value of liabilities relating to these plons are alsaincluded in Corporete
Support as this presentation more chosely aligns with how we view buskness performance and manage the underlying risks.

Geographic segments

Far geographic reporting, our segments are grouped into Canada. the .5, and Other International. Transactions are primarily
recorded in the lecation that best reflects the risk due to negotive changes in economic conditions and prospects for growth due
Lo positive economic changes. This location lrequently corresponds with the location of the legal entity thraugh which the
business ks conducted and the lecation of our clients. Transactions are recorded in the kecal currency and are subject to forelgn
exchange rote fluctuotions with respect bo the mevement in the Canadian dollar,

Monagement reporting fromework

Our managemaent reporting fromework |s intended to measure the performance of each business segment os IF it were @ stand
alone basiness and reflects the woy thot the business segment Is managed. This opproach is intended to ensuse that our
busimess segments’ results include oll opplicable revenue ond expenses associobed with the conduct of thelr business and
dl:pll:l:.l‘l.ﬂw rrujnngcmr.-nl\r'lrws those resulls. We mgu!nrlg,r manilor these !.rgrrsuml resulls for the Purpose al mql:lng decisions
about resource allocation and performaonce assessment, These Hems do nol Impact our cansolidoled resulls,

M Toryol Bank of Eotode: Anmugl Bepaat 2024 Comslidled Fisare il Stalemend s
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The expenses in each business segment may Include costs or services directly incurred or provided on their behalf at the
enterprise level. For other costs not directly attributable to one of our business segments, we use o management reporting
framework that wses ossumptions ond methodologles for allocating averhead costs and indirect expenses to awr business
segments ond Lhat assists in the attributbon of capital and the transfer pricing of funds lo our business segments in o manner that
consistently measures and oligns the economic costs wilh the underlying bemelils and risks of that specific business segmenl,
Activities and business conducted between our business segments are generally ol market rates, All ather enterprise lovel
activities thal are nol alkbocated to our four business segments ane reported under Corporote Support

Our gssurmptions and methodologhes used in our monagement repofting fromework are petlodically feviewed by us o
ensure thel they remoin valid. The copital attribution methodobogies involve a number of assumplions that are revised

periodically,
[ Tt Ui yomi wided febaber 11, TF
Pernonel b
Commgiidel Wralih c Conparsle Uniied [
| Ml wf Coscdar dalor| H* lﬂq_-ll Amronce .h'h.hflll Suypproad (1§ r.d.d Canoda !Bﬂ- “m
Hel interesl inconms (1) § 16074 % 4,495 § = 3379 5§ 1IA0 S 25,1219 § 18,752 % 5065 § 1,311
Hon-wileread income (el I!.!H? 5,675 ?.i_'.l'z R LH] !I_.m 14851 E_..iﬁ!- 758G
Tabal revenue 12110 17,544 5,675 11,050 {260} 56,129 11600 13628 8508
Provisksn for credi iouses 1,579 338 - 500 - A58 1048 TH4 3%
Insurance policybalder benelils.
clgmmond oo guisibion gaperae - - 4,032 - - 4,023 2.1&1 - 1,561
Ninraierest wyperne 5314 14,118 653 6,509 (13 narn ERGL] 19,177 4,677
hiel Inconie [loss) Belede incoine
lzers 11,326 3088 1,000 3,950 WIF) 18,466 14,475 1667 134
e o [aes {Tecnovee] 3,060 (73] 197 {158} 16 E 4770 {1903} (BT}
Kl incoamae i B.I66 5 1427 6§ ROR § 4130 5 |TE%)S 14866 5 5,705 & 7 s 1.3%
Hon milereat esperse inclodes:
Bepreciotion ord omortizotion  § L 1,234 & 58 & 09 & - & 1762 % 1570 & H1E & 156
Impra e i of othes intangibles 13 E§1 1 3 in 108 5 (13 15
Tolil aasts 1 ARE04E § 170237 § 22591 & 1000072 £ B69%6 5 2004902 £ 1040463 & £30.204 § 313010

Tabal crssel s e e,
Adtinns lo prenise ond
exquipmend ol intongibles 8 463 % 1,008 & 538 3108 B35 % 2AT4 % 1,334 3 OO % 440

T Binhdlities % A3I5951 5 177359 5 23,355 § 1,099.891 § 1“,1.51’"! 1,887,233
. Fai ey e Dviobos 30 5000
Ferwosl b
Cpmete i W Cogslul  Coporuie =]
| Wl ol Cosaacdiars dalion | Banking Monagessent (3] e Maiets (1) (0} Suppoit (16 Tl Comoda  Ueiled Sinles  iniervatioeal

eres] e (1) MO % 1,846 4 [ 4544 % (533} % T 15,761 & 5411 % 1,533
Hon-wderesd ingome & 174 12,357 1,500 5 (Y5 (T8} 626K 13,508 158 3%
Tabal ieveniue 20,043 15,244 1510 L] |RaG) A NES 49,169 11,767 180%
Prowisani far credl noes 461 L | iy 1 Akt (L] &0 17&)
Insurance policyholder benelits,

CO 00 OO sl Lon expense 1,783 1.7ES (4B} 124%
Kan-milerest eiperse s EATY 12,005 SHE 5815 1247} 10,609 15,640 096 1.555
el inconme [loss] belore income

taums i34 FRLLY [NEL] FRr’S iy 106 T4 447 »¥HI 1.6a1
Incoms boaes [recoveries) I AT L A 78 () FR hois 457 214
Hel ingoeme i EiTo % 1300 % EST % 1068 % i 15801 & 11,672 & 1360 & 1,868
Haii-wileieild wapesm i hidri

Defies el desd Ginal Lbalian 3 [ F3 3 b0 g 5T % 514 % (FIE Ik § 1617 & T8 241

Imipsgaimneal of oihed intangibiles 1] 2 2 1 18 I 5 Pl
Todol assels § GOZ.824 % g8 § 21918 8 L0IFR § &% § 1917119 5 992,485 & S70X5E § 354479
Totn| ossets nclsde

Addions (o prensses ond

edjul priversd and Inbongibles 3 194 % 2347 % 49 & 234 % BIE 5 AOTE & I.I6S & L] 1743
Todal Biobilitied 4 ADRT4E % BOEAI0 4 225EN 5 LONIAES £ (400} 8 1.R00.048

m Tis e equivalert baosiv
(K| brlprersd reveinae ok Pepbied ned of irErved seperas On me rely prmaotily on e inkerest menme g o perl mmong e mecere.
1% Anwasls hoee hewn revised fere hine (reviouly présettd bo confim 86 oud e b of segment prewenindinn

We are exposed Lo eredit. market and liquidity and funding risks g5 o result of holding financial instruments. Dur risk
measurement and objectives, policies and methodologies for managing these risks are disclosed in the shoded test along with
those tobles specifically marked with an aslerisk [*} in the Credit risk section of Monogement’s Discussion ond Analysis. These
shaded text and tables are an integral part of these Consolidoted Financlal Stotements

Concentratinns ol credil fsk exist if o number of our counterparties are engaged insimilar activities, ore located in the same
geographic reglon or hove comporgble economic characlerslics such thal thelr ability o meel contraclugl obligelions would be
similarly affected by changes in economic, politicall or other conditions.

Enraslideird Finoseidl Saleseiily Byl Bosk of Canodd: Al Beperl 2170 T
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Concentrations of credil risk indicate the relobive sensitivity of our perfremance to developments affecting o particular
Industry or geographic locotion. The amounts of cred it exposure associated with certain of aur on- and off-balance sheel
financlal Insfrumends are summarized In the Frdlrvwmgtthp—t_,.

S L O 0BF 1, ADER
{Milicers of Corpdarn dutlas United Other
et periralage osausiy) Canado ® Slotes - Europe % Internotional k] Talal
On-balonce sheet gssets ol her
than derivatives iy 5 7OB.159 66% § 294,670 24% $ TH6IT 6% & 50147 4% £ 1.219.713
Dervatives bafore moster
netling agreements ) i7.121 19% 36,698 15% 67406 46% 14,470 10% 145,795

5 825480 60% & 331,368 24% % 144043 11% 3 64,617 5% 5 1.365508

Qff-balance sheet credit

instruments (5
Commitbed and uncommitted v, % 427,849 56% § 252,071 33% % 51,393 % % 23,183 IW% % 754496
Other B5.211 61% 30,737 131% 11418 15% 2,731 % 40118
5 513,071 57% S5 282,808 311% 5 72,81 8% 5 25914 3I% § 894 614
A ot Octoler 11 AT
[ WiEera of Canodun dollar United Dither
FACERE fETCRnlOge GmoLniL) Canidia k. Statos ] Eurape % Intermalional k] Tatal
On-halance shasl atcels of ey
hmn desrlvalives gy £ 750037 A5 5 263736 23Wm £ BIAT) 8% 5 4E,001 4% % 1159435
Derivatives before master
netling egresments 2. (3 32434 N 354921 3% J2HE5  A6% 17,439 11% 158.67%
4 71471 A% 5 290657 23% 5 160556 12% 3 GB430 5% 5 1314114
QFf-balonce sheet credit
instruments ()
Committed and uncormmilted v 5 395719 57% § 223624 12% 5 5 2660 % 5 My R5T 1% 5 HO5 560
Other 7110 66% 13,847 12% 24476 0% 1,485 1% 19918
S ATTEIR 59 § 237471 29%. 5 VIMAS 9N S 23342 1% 5 815,787
i Rt ASSELS rihas il andey feverse Tl O EETITILS el e0arilies bonTossed, Looss ond Cindomers. Bobiily onder oooapoonces. T ingest OneC el of i
v b o Db 0l 575 [OxEobser 142 SE%|, e Prowies of 15% [ctoler 11 2027 - 15% ) British Columbia ond he teminories of 166 | Dotobes 35 302 - 5%

and Quehec ol WP% [Dctober 19, 30T s 2% | Cctaber 31, 3080 - 1% | of total en balance shest credit inabnimasnts, sith B
excepdion ol Benking, which gcoounted lor 19% {Oriober 51, 1007 - Tew|, ond Govemment. which oroounted Ine 15% {Ocimber 11, NIF - Lw). The casslicotion of our
wechon oligns with o view of cresit ik by indusiry

12 & further bregidown of cur derivalive svposunes by v roting and counderpaity byps i prosided in iobs 5

13} Bachaies voluction cdjustments defemired on o pooled i

4] mslonies praserted are conlroctucl smouni eprelmBng ou SO exponery (o ched FHL

1% Bepreneris sl masimom expinie be credi riuk, Betnll ond wholecle commilmimis respacl ey cormprine 44% ond 36% of o (olnl comeslimenis [Dcbobser 11 2023 -
44 ond 44| The largesl doncenirmtisns imthe whalcsole portiolis selote to Fionciel strvicen ol 1% |Oclaber 91, 2002 - #in), Heal estote and retabed of 17%
{Ocinber 51, X AP, Urilites ol v | Dolaber 31, 2002 - %), OEher sEnvices o A% |Ocoober 10, 2007 - T and Fwesimenis ol s [Ociolser 1, 032 - s%), The
clesfontkon of our wecions ahges wilh o view of ool ek by Isdusiry

Regulatary copital and capital ratios
05FI farmally establishes risk-bosed capital ond leverage minimums ond Tolol Loss Absorbing Copacity [TLAC) ratios for deposit-
taking institutions in Conada. We ore required to calcubale our capital rotios using the Bosel 11 framework, Under Basel 11,
regulatory capital includes Commaon Equity Tier 1 ({CETT), Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital. CET1 copital moinly consists of commaon shores.
retained earmings and other companents of equity. Regulotory ad justments under Basel [ inclede deductions of goodwill and
ather intangibles, coflakn deferred Llax assels, delined benelit pendion lund assets, investments in banking, financlal and
Insurance entities, the shartfall of provislons o expecied losses, prudentiol valuation adjustments, prepald por tfodlo nsurance
aisels, non poyment and non del ery of trodes and equil yilwv.'-.:ment im lunds subject to the foll-bock appreach. Tier 1 capital
comprises pradominantly CETI ond Additbonal Tier | items incheding non-cumubotive prefermed shores and | RCNS that meat
certain criterba. Tler 2 copital includes subordinoted debentures that meet certaim criteria, certain loan loss allowances ond non-
controlling interests in subsidiories’ Tler 2 instruments. Tolal capltal s the sum of Tier 1 ond Tler 2 copltal, External TLAC
Instruments comprise¢ predominontly senior balkin debl, which includes eligible senlor unsecured debt with an eriginal term (o
makurity of greater thon 400 days and remakning term to maturity of greater than 365 doys. TLAC gvolloble is defined as the sum
al Tatal capital and external TLAC instrumenls

Rn:gulul!l.uy [ u|.|'t|1;|| ratios aré calculoted by dividing CET1, Tier 1, Tolol copilal and TLAC avoilable by risk-weighted gssels. The
lewerage ratio s calculated by dividing Tier | capital by an exposure measure, The exposure measure consists ol total ossets
[exchuding items deduc ted from Tier 1 copital) and certain off -balonce sheet items converted info credil exposure equivalents.
Adusiments are alse made o derivatives and secured Mnanc ing transaclions Lo reflect credil and ather risks. The TLAC leverage
ratio ks calculoted by dividing TLAC avallahle by the leverage rotlo exposure

N Rerpsl Boiek o Easoda dnnudl Brpedl 2624 Crvial idabird Finoneial Stislemend s
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During 2023 and 2022, we complied with all applicable copital, leverage and TLAC requirements, including the domestic stability
buffer, imposed by O5F1,

da at
chober 31 Dok 1)

|l'|||'|nvrn_rJ Conadinn dlllln!l. incopl pr_n_rrnlqr_nrrmqu_ll.nmllr_tHh_rl._'wnrn:_ﬂ_lld? _N:ﬂ T3
Capital i1}

CETI copltal 5 86611 5 Th.945

Tier 1 capital 93,904 4,242

Tofal capital 106,952 GI1R50
Risk-weighted ossels (RWA) used in colculation of capitel rotios o

Credit risk 5 475,842 5 A496.H%H

Markel riisk 40,498 35342

Operationol risk 79,853 77630
Total Rwa 5 596,223 5 GODAETY
Caopital ratios ond Leverage ratio 1)

CETI ratio 14 5% 12,60

Ther 1 capital ralio 15. 1% 13.5%:

Totol capital ratio 17 6% 15,4%

Leverags rotlo 4.3% 4.4%

Leverage rotic exposure (bHlions) 5 1,180 S 1 Bl
TLAC ovailoble and ratios (7

TLAC available 5 184916 %5 160951

TLAC ratio 30 16.4%

TLAC leverage ralio 5% 3%

[ Copilal, IWa, s copllal ratios ore esleulted wiing 00 | 's Coptal Aderacy iegquirsmenta [ CA]) gubdeline asd the Leveiaps rotho b calodated ukng 05106 Leveroge
Iepiuir ey (LR guadeling: Bt the CAH gusdelbne omnd LE gusdelise ofe Baned on dhe Boss] i namewoni The reudin [on the yeor ended tetobser 01, 3000 reflece su
et of [ evived CAR oed | pubdelines Bt oo e offect i 0F 3000 e port of G50 impslemantotion of Dhe Basel 1] rdfotma

18 FLAL avoioble ormd TLAL saikos ore coloulsbed usling 9501 a TLAC padeline. The FLAL standord b opplied of ihe resaluties enlity bevel which Tor e is deemed 1o be
Woyeal ook of Donoto ond its subsidones. A resclsion estry ond s sl kdonies acecollectively colled o resolulion group. Boch iBe TLAC miid ond TLAC feverops roiin
e colcwlebed using ihve TLAC avabioble ox percentoge ol i olol BWA ond leveroge expovere. respeciively.

inanci

Qffsetting within our Consolidated Balance Sheets may be achieved where financiol assets and liobilities are subject o master
nelting arrangements that provide the currently enforceable right of offset and where there is an intention bo settle on a net
bosis, or realize the assets and settle the labilities simulloneousty. For derivative contracts ond repurchase and reverse
repurchase arrongements, this i= generally ochleved when there i< a marke? mechanism for seltlement [e.g., central counterparty
exchange of clearing house] which provides daily net settlement of cash flows ariskng from these conbracts, Margin receivables
and margin payobles cre generally offset s they settle simultoneousty thiough o morket settiement mechanism,

Amaounts that do not qualify for aeffsetting Include master natting arrangements that only permit outstanding transactions
with the same counterparty to be offset inan event of defoult or ocourrence of ether predetermined events. Such master netting
arrangements include the International Swops and Derlvotives Associotion Master Agreement or certain derivative exchange or
clearing counterparty agreements for derivative controcts, global moster repurchase ogreament ond global master securities
lending agreements for repurchose. reverse repurchase and other similar secured lending and borrowing arrangements,

The amount ol linanciol eollateral received or pHﬂrd subyject bo master nr-l!l!lng arrangements o slmilgs ngr:'rm-t'n!slh.ql do
nok qqqllf',- lar ul'l"in:lllng refers 1o the collateral received or pll.*d_gediu cover B nel exposure between counjerparties by
ennhl'nglh.l.- collateral o be realived in an evenl of default or the accurrence of olher pwd::crrni.nrd evenls Cerlain amounts of
collateral are restricled fram being sold or re-pledged unless there i an event of defaull or the aceurrence of other
predetennined eveils.

Coranbadafwd Fitnine ool Slolemeenii Miryel Bk ol Carwida Anbial Bepeid M3 2
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The following tables provide the Nnanciol instrument amounks that have been offset on the Consalidoted Balance Sheets and
the amownts thot do not qualify for offsetting but are subject to enforceable master netting arrengements or similor ogreements,
The amounts prasented gre not intended to represent our actual expasure to credit risk.

Financial instruments subject Lo enforceable moster netling arrongements or similor ogreements

e e e o P MR T -
4 1 nuibyect b enforcecbin nelling armang,
Heloted amcunds mal
olfaet i lhe Cormelidotod
Bolanes Skl |1}
A gyt el P | s b
R ] A5 Grois i Ll i Impail sl shrlpeill L prevented
4l peegribed s wh tha pretealed in bhe e eelariestle ot b
i al @ d [ i weiilng Fanang ball Coneolidofed
| Madsnrin of Canaadeon daliais matniments  Balors sheets Ealag e Sheets menls coligteral (1] Metomiusis % Hatance Sheels
it imywrLE
ey G,
wrcalilies b rovwrd ¥ AT 8 oETE § EELE TR ] 01 3 X6 % NETE 250 3 MGIW
Dt v i 138118 1,544 116774 an BEY TRl 14578 5678 142,450
Drihe lneec bl gsseis 1306 &4 2Ep3 (k] a4z 2 AXY = 2,861
i ] STE 141 % &) 3 4TH5TH. § 6,108 § ISHE4Y 3 (0&TE § 5916 § 485504
Finmreg il liabiliies
Dibdgoiions relcted o ossets wold
unider repurchis e ogreements
amvd securibes looned ] ATTAM & 11054 § m NN5.23%
Iaarynine Losdliles 111770 13T O EKG 147 639

Ciih Tingrsgiol ligkidlijies

Aa of Dieder 11

Arsivards sabipnt to enfiecmilile nelting gy
Mt redl crmruiel 1 vl

allaed i thet Lodiasladiled

Bshis & Sherl (1)

Irapascd ol
™ widal i eade
Tl LEL 2T ewiling i
|Ptbeary of E oo dalan| ageemenly  coliglenl [J)  Helomounts  oonongements  fisloncr St
Finenciol ouseds
Adse s purchosed unded leverss
e C P @y e irent dal
S | s, [t Tt 1 AVLYIT & L s U 1T.734 & ¥ 4 ] L] ¥ 3 517 b5
[hervolnve s els Tan 4049 4185 144 154 w4 B0 (LR LY B4 455
Cither Hrwew bl assets T . i . 131 A . i 1534
% [T GRea & isd 142§ WAl B [ N 102%h & AT AR
Fimancial liabilites
Oblgotions relcted (o ossels scld
el
& & L] FLT R YL 41 £ MNAEIT R % TAIR & 271,087
Timal WL e00 19,708 20,584 (BN LTI L]
L) i 510 s
i [T T [ 405 4 WG4 A XESSEO & Jp408 4 21067 & 477058
(i Finencal colloterod & refected of lok vabse. The Nl inklrusest artsunts and finoscsl colaleml dadload oe Isited bethe e ba unce sheel eueauie, aid oy

exer-olkaberallzolion & eschuded from the [shie
2] Wnchedes conh collaleral of Wan ot 3
i caats codleterel of 315 billion {Doiober 31, OXT - 318 bllion) and non-cesh coglenl of 178 Billan (Ociobes 11,

L] Boyal el ol Catsdda Armial Bepait 1101 Cannaidaliod Fieatial Schrmeniy
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The toble below preaqnt:\. gn gnaolysis of gssels ond lighilities recorded on oyr Consolidaled Bolonce Sheels by amoynts to be
recovered or settled within ene year and ofter one year, as ot the balance sheet date, bosed on contractual maturities and
certaln sdhér assumplions autlingd in the footnotes below, As warranbed, we manage the Nguidity risk of various praducts bosed
on historlcal behavioural patlems that are often not aligned with controctual molurities. Amounts to be recovered or seltled
within are yeor, as presented below, may not be reflective of our long-term view of the liquidity profile of certain balance sheet

categories.
A ol
Retabel X1, 11} Qskolaer W, F0T
Wilthin one Alber one Within oie Al o
Mkl of Conodian dullai ) }-e_ur year Talal yearl i Tatal
ASsels
Cash and due from banks i) & 59.793 5 2,196 3 61,989 5 TLOED % 1316  § 72397
Interesd I:n:'nrins depoails with
banks T1.086 = 71086 108,001 = VR 1
Securilies
Trading (21 180.929 9222 190,151 139.510 B.395 148,205
Investment. net of applicable
alliwande 131363 186,216 219,579 ¥6,540 143,478 1T00R
Assets purchased under reverse
repurchose ogresments
securities bormowed 336,437 3,754 Jana%1 T4 1M M7 H45
Loans
Retail 120,247 449,704 565,951 111,965 435,7RA 548,751
Whalesale 76,149 111,577 18T B16 Tna74 203,503 FEER T
AMlowance For o losses {5.004) {3.753)
_'-'nep\cgqlcd fund met gssols - 2,760 2,760 = 2438 24638
Other
Customers” liability wnder
occeptonces 11,690 5 21,695 17,527 - 17827
Derivatives ) 140,261 2,189 142 450 151,028 251 154434
Premises and equipment L1 bhaEd B.74%9 i T.155 1214
Goodwill = 12,594 12,594 o 12,237 12,217
Other mtengibles - 5.907 5.907 - 6,083 b8
Gther assels 62,555 14,513 77068 66,071 14,229 B 300
¥ 1,102,675 § 907,321 5§ 1,004,992 5 1L,0BX3IBO0 5 HIES9? § 1.917.21%
Lighilities
Depasits (1) 5 991484 5 240,203 § 1,231,687 5 1023334 5 185490 5 1208814
Segrepated fund net llabikities - 2,760 1,760 - 2,638 1,638
Other
Acceplances 21,740 5 21,745 17,872 - 1T R72
Dhli.-gnllun.-\. felated Lo securilics
sobd short 31602 1.044 33651 14,105 1,406 35511
Ohligaticns related to assels sabd
under repurchase cgreements
amd securities lomnmed 334,959 79 3315238 173,000 46 273847
Derival v 5 131,382 11.277 142,629 JETRRAIES 12,683 153.4%]
Insurance claims and policy
benefit Hahitities 1,898 10,068 11,966 1.904 9,607 1511
Other fighilitics 59187 26,983 26,170 71,688 23,548 95,235
subordinated debentures - 11,386 11,386 1o 2,915 10025

$ 1,563,222 % 304000 & 1,887,232 % 1562813 5 246231 § 1809044

P ek i due Trom Banika. o r aaiuseed Lo e el oweied withis oo pear, cepl fo i beries ol v uible fos v by e Bank

[5 Bresding wrow Bies clossilind oau IVTFL end podeg deshvlives are presenied oa within one yeor & This besi iepresents in siang e P APt ienm natuie of i
eradding aatriteed. Trading wecwrines. dimigraied as FVTRL are gemestally poetanied besed on Contr oCiudl maber iy, Mo iroding derfvgibves one peeienied oooerdng (o the
reLovery of ietthement of e bedgng | ronaad b

|5} Demond deposis-of 3510 bl ko |Ocbobesr 15, 208D - 5560 bilbon) are preseabed ow within one yeor dus o thesr being repayoble en demand o of 1Pt nodice on @
wprmrachasl b, In pract e, these deapeadts refoie boa bood rongs of indsvisluab ord oustomer fppes which (o g sioble base-for our eperations ond ligeld By seeds

Consalslcbed Finonicisl Sohemenis Royol Bark ol Canada Ansusl Bopait N7 I
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Parent company inforr

The following table presents information regarding the legal entity of Royal Bank of Canada with its subsidiaries presented on an
equity accounted basis.

Condensed Balonce Sheels

. _M.:I

dtober 31 O bk 0
|BAilirs of Comian dellar) 2023 M2
Aggels
Cash ond due from banks i 41,770 & 48 062
Interest-bearing deposits with banks 61,256 B4 680
Securites 217,490 174615
Investments in bank subskdiaries ond associobed companies () 55,082 49 841
lvestmenls in other subsidiaries and gesociated companles 105,070 BE 260
Assels purchosed under reverse repuf chase agresments ond securities borrawed 150,207 P32 829
Loans, net of allowance fer leon losses 709,635 679,580
Hel bobances due from bonk subsidiaries - 7172
Other assets 214,145 227767

5 1.5354.655 5 1491H06

Ligbilities ond shareholders” equity

Deposils 5 1,006,284 5 55978

Met balancos dud to bank subsidiories ) 10,132

Mt babances due o other subsbdiories [ 11 16, 701

Other lkabilities 402,326 IR2.099
1,425,608 1,374,778

Subardinated debaniures 11,386 064

Shareholders' equity 117,661 108 064

5 1,554,655 5 1491806

1M Renk relen primendy o regubded SepesE-nking malilsian sl se unlies fem

Condensed Stotements of iIncome and Comprehensive Income

Far e yroi sreded

Ordaber 1 Ocbober i
| Mmooy o Tomailian dollars | 5] Akl
Interest and dividend ncome (i 5 56,495 5 7.1
Interest oapense 44,174 12 846
Met interest income 12,321 14,5145
MHan Inbefesl ndame oy B.300 L4215
Tolal revenwse 17.711 20,370
Provision for credit losses 2,002 319
Non-interest gxpenss 11,780 10,175
Income before income toxes 3,929 9616
Incoame loxes 1.874 2276
Met income before equity in undistributed income of subsidiories 2,055 73440
Equity in undistributed income of subsidiaries 12,804 B.454
Het income s 14,859 % 15,794
Other comprehensive mcome (boss ), nel of taxes 251 5814
Total comprehensive income 5 15110 = 216404
fih st dbwidend o Trodm sy esbmesty i faobl il ond dddaeminbed oompsnies of 125 mlllon (Dciote §1 2800 - Sitamilhan)
i ik o il whin e of aooine (foss) feom desed ol el Coimponies { O ioles i bingl

ELE Repal Bank of Cosoda Asnual Bepotl 2R3 Corkalicdaled Finarc il Shal mmend 5
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Condensed Statements of Cash Flows
Fiuatupis pubeicingersiel b it £ — S

Oetober 1 Octsber 3t
{MSiam of onadkan doliars S— LT il
Cosh MNows from operating oclivities
el income 5 14,859 = 15,704
Adjustments Lo determine net cash from operaling octivitles:
Change in undistributed earnings of subsidiaries (12,804} (RAGH)
Change in deposits, nel of securitirationg 50,306 101,145
Change in loans, net of securitizations {30,0535) {7H.268)
Change In trading securitkes {12,832) {10, 348)
Change in obligations related to ossets sold under repurchose ogreements ond securities
foonied 11,954 24,133
Change in assots purchased under reverse repurchase agreements and securitles borrowed {17.378) {7.23%)
Change in obligalions relabed o securities sold short (219} 1.024
Other operating activities, nel 5,000 2385
Het cash lrom (used in) aperating activities 18,231 #2152
Cosh Mows from investing activities
Change in interest-bearing deposits with banks 13,424 {27.784)
Proceeds from sales ond moturities of investment securitles 127,963 59,304
Purchases of investment securitles (152,009} {71.500)
Met acquisitions of premises and equipment and other intangibles 2.075) {1.0840)
Change in cash invested in subsidiaries 1.802) {25140
Change in net funding provided to subsidiares (12,531}
Mek cash from (used in) investing octivities ___zn078)

Cash MNows from lingncing octivities

Issuance of subardinated debentures 1,500 10040
Repayment of subordinoted debentures (AR -
Issue of commaon shares, net of lssuance cosks [ H] 51
Comman shares purchased for cancellation - {5.426)
Issue of preferred shares and ather equity instruments, net of issuance costs - 744
Redemption of preferred shores and other equity ivstruments - {155}
Dividends paid on shares and distribulions paid on other equity instruments {5,549} {6.960)
Repayment of ieose [abilites A3} {302)
tet cosh from (used inj finoncing activities {4.405) {11,043)
Het change in cash and due fram banks {6,292} {49.555)
Cash and due from banks at beginning of year 48062 97617
Cosh ond due from bonks at end af;ﬂ:ur 5 41,770 5 44,062
Supplementol disclosure of cosh Now information
Amound of intefest paid -3 35,104 = 7801
Amount of interesl received 49,098 213312
wmound of dividends received 1628 2618
Amounl of income toxes paid 2,604 4641

Caranbidatd Firane ol Slalemseity [ieryed Barik & Canade Abaial Bapaid D71 EiL]

580/634



EDINETOOOO
OO000O0000O0O00oOdno(Ees99s)
oOoOooodn

{MiSions of onadkan dobiars As ot October 31, 2023
Carrying value of
voting shores owned
Principal :uh:_iﬂiur.i:: m Principal office address 1 3 by I_hq_qgn_k L1p
Ih.!gru| Bank Holding Inc. Tasi ol Ontario, Canada 85,823
RBA Direct Investing Inc Toronto, Ontario, Canada
RBL Inswrance Holdings Inc. Missimsauga, Owtario, Conada
RBE Life Insurgnce Company Mississauga, Ontorio, Conoda
Inwestment Holdings {Cayman) Limited George Town, Grand Coyman, Coyman Islands
RBC |Borbodos) Furl-:!ing LEd, 51 james, Borbodos
Capilal Fund ing Albadla Limited En'luqry. Albérta, Cangda
RBC Giobal Asset Management Inc Toronta, Ontario, Canada
REC Investor Semices Thisst Taronto, Dntaria, Canada
RBL {Barbados) Trading Bank Corporation 5t jomes, Borbados
RBL US Growp Holdings LLE 1) Toronto, Ontarlo, Canada 32,274
RBL USA Holdco Corporation 1) Hew York, Hew York U5,
RBEC {'.qp ital Markets, LLC () Hew York, Mew York, U5,
City Ratianal Bank 12 Los ﬁngplu:. Califarnia, U.S
RBC Dominion Securities Limibed Teronto, Ontario, Canada 15,290
RBC Dominion Securities inc Toronto, Ontario, Canada
Royal Bank Mortgoge Corporation Toronto, Ontario, Canada 6,277
RBEL Eurape Limited Landon, England 1977
The Royal Trust Company Monlreal, Quebec, Conada 1,367
Rn:(ul Trust Carporation of Canada Toroala, Onlaric, Canada 553

11 The Dank dinectdy rech by conk
121 vech wutsidsory i incarponeied
LLE o RBC LA, Hchdeo ©orpee

hewrs of Bl wlate, perasinge of
which are osipast e ided 1

ey i wlich i
bemwi o i Sl of Deelewane, LS

i b autedd, et it fod HOIC LS datensp B
o Bharetn, LIC, whoeh iy ergunined under ibe it

ef ihe Slale of Minmriols, LS. e Cily Bobwnal Bonk shich boa retlenal bosk. chartmted under the lsws of S Unfled Soates of Amerioa
|8 Fhe conmging v bee of voliig shires in sloled o dive Besk's eguity in sech bveamenia

Cartain of aur subsidiories, jaint ventures and assaciotes are subject to regulatory requirements of the jurisdictions in which they
opergle, When Uese subsidiorles, joint venteres ond gssocioles one subject to such requirements. Uhey oy be restiicled from
trgm&lerring Lo us our share ol their gssets in the form of cash dividends, loans or advances, As ol Oclober 31, 2023, restricled net
assels ol these subsidiaries, joint ventures and asseciates were 550 billion (October 31, 2022 = $44 billion]

HLE] Byl Bk ol ot Sl Bingeil 2121 Comasleleled Firaniclal Sickeiments
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Hu.nqymrnl al Rovel Bank of Canada is re '|.F-nn~|.-il.1lr far ﬂ.lnhflsh]ng anid mq:nlnlnlng odeguate internal contral over financial
reporting. Internal contral over financial reposting & o process designed by, or under the supervision of, the President and Chief
Executive Officer and Chiel Financial Dfficer and effected by Lhe Board of Directors, management and ather persannel Lo pravide
reasonable assurance regarding the rellability of financial reporting and the preparation of finencial stetements for external
purposes in occordance with International Financ ol Reporting Stondards as issued by the Internatinnal Accounting Standords
Beard. 1t inchedes thase polickes ond procedures that

Pertain to the maintenance of records thal. in reasonable detoll, occurately and fairly reflect the transactions reloted to and
di:pml!.ﬂn: of our gssels:

Provide reasonohle assurance thot transactions are recorded as necessary bo permit preparation of fnonciol stotements in
accardance with generally occepted accounting principles, and our recelpls and expenditures are made only in accordance
with authorizations of cur managernent and direcions; and

Provide reasonoble assurance regording prevention or timely detection of unouthorized acquisition, use, of disposition of our
assets that could have o material effect on our finonciol statements.

Due Lo its mbverent Amitaticns, mternal conlrol over lingncial n::p-urling may nat prevent or detect misstotemants ona Limely
basis. Alsa, projections of any evaluation of the efectiveness of internal contral over linancial reporting bo Muture periods are
subject bo the risk thot the contrals may become inodequate becouse of changes in conditions, or that the degree of complionce
with the pelicles or procedures may deteriorate

Monagement evaluated. under the supervision of and with the participation of the President and Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial @fficer, the effectiveness of our iInternal control ever finonciol reporting os of October 31, 2021, based on the
criteria set forth in Internnl Control - Integroted Fromework (2003 lsued by the Committes of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadwoy Commission, Based on that evaluation, M geme il conclyded thatl, 0% of October 31, 2023, internal controd over
linangial re mling was eltective based on the criterio estoblished in the infernol Confrol = hnmgmrrd Fromewnrk | M3}

Thee effectiveness ol our intermgl control over linanciol reporting os of October 31, 3023, has been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, as stated in thelr Report of Independent
Registered Public Accounting Firm, which appears herein 55

Drowid I, McBoy
President and Chief Executive Officer

Nadine Ahn
Chief Finonclal 0fficer

Torenbo, November 24, 2033

144 Beyal Bosk of Canoda: Aneul Bepait X121 Cemaalidebed Finaneial Solemenls
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FVTPL
HTC
FVTPL
Fvocl
FVTPL
Fvocl
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IFRS

FVTPL

SPP1

(
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FVTPL
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GAAP
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C
IFRS FVTOCI
FVTPL ( ) IFRS(

(OSFI) )

FVTPL
) )
( ) ( )IFRS IFRS
) ) )
)
OSFI 62.5

GAAP

d
FVTPL (

)

FVTPL
( )
FVTPL
( ocCl1 ) oCl

Fvocl ( ) OCl

FVOCI ( ) ocCl
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ocl
IFRS
IFRS
FVTPL
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2021 IFRS
1AS 39 IFRS IFRS
IFRS 16
GAAP
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GAAP @)

® ©)

GAAP

IFRS GAAP

IFRS

Q) ( ) ( DIFRS

FVTPL

GAAP

IFRS ()

)
)

GAAP 0 ()
)
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ACL ECL

12

ECL

( ECL
ECL (

ECL ECL
12 ECL

GAAP ( )

GAAP
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GAAP

GAAP
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GAAP
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IFRS
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IFRS

ASBJ 2020 9 40 LIBOR
2022 3 40 LIBOR
IFRS
IFRS
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) ceu
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ceu il
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IFRS
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I ndependent auditor’s report

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of Royal Bank of Canada

Our opinion

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Royal Bank of Canada and its subsidiaries (together, the Bank) as of October 31, 2023 and
2022, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IFRS).

What we have audited
The Bank’s consolidated financial statements comprise:

the consolidated balance sheets as of October 31, 2023 and 2022;

the consolidated statements of income for the years then ended;

the consolidated statements of comprehensive income for the years then ended;
the consolidated statements of changes in equity for the years then ended;

the consolidated statements of cash flows for the years then ended; and

the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

Certain required disclosures have been presented elsewhere in the Management’'s Discussion and Analysis, rather
than in the notes to the consolidated financial statements. These disclosures are cross-referenced from the
consolidated financial statements and are identified as audited.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Independence
We are independent of the Bank in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the

consolidated financial statements in Canada. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
these requirements.
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Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended October 31, 2023. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
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Allowance for Credit Losses for Financial Assets
Categorized as Stage 1 and Stage 2 (Stage 1 and
Stage 2 ACL)

Refer to Note 2 ~ Summary of significant
accounting policies, estimates and judgments,
Note 4  Securities and Note 5  Loans and
allowance for credit losses to the consolidated
financial statements.

The Bank’s allowance for credit losses for
financial assets was $5,366 million as of

October 31, 2023 and represents management’s
estimate of expected credit losses on financial
assets as of the balance sheet date, of which a
significant portion relates to financial assets
categorized as Stage 1 and Stage 2. Performing
financial assets are categorized as Stage 1 from
initial recognition to the date on which the asset
has experienced a significant increase in credit
risk relative to its initial recognition. Performing
financial assets transfer into Stage 2 following a
significant increase in credit risk relative to the
initial recognition. Financial assets are categorized
as Stage 3 when considered to be credit-impaired.
As disclosed by management, the measurement
of expected credit losses is a complex calculation
that involves a significant number of interrelated
inputs and assumptions such as borrower risk
ratings, forward-looking macroeconomic
conditions, scenario design and the weight
assigned to each scenario. The probability of
default, loss given default and exposure at default
inputs are modelled based on the macroeconomic
variables that are most closely correlated with
credit losses.

Management’s estimation of expected credit
losses in Stage 1 and Stage 2 considers five
distinct future macroeconomic scenarios, each of
which includes a forecast of relevant
macroeconomic variables, designed to capture a
wide range of possible outcomes and which are
probability-weighted according to management'’s
expectation of the relative likelihood of the range
of outcomes that each scenario represents at the
reporting date. Significant management judgment
is required in making assumptions and estimations
when calculating the Stage 1 and Stage 2 ACL.

We considered this a key audit matter due to:

The significant judgment required by
management when estimating the Stage 1
and Stage 2 ACL.

A high degree of auditor judgment and
subjectivity in performing procedures related
to management’s assumptions for:

Designing future macroeconomic
scenarios.
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Our approach to addressing the matter included
the following procedures, among others:

Testing the effectiveness of controls relating
to the estimation of the Stage 1 and Stage 2
ACL, including controls over:

The probability of default, loss given
default and exposure at default models.

The design of future macroeconomic
scenarios, the forecasting of certain
macroeconomic variables, and the
probability-weighting of these scenarios.

The assignment of borrower risk ratings.

The completeness and accuracy of certain
data inputs underlying the Stage 1 and
Stage 2 ACL calculation.

Testing management’s process for estimating
the Stage 1 and Stage 2 ACL, which
consisted of:

Testing the completeness and accuracy of
certain underlying data used in the
estimation of the Stage 1 and Stage 2
ACL.

Using professionals with specialized skill
and knowledge to assist in evaluating:

The appropriateness of the
probability of default, loss given
default and exposure at default
models used in the estimation of the
Stage 1 and Stage 2 ACL.

The reasonableness of significant
inputs and assumptions used in the
estimation of the Stage 1 and Stage
2 ACL related to:

The design of future macroeconomic
scenarios.

Certain forecasted macroeconomic
variables.

The probability-weights assigned to these
scenarios.

The assignment of borrower risk ratings
for samples of loans.
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Forecasting certain macroeconomic
variables.

Probability-weighting scenarios.
Assigning borrower risk ratings.

The significant audit effort necessary to
evaluate audit evidence as the estimation of
the Stage 1 and Stage 2 ACL is a complex
calculation that involves a large volume of
data, interrelated inputs and assumptions,
some of which are model-based.

The audit effort involved the use of
professionals with specialized skill and
knowledge.

EDINETOOOO
OO000O0000O0O00oOdno(Ees99s)
oOoOooodn

622/634



EDINETOOOO
OO000O0000O0O00oOdno(Ees99s)
oOoOooodn

Uncertain tax positions

Refer to Note 2 - Summary of significant
accounting policies, estimates and judgments and
Note 22 - Income taxes to the consolidated
financial statements.

The Bank is subject to income tax laws in various
jurisdictions where it operates and the complex tax
laws are potentially subject to different
interpretations by management and the relevant
taxation authorities. As disclosed by management,
significant judgment is required in the
interpretation of the relevant tax laws, and in
assessing the probability of acceptance of the
Bank’s tax positions to determine tax provisions,
which includes management’s best estimate of
uncertain tax positions that are under audit or
appeal by the relevant taxation authorities.
Management performs a review on a quarterly
basis to incorporate its best assessment based on
information available, but additional liability and
income tax expense could result based on the
acceptance of the Bank’s tax positions by the
relevant tax authorities.

In some cases, the Bank has received
reassessments denying the tax deductibility of
dividends from transactions including those with
Tax Indifferent Investors.

We considered this a key audit matter due to:

The significant judgment required by
management, including a high degree of
estimation uncertainty, when:

Interpreting the relevant tax laws.

Assessing the probability of acceptance of
the Bank’s tax positions, which includes
management’s best estimate of uncertain
tax positions that are under audit or
appeal by relevant taxation authorities.

A high degree of auditor judgment and
subjectivity in performing procedures and
evaluating the uncertain tax positions.

The audit effort involved the use of
professionals with specialized skill and
knowledge.

Our approach to addressing the matter included
the following procedures, among others:

Testing the effectiveness of controls relating
to the evaluation of uncertain tax positions
and the impact on tax provisions.

Testing management’s process for (i)
assessing the probability of acceptance of
the Bank’s tax positions; and (ii) estimating
provisions relating to uncertain tax positions, if
applicable, which reflects management’s best
estimate of uncertain tax positions that are
under audit or appeal by relevant taxation
authorities. This consisted of:

Reviewing correspondence with relevant
taxation authorities.

Evaluating the appropriateness of the
methods used.

Testing the completeness and accuracy of
underlying data used in the estimate.

Making inquiries of the Bank’s internal and
external legal counsel.

Evaluating, with the assistance of
professionals with specialized skill and
knowledge:

Application of relevant tax laws.

The reasonableness of management
's assessment of whether it is
probable that the relevant tax
authorities will accept the Bank’s tax
positions.

Evidence used by management.
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Other information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Management’'s
Discussion and Analysis and the information, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor's
report thereon, included in the annual report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the consolidated
financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in
accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is hecessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Bank’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Bank or to cease operations, or has
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Bank’s financial reporting process.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Bank’s internal control.
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Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Bank to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Bank to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is Lona Mathis.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants

Toronto, Canada

November 29, 2023
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of Royal Bank of Canada

Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Royal Bank of Canada and its subsidiaries
(together, the Bank) as of October 31, 2023 and 2022, and the related consolidated statements of income,
comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the years then ended, including the related notes
(collectively referred to as the consolidated financial statements). We also have audited the Bank’s internal control
over financial reporting as of October 31, 2023, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated
Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Bank as of October 31, 2023 and 2022, and its financial performance and its cash flows for
the years then ended in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board. Also in our opinion, the Bank maintained, in all material respects, effective internal
control over financial reporting as of October 31, 2023, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated
Framework (2013) issued by the COSO.

Basis for Opinions

The Bank’s management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective
internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial
reporting, included in the accompanying Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our
responsibility is to express opinions on the Bank’s consolidated financial statements and on the Bank’s internal
control over financial reporting based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to
the Bank in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the
Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan
and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are
free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, and whether effective internal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures
that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts
and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the consolidated financial statements. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our
audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.
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Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting
An entity’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles. An entity’s internal control over financial reporting includes those
policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the entity; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the entity are being made only in accordance
with authorizations of management and directors of the entity; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the entity’s assets that could have
a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may
become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or
procedures may deteriorate.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the consolidated
financial statements that were communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (i)
relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (ii) involved our
especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter
in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by
communicating the critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions on the critical audit matters or on the
accounts or disclosures to which they relate.

Allowance for Credit Losses for Financial Assets Categorized as Stage 1 and Stage 2 (Stage 1 and Stage 2 ACL)

As described in Notes 2, 4 and 5 to the consolidated financial statements, the Bank’s allowance for credit losses for
financial assets was $5,366 million as of October 31, 2023 and represents management’s estimate of expected
credit losses on financial assets as of the balance sheet date, of which a significant portion relates to financial
assets categorized as Stage 1 and Stage 2. Performing financial assets are categorized as Stage 1 from initial
recognition to the date on which the asset has experienced a significant increase in credit risk relative to its initial
recognition. Performing financial assets transfer into Stage 2 following a significant increase in credit risk relative to
the initial recognition. Financial assets are categorized as Stage 3 when considered to be credit-impaired. As
disclosed by management, the measurement of expected credit losses is a complex calculation that involves a
significant number of interrelated inputs and assumptions such as borrower risk ratings, forward-looking
macroeconomic conditions, scenario design and the weight assigned to each scenario. The probability of default,
loss given default and exposure at default inputs are modelled based on the macroeconomic variables that are
most closely correlated with credit losses. Management's estimation of expected credit losses in Stage 1 and Stage
2 considers five distinct future macroeconomic scenarios, each of which includes a forecast of relevant
macroeconomic variables, designed to capture a wide range of possible outcomes and which are probability-
weighted according to management’s expectation of the relative likelihood of the range of outcomes that each
scenario represents at the reporting date. Significant management judgment is required in making assumptions and
estimations when calculating the Stage 1 and Stage 2 ACL.
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The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating to the Stage 1 and Stage 2

ACL is a critical audit matter are (i) the significant judgment required by management when estimating the Stage 1
and Stage 2 ACL; (ii) a high degree of auditor judgment and subjectivity in performing procedures related to
management’s assumptions for (a) designing future macroeconomic scenarios, (b) forecasting certain
macroeconomic variables, (c) probability-weighting scenarios and (d) assigning borrower risk ratings; (iii) the
significant audit effort necessary to evaluate audit evidence as the estimation of the Stage 1 and Stage 2 ACL is a
complex calculation that involves a large volume of data, interrelated inputs and assumptions, some of which are
model-based; and (iv) the audit effort involved the use of professionals with specialized skill and knowledge.

Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming
our overall opinion on the consolidated financial statements. These procedures included testing the effectiveness of
controls relating to the estimation of the Stage 1 and Stage 2 ACL, including controls over (i) the probability of
default, loss given default and exposure at default models; (ii) the design of future macroeconomic scenarios, the
forecasting of certain macroeconomic variables and the probability weighting of these scenarios; (iii) the
assignment of borrower risk ratings; and (iv) the completeness and accuracy of certain data inputs underlying the
Stage 1 and Stage 2 ACL calculation. These procedures also included, among others, testing management’s
process for estimating the Stage 1 and Stage 2 ACL. This consisted of (i) testing the completeness and accuracy of
certain underlying data used in the estimation of the Stage 1 and Stage 2 ACL,; and (ii) with the assistance of
professionals with specialized skill and knowledge, evaluating (a) the appropriateness of the probability of default,
loss given default and exposure at default models used in the estimation of the Stage 1 and Stage 2 ACL, and (b)
the reasonableness of significant inputs and assumptions used in the estimation of the Stage 1 and Stage 2 ACL
related to (1) the design of future macroeconomic scenarios, (2) certain forecasted macroeconomic variables, (3)
the probability-weights assigned to these scenarios, and (4) the assignment of borrower risk ratings for samples of
loans.

Uncertain Tax Positions

As described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Bank is subject to income tax laws in various
jurisdictions where it operates and the complex tax laws are potentially subject to different interpretations by
management and the relevant taxation authorities. As disclosed by management, significant judgment is required in
the interpretation of the relevant tax laws, and in assessing the probability of acceptance of the Bank’s tax positions
to determine tax provisions, which includes management’s best estimate of uncertain tax positions that are under
audit or appeal by the relevant taxation authorities. Management performs a review on a quarterly basis to
incorporate its best assessment based on information available, but additional liability and income tax expense
could result based on the acceptance of the Bank’s tax positions by the relevant tax authorities. In some cases, as
described in Note 22 to the consolidated financial statements, the Bank has received reassessments denying the
tax deductibility of dividends from transactions including those with Tax Indifferent Investors.

The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating to uncertain tax positions is a
critical audit matter are (i) the significant judgment required by management, including a high degree of estimation
uncertainty, when (@) interpreting the relevant tax laws, and (b) assessing the probability of acceptance of the Bank’
s tax positions, which includes management’s best estimate of uncertain tax positions that are under audit or
appeal by relevant taxation authorities; (ii) a high degree of auditor judgment and subjectivity in performing
procedures and evaluating the uncertain tax positions; and (iii) the audit effort involved the use of professionals with
specialized skill and knowledge.
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Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming
our overall opinion on the consolidated financial statements. These procedures included testing the effectiveness of
controls relating to the evaluation of uncertain tax positions and the impact on tax provisions. These procedures
also included, among others, testing management’s process for (i) assessing the probability of acceptance of the
Bank’s tax positions; and (ii) estimating provisions relating to uncertain tax positions, if applicable, which reflects
management’s best estimate of uncertain tax positions that are under audit or appeal by relevant taxation
authorities. This consisted of (i) evaluating the appropriateness of the methods used; (ii) testing the completeness
and accuracy of underlying data used in the estimate; (iii) reviewing correspondence with relevant taxation
authorities; (iv) making inquiries of the Bank’s internal and external legal counsel; and (v) evaluating, with the
assistance of professionals with specialized skill and knowledge, the application of relevant tax laws, the
reasonableness of management’'s assessment of whether it is probable that the relevant tax authorities will accept
the Bank’s tax positions, and evidence used by management.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants
Toronto, Canada

November 29, 2023

We have served as the Bank’s auditor since 2016.
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